

Delft University of Technology

Silicon/silicon-germanium heterostructures for spin-gubit guantum processors

Paquelet Wuetz, B.

DOI 10.4233/uuid:955fab3d-fc33-4ccb-8c58-c6eaf7b56c9c

Publication date 2022

Document Version Final published version

Citation (APA)

Paquelet Wuetz, B. (2022). Silicon/silicon-germanium heterostructures for spin-qubit quantum processors. [Dissertation (TU Delft), Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:955fab3d-fc33-4ccb-8c58-c6eaf7b56c9c

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This work is downloaded from Delft University of Technology. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to a maximum of 10.

SILICON/SILICON-GERMANIUM HETEROSTRUCTURES FOR SPIN-QUBIT QUANTUM PROCESSORS

SILICON/SILICON-GERMANIUM HETEROSTRUCTURES FOR SPIN-QUBIT QUANTUM PROCESSORS

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Delft, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus prof. dr. ir. T.H.J.J. van der Hagen, voorzitter van het College voor Promoties, in het openbaar te verdedigen op 07.12.2022 om 12:30 uur

door

Brian PAQUELET WÜTZ

M.Sc. Nano-science, Eberhard-Karls-Universität, Tübingen, Duitsland, geboren te Fort Lauderdale, Verenigde Staten. Dit proefschrift is goedgekeurd door de

promotor: prof. dr. ir. L.M.K. Vandersypen copromotor: dr. G. Scappucci

Samenstelling promotiecommissie:

Rector Magnificus, Prof. dr. ir. L.M.K. Vandersypen, Dr. G. Scappucci,

Onafhankelijke leden: Prof. dr. A. Fontcuberta i Morral Prof. dr. ir. R. Hanson, Prof. dr. M.A. Eriksson Prof. dr. G. Burkard,

Reserveleden: Prof.dr. ir. L.P. Kouwenhoven voorzitter Technische Universiteit Delft Technische Universiteit Delft

École polytechnique fédérale de Lausanne Technische Universiteit Delft University of Wisconsin Madison Universität Konstanz

Technische Universiteit Delft



Keywords:	Silicon quantum wells, valley splitting, charge noise, quantum dots, quantum processors, Hall effect, quantum Hall effect
Printed by:	Gildeprint
Front & Back:	Illustration of a Si/SiGe heterostructure as seen by a material scientist. Designed by Brian Paquelet Wütz.

Copyright © 2022 by B. Paquelet Wütz

Casimir PhD Series, Delft-Leiden 2022-38

ISBN 978-90-8593-546-9

An electronic version of this dissertation is available at http://repository.tudelft.nl/.

CONTENTS

Su	i		ix
Sa	Samenvatting		
1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	The human drive for innovation	2
	1.2	Quantum computing	2
	1.3	Requirements for a quantum computer	4
	1.4	Development cycle of semiconductor materials for quantum processors	5
	1.5	Si/SiGe heterostructures for spin-qubit quantum processors	7
2	The	eory	9
	2.1	Si/SiGe heterostructures	10
		2.1.1 Band structure of silicon	10
		2.1.2 Strained Si quantum wells	11
	2.2		13
		2.2.1 Valley splitting	14
		2.2.2 Electrical noise	18
		2.2.3 Magnetic noise	21
	2.3	Electrical devices for materials characterization	22
		2.3.1 Hall-bar heterostructure field effect transistors	22
		2.3.2 Gate-defined quantum dots	23
	2.4	Je se	23
		2.4.1 The classical Hall effect	24
		2.4.2 Scattering mechanisms in two dimensional electron gases	25
		2.4.3 The quantum Hall effect	27
		2.4.4 Charge sensing with quantum dots	30
		2.4.5 Coherence times in spin qubits	32
3		perimental methods and setups	35
	3.1		36
		3.1.1 ^{nat} Si/SiGe heterostructures on industrial 300mm Si wafers	36
		3.1.2 ²⁸ Si/SiGe heterostructures on a 100 mm wafer at TU Delft	36
	0.0	3.1.3 Structural characterization of the material stack	38
	3.2	Fabrication processes	40
		3.2.1 Pre-fabrication of micron-scale templates	40
		3.2.2 Fabrication of nano-scale templates	42

	3.3	Experimental setups for cryogenic measurements	42
		3.3.1 attoDRY2100 pulse tube refrigerator	43
		3.3.2 Leiden MCK50-400 dilution refrigerator	44
		3.3.3 Control and measurement electronics	44
4	Mul	tiplexed quantum transport using commercial off-the-shelf CMOS at sub-	
			47
	4.1	Introduction	48
	4.2	Cryogenic multiplexer platform	49
	4.3	Time-division multiplexing of control resistors	52
	4.4	Multiplexed quantum transport of industrial Si/SiGe field effect transis-	
			53
	4.5		57
	4.6		59
			59
			59
			59
		8	64
			64
		4.6.6 On-resistance and off-leakage current	65
5	The	effect of quantum hall edge strips on valley splitting in Si/SiGe heterostruc-	
	ture		67
	5.1		68
	5.2	0 1 5	69
	5.3	51 0 5	70
	5.4	Quantum hall edge states and their effect on temperature activated mea-	
		5 1 0	71
			74
	5.6		75
		1	75
		5.6.2 Analysis of high-angle annular dark field scanning transmission elec-	
			75
		8	75
		5.6.4 Residuals for the planar fit of Δ_{ν} as a function of magnetic field and	70
		-	76
6			79
			80
	6.2		81
	6.3		83
	6.4	5 1 0	86
	6.5		88
	6.6		90
		0	90
			90
		6.6.3 Device fabrication	91

		6.6.4 Electrical characterization of devices	1
		6.6.5 Theory and simulations	1
	6.7	Supplementary Information	
		6.7.1 Electrical characterization	3
		6.7.2 Material characterization	2
7	Waf	er-scale low-disorder 2DEG in ²⁸ Si/SiGe without an epitaxial Si cap 11	3
	7.1	Introduction	4
	7.2	Heterostructure	4
	7.3	Hall characterization at 1.7 K	7
	7.4	Discussion	0
	7.5	Supplementary information	1
		7.5.1 Structural and chemical properties of the semiconductor/dielectric	
		interface	
		7.5.2 Electron Temperature	2
8	Red	cing charge noise in quantum dots by using thin silicon quantum wells 12	3
	8.1	Introduction	
	8.2	Description of Si/SiGe heterostructures	
		8.2.1 Electrical characterization of H-FETs	
	8.3	Charge noise measurements in quantum dots	
	8.4	Distribution of transport properties and charge noise.	
	8.5	Calculated dephasing time and infidelity	
	8.6	Discussion	
	8.7	Methods	
		8.7.1 Si/SiGe heterostructure growth	
		8.7.2 Device fabrication	
		8.7.3 Electrical characterization of H-FETs	
		8.7.4 Electrical characterization of quantum dots	
	0.0	8.7.5 (Scanning) Transmission Electron Microscopy	
	8.8	Supplementary Information	
		8.8.1 Measurement of the thickness of the quantum wells 13 8.8.2 Strain analysis with Raman spectroscopy 13	
		8.8.2Strain analysis with Raman spectroscopy	
		8.8.4 Operation gate voltages for charge sensor quantum dots	
		8.8.5 Lever arm extraction	
		8.8.6 Simulations of dephasing times and gate fidelities	
•	28.0.		
9	9.1	SiGe heterostructure performance in qubit experiments14CMOS-based cryogenic control of quantum circuits in Si/SiGe heterostruc-	5
	5.1	tures	6
	9.2	A six qubit quantum processor using Si/SiGe heterostructures	
	9.2 9.3	Performance of the quantum processor	
	9.4	Supplementary Information	
	5.1	9.4.1 Device fabrication	
			9

157	
163	
187	
193	
195	

SUMMARY

Spin qubits in silicon have emerged as a promising candidate for a scalable quantum computer due to their small footprint, long coherence times, and their compatibility with advanced semiconductor manufacturing. However, all known spin qubit material hosts come with specific challenges, that limit the performance of quantum information processing. In this thesis we study Si/SiGe heterostructures, comprising a strained silicon (Si) quantum well which is sandwiched between two silicon-germanium (SiGe) barriers. Si/SiGe heterostructures designed to act as solid-state matrix to host spin qubits have three intrinsic material challenges that limit performance: hyperfine interaction, valley splitting, and charge noise. Therefore, to realize a scalable quantum computer in Si/SiGe heterostructures we first quantify the performance limiting parameters and subsequently, we improve them systematically with statistical significance.

Acquiring data with statistical significance, however proves challenging for quantum devices in Si/SiGe heterostructures due to complicated and time-consuming fabrication schemes for device manufacturing, and the need of using dilution refrigerators that cool samples down to sub-Kelvin temperatures with only a limited amount of wires for electrical characterization of devices. Therefore, in this thesis we demonstrate fast growth-fabrication-measurement feedback cycles to accelerate our understanding on the materials and devices.

We realize such fast feedback cycles by first establishing a unique workflow at TU Delft, allowing 100 mm wafer growth and fabrication. Subsequently in our first experiment, we overcome the wiring bottleneck by presenting a cryogenic multiplexing platform that multiplies DC wires inside of a dilution refrigerator. This cryogenic multiplexer platform uses commercially available CMOS components, is compatible with any dilution refrigerator, and allows us to measure thirteen chips in the same cooldown at a temperature of 50 mK and at magnetic fields of up to 10 T. We confirm these extreme measurement conditions by showing statistically significant quantum transport properties of industrially grown 300 mm ^{nat}Si/SiGe wafers.

In the following experimental chapters we then leverage the cryogenic multiplexer to successively tackle the performance limiting parameters of spin qubit processors in Si/SiGe heterostructures. In the second experiment we first analyze valley splitting in two dimensional electron gases and observe that valley splitting increases linearly with the electric field at the quantum Hall edge states of the device at a rate consistent with theoretical predictions. In turn, this observation allows us to evaluate valley splitting on a micron length scale with relatively simple Hall-bar measurements.

In the third experiment we show two major improvements in our heterostructures. First, we measure valley splitting in quantum dots with varying quantum well interface sharpness with statistical significance. We then proceed to analyze the atomic composition of the quantum well interfaces in several samples using atom probe tomography and show that Ge atoms are distributed randomly in each atomic layer. Subsequently using the atom probe tomography results as input, we simulate valley splitting and show that valley splitting depends on the atomistic details of the interface and needs to be treated as a statistical distribution. We then propose a strategy to increase valley splitting on average above a chosen threshold by introducing a small concentration of Ge atoms into the quantum well. Second, all electrical measurements in this experiment are performed in isotopically purified ²⁸Si quantum wells, which reduces the hyperfine interaction and hence increases qubit coherence times. While we do not explicitly discuss this improvement in this chapter, it is a crucial baseline for all following experiments in this thesis and for all qubit experiments using Delft grown ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures.

We then move to show wafer-scale improvements of the disorder landscape of Si quantum wells in our fourth experiment. There, we challenge the common approach of growing an epitaxial Si cap on the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure, by replacing the Si cap with an amorphous Si-rich layer. We compare these two heterostructues by monitoring the statistical performance of mobility, percolation density, maximum electric field before hysteresis, and single particle relaxation time and observe a statistical performance increase of the mean value and the standard deviation.

In the fifth experiment we study a heterostructure with a thin quantum well and compare its statistical performance of mobility, percolation density, and charge noise with the performance of the heterostructures from the preceding experiment. Importantly, we find that misfit dislocation arising from strain relaxation are significantly reduced in thin quantum wells as confirmed by geometrical phase analysis of transmission-electron microscope images. In consequence, we observe a statistical performance increase of all key metrics in the novel heterostructure, only possible by our approach of engineering the critical material layers. Finally, we see promising simulated qubit coherence times and qubit error rates when using our charge noise results as simulation input, hinting at a practical advantage of our novel ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures for quantum processors.

In the last experimental chapter we demonstrate how our improved ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures have enabled two key experiments in the field of spin-based quantum computing. First, we show that our purified heterostrucures may host high-quality qubits, that in turn serve as a testbed for demonstrating CMOS-based cryogenic control of silicon quantum circuits. Second, we show how our isotopically purified, low-disorder heterostructures host a 6-qubit quantum processor with high-fidelity initialization, highfidelity gate operation, and high-fidelity readout.

We conclude this thesis by highlighting key improvements of our ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures that have contributed to state-of-the-art spin qubit experiments. However, our heterostructures still require further improvements if we want to achieve error rates around 10^{-6} and scale to large spin qubit arrays with more than a million qubits. Therefore, we discuss additional material changes that could further lower spin qubit error rates and we consider how to assess the uniformity of the material over different length scales, relevant when striving for larger qubit arrays.

SAMENVATTING

Spin-qubits in silicium zijn naar voren gekomen als een veelbelovende kandidaat voor een schaalbare kwantumcomputer vanwege hun kleine voetafdruk, lange coherentietijd, en hun compatibiliteit met de geavanceerde halfgeleiderindustrie. Echter, alle bekende spin-qubit materiaalgastheren hebben hun eigen specifieke uitdagingen, die de prestaties van kwantuminformatieprocessors limiteren. In dit proefschrift onderzoeken we Si/SiGe heterostructuren, bestaande uit een opgespannen silicium (Si) kwantumput die is ingeklemd tussen twee silicium-germanium (SiGe) barrièrelagen. Si/SiGe heterostructuren, een vaste stof matrix ontworpen om te fungeren als gastheer voor spin-qubits, hebben drie intrinsieke materiële uitdagingen die prestaties beperken: de hyperfijninteractie, valleisplitsing, en ladingsruis. Daarom, om een schaalbare kwantumcomputer in Si/SiGe heterostructuren te realiseren, kwantificeren we eerst de prestatiebeperkende parameters om deze vervolgens met statistische significantie systematisch te verbeteren.

Het verkrijgen van data met statistische significantie blijkt echter een uitdaging voor kwantumapparaten in Si/SiGe heterostructuren vanwege gecompliceerde en tijdrovende fabricatieschema's voor de productie van kwantumapparaten en de noodzaak om verdunningskoelkasten te gebruiken die de apparaten afkoelen naar sub-Kelvin temperaturen met slechts een beperkt aantal draden beschikbaar voor de elektrische karakterisering van de apparaten. Daarom demonstreren we in dit proefschrift snelle groeifabricage-meting feedbackcycli om ons begrip van de materialen en apparaten te versnellen.

We realiseren zulke snelle feedbackcycli door eerst een unieke workflow bij de TU Delft op te zetten waarbij de kweek en fabricatie op 100 mm wafers mogelijk wordt gemaakt. Vervolgens hebben we in ons eerste experiment het probleem van beperkte bedrading opgelost door een cryogeen multiplexerplatform te presenteren dat de DCdraden in een verdunningskoelkast vermenigvuldigt. Dit cryogene multiplexerplatform maakt gebruik van in de handel verkrijgbare CMOS-componenten, is compatibel met iedere verdunningskoelkast, en stelt ons in staat om tot dertien chips tegelijkertijd af te koelen en te meten bij een temperatuur van 50 mK en bij magnetische velden tot 10 T. We verifiëren deze extreme meetomstandigheden door statistisch significante kwantumtransporteigenschappen te laten zien van industrieel gekweekte 300 mm ^{nat}Si/SiGe wafers.

In de volgende experimentele hoofdstukken maken we gebruik van de cryogene multiplexer om achtereenvolgens de prestatiebeperkende parameters van spin-qubit processors in Si/SiGe heterostructuren aan te pakken. In het tweede experiment analyseren we eerst valleisplitsing in tweedimensionale electrongassen en observeren we dat valleisplitsing lineair toeneemt met het elektrisch veld bij de kwantum-Hall randtoestanden van een apparaat op een manier dat overeenkomstig is met theoretische voorspellingen. Deze waarneming stelt ons op haar beurt in staat om valleisplitsing te evalueren op een micron-lengteschaal met relatief eenvoudige Hall-bar metingen.

In het derde experiment laten we twee belangrijke verbeteringen in onze heterostructuren zien. Eerst meten we met statistische significantie de valleisplitsing in kwantumdots, die verschillend van scherpte zijn in de overgangszones van de kwantumput. We gaan verder met het analyseren van de atomaire samenstelling van de kwantumputovergangszones in verschillende apparaten door gebruik te maken van atoomsondetomografie en laten we zien dat Ge-atomen willekeurig verdeeld zijn in elke atoomlaag. Vervolgens, door de resultaten van de atoomsondetomografie als invoer te gebruiken, simuleren we valleisplitsing en tonen we aan dat valleisplitsing afhangt van de atomaire details van de overgangszone en derhalve behandeld moet worden als een statistische verdeling. Hierna stellen we een strategie voor om de valleisplitsing gemiddeld boven een gekozen drempel te verhogen door een kleine concentratie van Ge-atomen te introduceren in de kwantumput. Ten tweede zijn in dit experiment volledig elektrische metingen uitgevoerd in isotopisch gezuiverde ²⁸Si kwantumputten, wat de hyperfijninteractie vermindert en daarmee de qubit-coherentietijden verhoogt. Hoewel we in dit hoofdstuk deze verbetering niet expliciet bespreken, is het een cruciale basis voor alle volgende experimenten in dit proefschrift en voor alle qubit-experimenten met de in Delft gekweekte²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructuren.

We gaan vervolgens over op het tonen van verbeteringen op de schaal van een wafer van het wanordelandschap van Si kwantumputten in ons vierde experiment. Hier dagen we de gebruikelijke aanpak van het kweken van een epitaxiale Si cap op de ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructuur uit door de Si cap te vervangen met een amorfe Si-rijke laag. We vergelijken deze twee heterostructuren door het monitoren van statistische prestaties van mobiliteit, percolatiedichtheid, maximaal elektrisch veld voor hysterese, en relaxatietijd van één deeltje en we observeren een statistische prestatiestijging in de gemiddelde waarde en de standaarddeviatie.

In het vijfde experiment bestuderen we een heterostructuur met een dunne kwantumput en vergelijken we zijn statistische prestaties van de mobiliteit, percolatiedichtheid, en ladingsruis met de prestaties van de heterostructuren uit het voorgaande experiment. Belangrijker wijze vinden we dat misfit-dislocaties als gevolg van spanningsrelaxatie significant verminderd zijn in dunne kwantumputten zoals bevestigd door geometrische faseanalyse van transmissie-elektronenscopie afbeeldingen. Als gevolg hiervan zien we een statistische prestatiestijging in alle sleutelparameters in de nieuwe heterostructuur, alleen mogelijk gemaakt door onze aanpak in het engineeren van de kritische materiaallagen. Ten slotte observeren we veelbelovende gesimuleerde qubitcoherentietijden en qubit-foutpercentages bij gebruik van onze ladingsruisresultaten als simulatieinvoer, een hint naar een praktisch voordeel van onze nieuwe ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructuren voor kwantumprocessors.

In het laatste experimentele hoofdstuk tonen we hoe onze verbeterde ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructuren twee belangrijke experimenten mogelijk hebben gemaakt op het gebied van spin-gebaseerde kwantumcomputing. Ten eerste laten we zien dat onze gezuiverde heterostructuren qubits van hoge kwaliteit kunnen herbergen, die op hun beurt dienen als een proefbank voor het demonstreren van op CMOS-gebaseerde cryogene controle van silicium kwantumcircuits. Ten tweede tonen we aan hoe onze isotopisch gezuiverde heterostructuren met een lage stoornis een platform vormt voor een 6-qubit kwantumprocessor die in de initialisatie, poortoperatie, en uitlezing een hoge betrouwbaarheid heeft.

We sluiten dit proefschrift af met het benadrukken van de belangrijkste verbeteringen van onze ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructuren die hebben bijgedragen aan state-of-the-art spin-qubit experimenten. Onze heterostructuren vereisen echter nog verdere verbeteringen als we foutpercentages van 10^{-6} willen bereiken en willen opschalen naar grote spin-qubit roosters bestaande uit meer dan een miljoen qubits. Daarom bespreken we aanvullende materiële veranderingen die fouten in spin-qubits verder zouden kunnen verminderen en we overwegen hoe we de uniformiteit van het materiaal over verschillende lengteschalen, relevant bij het streven naar grote qubit roosters, kunnen beoordelen.

1

INTRODUCTION

I don't think we've even seen the tip of the iceberg. I think the potential of what the internet is going to do to society, both good and bad, is unimaginable.

David Bowie

1.1. THE HUMAN DRIVE FOR INNOVATION

Ever since Homo Sapiens emerged on earth approximately 230.000 years ago [1], the evolutionary advantage was the ability to outperform predators and prey in mental tasks [2]. In the beginning these tasks were restricted to hiding, hunting, and gathering food, but with time, the mental exercises and the resulting ideas became more complex as humans started to bent and control fire, invent tools, domesticate wheat and animals, and develop concepts that would first allow us to organize ourselves in bigger groups, then in cities, and ultimately in countries, which up to nowadays are the prevalent form of government. With the increasing challenges of humanities' societal progress, the tools needed to support this progress, also grew in complexity. Starting with innovations such as the wheel, humans proceeded to invent plows, steam engines, or analog computing machines, which accompanied the progress over time. Nowadays, we have an almost unbelievably large toolset comprising, telecommunication, transport vehicles, and automated assembly lines among many others and many more are yet to be discovered.

One of the inventions that turned our societies upside-down is the transistor. A transistor is a semiconductor device used to switch electrical signals and represents the building block of any computer. In turn, the use of computers enabled growth in any possible aspect of human society, ranging from technological advances, such as personal computers or Moore's law, to societal advances containing the modeling of economics or climate change. In 1947 the ground-breaking demonstration of the transistor (awarded with the Nobel prize in physics in 1956 [3]) was performed by William Shockley, John Bardeen, and Walter Brattain, using germanium (Ge) as the host material. The succeeding journey of the transistor is history: in 1960 the first integrated circuit was developed, in 1971 the Intel 4004 became the first commercial single-chip microprocessor [4], in 1997 the IBM deep blue became better in chess than humans [5], and in 2022 the transistor is unarguably the most reproduced object in the history of humanity, manufactured over 20.000.000.000 times per second [6].

Modern day transistor manufacturing companies however, have predominantly used silicon (Si) over Ge as their material choice for decades, mainly because of the emergence of Si with a chemical purity of 99.9999999 % also called electronic-grade Si. Electronic-grade Si has several practical advantages over other material choices to host transistor technologies: First Si is the second most abundant element in the earth crust, second there are very effective ways to grow monocrystalline Si using the Czochralski process [7], third the purification of Si is relatively easy, and last the interface between Si and the thermal oxide is of higher quality compared to its Ge counterpart [8]. Because electronic-grade Si comprises all these requirements it has prevailed as the material choice for classical analog computing.

1.2. QUANTUM COMPUTING

While (Si) transistor technology continues to write its success story, another technology is arising on the horizon: quantum technology. The origin of quantum technology is intertwined with observations of odd behaviour of matter at small length scales in the early 20th century. However, it took humanity over a hundred years to develop tools on the basis of quantum physics, partly because we lacked the technology (e.g. nanofabrication,

1



Figure 1.1: **a** classical bit containing a true (1) and false (0) statement. **b** Visualization of a Pauli-X-gate operation on a Bloch sphere. The arrows represent the state evolution going from $|1\rangle$ to $|0\rangle$.

cryogenic refrigerators with sub-Kelvin temerpatures, etc.) to controllably manipulate quantum effects. The promises that come along with this technology are immense and give rise to several fields. Quantum computing promises usage of the Shor and Grover algorithm for prime number factorization and efficient database search, respectively [9, 10], exponential calculation power with linearly growing system size [11], and the usage of quantum simulations to enhance drug research or material simulations [12]. Next, quantum communication promises secure information transmission [13]. Lastly, quantum metrology [14, 15] promises a new generation of ultra-sensitive sensors starting with for example the widely-known MRI-scans.

The original idea of using a quantum computing machine instead of a classical computer to simulate the world of quantum mechanics is often associated with the Feynman lectures, where he famously noted:" *Nature isn't classical, dammit, and if you want to make a simulation of nature, you'd better make it quantum mechanical, and by golly it's a wonderful problem, because it doesn't look so easy.* [16]."

Similar to the bits in classical computers, quantum computers rely on unit cells called the quantum bits or qubits. However, instead of holding information in the classical 0 or 1 state, qubits encode information as a combination of the 0 and 1 states, called superposition. This allows for the qubit to represent the ground state of the system as:

$$|\Psi\rangle = \alpha |0\rangle + \beta |1\rangle \tag{1.1}$$

where α and β are complex valued coefficients normalized to 1. Because α and β are complex any representation of the two vectors $|0\rangle$ and $|1\rangle$ are mapped on the so-called Bloch sphere. This Bloch sphere is visualized in figure 1.1b and represents the center piece of quantum information science and any operation on a qubit will move its state around the surface of the Bloch sphere. For instance, we initialize a state into $|1\rangle$ where the state is pointing straight upwards. If we then apply a so called Pauli-X-gate, a rotation around the x-axis of 180°, we move the qubit into $|0\rangle$ -state, which is analogous to the classical NOT-operation. Another crucial operation is the so-called Hadamard gate. Again, we initialize the qubit into the $|1\rangle$ -state, then the Hadamard gate converts the $|1\rangle$ -state into $\frac{|1\rangle+|0\rangle}{\sqrt{2}}$, which brings the qubit into an equal superposition state in the equatorial plane of the Bloch sphere. Both, the Pauli-X-gate and the Hadamard gate,

are applied onto a single qubit, the true power of quantum computing, however, reveals itself when we start using entanglement and two-qubit gates.

Entanglement means that global states of a composite system cannot be written as a product of the states of individual subsystems [17]. In practice this means, if we manipulate one particular quantum state within the group, we are effectively manipulating all quantum states within the group of entangled states. In a quantum computer we achieve entanglement for example by applying a Hadamard gate on two qubits. We initialize the system into a $|00\rangle$ ground state and apply the Hadamard gate *H*:

$$H|00\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|01\rangle + |00\rangle)$$
 (1.2)

On the right side of the equation we see what is defined as the symmetric superposition state. This operation on two individual qubits manipulates the states into superposition.

Exploiting that we have a superposition state we now use two-qubit gates, which change the state of one qubit, the target qubit, depending on the state of another qubit, the control qubit. One example for a two-qubit gate is the CZ-gate, which applies a phase $\phi = \pi$ onto the target qubit, only if both the target and control qubit are in a $|1\rangle$ -state. Such multi qubit operations can be expanded to n-qubit gates, where the manipulation of one target qubit depends on the state of many other control qubits. It is possible to decompose such manifold conditional qubit gates using a set of one- and two-qubit gates. A set of qubit gates that can reproduce any arbitrary multi-qubit gate is also called a set of universal quantum gates.

1.3. REQUIREMENTS FOR A QUANTUM COMPUTER

The demonstration of quantum supremacy —the proof that a programmable quantum computer is able to solve a problem faster than the most powerful classical computer —has leveraged the field of quantum computation [18, 19]. However, qubits still experience errors from their environment or from imperfect implementations of quantum gates and therefore the implementation of fault tolerant quantum computers —quantum computers where the encoded quantum information are protected from these errors [20] —remains a challenge. In 2000 David DiVincenzo formulated 5 criteria that any quantum computing architecture needs to fulfill [21]:

- 1. A scalable physical system with well characterized qubits
- 2. The ability to initialize well-defined qubit states
- 3. A high decoherence time vs. gate operation time ratio
- 4. A universal set of quantum gates
- 5. High fidelity qubit readout

Physicists have been experimenting with several available platforms to fulfill these requirements and realize a quantum computer, containing qubits based on superconductors [22, 18, 23], ion traps [24, 25, 26], NMR [27, 28, 29], topologically protected states

1

[30, 31, 32], NV centers in diamonds [33, 34, 35], neutral atoms [36, 37], photons [19, 38, 39], and spins [40, 41, 42, 43], each of them with their own advantages, disadvantages, and material challenges.

Spin qubits in particular use the spin degree of freedom of electrons or holes to encode information [44, 45, 46, 43] and represent a promising quantum computing platform because they hold the promise to meet the DiVincenzo criteria, have small footprints of ≤ 100 nm, and since they use semiconducting materials for their realization, they can in principle leverage CMOS-technology for scaling. However, there are caveats: Ultimately qubit initialization, decoherence, and readout fidelity are limited through enhanced relaxation, charge defect motion, ill-defined ground states or magnetic noise arising from the interaction with nuclear spins in the solid state matrix. In addition, the scalability of the system will demand a small device-to-device variability [47, 48], which implies uniform material properties such as sharp material interfaces, low and uniform defect densities, and isotopic enrichment on a wafer-scale. As a consequence, the underlying material used for spin qubit quantum computation needs to meet all these requirements and fulfill, in analogy to the classical electronic-grade counterpart, the quantum-grade condition.

1.4. DEVELOPMENT CYCLE OF SEMICONDUCTOR MATERIALS FOR OUANTUM PROCESSORS

One of the most promising platforms to realize spin qubits are Si/SiGe heterostructures, thin layers of semiconductor Si stretched and sandwiched between layers of SiGe. To implement spin qubits in Si/SiGe heterostructures we use gate-defined quantum dots to isolate and control the spin of a single electron (we will take a deeper look in section 2.3.2). This qubit encoding is known as the Loss-and-DiVincenzo-qubit [41]. In figure 1.2**a** and 1.2**b** we see a schematic side and top view of a gate defined quantum dot in Si/SiGe heterostructures. Ideally, the gates shape the electrical landscape such that spin qubits form in the Si quantum well (see figure 1.2**b**). However, spin qubits in such a system will either decohere or experience ambiguous initialization and readout because of noise sources such as ill-defined ground states, noise through material impurities causing electrical charges moving in the solid-state matrix, or noise through the spontaneous relaxation of the magnetic momentum in the nucleus of the atoms nearby the qubit.

In figure 1.2**c** we see a schematic of a Si/SiGe heterostructure emphasizing the most common realizations of noise sources comprising: ill-defined ground states, magnetic impurities, crystalline defects, diffused interfaces, background impurities and charged impurities, where the last four contribute to a deviation from a perfect crystal, called disorder. It is crucial to quantify which of these noise sources is limiting the performance of a quantum processor and subsequently we need to address these material issues in a systematic manner. For example Si in nature occurs in 3 isotopes: ²⁸Si, ²⁹Si, and ³⁰Si. Therefore when we use natural silicon (^{nat}Si) to grow our materials these three isotopes are present in the quantum well. In this case the ²⁹Si isotope is problematic for spin qubit coherence because it has a non-zero nuclear spin and therefore contributes to the magnetic noise in the system (see also figure 1.2**c**) [49]. A solution is to grow quantum wells exclusively with zero nuclear spins for example through isotopical enrichment of



Figure 1.2: **a** Top view schematic of gate defined quantum dots. **b** Side view schematic of a Si/SiGe heterostructure with gate defined quantum dots. In the Si quantum well we see two schematic spin qubits trapped in an electrostatical potential. **c** Side view schematic of a Si/SiGe heterostructure with gate defined quantum dots and performance limiting noise sources: crystaline defects (pink and yellow dashed lines), diffused interfaces (green dashed line), magnetic impurities (purple arrows), background impurities (dark brown circles), ill-defined ground states (short blue parallel lines), and charged impurities (light brown circles). **d** Flow chart of a material feedback cycle.

the ²⁸Si-isotope.

In order to validate the performance of the materials upon process variations we need to implement feedback cycles. A typical material feedback cycle is illustrated in figure 1.2d. Starting from the process of record —the currently known recipe for yielding our best performing material —we design changes in the material, implement these variations by growing splits of semiconductor heterostructures, and fabricate appropriate devices to test a suite of electrical properties. Then we measure the material performance at cryogenic temperatures and with statistical significance, and decide whether the material performance improved. The response determines what is the next step: If the answer is no, we go back to device and material changes, and if the answer is yes, we have a new process of record. The new process of record then becomes the new baseline for all following experiments. It is important that these feedback cycles are fast and accurate, since a short response time ultimately accelerates the development of quantum processors. Therefore, we have to define metrics that indicate performance improvements for spin qubit processors, and we want to use measurements that require a reasonable amount of time for their execution to repeat them on many devices and gain statistical relevance.

1

6

For example, we use Hall-bar devices to probe the electrical performance of a Si/SiGe heterostructure. Hall-bar devices are transistors with additional voltage probes, which allow us to quantify the charge carrier mobility μ and the percolation density n_p . μ measures how fast charge carriers move in a semiconductor when subject to an electric field and therefore informs us about charge scattering from disorder in the system, and n_p measures the minumum charge density to form a conductive channel. Both, μ and n_p help us to understand and quantify the dominating disorder sources in the system.

1.5. SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES FOR SPIN-QUBIT QUANTUM PROCESSORS

In this thesis we show how we advance Si/SiGe heterostructures for spin qubits by implementing fast material feedback cycles. The following chapters guide the reader through the progress over the last years and demonstrate the improvements of the underlying material platform, ultimately leading to high performing quantum processors.

Chapter 2 provides the theoretical framework relevant to the work in this thesis. We discuss the electronic band structure of bulk Si, study the effects of strain and confinement on the band structure properties, and look at the performance limiting mechanisms of spin qubits in Si. We focus on valley splitting, electrical noise, and magnetic noise. We then examine a suite of devices that allow us to quantify the performance of Si/SiGe heterostructures as a host material for spin-qubit processors.

Chapter 3 discusses the experimental methods. We study the growth of 100 mm wafers, material characterization techniques, the fabrication processes of micro- and nano-devices, dilution refrigerators, and the instrumentation, enabling wafer-scale analysis of the material and devices.

The results section successively shows the reproducible material improvements, transitioning from experiments in ^{nat}Si/SiGe heterostructures provided from Intel within the Intel-QuTech partnership, to isotopically enriched ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures developed by the Scappucci group in Delft.

In **Chapter 4** we demonstrate a cryogenic multiplexer platform that overcomes the input/output (I/O) interconnect bottleneck present in cryostats operating at sub-kelvin temperatures. We statistically measure key metrics of Si/SiGe Hall-bar heterostructure field effect transistors, accelerating the feedback loop of industrially grown ^{nat}Si/SiGe 300 mm wafers.

In **Chapter 5** we use high quality industrial ^{nat}Si/SiGe heterostructures to perform valley splitting measurements in low-disorder silicon quantum wells in the quantum Hall regime. We observe, that valley splitting increases with electric field at the edge of the device at a rate consistent with theoretical predictions.

In **Chapter 6** we exploit the cryo-multiplexing platform and show statistical measurements of valley splitting in quantum dots with varying quantum well interface sharpness in ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures. We determine the atomic composition of the quantum well interfaces with atom probe tomography and show that Ge atoms are distributed randomly in each atomic layer. Subsequently, we simulate valley splitting and show that valley splitting needs to be treated as a statistical distribution. We propose a strategy to increase valley splitting on average above a chosen threshold by introducing a small concentration of Ge atoms into the quantum well.

The study of the electrical environment of the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures comprises two chapters. In **Chapter 7** we challenge the mainstream approach to deposit an epitaxial Si cap on 28Si/SiGe heterostructures and, instead, we terminate the SiGe barrier with an amorphous Si-rich layer. We observe a statistical performance increase of mean value and spread of mobility, percolation density, maximum electric field before hysteresis, and single particle relaxation time. These results form the basis for the wafer scale analysis of charge noise measurements in **Chapter 8**. We show wafer-scale low charge noise achieved through targeted engineering of the critical material layers responsible for charge noise.

Chapter 9 shows how our ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure have enabled two key experiments in the field of quantum computing [50, 51]. First, we show that our purified heterostrucures may host high-quality qubits, that serve as a testbed for demonstrating CMOS-based cryogenic control of silicon quantum circuits. Second, we show how our isotopically purified, low-disorder heterostructures host a 6-qubit quantum processor with high-fidelity initialization, high-fidelity gate operation, and high-fidelity readout.

In **Chapter 10** we conclude this thesis by discussing key results, speculating on future material developments, and considering uniformity on the relevant disorder length scales to improve quantum processors in Si.

2

THEORY

The interface is the device. Horst Störmer

2.1. SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

Two layers of different semiconductors adjadcent to each other are called a heterojunction. In turn, two or more heterojunctions together form a heterostructure. Heterostructures have been a vivid research topic for decades and the pioneering work of Zhores Alferov and Herbert Kroemer was awarded the Nobel prize in 2000 [52]. Heterostructures form quantum wells in the conduction and valence band, which allows the confinement of electrons or holes, respectively. In particular, heterostructures comprising the group-IV semiconductors Si and Ge are of great scientific and technological interest because they can host spin qubits, which in turn could be the building block of a fault tolerant quantum computer [41].

2.1.1. BAND STRUCTURE OF SILICON

Silicon and germanium as well as their compounds crystallize in the zincblende structure. zincblende structures follow a face-centered-cubic (FCC) Bravais lattice with a twoatom basis, so that we describe them as two interpenetrating FCC lattices (figure 2.1**a**). The primitve cell of an FCC lattice is described using the three translational vectors:

$$v_1 = \frac{a}{2}(0, 1, 1), \ v_2 = \frac{a}{2}(1, 0, 1), \ v_3 = \frac{a}{2}(1, 1, 0)$$
 (2.1)

where *a* is the lattice parameter of the unit cell. In the Zincblende structure the two atoms in the primitive cell are placed at the origin $d_1 = (0, 0, 0)$, and at one fourth of the diagonal of the cube: $d_2 = \frac{a}{4}(1, 1, 1)$.

Using the translation, $g_k = \frac{2\pi}{V} v_i \times v_j$, where V is the Volume of the unit cell, g_k is the vector in the reciprocal lattice, v_i and v_j are the primitive vectors of the FCC lattice, and the indices k,i, and j permutate between the values 1,2,3, we map out the real space FCC vectors onto its corresponding reciprocal space vectors:

$$g_1 = \frac{2\pi}{a}a(-1,1,1), \ g_2 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,-1,1), \ g_3 = \frac{2\pi}{a}(1,1,-1),$$
(2.2)

which form a BCC lattice. In a crystal there is an infinite amount of these reciprocal unit cells next to each other and we can define a volume around each atom, which is closest to only one atom in the reciprocal lattice compared to any other atoms in the reciprocal lattice. This volume is called the Brillouin zone, which for an FCC lattice is a truncated octahedron. In figure 2.1**b** we show such an Octahedron alongside some high symmetry points that are found in a BCC lattice.

The Brillouin zone is the center piece of any analysis of electronic band structures in solid states. Using theoretical tools such as the tight binding model, we can understand the energy dispersion of an electron within the Brillouin $zone^1$. These energy dispersions are usually illustrated following a path going from one high symmetry point to the next one. In figure 2.1c we see the band structure diagram of silicon starting from center point of the hexagonal face in (1,1,1)-direction L, to the center point of the Brillouin

¹To understand how to get from the Brillouin zone to eletronic band structures the interested reader is referred to Ref. [53]



Figure 2.1: a) unit cell of the zincblende structure including nearest-neighbor bonds. Both, the blue and the red atoms form FCC lattices, displaced by one fourth of the diagonal of the unit cells. The blue tetrahedron highlights, that each atom in zincblende structure has the opposite atom as its four nearest neighbors. If both atoms are the same we get the diamond structure. b) Brillouin zone of an FCC lattice, as found in silicon. Some high symmetry points at the center, at edges, and on the faces are highlighted. c) Band structure diagram of silicon following the path L- Γ -X. We see the top most conduction band in the Γ -point, and the bottommost conduction band at the Δ -point equal to 0.82 of the distance betweeen Γ and X. All panels adapted and modified from Ref [55]

zone Γ, and finally to the center of the quadratic face along the (1,0,0)-direction, the Xpoint. We find the maximum of the valence band at the Γ-point and the minimum of the conduction band at 82 % of the distance to the X-point, also called the Δ-point. Since there are six different X-points, we also get a six-fold degeneracy of the conduction band minimum at the six different Δ-points. Therefore, on top of the spin degree of freedom that we want to exploit in Si/SiGe heterostructures to build a quantum computer, the conduction band minimum, the valley, adds another degree freedom which can cause decoherence of spin qubits [54].

2.1.2. STRAINED SI QUANTUM WELLS

This valley degeneracy poses a serious limitation to Si/SiGe as material choice for spin based quantum computation. But what if the symmetry of the Brillouin zone could be broken and subsequently the valleys at the Δ -points would move? We achieve this by applying strain. In figure 2.2**a** we first illustrate materials free of strain, also called relaxed materials, with their respective lattice constants a_1 , a_2 , b_1 , and b_2 . In the upper panel of figure 2.2**a** we then see the effect of two materials with lattice constant a_1 and a_2 merging. Since $a_2 > a - 1$ the upper layer is under tensile strain, which increases the lattice constant in x- and y-direction and reduces the lattice constant in z-direction. In consequence, tensile strain moves the in-plane valleys in k_x - and k_y -direction, the Δ_4 -valleys further away, and the out-of-plane in k_z -direction closer to the center of the Brillouin zone, leaving two degenerate k_z -valleys, the Δ_2 -valleys, energetically more favorable. In contrast, compressive strain changes the lattice constants vice versa and consequently would move the valleys in the opposite directions, with the difference, that there would be four energy degenerate valleys in k_x and k_y direction available.

Tensile strain is realized by a heterostructure where Si is sandwiched between two semiconductors with a larger lattice constant compared to Si. The lattice parameters a of Si and Ge are $a_{Si} = 0.5431$ nm and $a_{Ge} = 0.5658$ nm, respectively. In addition, Si

and Ge are fully miscible so any alloy comprising the two elements can be used for heterostructures. In particular, we use the following formula for the relaxed lattice constant a_x of any Si_{1-x}Ge_x alloy [56, 57]:

$$a_x = a_{Si} + 0.200326x(1-x) + [a_{Ge} - a_{Si}]x$$
(2.3)

where the factor 0.200326x is a correction factor, introduced to match the experimental deviation from Vegard's law in $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ alloys (see Ref. [56, 58] for a more rigorous discussion). When designing the strain of $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ alloys, it is crucial that the crystalline integrity of the heterostructure stays intact. But if the top layer starts relaxing and therefore its lattice constant in *x*- and *y*-direction does not adjust to the bottom layer, misfit dislocations form at the interface between the top and bottom layer (see figure 2.2**b**) [59]. These dislocations strongly influence the electrical quality of the Si quantum well because they act as efficient recombination-generation sites for charge carriers [60, 61].

Defects form during the growth of the virtual substrate which comprises a step-graded-



Figure 2.2: **a** Difference between compressive and tensile strain. In the tensile case we have two relaxed lattices with lattice constants a_1 and a_2 where $a_1 < a_2$. Consequently, the in-plane lattice constant of the upper layer adapts to the lattice constant of the lower layer. In consequence, the lattice constant in z-direction decreases. For compressive strain this process works vice versa. Adapted from Ref. [55]. **b** Formation of dislocations when a relaxed Si top layer is grown on top of a relaxed SiGe substrate. **c** Schematic image of the directions of misfit and threading dislocations in Si/SiGe heterostructures. **d** Critical thickness of a strained silicon layer as a function of the germanium concentration of a fully relaxed virtual substrate. **b-d** adapted from Ref. [62]. **e** Variation of the relevant conduction and valence band edges of a Si/Si_{1-x}Ge_x heterostructure as a function of the substrate composition *x*. Adapted from Ref. [8].

buffer with several SiGe layers of different Ge concentration, and a strain-relaxed buffer layer with the final Ge concentration. For example in the top panel of figure 2.2**c** we see a schematic illustration of a relaxed SiGe layer on top of a relaxed Si substrate. Because the SiGe layer is relaxed, a misfit dislocation forms (pink dashed line) at the Si/SiGe interface and at each end of the misfit dislocation a threading dislocation (yellow dashed line) propagates at a 60° angle through the SiGe layer. In the bottom panel of figure 2.2**c** we see how misfit and threading dislocations propagate through the step-graded SiGe layers. At each interface misfit dislocations go along the interface and threading dislocations move through the adjacent layers. Additionally, new misfit dislocations form at each interface. However, when dislocations reach the edge of material there is no further propagation in z-direction, which makes the growth of virtual substrates with several µm thickness beneficial in the context of defect elimination.

To avoid the formation of additional misfit and threading dislocations in the Si quantum well, we have to prevent strain-relaxation in the quantum well layer. We prevent strain-relaxation when the quantum well thickness is below the critical thickness t_c , with t_c being the thickness where the elastic energy stored in the crystal for an additional layer is higher than the energy required for the formation of defects [59]. In figure. 2.2**d** we see t_c of a Si layer as a function of the Ge concentration in the Si_{1-x}Ge_x-matrix. In this graph we distinguish two different regions. First, the unstable region above the curve shows the parameters where the Si layer starts to relax, which effectively reduces the splitting of the Δ_2 and Δ_4 valleys and compromises the crystalline quality through the formation of dislocations [59]. Second, the stable region below the curve shows the parameters where the strain in the thin silicon layer does not relax. Ultimately, it is desirable to grow quantum wells thinner than the critical thickness because the critical thickness is a statistical value that locally varies depending on the nucleation sites in the underlying substrate [61].

The resulting energy evolution of the most important valence and conduction bands in Si/SiGe heterostructures are shown in figure 2.2**e** [8]. Here, the solid curves represent the energy of bands in the Si quantum well and dashed lines the bands in the Si_{1-x}Ge_xmatrix. As expected the Δ_2 and Δ_4 valleys are degenerate at x = 0 and split further as x is increased. Since the splitting is in the order of tens to hundreds of meV, much larger than any other relevant energy for quantum computation, we have achieved a two-fold degeneracy. Interestingly, the light and heavy-hole bands in the substrate are energetically favorable over the entire substrate composition, therefore it is only possible to accumulate electrons in the Si layer.

2.2. MATERIAL CHALLENGES RELEVANT FOR SPIN QUBITS

To improve the performance of quantum processors, the decoherence sources in the qubit host environment need to be removed (at best) or, more pragmatically, mitigated. Magnetic noise [63], electrical noise [64, 65] and valley splitting [66, 54] are, among others, three main factors in Si/SiGe heterostructures that limit spin qubit coherence times, and hence performance. By material engineering, these factors may be addressed in turns, starting from the one that has the most dominant effect. For example, if spin qubit coherence is mainly limited by magnetic noise, the focus should be on isotopic purification of the Si quantum well before improving charge noise by developing a bet-

ter semiconductor-oxide interface. Every time we improve on one limiting factor, the material will support qubits with an increased baseline for coherence time until a new limiting mechanism has become relevant. This way of working leads to a never-ending material-fabrication-measurement feedback cycle, where new, creative ideas are necessary to provide everlasting qubit performance improvements.

2.2.1. VALLEY SPLITTING

In section 2.1.2 we have analyzed how to split the 6-fold degeneracy into Δ_4 and Δ_2 valleys. To realize a spin-based quantum computer in Si, however, we need to remove the energy degeneracy of the Δ_2 -valleys and achieve a large energy splitting (see figure 2.3**a**). The energy splitting of the Δ_2 -valleys, also called valley splitting, naturally occurs as a result of the broken symmetry at the interfaces of the thin Si layer and the SiGe matrix.

A first understanding of valley splitting is provided by effective mass theory (EM). EM approximates the solutions of the dispersion relation of the conduction band minima using the effective mass. In strained silicon we write the electron wavefunction $\Psi(\vec{r})$ as:

$$\Psi(\vec{r}) = \sum_{j=\pm z} \alpha_j e^{ik_j z} u_{\vec{k}_j}(\vec{r}) F_j(\vec{r})$$
(2.4)

where α_j is the relative phase between the valleys in k_z direction (analogous to the Δ_2 valleys) with a normalization of $|\alpha_j| = 1/\sqrt{2}$, $e^{ik_j z} u_{\vec{k_j}}$ is a Bloch wave describing fast atomic scale oscillations, and $F_j(\vec{r})$ is an envelope functions for the two valleys. From this equation we see that EM captures both atomic scale and several nanometer scale behaviour with the Bloch waves and envelope functions, respectively. EM however, is valid only in a slowly varying confinement potential, which imprecise problematic at the abrupt and sharp potential barriers at the Si/SiGe interfaces. To circumvent this limitation we introduce a valley coupling potential [67]:

$$V_v = v_v \delta(z - z_i) \tag{2.5}$$

where v_v is the valley coupling parameter and $\delta(z-z_i)$ is the vertical position coordinate of the Si/SiGe heterostructure interface. The parameter v_v allows the computationally light EM-formalism to simulate valley splitting values while considering non-trivial Si/SiGe heterostucture interfaces. Unfortunately, EM does not provide a solution for v_v (with the recent exception of Ref [68]) and therefore we need experiments or tightbinding methods to quantify v_v .

The tight-binding method to formalize valley splitting assumes a chain of identical atoms with neareast neighbour and next-nearest neighbor interactions (see figure 2.3**b**) [69]. The atoms are characterized by an onsite energy ϵ , nearest neighbor hopping coefficient t_1 and next-nearest neighbor hopping coefficient t_2 . We write the wavevector for such a chain as:

$$|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{z} \phi_n |n\rangle \tag{2.6}$$



Figure 2.3: **a** Valley splitting in Si/SiGe heterostructure. The sixfold valley degeneracy of bulk silicon is broken by the large in-plane tensile strain in the quantum well so that the Δ_4 and Δ_2 -valleys split and the energetic separation of the Δ_2 split bands is called valley splitting (E_v) . **b** Representation of a one-dimensional chain of atoms with nearest neighbor interaction t_1 and next-nearest neighbor interaction t_2 . **c** Illustration of the two lowest-lying energy eigenstates in an infinite square well [42]. Both eigenstates have similar envelope wave function for the symmetric and antisymmetric state. The valley degeneracy causes the fast oscillations with a phase shift, depending on the details of the quantum well interface. This sensitive dependance on the quantum well interface disorder causes large valley splitting fluctutations across wafers and devices. All panels adapted and modified from [42].

where ϕ_n is the state of the n-th atom in a chain of atoms of length 2N + 1, and $|n\rangle$ is the orthogonal basis. Subsequently, we use a Hamiltonian that incorporates nearest and next-nearest neighbor interactions of form:

$$H|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n} \phi_n(\varepsilon |n\rangle + t_1 |n-1\rangle + t_1 |n+1\rangle + t_2 |n-2\rangle + t_2 |n+2\rangle)$$
(2.7)

where we extract the eigenenergies of the system with $\langle \Psi | H | \Psi \rangle$:

$$\epsilon \phi_n + t_1(\phi_{n+1} + \phi_{n-1}) + t_2(\phi_{n+2} + \phi_{n-2}) = E\phi_n \tag{2.8}$$

Using the Ansatz $\phi_n = \phi_0 e^{ikna}$ with k as the spatial index ($k = p \frac{2\pi}{L}$ and $p \in \mathbb{Z}$) and a as the lattice constant, and periodic boundary conditions we write the dispersion relation E(k):

$$E(k) = \epsilon + 2t_1 \cos(ka) + 2t_2 \cos(2ka)$$
(2.9)

2

This model assumes a chain of one atom per unit cell, however, silicon though contains two atoms in the unit cell and therefore it necessary to adapt the model to a lattice with a two-atom-basis [69]. Using a modified wavevector $|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n} (\phi_n | n, 1 \rangle + \psi_n | n, 2 \rangle$ and then applying the Hamiltonian from equation 2.7 we get:

$$H|\Psi\rangle = \sum_{n} (\epsilon \phi_{n} | n, 1 \rangle + \epsilon \psi | n, 1 \rangle$$

+ $t_{1}\psi_{n} | n, 1 \rangle + t_{1}\psi_{n-1} | n, 1 \rangle + t_{2}\phi_{n+1} | n, 1 \rangle + t_{2}\phi_{n-1} | n, 1 \rangle$
+ $t_{1}\phi_{n} | n, 2 \rangle + t_{1}\phi_{n+1} | n, 2 \rangle + t_{2}\psi_{n+1} | n, 2 \rangle + t_{2}\psi_{n-1} | n, 2 \rangle$ (2.10)

and the subsequent dispersion relation then reads:

$$E_{+}(k) = \epsilon \pm 2t_1 \cos(ka) + 2t_2 \cos(2ka)$$
(2.11)

With $t_1 = 0.683$ eV and $t_2 = 0.612$ eV we set the twofold degenerate minimum of the lowest band to a minimum at $\pm k = \pm 0.82(2\pi/a)$. We achieve the splitting of these degenerate states by introducing hard-wall boundary conditions at the edges of the chain:

$$\phi_{-n-2} = \phi_{-n-1} = \phi_{-n+1} = \phi_{-n+2} = 0 \tag{2.12}$$

and we get a symmetric and an antisymmetric eigenstate. Again we see fast oscillations with a phase shift that share the same envelope, which in turn give a different result of the energy eigenvalues, representing the valley splitting.

Both EM and tight binding have their (dis-)advantages, where EM is computationally much lighter than tight binding, but tight binding can simulate valley splitting *ab initio*. Furthermore tight-binding approaches allow to accurately simulate the interactions of a Si/SiGe heterostrucutre with several million atoms or more atoms using NEMO software [70, 71, 72]. These approaches give numerically more accurate results than EM, but ultimately reveal the same physics.

The theoretical models are powerful to understand valley physics and give good estimates of the valley splitting. On the other hand valley splitting in an experiment depends on the atomic details of the Si/SiGe interfaces, because Si/SiGe interfaces extend over several atomic layers [73, 74], contain atomic steps [75, 70, 76], and are non-uniform due to surface roughness, which makes it difficult to have large and consistent valley splitting over a large qubit array [77]. In consequence we need to understand how valley splitting can be influenced and what parameters we can vary to increase the valley splitting.

The two main parameters that we vary to increase the valley splitting E_v are the quantum well width d and the external, vertical, electric field E_z . As we derived with the EM and tight binding approaches, the energy splitting of the two lowest lying valley energy E_v oscillates with a phase shift, which is a direct consequence of the alignment of the valley states at the quantum well interfaces. In figure 2.4**a** we see the lowest lying states in red and blue with the characteristic phase shift. The phase shift at quantum well interface (dotted line at $x \approx 5$ nm) is then the valley splitting. In figure 2.4**b** we see that the



Figure 2.4: **a** Comparison of effective mass and tight binding results for the two lowest eigenstates in a Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3}/Si/Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} heterostructure with quantum well width of 9.5 nm. Only half the eigenfunctions are shown [67]. Top: solutions of the valley excited state. Bottom: ground state. Solid lines represent effective mass theory, circles tight-binding theory, and the dashed line the quantum well boundary. **b** Results of tight binding (red dot) and effective mass calculations (black line) of valley splitting in a finite square well with a well potential of 160 meV. The red dashed line is a guide for the eye. **c** Effective mass results for the valley splitting in an electric field *E*, as a function of the quantum well width, for five different *E*-fields. Inset: E-field geometry, with confinement potential $V(z) = V_{QW}(z) + V_{\phi}(z)$ and wave function F(z), where $V_{QW}(z)$ is the quantum well with step size s. The crystallographic axes (x, y, z) are rotated by an angle θ to map the rotational axes (x', y', z'), assuming y = y'. **e** Randomly generated step edge profile, with smooth and rough step edges. The circle shows the radius of an electron wavefunction with r = 15 nm. **d** and **e** adapted from Ref. [75].

valley splitting overall increases with decreasing well width, since the alignment of the two valley states changes.

It is now interesting to understand how the electric field influences E_v . The inset in figure 2.4**c** shows how the electric field tilts the band structure and consequently, we have two different possibilities of realizing a quantum well. Either the lowest lying energy states are manifested in the standard square well or in a triangular well that is defined by the strength of E_z . The main panel of figure 2.4**c** shows how E_z influences E_v at different quantum well width. We again observe a general increase of E_v with decreasing quantum well width regardless of electric field. For large quantum wells however, we see a saturation of E_v at high E_z . This this saturation applies when the lowest lying states move from probing squared well barriers to probing triangular well barriers. We conclude the electric field will only increase E_v if E_z is high enough for the lowest lying states to experience a triangular well configuration.

Experimental quantum wells however, do not have ideal interfaces and are charac-

2

terized by atomic scale disorder [69, 67], finite interfacial widths [73, 74], and, possibly, atomic steps [73, 75, 70]. Especially atomic steps have a dramatic influence on E_v . Figure. 2.4**d** illustrates a simple model of atomic steps with length *s* and step height *h*. *h* is usually on the order of 1 mono-atomic layer, which in silicon is $h_{Si} = 0.136$ nm. At such a step the two lowest lying valley wavefunctions differ with a phase of 0.85π , effectively causing destructive interference between the two states. In figure 2.4**e** we see an electron with a wavefunction radius *r* = 15 nm that covers several atomic steps and to further enhance valley splitting we can either increase the *s* or confine *r*. Finally, we conclude that both, strong vertical confinement through *d* and E_z and lateral confinement through *s* and *r* can increase the valley splitting.

2.2.2. ELECTRICAL NOISE

The content in the following paragraphs have been rigorously discussed in Refs. [65, 78, 79, 80, 81, 82, 83] and is rephrased here for an overview of the mechanisms giving rise to electric noise. Electric noise or charge noise poses a limitation to the coherence of gubits through small changes in the electric and magnetic field in the gubit environment. The origin of the low-frequency changes is commonly attributed to so-called twolevel fluctuators (TLF), found in an abundance of solid-state material platforms [84, 81, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 96]. TLF are dynamic defects that switch at random between two states (1 and 2) with switching rates $\gamma_{1\rightarrow 2}$ and $\gamma_{2\rightarrow 1}$ for the transitions $1 \rightarrow 2$ and $2 \rightarrow 1$, respectively [97, 98, 99]. This switching ultimately leads to random telegraph noise (RTN), which manifests itself in form of current fluctuations in a resistor (see figure 2.5a). In Si/SiGe heterostructures TLF will only contribute to decoherence of qubits if the TLF energy splitting E is less than a few k_BT (with k_B the Boltzman constant and T the temperature), because higher energy splittings lead to a frozen ground state. For $E < k_B T$ we assume that the two switching rates $\gamma_{1\to 2}$ and $\gamma_{2\to 1}$ are equal and we write $\gamma_{1\rightarrow 2} = \gamma_{2\rightarrow 1} \equiv \gamma$. A set of TLF causing RTN with exponentially broad distribution of relaxation rates γ produces a 1/f power spectrum in the frequency range $\gamma_{min} < \omega = 2\pi f < \gamma_{max}$, where γ_{min} is the lowest switching rate of a TLF in the system, γ_{max} is the highest switching rate of a TLF in the system with $E \approx k_B T$, and ω and f represent the frequency range between γ_{min} and γ_{max} [65].

In the simplest case, 1/f-like charge noise spectra are a quadratic function of the applied voltage onto an Ohmic resistor, which in turn means that the current fluctuates as a direct consequence of the fluctuation in the Ohmic resistance. The kinetics of such Ohmic resistance fluctuations on the microscopic scale have several origins.

When the kinetics of the fluctuations are characterized by one relaxation rate γ , the correlation function of the fluctuating quantity x(t) is proportional to $e^{\gamma|t|}$ [65]. The spectral density then is a Lorentzian function of form

$$S_x(\omega) \propto \frac{1}{\pi} \frac{\gamma}{\omega^2 + \gamma^2} \equiv \mathscr{L}_x.$$
 (2.13)

In a realistic solid state matrix however, there are usually several or even many TLF with varying relaxation rate, with a relaxation rate distribution $\mathscr{P}_x(\gamma)$. In this case the power spectral density becomes:



Figure 2.5: a) Example of random telegraphic noise caused by changes in the resistance of a Si field effect transistor caused by a nearby two-level fluctuator. The TLF originates from a single dominating trap within the measured device. Adapted from Ref. [101]. b) Schematic diagram of the potential energy of a two-level tunneling system against a spatial coordinate *x* with a barrier of strength Λ . *U* is the asymmetry of the energy levels in the two individual potential wells. In contrast E is the difference in energy of the two lowest lying energy of the TLF, which depends on *U* and Λ . Adapted from Ref. [65].

$$S_x(\omega) \propto \int_0^\infty d\gamma \mathscr{P}_x(\gamma) \mathscr{L}_x$$
 (2.14)

If $\mathscr{P}_x(\gamma) \propto \gamma^{-1}$ in a window $\gamma \gg \gamma_{min}$ the spectral density is $S(\omega) \propto \omega^{-1}$ following an 1/f-behaviour. A typical process that leads to such a behaviour, is a switching process $\gamma = \gamma_0 e^{-E/k_B T}$ with temperature activation $E/k_B T$.

The kinetics of the fluctuations can also depend on tunneling processes, where γ then depends on the tunneling barrier width and height. In the case that the distribution of the tunnel barrier and height parameters is almost constant over a large range, then we get $\mathscr{P}_x(\gamma) \propto \gamma^{-1}$ again. It has been suggested that such fluctuations in semiconducting devices could arise from the exchange of electrons from semiconducting layer to the oxide layer through tunneling. The following characteristic relaxation rate then is $\gamma = \gamma_0 e^{-x/x_0}$, where x is the distance between the semiconductor interface and the TLF and x_0 is the characteristic decay length in the length scale of 1 Å [100]. This model has been extensively used to interpret 1/f-noise in field-effect transistors [65].

Next, atoms (or in some cases groups of atoms) can occupy two positions in a crystal and their energy can be plotted as a double well potential (see figure 2.5**b**). The underlying assumption of this model is that certain atoms (or the groups of atoms) of mass *m* can tunnel a distance *x* through the potential *U*. The according TLF model [80, 78] consists of the asymmetry of *U* and the tunnel matrix element λ , which characterizes the strength of the barrier. The tunnel amplitude between the two wells can then be written:

$$\Lambda = \hbar \omega_0 e^{-\lambda} \tag{2.15}$$

where ω_0 is the frequency of the intra-well vibrations and \hbar is the Planck constant. In turn, the excitation energy *E* of a TLF is given by

$$E = \sqrt{\Lambda^2 + U^2} \tag{2.16}$$

Disorder directly influences *U* and λ of the TLF with probability distribution $\mathscr{P}(U, \lambda)$. In the region $\lambda \gg 1$ and $U \ll \hbar \omega$, the probability distribution is $\mathscr{P}(U, \lambda) = P_0$, where P_0 is a constant that is extracted from experiments [65, 82, 83].

The two-level transition rate of TLF is determined either by interactions with phonons (for insulating solids) or with electrons (in metals). Under the assumption that the diagonal splittings U are dominant, we can write the interaction between the environment and a TLF as:

$$\mathcal{H}_{TLF-env} = g' \hat{c} \tau_z \tag{2.17}$$

where \hat{c} is an operator in the Hilbert space depending on the specific interaction mechanism (phonons in insulators and electrons in metals), τ_z is the Pauli-z matrix acting on the TLS, and g' is the matrix element arising from the overlap between the wavefunctions of the two wells. The TLF Hamiltonian is:

$$\mathcal{H}_{TLF} = \frac{1}{2} (U\tau_z + \Lambda \tau_x) \tag{2.18}$$

where τ_x is the Pauli-x matrix. By rotating the Hilbert space we can diagonalize the Hamiltonian from equation 2.18:

$$\mathcal{H}_{TLF} = (E/2)\tau_z \tag{2.19}$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{TLF-env} = g'\hat{c}(\frac{U}{E}\tau_z + \frac{\Lambda}{E}\tau_x)$$
(2.20)

The second term describes the interlevel transitions of the TLF-environment interactions. In consequence γ for the deviation of the occupancy numbers of the levels from the equilibrium ones is proportional to $(\Lambda/E)^2$ [65, 81, 79] and the relaxation rate between the two levels is given by:

$$\gamma = \gamma_0(E)(\frac{\Lambda}{E})^2, \ \gamma_0 \propto E^a \coth(\frac{E}{2k_BT})$$
 (2.21)

where $\gamma_0(E)$ is the maximal relaxation rate for the TLF with the interlevel spacing *E*, *a* in the exponent of E^a is a scaling factor depending on the interaction mechanism (phonon or electrons). The following distribution of the relaxation rates is then written as:

$$\mathscr{P}(\gamma, E) = \frac{E}{2U\gamma} \mathscr{P}(U, \Lambda) = \frac{P_0}{2\gamma\sqrt{1 - \gamma/\gamma_0}} \approx \frac{P_0}{2\gamma}$$
(2.22)

The proportionality of the distribution and the inverse of the relaxation rate, can be explained with the exponential term $\gamma \propto e^{-2\lambda}$ and the approximately uniform distribution of λ in an exponentially broad interval [65].

To conclude this section we emphasize that charge noise arises through various physical mechanisms and poses a serious limitation for achieving ubiquitous high-fidelity operation of quantum gates required for a large spin-qubit systems. For Si/SiGe heterostructures in particular the TLF causing charge noise have been linked to remote impurities in the dielectric layers above the quantum well[48, 102] and to impurities nearby or within the quantum well, for example background impurities [103, 104, 105, 106] or crystalline defects such as threading or misfit dislocations [107, 108, 109]. The spatial distribution of these impurities is random, which limits the scalability of spin qubits due to a large device-to-device variability [47, 48]. Therefore, to achieve Si/SiGe heterostructures suitable for spin qubits we need to reduce all possible charge noise sources by reducing the underlying impurity densities, which will consequently lead to longer coherence times of spin qubits.

2.2.3. MAGNETIC NOISE

Magnetic noise, caused by the hyperfine interaction, describes the interactions of electrons with the atomic nucleus. Odd mass nuclei have a non-zero nuclear spin and in consequence carry a magnetic moment, leading to dramatically shortened decoherence times of spin qubits [63, 110]. The most dominant hyperfine-interaction term for electrons is the contact hyperfine interaction, arising from the overlap of the s-type Bloch wave functions with the nuclear sites,

$$H_{HF} \propto \mu_0 g_0 \mu_B \gamma_n \hbar \sum_{i=1}^N |\Psi(r)|^2 I_i \dot{S}.$$
 (2.23)

Here g_0 is the free electron gyromagnetic ratio, γ_N the nuclear gyromagnetic ratio, I_i the nuclear spin at location r_i in the crystal lattice and $|\Psi(r)|^2$ the magnitude of the electron wave function at the position of the nucleus [63]. It is possible to rewrite equation 2.23 as

$$H_{HF} \propto \sum_{i=1}^{N} A_i I_i \dot{S} \equiv g \mu_B B_N S \tag{2.24}$$

which defines B_N , the so called Overhauser field, which can be approximated as a random classical field acting on the electron spin. The most abundant isotopes in silicon have zero nuclear spin and in consequence are magnetically quiet. The only naturally occurring silicon isotope with spin 1/2 is ²⁹Si and represents 4.7% or 47000 ppm of total natural amount of Si atoms. Furthermore, it is possible to isotopically enrich ²⁸Si isotopes with a remaining ²⁹Si-concentration of 60 ppm [111], allowing long coherence times [111], and ultimately high fidelity single- and two-qubit operations [112, 113, 114, 115].

21


Figure 2.6: **a** Schematic of a Si/SiGe heterostructure with corresponding conduction band minima and valence band maxima. The bands align to form a type II quantum well. The depth of the quantum well depends on the concentration x. **b** Band diagram of a Si/SiGe heterostructure with an externally applied electric field. The conduction and valence bands tilt linearly until the Fermi level E_F and electron start accumulating at the top interface of the quantum well to form a two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG). **a** and **b** adapted from Ref. [116]. **c** Schematic of a Hall-experiment with 4 voltage probes. Along the device we measure the current I_x and the voltage drop U_x When we apply an external magnetic field the Lorentz force pushes electrons one edge of the device. The following voltage drop is measured using U_y . Adapted from Ref. [117].

2.3. ELECTRICAL DEVICES FOR MATERIALS CHARACTERIZATION

For experiments concerning material performance we use two type of devices, Hall-bar heterostructure field effect transistors and gate-defined quantum dots. Both type of devices enable a variety of techniques, consequently allowing us to measure valley splitting, charge noise, and decoherence in the Si/SiGe platform.

2.3.1. HALL-BAR HETEROSTRUCTURE FIELD EFFECT TRANSISTORS

The key elements of an H-FET in Si/SiGe heterostrucutres comprise a metal gate, an insulating layer consisting of a gate oxide and the SiGe barrier, and the semiconducting Si quantum well (see figure 2.6**a**). In these undoped heterostructures, electrons are accumulated in the quantum well by field effect upon biasing the top-gate.

We use the gate on top of the heterostructure to apply an external, vertical electric field E_g to change the alignment of the bands (see figure 2.6**b**). When we apply such an electric field the Fermi level E_F (the energy needed to add an electron to the conduction band) will move up or down depending on the sign of the applied potential. By applying a positive gate voltage V_g we move E_F upwards and start accumulating a two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG), once E_F crosses the conduction band (see figure 2.6**b**). Since the 2DEG is quantized in the z-direction we write the time independent Schrödinger equation:

$$\left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2}\left(\frac{1}{m_x^*}\frac{\partial}{\partial x^2} + \frac{1}{m_y^*}\frac{\partial}{\partial y^2} + \frac{1}{m_z^*}\frac{\partial}{\partial z^2} - eV(z)\right)\right)\Psi(\vec{r}) = E\psi(\vec{r})$$
(2.25)

where, m_x^*, m_y^* , and m_z^* are the effective mass of the electron in x-,y-, and z- direction respectively, *e* is the electron charge, V(z) is the potential coming from E_g , \vec{r} is the position vector, and \hbar is Planck's constant divided by 2π . With the ansatz

$$\Psi(\vec{r}) = \phi(z)\Psi(x, y) = \phi(z)e^{i(k_x x + k_y y)}$$
(2.26)

where k_x and k_y the wave number in x- and y-direction respectively, we solve the Schrödinger equation and get the energy levels for the system:

$$E = E_{xy} + E_j = \frac{\hbar^2}{2} \left(\frac{k_x^2}{k_y^2} + \epsilon_j \right)$$
(2.27)

where ϵ is the quantization of the energy in z-direction with a known potential V(z). For measuring the electrical properties of the accumulated 2Deg, the gate electrodes of H-FETs is shaped as a Hall-bar (see figure 2.6c). We add voltage and current probes along the H-FET-channel and measure the current I_{SD} , the Voltage drop U_x along the longitudinal channel direction, and U_y along the transverse channel direction, for example as function of the gate voltage, magnetic field, or temperature.

2.3.2. GATE-DEFINED QUANTUM DOTS

Gate-defined quantum dots are the second kind of device that we use. In contrast to twodimensional systems (such as 2DEGs), quantum dots are further confined in both lateral directions by using additional depletion and accumulation gates. Figure 2.7a shows a simple quantum dot architecture with two accumulation gates (S and D), two barrier gates (BL and BR), and a plunger gate P. Underneath the accumulation gates and the plunger we accumulate electron, where accumulation gates acts as electron reservoirs for the quantum dot underneath P. The barriers are designed to be depletion regions, that create tunnel barrier for electrons. The plunger gate is used to tune the chemical potential μ_c . By applying a source-drain-bias to the device, there is potential between the source and the drain contact. Since the states in the quantum dot are quantized there is a ladder of states that moves with the plunger gate voltage V_P (see figure 2.7b). If the there is no state underneath P inside of the bias window we will not see conduction through the device. In turn, if a state is within the bias window we see a current going through the device (see figure 2.7c). A schematic graph of the current as a function of the plunger gate voltage is illustrated in figure 2.7d, where we see Coulomb peaks whenever current flows, and Coulomb-blockade when the current is 0.

In quantum dots the energy scales of E_v and the orbital state splitting ΔE play a significant role. In the cases $E_v \gg \Delta E$ and $E_v \ll \Delta E$ the valley and orbital states are well defined (see figure 2.7**e-f**). If $E_v \approx \Delta E$ however, the valley and orbital states hybridize to valley-orbit-states [77]. The splitting between the two lowest lying valley-orbit states V_{O1} and V_{O2} form the ground-state splitting, which is the relevant energy splitting for spin qubits.

2.4. Physical concepts of electrical characterization techniques

We measure Hall-bar shaped H-FETs and quantum dots to probe the material environment in terms of valley splitting, electric noise, and magnetic noise. These measure-



Figure 2.7: **a** shows a schematic of a quantum dot device in an undoped Si/SiGe heterostructure. The gates are sperated by an Al₂O₃-oxide layer and are divided into accumulation gates (S,P,D) and depletion gates (LB, RB). We accumulate electron reservoirs underneath S and D, and an electron island below P. LB and RB tune the tunnel barrier potential. Adapted from Ref. [116]. **b** shows a schematic diagram of the electrochemical potential of a single-electron transistor in absence of an available state in the bias window between μ_S and μ_D . We call this configuration Coulomb blockade. **c** shows a schematic diagram of the electrochemical potential of a quantum dot with an available state in the bias window between μ_S and μ_D . The N state is in the bias window, therefore one electron first hops from S to N, and then from N to D, resulting in a single-electron tunneling current. **d** shows current through a quantum dot as a function of the gate voltage V_g . Each time when an enery state is in the bias window, we see a sharp rise and decrease of the current, called a Coulomb peak. **e** and **f** show schematics of the energy states if the valley splitting E_V is much luch larger and much lower than the orbital splitting ΔE . In both cases the two energetic states will be well separated. **g** shows the schematics of the energy states if $E_V \approx \Delta E$. In this case the valley and orbit energy levels hybridize to valley-orbit energy states with the valley-orbit splitting E_{vo} . **b**-**f** are adapted from Ref. [42].

ments feed into the materials development cycle, to ultimately achieve high-performance qubits. These experiments serve two purposes: We first want to understand first the single device performance on a macro- or nanometer-scale and second we want to ensure wafer-scale reproducibility of devices.

2.4.1. The classical Hall effect

When sending a current through a conductor (such as an H-FET) with an external, magnetic field B = 0 the current density *J* is:

$$J = -nev = \sigma_{xx} E_g \tag{2.28}$$

where *n* is the charge carrier density, *e* is the electron charge, v is the velocity σ_{xx} is conductivity term along the longitudinal direction of the current, and E_{SD} is the ap-

plied electric field along the conductor. If the conductor is in a magnetic field however, the current also experiences the Lorentz force, causing a transverse conductivity σ_{xy} , called the Hall-conductivity. Together σ_{xx} and σ_{xy} form the conductivity tensor σ in a 2D system:

$$\hat{\sigma} = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma_{xx} & \sigma_{xy} \\ -\sigma_{xy} & \sigma_{xx} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.29)

The corresponding equation of motion of an electron in such conditions is:

$$m^* \frac{dv}{dt} = -eE - ev \times B - m^* \frac{v}{\tau}$$
(2.30)

where, m^* is the effective electron mass, $\frac{dv}{dt}$ is the velocity of the electron, the term $m^* \frac{v}{\tau}$ comes from the Drude model [118], and τ is the mean free time between momentum-relaxing-collisions of the electron. Solving equation 2.28 for v and inserting it into equation 2.30 we get:

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & \omega_c \tau \\ -\omega_c \tau & 1 \end{pmatrix} J = \frac{e^2 n \tau E}{m^*}$$
(2.31)

where $\omega_c = eB/m^*$ is the cyclotron frequency. Here we define the conductivity as:

$$\sigma = \frac{ne^2\tau}{m^*} \tag{2.32}$$

and finally the conductivity and the resistivity $\hat{\rho}$ tensors follow the relation:

$$\frac{1}{\sigma} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -\omega_c \tau \\ \omega_c \tau & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \sigma^{-1} = \rho = \begin{pmatrix} \rho_{xx} & \rho_{xy} \\ -\rho_{xy} & \rho_{xx} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.33)

where ρ_{xx} is the longitudinal resistivity, and ρ_{xy} is the transverse resistivity. In practice we use the off-diagonal element $\rho_{xy} = \frac{B}{ne}$ to determine the electron density and the diagonal element $\rho_{xx} = \frac{m^*}{ne^2\tau}$ (at zero magnetic field) to calculate the mobility μ , where we use $\mu = \frac{e\tau}{m^*}$.

2.4.2. SCATTERING MECHANISMS IN TWO DIMENSIONAL ELECTRON GASES The electron mobility μ is a direct measure of the momentum relaxation an electron experiences while propagating through a resistor. In most cases, μ is a non-trivial function of the electron density n and gives important insights on the dominant scattering mechanisms in the conductor, where several scattering mechanisms contribute to the resistivity. Their individual contributions to the measured mobility can be summed up using Matthiessen's rule [120]:



Figure 2.8: **a** Mobility μ as a function of density *n* illustrating the typical steep rise at low density, and the flattening out of the curve at high density. **b** Conductivity σ_{xx} as a function of *n*. The black line in **b** is a fit to percolation theory (see main text). Both panels adapted from Ref. [119].

$$\frac{1}{\mu_{total}} = \frac{1}{\mu_{remote}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{bgnd}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{RMS}} + \frac{1}{\mu_{MDD}}...$$
(2.34)

where μ_{total} is the measured mobility, μ_{remote} , μ_{bgnd} , μ_{MDD} , and μ_{RMS} , are the mobilities of the remote impurities, background impurities, misfit dislocations and surface roughness scattering, respectively, that the material would have if there was no other scattering source. For Si/SiGe heterostructures treated by scattering theory within the Born approximation, Monroe *et al* [121] conclude that three relevant mechanisms limit the mobility in Si/SiGe heterostructures at practical densities up to about 10^{12} cm^{-2} :

$$\mu_{remote} = \frac{16\pi^{1/2} g_v^{1/2} g_z^{1/2} e n^{3/2} h^3}{\hbar N_{\Box}}$$
(2.35)

$$\mu_{bgnd} = \frac{g_{\nu}^{3/2} g_z^{3/2} e n^{1/2}}{4\pi^{1/2} \hbar n_{bgnd}}$$
(2.36)

$$\mu_{RMS} = \frac{e^3 g_v^3 g_z^3}{192\pi^3 \hbar \epsilon^2 \epsilon_0^2 \pi \Lambda^2 \Delta^2 E^2 n}$$
(2.37)

where, g_{ν} is the valley degeneracy, g_z the is the spin degeneracy, \hbar the Planck constant, D_{IT} is interface trap density, n is the electron density, n_{bgnd} is the background impurity concentration in the quantum well, ϵ_0 is the dielectric permittivity in vacuum, ϵ it the dielectric constant of the gate stack, Λ is the charateristic length of the Si/SiGe interface roughness, Δ is the RMS roughness of the Si/SiGe interface, and E is the external electric field. The only difference here is that for scattering from remote impurities Monroe *et al* [121] assume a modulation doped heterostructure, which defers from our case. For our undoped Si/SiGe heterostructures however, we have trapped charges at the semiconductor/dielectric interface and in the gate oxide which we approximate as a 2D charge density. For a formal derivation of formulas 2.35, 2.36, 2.37 and the derivation of four other possible mechanisms $\mu_{threading}$, μ_{alloy} , μ_{strain} , and $\mu_{vicinal}$ see Ref.

[121]. In figure 2.8**a** we see a typical mobility-density curve. Due to the different power dependence each of the scattering mechanisms, each density regime is dominated by a different scattering mechanism. At low density for example, we see a typical steep rise of the mobility due to the screening of remote impurities, therefore μ_{remote} is dominant and the curve follows $n^{1.5}$. At higher densities several mechanisms can be dominant e.g. μ_{bgnd} is dominant in the density regime between 2-3*10¹¹ cm⁻², where the curve follows a power law dependence of $\approx n^{0.5}$. At densities $n > 4 * 10^{11}$ cm⁻² the curve first flattens out until the slope becomes negative. Dominating mechanisms in this regime need to behave $\alpha < 0$, e.g. scattering from the surface roughness between the Si quantum well and the SiGe barrier [122, 121, 123, 124].

Another metric that we obtain from classical transport measurements is the percolation transition density n_p , which is the lowest density, that allows a continuous conduction path in a field effect transistor. n_p is particularly interesting because it indicates material quality in the low-density regime of a Hall-bar shaped H-FET at electron densities that are comparable to the number of electrons in a two-dimensional quantum dot array. For example, if we assume a quantum dot with dimensions of 50 nm×50 nm loaded with one electron the electron density is $n_{QD} = 4 * 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$. If $n_p > n_{QD}$ it implies that, likely, disorder in the system will make it challenging to reproducibly achieve the single electron regime for spin-qubit manipulation. Therefore we are interested in providing heterostructures where $n_p \leq n_{QD}$.

 n_p originates from the locally-varying conduction band minimum in the metal-toinsulator transition (MIT), where an inhomogeneous distribution of accumulation sites in the FET manifests itself in the accumulation of localized charge puddles. With increasing gate voltage, and therefore a larger overlap of the Fermi level and the conduction band minimum, the puddles grow in size and number until electrons percolate through the entire channel. We extract n_p using a fit to the function $\sigma_{xx} = A(n - n_p)^{1.31}$, where A is a fitting parameter, n is the electron density, and 1.31 is the power law dependence of a percolation transition in two dimensions [125]. It is important to note, that this relationship only holds in the low-density regime of the conductivity-density relationship (see figure 2.8b), where we observe a nonlinear failure of screening of the remote impurities [125].

2.4.3. The quantum Hall effect

The quantum Hall effect (QHE, Nobel prizes for the integer QHE [129] in 1985 and the fractional QHE in 1998 [126]) arises at low temperatures and strong magnetic field and is characterized by quantization of ρ_{xy} in a two-dimensional electron gas in a semiconductor:

$$\rho_{xy} = \frac{2\pi\hbar}{e^2 v} = \frac{R_K}{v} \approx \frac{25.8}{v} k\Omega$$
(2.38)

where *v* is an integer number of quantized Landau levels also called filling factor, and R_K is the von-Klitzing constant. In figure 2.9**a** we see the resistivities ρ_{xx} and ρ_{xy} in the quantum Hall effect as measured by Klaus von Klitzing [129]. In contrast to the classical Hall effect ρ_{xy} will increase from resistivity plateau to the next one in step-wise



Figure 2.9: **a** Quantum Hall effect measurement by Klaus von Klitzing. Adapted from Ref. [126]. **b** Schematic of ideal Landau levels (left) and broadened Landau levels (right) with the Fermi energy lying in between the second and third Landau level. **c** Schematic drawing of a potential landscape in a 2DEG from a top-view. The lines are equipotential lines, the "+" sign denotes a potential peak and the "-" sign a potential dip. Taken from [127]. **d** Landau levels bent by the confining potential (top). Schematic of two edge states and localized states in real space (bottom). **b**, and **d** taken from Ref. [128].

1/v-intervals. Similarly, ρ_{xx} oscillates with magnetic field and the oscillations are called Shubnikov-de Haas oscillations (SdH). Whenever there is a plateau in ρ_{xy} , ρ_{xx} will be zero. This alignment of ρ_{xy} and ρ_{xx} always occurs when the magnetic field is:

$$B = \frac{2\pi\hbar n}{ev} = \frac{n}{v}\Phi_0 \tag{2.39}$$

where Φ_0 is the flux quantum, and *n* is the density. From this relationship we are able to extract *n* just from the periodicity of the filling factors in 1/B.

The observation that the resistivity of the SdH oscillations becomes 0 is remarkable since this behaviour suggests, that we have a perfect conductor in this regime. However, if we calculate the longitudinal conductivity σ_{xx} through matrix inversion of equation 2.33:

2

$$\sigma_{xx} = \frac{\rho_{xx}}{\rho_{xx}^2 + \rho_{xy}^2}$$
(2.40)

we also see that the conductivity is 0 if $\rho_{xy} \neq 0$ and $\rho_{xx} = 0$, which means that the system is a perfect insulator. At first glance having a perfect conductor and a perfect insulator simultaneously, seems contradictory. However, both statements are true since in the QHE we have no current flowing in the longitudinal direction of the Hall-bar ($\sigma_{xx} = 0$), and $\rho_{xx} = 0$ implies that there is no dissipation of energy due to the absence of scattering.

LANDAU LEVELS

To obtain a deeper understanding of the QHE we examine the quantum-mechanical picture of electrons in a magnetic field. We use a Hamiltonian to describe the eigenstates and eigenvalues of electrons moving in the xy-plane in a magnetic field oriented along the z-axis:

$$H = \frac{1}{2m}(p + eA)^2 = \hbar\omega_c(a^+a + 1/2)$$
(2.41)

where p is the canonical momentum and A is the vector potential, $\omega_c = eB/h$ is the cyclotron frequency, and *a* is a scaling operator obeying $[a^+, a] = 1$. This Hamiltonian, yields the energy spectrum of a harmonic oscillator with highly degenerate energy values [128] where each energy eigenstate ϵ_n is a Landau level (Fig. 2.9b) with an energy separation of (for a detailed derivation the reader is referred to Ref. [130]):

$$\epsilon_n = \hbar \omega_c (n+1/2) \tag{2.42}$$

where n is an integer. It results, that the cyclotron frequency is quantized (figure 2.9b) with a density of states for each Landau level of eB/h [128].

In the right panel of figure 2.9**b**, however, we see a more realistic picture of the Landau levels, where the degeneracy within each Landau level is lifted. The reason for this lifting of the degeneracy is that disorder creates a spatially varying potential that is much smaller than the energy spacing of the Landau levels, which causes the Landau levels to broaden and creates extended states in narrow energy bands centered around each Landau level, as well as localized states at energies in between Landau levels [128] (see figure 2.9**b**). Localized states are spatially pinned because they sit on equipotential lines (see figure 2.9**c**) in peaks or dips of the potential and therefore do not carry current. Extended states, however, arise at the edge of the device geometry where the potential rises steeply. Figure 2.9**d** shows a schematic drawing of a device with edges in the QHE regime (bottom) with the confinement potential of such a device (top) where the Fermi level E_F lies between the second and third Landau level. The relative position of E_F is tuned by varying the Landau level (by sweeping either *n* or *B*). When E_F is located in between two Landau levels there is a range of energies where no conduction is possible since E_F either crosses no states or exclusively localized states, which explains the plateaux in both ρ_{xx} and ρ_{xy} in figure 2.9**a**. Whenever the E_F comes close to Landau level however, there is conduction through the extended states at the edge of the channel. It is worth to note, that at finite Temperatures electrons are allowed to hop between equipotential lines through activation from the thermal energy and additionally contribute to the resistivity changes around each Landau level.

Lastly we want to understand the origin of the von Klitzing constant R_H . At the edges of the device shown in figure 2.9**d** E_F crosses a finite number of extended states, which corresponds to v. Each of these extended states is one-dimensional and at opposite sides of the device the group velocity of is reversed due to the cyclotron motion induced by the external magnetic field. Thus, all states with opposite momentum are spatially separated on opposite sites of the samples, which forbids electron backscattering [128]. In consequence, the conductance through these edge states is ballistic (there is no dissipation of energy) and scattering theory of electronic transport [131, 132] shows that the conductance of a 1D ballistic state is $h/e^2 = R_H$.

We use the quantum Hall effect to quantify the energy separation of two neighbouring Landau levels. Under the influence of temperature the longitudinal resistivity ρ_{xx} can be described using an Arrhenius relationship:

$$\rho_{xx} = \rho_0 * exp(\Delta/2k_BT) \tag{2.43}$$

where Δ is the activation energy, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, T is the temperature, and ρ_0 is the resistivity of the sample when the Temperature exceeds the activation energy.

2.4.4. CHARGE SENSING WITH QUANTUM DOTS

Quantum dots in Si/SiGe may host spin qubits, but in the context of materials developement we use them mainly as a local probe for valley splitting and charge noise. A quantum dot operated on the flank of a Coulomb peak is sensitive to small current displacements in the surrounding environment e.g. a change in the charge state N of another quantum dot. Figure 2.10**a** shows a double-quantum-dot system with a nearby charge sensor formed of a quantum dot. In this architecture we use the sensing-quantum dot (SD) underneath the gate SDP to understand the behaviour of the target-quantum dots (TD) underneath the gates RP and LP.

The lower panel of figure 2.10**b** illustrates the current underneath the gate $LP I_{LP}$ as a function of the gate voltage V_{LP} , with schematically drawn Coulomb peaks. Each time we add an electron to the quantum dot we see that the signal-to-noise ratio of the Coulomb peaks gets larger. In contrast, in the upper panel of figure 2.10**b**, we see current underneath SDP I_{SDP} also as a function of V_{LP} . I_{SDP} changes because LP and SDP are capacitively coupled. Each time that a charge state becomes available, I_{SDP} jumps. Using this technique we see charge transitions, that are not detectable by solely monitoring I_{LP} , such as the first jump in the upper panel of figure 2.10**b**. Charge-transitions are mapped in figure 2.10**c** as a function of the gate voltages V_{RP} and V_{LP} in a charge-stability diagram. With (X,Y) we indicate how many electron are in the left dot (X) and in the right dot (Y). In this case the charge transitions are ideal, meaning there is no



Figure 2.10: **a** False-coloured scanning electron microscope image of a double quantum. Quantum dots are formed underneath LP and RP. SDP functions as a charge sensor [73]. **b** Schematic of noninvasive charge sensing of the LP-quantum dot using the quantum dot underneath SDP. The transport current I_{LP} shows Coulomb peaks as a function of the quantum dot plunger gate voltage V_{LP} . The sensing current I_{LP} shows the cahracteristic jumps that occur whenever a state becomes available underneath the gate LP. **c** Schematic stability diagram for a double dot system without interdot tunneling. **d** Schematic stability diagram for a double dot system without interdot tunneling. **d** Schematic stability diagram for a double dot system without interdot tunneling. **d** Schematic stability diagram for a double dot system with as a function of the magnetic field. The red line shows the expected spin filling for the charge transition $N = 1 \rightarrow 2$. At $B = B_{ST}$ the typical kink is observed, where the Zeeman energy E_Z is equal to the singlet-triplet splitting energy E_{ST} [73]. **f** Power spectral density of current fluctuations (orange line) from a 40 second measurement, revealing a significant deviation from $1/f^{\alpha}$ -noise due to one strong TLF with a switching frequency $\gamma \approx 6.5$ Hz. **g** Schematic of a typical Ramsey experiment, showing oscillations of the in-plane polarization of a qubit as a function of time. The oscillations follow a Gaussian decay envelope that allows us to extract T_2^* [133].

capacitive coupling C_m between V_{RP} and the left dot and V_{LP} and the right dot. In reality however, there is capacitve coupling between the quantum dots and all surrounding gates. Therefore the transition lines in the charge-stability diagram become tilted (see figure 2.10**d**).

We are interested in using these double quantum dots with a charge sensor as a probe to measure for example charge noise or the singlet-triplet energy splitting E_{ST} , where E_{ST} usually gives a lower bound on the valley splitting $E_v \ge E_{ST}$ [134, 135]. We measure E_{ST} by varying the parallel magnetic field and monitoring either the (0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)-charge transition. By varying the magnetic field the transition line moves upwards, because we 2

add a spin \uparrow to form the singlet ground state S_0 . The slope will move upwards until the S_0 is energy degenerate with the next available T_- state at a magnetic field B_{ST} , where we observe a characteristic kink. After the kink the T_- -state becomes the new ground state of the two-electron system and the slope moves downwards. E_{ST} is determined from the position of the kink with $E_{ST} = g\mu_B B_{ST}$, where g is the electron gyromagnetic ratio (g-factor) in silicon, and μ_B is the Bohr magneton.

Next, we measure low-frequency charge noise by monitoring the current as a function of time and extracting the current noise spectrum S_I using a Fourier transform in a regime where current fluctuations are most pronounced. In quantum dots the flank of a Coulomb peak is the most sensitive region where the derivative of the current |dI/dV| is highest, indicating that the current fluctuations are dominated by fluctuations in the electrochemical potential [136, 84]. In this case small current fluctuations δI can be expressed as:

$$\delta I = \frac{dI}{dV} \frac{\delta_{\epsilon}}{\alpha} \tag{2.44}$$

where δ_{ϵ} represents the fluctuations in the electrochemical potential and α is the lever arm. To convert the current noise spectrum to a charge noise spectrum S_{ϵ} we use:

$$S_{\epsilon} = \frac{\alpha^2 S_I}{|dI/dV|^2} \tag{2.45}$$

In chapter 2.2.2. we theoretically discussed, that these charge-noise spectra follow either a power-law frequency dependence or in some cases the sum of a power law and a Lorentzian. In figure 2.10**f** we show a charge noise spectrum representative of the power law plus Lorentzian case. Here, the spectrum deviates from 1/f due to a strong TLF with switching frequency $\gamma \approx 6.5 Hz$.

2.4.5. COHERENCE TIMES IN SPIN QUBITS

In the previous section we examined how to use a quantum dot as a charge sensor to probe the performance of other, nearby quantum dots. On the other hand we can use spin qubits in the measurement dots themselves as sensors as well. The coherence times of spin qubits are sensitive to the host environment and can be seen as the ultimate metric to benchmark material performance.

Qualitatively, the coherence time describes the time a phase oscillation of a superposition state is coherent. To measure a coherence time we use a Ramsey experiment where a qubit is initialized to a state in the equatorial plane of the Bloch sphere. We then measure the in-plate polarization of the state as a function of time, by changing the monitoring time of the experiment. For low frequency noise the resulting time trace approximately follows a cosine with a Gaussian decay envelope [137]:

$$P_{x}(t) = exp((-t/T_{2}^{\star})^{2})\frac{1+cos(\omega t)}{2}$$
(2.46)

A typical curve from a Ramsey experiment is found in figure 2.10**g**. Nevertheless, there are caveats in using T_2^* as a metric: First, tuning a device into a regime where we can measure T_2^* , is non-trivial and often requires longer time periods in the order of days to weeks compared to Hall-bar or quantum dot measurements which take minutes to hours, second, T_2^* is a non-trivial function of the electric environment of the qubits, where small changes can already change T_2^* significantly [138, 115, 133], third, because T_2^* is non-trivial it is challenging to define a set of experimental conditions that make T_2^* comparable across devices. These caveats should not be seen as an obstacle, in fact they should encourage the improvement of materials, devices, and measurement equipment in quality and reproducibility, such that T_2^* will become a more central metric in the evaluation of Si/SiGe heterostructures. An initial study of statistical coherence time performance in spin qubits and a guide for future studies on T_2^* is given in Ref. [133].

3

EXPERIMENTAL METHODS AND SETUPS

He who is good with a hammer thinks of everything as a nail. Abraham Maslov

3.1. SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

In this thesis we consider two different streams of Si/SiGe heterostructures. The first stream of heterostructures is provided by Intel within the context of the Intel-Qutech partnership. These heterostrucutres are deposited on industrial 300 mm substrates in an advanced semiconductor fabrication facility. Our role has been to fabricate and electrically characterize H-FETs on these wafers to advance the material development cycle at Intel. The second stream of heterostructures is developed locally in Delft by the Scappucci group. We grow our own ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure at Else Kooi laboratories (EKL) at the Technical University Delft, using the same crystal growth techniques used by industry. This allows us to implement fast feedback cycles on the material and to port the learnings from our own heterostructures to an industrial fab.

3.1.1. NAT SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES ON INDUSTRIAL 300MM SI WAFERS

^{nat}Si/SiGe heterostructures are grown on 300 mm <100> silicon wafers. These heterostructures comprise a Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strained relaxed buffer obtained by step grading of the germanium content, a 10-nm-thick strained Si quantum well, a 30-nm-thick Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier and a 1-nm-thick Si cap. Before fabrication, these wafers are laser-cut by an external supplier into five 100 mm wafers so we can further process them to H-FETs using the 100 mm wafer processing tools in the clean room facilities at EKL.

3.1.2. ²⁸SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES ON A 100 MM WAFER AT TU DELFT

²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures are grown at EKL using chemical vapor deposition (CVD). CVD is the mainstream crystal-growth method used by the semiconductor industry to deposit epitaxial layers for tailoring the electronic properties of semiconductor stacks for electronic devices. In figure 3.1**a** we see a schematic of a CVD growth process. One or more precursor gases react with a heated solid-state substrate, where the precursor gas deposits the desired atoms at the surface and the byproducts of the reaction remain in the gas phase.

In our case we use reduced pressure CVD, an industry compatible process, that operates in the pressure regime between 0.01 and 1000 mbar. To grow our heterostructures we use an ASMI Epsilon 2000 CVD system consisting of a quartz chamber, a rotating graphite susceptor, integrated heat lamps that can heat the chamber up to 1200 °C, and gas inlets for the precursors. Before the gas inlets there is an additional part, the precursor injection zone, where the precursor gases are injected with proper flow alongside the carrier gas (H₂). From there the gases move into a single line, the main manifold, where the precursors are then mixed. Once the gases reach the quartz chamber through the gas uniformly reaches the rotating graphite susceptor hosting the target substrate.

We use 100 mm <100> silicon wafers with a resistivity of 1-5 Ω cm as a the substrate for the hetero-epitaxial growth of Si/SiGe heterostructures. To grow the different layers of Si/SiGe heterostructures we use three precursor gases: natural dicholorsilane (SiCl₂H₂) 100 %, germane (GeH₄) diluted 2 % in H₂, and isotopically enriched silane (²⁸SiH₄) with a purifcation of 800 ppm diluted 1 % in H₂. These precursors lead to three thermally activated reactions for the growth of Ge, ^{nat}Si, and ²⁸Si:



Figure 3.1: **a** Schematic diagram of SiGe growth using CVD. Dichlorosilane and germane react with the heated surface, where Si and Ge adhere to the substrate and H_2 and Cl_2 from in the gas phase. **b** Schematic top view of the ASMI Epsilon 2000 CVD system. **c** Schematic side view of the ASMI Epsilon 2000 CVD system. **b** and **c** adapted from [139]. **d** Schematic of a typical Si/SiGe heterostructure with the chemical reactions that grow the respective layer.

$$GeH_4 \rightarrow Ge + 2H_2$$
 (3.1)

$$SiH_2Cl_2 \rightarrow Si + H_2 + Cl_2 \tag{3.2}$$

$$^{28}\text{SiH}_4 \rightarrow ^{28}\text{Si} + 2\text{H}_2$$
 (3.3)

In figure 3.1**d** we see which reactions are responsible for the growth of each individual layer of the Si/SiGe heterostructures. Reaction 3.1 and 3.2 grow the virtual substrate and the barriers of the heterostructure, reaction 3.3 grows the isotopically purified quantum well, and reaction 3.2 by itself is used for the Si-cap growth. Since growth parameters vary between chapters in this work, the specific growth details are found in the respective supplementary sections.

Growing the material at EKL is crucial to accelerate the development of the heterostructures for several reasons. First, ^{nat}Si quantum wells are usually grown with DCS due to the lower temperature range [140]. ²⁸Si quantum wells however, are grown with silane because silane is the final product of isotopical enrichment of ²⁸Si precursors [141]. As a consequence, the thermal budget difference requires to reengineer the entire material stack when moving from ^{nat}Si to ²⁸Si. Second, a 100 mm wafer tolerates thicker virtual substrates compared to a 300 mm wafer, where thick virtual substrates decrease the threading dislocation density [142] and also increase the distance between existing dislocations in the deeper layers of the heterostructure and the quantum well therefore, thick virtual substrates introduce less disorder into the system.

3.1.3. STRUCTURAL CHARACTERIZATION OF THE MATERIAL STACK

In chapter 2.1 we have analyzed how electrical properties are used to determine performance. However, prior to electrical analysis of the heterostructures we use material characterization methods to get chemical and structural insights into our growth process. In this thesis three characterization techniques are of significant relevance: transmission-electron-microscopy (TEM), secondary-ion-mass-spectroscopy (SIMS), and atom probe tomography (APT).

TEM is based on the same principles as light microscopy, but because of the much shorter wavelength of electron in comparison to light, the diffraction limit is in the sub-



Figure 3.2: **a** Schematic overview of a transmission electron microscope. A complex system of electromagnetic lenses and apertures focuses the electron beam onto the imaging plate. Picture adapted from [143]. **b** Zoom into the sample surface during secondary ion mass spectrometry. Secondary ions fly through vacuum and are eventually collected by an ion mass analyzer. Picture adapted from [144]. **c** Working principle of atom probe tomography. Atoms are ionized by a laser and an HV pulser and the detector records the time of flight, the X and Y position as well as charge to mass ratio. Adapted from [116]. **d** Atom probe tomography reconstruction of a ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure. Adapted from [73].

nm regime. In particular, TEM uses a complex system of electromagnetic lenses (see figure 3.2a) to focus a beam of electrons onto a sample to create an image. The electrons are transmitted through a thin piece of the sample, also called the lamella, and collected by a detector, revealing details of the morphology, composition, and crystalline structure of the material. The contrast of a TEM is sensitive to the atomic weights, allowing to distinguish between different elements in the lamella. In our case, we use TEM to determine the quantum well and barrier thicknesses, the interface quality at the top and bottom of the quantum well, as well as the structural quality of the semiconductor/dielectric interface.

SIMS is a key analytical technique for research, development, and process control of compound semiconductor epitaxy and devices. In particular, SIMS is a destructive technique to detect atom and isotope concentrations in thin films with nm-depth and μ m-lateral resolution. The first step of SIMS is to place a thin film sample into a vacuum and focus a beam of primary ions onto the sample. This process etches away particles from the target material ((see figure 3.2b)) where the etched particles are called secondary ions. Secondary ions freely move through the vacuum after their removal and are eventually collected by a mass spectrometer which assigns the mass of an incoming secondary ion to the respective atom/isotope. SIMS has an accurate elemental detection limit in the order of 10^{12} cm⁻² - 10^{16} cm⁻² and because we measure the mass of the incoming ions, we are able to distinguish the isotopic composition in the sample. In our case, we use SIMS to first quantify the amount of remaining ²⁹Si isotopes in the quantum well, so we are able confirm reduced magnetic noise from hyperfine interaction and second to determine the concentration of background impurities in the heterostructure introduced during the growth, such as oxygen or carbon.

APT is the only available technique offering extensive capabilities for both, 3D imaging and chemical composition measurements at the atomic scale (depth 0.1 nm; lateral 0.3-0.5 nm). APT samples are prepared to form a truncuated cone with a hemispherical cap. Under the influence of high DC voltages (5-25 kV), and high electric field (10 V/nm) at the tip surface atoms are ionised and evaporated individually at each pulse towards a position sensitive detector a distance L away from the sample (see figure 3.2c). The detector then measures the time of flight of ions, the m/q-ratio (where m is the mass and q the electric charge), the X,Y position where the ions hit the detector and the order of arrival of the atoms. Repeating this sequence for many atoms and taking all the measurements into account, a dedicated software is able to reconstruct the original position of the ions at the tip and allows to achieve a 3 D image of the material (see figure 3.2d). In our case we use APT to determine the quantum well width, the quantum well/barriers interface sharpness and roughness over the size of a quantum dot, as well as to investigate the presence of atomic steps or other correlated chemical disorder at the quantum well/barrier interface.

We refer the interested reader to Ref. [145] (TEM), Ref. [146] (SIMS), and Ref. [147] (APT) for a more rigorous and exhaustive description. Additionally, we have used also other characterization techniques such as electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS, chapter 7) to assess chemical composition, or geometric phase analysis (GPA, chapter 8) to infer local strain variations. Since we have used these techniques occasionally, they are described in the respective chapters and the interested reader is referred to Ref. [148]

(EELS), and Ref. [149] (GPA) for a more rigorous description.

3.2. FABRICATION PROCESSES

Device fabrication on 100 mm wafers comprises two steps. First we perform a prefabrication for micron-scale devices and structures such as Hall-bars, bonding pads, and ohmic contacts, and subsequently a nano-fabrication process to fabricate quantum dot devices.

3.2.1. PRE-FABRICATION OF MICRON-SCALE TEMPLATES

The pre-fabrication is performed using tooling for 100 mm wafers at EKL. A schematic of the pre-fabrication process is illustrated in figure 3.3**a**. First the Si/SiGe heterostructures go through a standard photo-lithography step consisting of: spin coating with SPR 3012 positive photoresist, optical lithography with an ASML PAS 5500/80, and development with MF322 developer. A subsequent dry etching process with HBr + Cl plasma using a Trikon Omega 201 produces the mesa for physical isolation of the quantum well and the optical markers for mask alignment. The remaining photoresist is then removed by oxygen plasma using a Tepla Plasma 300.

A standard wet cleaning process is performed consisting of a 99% HNO₃-solutionbath to remove organic particles, a 69.5% HNO₃-solution-bath at 100 °C to remove inorganic particles, rinsing, and drying. Another standard photo-lithography step is performed to prepare the wafer for ion implantation. Then phosphorous ions are implanted using a TLC Varian E500HP. After implantation there is another plasma cleaning and another standard wet cleaning. Implants are activated through a 15 seconds rapid thermal annealing at 700 °C using an SSI Solaris 100. The temperature is chosen to stay below the Si quantum well growth Temperature of 750 °C, to avoid diffusion of Ge atoms into the Si quantum well and strain relaxation.

Another standard cleaning process is performed and then a 10 nm thick Al_2O_3 is deposited through atomic layer deposition using a Picosun R-200 Advanced at a temperature of 300 °C. Afterwards there is an additional standard photo-lithography step. A standard HF dip is performed using BHF 1:7 solution with subsequent rinsing and drying opening windows through the AlO layer to the ohmics. To finish this part of the process a final wet etch with acetone is performed to remove organic residuals.

The wafer is again cleaned using the standard cleaning process. Before deposition of the Al-gate photo-lithography is performed: Two spin-coating processes with diluted positive SPR3012 photoresist and negative AZ nLOF 2000 photoresist positive resist, optical lithography, with an ASML PAS 5500/80, and development with MF322 developer. A subsequent oxygen plasma using Trikon Omega 201 removes the positive SPR3012 from the opened windows. A 200 nm aluminum film is sputtered and a lift-off process removes the remaining thin film from the wafer. Afterwards the wafer is cleaned with HNO₃.

The wafer is once more cleaned using the standard cleaning process. Before deposition of the Ohmic contacts there is another standard HF-dip step and another photolithography step with negative AZ nLOF 2000 photoresist, and MF322 developer. Subsequently, the Ohmic contacts of 2 nm titanium and 20 nm platinum are deposited through physical vapor deposition. A lift-off process removes the remaining remaining thin film



Figure 3.3: **a** Schematic illustration of the 100 mm-wafer fabrication process. Each step also contains a cleaning process, which is omitted in the graph but described in the main text. **b** Wafer diced into sixteen 2 cm×2 cm coupons. **c** Zoom into a coupons with four 10 mm × 10 mm duplicate cells. **d** Zoom into a cell, further divided into four identical chips. The top left chip hosts large-scale structures such as Hall-bars, a Corbino disk, and a transmission line. The other three are identical to each other and host bondpads and ohmic contact for subsequent nano-fabrication. **e** Zoom into an ohmic contact and implant region for nano-fabrication. **f** Scanning-electron-microscope image of a nano-fabricated double quantum dot device.

from the wafer, patterning the Aluminum gates.

As the last step the wafers are diced into sixteen $2 \text{ cm} \times 2 \text{ cm}$ coupons (see figure 3.3b), where the four corner coupons have only three corners. Each coupon hosts four 10 mm × 10 mm duplicate cells, shown in 3.3c and each cell hosts four quadrants (see figure 3.3d). The top left quadrant illustrates the large structures that are used to mea-

sure material performance, containing a large Hall-bar H-FET (top left), a Corbino disk (top right), a transmission line (bottom left), and a small Hall-bar H-FET (bottom right). The other three quadrants are identical to each other and are used for nano-fabrication where Ohmic contacts and implants are illustrated in 3.3**e**. Each chip is labelled with a unique number, which allows to track the position of every device coming from a wafer, such that it is possible to locate possible differences in device performance, for example we can compare devices that originate from the center with devices from the edge of the wafer.

3.2.2. FABRICATION OF NANO-SCALE TEMPLATES

Nano fabrication is performed at the van Leeuwenhoek laboratories (VLL) in the Applied Science faculty of the Technical University Delft. Nano-fabrication is performed on a single coupon. Fabrication of double quantum dot devices begins with a wet cleaning step using isopropanol and acetone. Subsequently, a lithography process is performed consisting of spin-coating, baking at 150 °C, electron-beam lithography, and development with pentylacetate and isopropanol. Then the thin-film metal gates consisting of 3 nm titanium and 17 nm paladium are evaporated thorugh physical vapr deposition and a lift-off process removes the remaining lacquer thin-film from the wafer.

Finally, the coupons are diced into sixteen cells, where twelve cells host the nanofabricated devices, and the other four host the previously described, micron-scale structures. In figure 3.3**f** we see a typical double quantum dot device that went through both fabrication processes. More complicated fabrication schemes are described in chapters 6, 8, and 9 where devices with multilayer gate stacks are integrated.

3.3. EXPERIMENTAL SETUPS FOR CRYOGENIC MEASUREMENTS

The relevant energy scales of the quantum Hall effect and quantum dots are much smaller than the thermal energy at room temperature, therefore samples need to be cooled down in cryogenic systems where the thermal energy is in the range of $\simeq 4 \,\mu\text{eV}$ (50 mK) to \simeq 340 µeV (4 K). To characterize samples at such low temperatures the cryogenic systems are then connected to control and measurement electronics at room temperature. The first system we use for device characterization at cryogenic temperatures is an attoDRY2100 pulse tube refrigerator which reaches a base temperature of 1.6 K and is equipped with a superconducting magnet reaching magnetic field of up to 9 T. The second system is a Leiden MCK50-400 dilution refrigerator which reaches a base temperature of 50 mK and is equipped with a superconducting magnet reaching magnetic field of up to 12 T. Both refrigerators are top-loading systems with thermal cycle times shorter than 12 hours, which benefits our goal to achieve fast material-device-measurement feedback cycles. These top-loading systems are constrained in space and therefore can only host a limited number of DC wires. We circumvent this constraint using cryogenic multiplexers, which in turn enable high throughput measurements of our devices with statistically relevant feedback.

3.3.1. ATTODRY2100 PULSE TUBE REFRIGERATOR

The attoDRY2100 is a cryogenic refrigerator operating in the temperature range between 1.6 K - 300 K, without supply of external cryogenic liquids. The cryogenic refrigerator consists of a main unit, a support unit, a helium gas storage vessel, scroll pump and a compressor. The main unit contains the cryostat with a superconducting magnet inside, also called the isolation volume. The support unit contains the control electronics, a pulse tube cooler valve, and a pulse tube cooler buffer reservoir [150].

The cooling part of the refrigerator comprises, a compressor, three heat exchangers, a regenerator, two helium pressure lines, an orifice, a reservoir volume and a pulse tube (see figure 3.4**a**). We also call the cooling part a pulse tube cryocooler, even though the pulse tube is only a single part of the cooling apparatus. The compressor moves He gas back and forth at room temperature, therefore the pressure within the system decreases and increases. When the compressor increases the pressure, gas enters the regenerator - a periodic flow heat exchanger usually consisting of a porous medium with large specific heat - and the regenerator will absorb heat from the gas. The cold gas then flows through the heat exchanger cold plate and the orifice to the reservoir, where the gas again transmits heat to its surroundings. When the compressor decreases the pressure the gas moves back through the entire circuit towards the compressor and removes heat from the regenerator.

The pulse tube has the function to separate the cold and warm ends. Therefore it is necessary that gas is only able to travel a fraction of the tube length, such that the gas in the middle of the tube can act as an insulating barrier between the cold and warm end.

b а ⁴He/³He Pumps dumps 1K pot reservoir LN traps Pump compresso volume 1 \otimes orifice gas gas heat heat 1K pot ³He Φ exchanger exchanger inner vacuum chamber still still shield pulse regenerator tube mc shield heat mixing chamber exchanger concentrated phase cold plate diluted phase isolation vacuum primary impedance

Besides the cooling apparatus the Attocube system is equipped with a thermometer,

Figure 3.4: **a** Schematic overview of the pulse tube used in the attocube. Picture adapted from [150]. **b** Schematic overview of a dilution refrigerator. Picture adapted from [151].

a heater, wiring to room temperature, and a cryogenic multiplexer printed-circuit board (PCB) supporting 13 samples and 8 direct current (DC) connections. The PCB is connected first through the wiring and then through a Fischer 24-pin coaxial cable to the control and measurement electronics.

3.3.2. Leiden MCK50-400 dilution refrigerator

The Leiden MCK50-400 refrigerator is a wet cryogenic refrigerator system that consists of a cryogenic liquid vessel, a 1 K-pot, a mixing chamber, a still, a circulation system, nitrogen cold traps, and a gas handling system, schematically drawn in figure 3.4**b**. During operation the cryogenic liquid vessel is filled with liquid helium with a temperature of 4.2 K. The liquid helium bath is connected to the 1 K-pot, where an external scroll pump can reduce the temperature of the helium in the 1 K-pot to 1.6 K through evaporative cooling.

Once the 1 K-pot has reached its base temperature of 1.6 K the gas handling system will induce ⁴He to the circulation system. First the ⁴He flows through liquid nitrogen traps (LN traps) to trap residual gas atoms (e.g. oxygen). Afterwards the ⁴He pipe goes through the 1K point where the ⁴He gas liquefies. The ⁴He then flows through a primary impedance filling the mixing chamber with liquid ⁴He. A turbo pump attached to the far end of the still then evaporatively cools the mixing chamber to 800 mK. As soon as all ⁴He gas is condensed, the gas handling system starts inserting ³He into the circulation system, which will liquefy in the mixing chamber. Below 870 mK the mixture of ⁴He and ³He undergoes a spontaneous phase separation in the mixing chamber, where a concentrated phase (100% ³He) and a dilute phase (6.6% ³He) are in equilibrium. Inside of the mixing chamber ³He flows from the concentrated phase through the phase boundary into the dilute phase. This diluting process is endothermic and removes energy in form of heat from the mixing chamber. The ³He then moves towards the still where it evaporates due to its lower boiling point. In consequence, there is a steady ³He-flow in the circulation system. Here, the still can be heated to increase the flow in the mixing chamber, which ultimately allows to reach a base temperature of 50 mK. The additional mc and still shields ensure further thermal isolation of the mixing chamber from its environment.

Besides the cooling apparatus the Leiden system is equipped with three thermometers (1K-pot, still, and mixing chamber), two heaters (still and mixing chamber), wiring to room temperature, a superconducting magnet, and an exchangeable cryogenic multiplexer printed-circuit board (PCB) supporting either 13 samples and 8 DC wires or 5 samples with 22 DC wires, depending if the devices under test (DUT) are Hall-bar shaped H-FETs or quantum dots. The PCB is connected first to the wiring and then through two Fischer 24-pin coaxial cables to the control and measurement electronics.

3.3.3. CONTROL AND MEASUREMENT ELECTRONICS

Both the Attocube and the Leiden systems use the same type of instrumentation to quantify sample properties. In both cases the coaxial cables leaving the fridge are connected to an isolated matrix module, which is equipped with internal π -filters that filter and suppress interference up to >10 GHz. The matrix module allows micro coaxial connectors (MCX) to connect to an IVVI-rack and a serial peripheral interface (SPI)-rack, where both racks are powered by isolated batteries and are also galvanically isolated from all other instrumentation to avoid coupling of signals from the 50 Hz power grid.

The two racks host 16-bit digitial-to-analog converters (DAC), as well as a series of exchangeable, custom-built measurement modules [152, 153]. DACs operate with a range of ± 2 V, centered around -2 V, 0 V, or 2 V. The measurement modules are isolated input modules for DC and alternate current (AC) voltages, voltage amplifiers, current-to-voltage (IV) converter modules, and isolated output modules for DC and AC voltages.

The output modules are connected to two types of measurement instruments. First, an SR830 lock-in amplifier is used for low-frequency AC-signaling and detection. The output and inputs of the lock-in amplifier are connected to the measurement modules via coaxial cables. Second, a Keithley DMM6500 digital multimeter is used for DC detection. This type of multimeter is equipped with a 16-bit digitizer card with a maximum sample rate of 1 M samples/s.

All instrumentation is connected to a computer where the DACs in the IVVI-rack are connected through an optical fiber, the SPI-rack through an in-series connection of a C2-microcontroller box [153] and a USB connection, the multimeter is connected through a USB port, and the lock-ins are connected through GPIB-connectors. With the computer we have full software control over the measurement instruments, the SPI-rack, and the IVVI rack through QCoDeS, a Python-based data acquisition framework developed by the Copenhagen/ Delft/ Sydney/ Microsoft quantum computing consortium [154].

Hall-bars are operated by applying a AC voltage of typically 100 μ V with a frequency of 7.777 Hz to the source contact and a DC voltage to the gate. The drain contact is connected to a current-to-voltage converter module converting and amplifying the AC current to an AC voltage. The amplified AC voltage is then detected by the lock-in. In addition, potential differences on the Hall-bar are amplified with amplifier modules and then detected with the lock-ins. Quantum dots are operated by applying a DC voltage of typically 100 μ V to the source contact of the quantum dot and DC voltages applied to the gates. The drain contact is connected to a current-to-voltage converter module converting and amplifying the DC current to a DC voltage. The amplified DC voltage is then detected by the multimeter.

4

MULTIPLEXED QUANTUM TRANSPORT USING COMMERCIAL OFF-THE-SHELF CMOS AT SUB-KELVIN TEMPERATURES

Continuing advancements in quantum information processing have caused a paradigm shift from research mainly focused on testing the reality of quantum mechanics to engineering qubit devices with numbers required for practical quantum computation. One of the major challenges in scaling toward large-scale solid-state systems is the limited input/output (I/O) connectors present in cryostats operating at sub-kelvin temperatures required to execute quantum logic with high-fidelity. This interconnect bottleneck is equally present in the device fabrication-measurement cycle, which requires high-throughput and cryogenic characterization to develop quantum processors. Here we multiplex quantum transport of two-dimensional electron gases at sub-kelvin temperatures. We use commercial off-the-shelf CMOS multiplexers to achieve an order of magnitude increase in the number of wires. Exploiting this technology we accelerate the development of 300 mm epitaxial wafers manufactured in an industrial CMOS fab and report a remarkable electron mobility of $(3.9\pm0.6)\times10^5$ cm²/Vs and percolation density of $(6.9\pm0.4)\times10^{10}$ cm⁻², representing a key step toward large silicon qubit arrays. We envision that the demonstration will inspire the development of cryogenic electronics for quantum information and because of the simplicity of assembly and versatility, we foresee widespread use of similar cryo-CMOS circuits for high-throughput quantum measurements and control of quantum engineered systems.

This chapter has been published in B. Paquelet Wuetz*, P. L. Bavdaz*, L. A. Yeoh, R. Schouten, H. van der Does, M. Tiggelman, D. Sabbagh, A. Sammak, C. G. Almudever, F. Sebastiano, J. S. Clarke, M. Veldhorst and G. Scappucci, Multiplexed quantum transport using commercial off-the-shelf CMOS at sub-kelvin temperatures, NPJ quantum information **6**, 43 (2019) [155]

^{*}These authors have contributed equally

4.1. INTRODUCTION

With quantum computing technology advancing at a fast pace, noisy intermediate-scale quantum (NISQ) technology with 50-100 qubits are predicted to be realized in the near future [156, 157]. Solid-state quantum processors in the NISQ era and beyond will be realized by mass-fabrication on wafers including 300 mm technology. Optimization and validation approaches for quantum materials and devices are therefore required that can rely on an increasingly fast-feedback cycle. Since quantum technology operates at sub-kelvin temperatures, cryogenic solutions for fast testing will have to be developed.

The decades of advancement in classical technology following Moore's law has been made possible by approaches dictated by Rent's rule $T = tg^p$, where the Rent exponent p relates the total number of control lines T and proportionality factor t with the number of internal components g [158, 159]. This same rule has been predicted to be required for practical quantum processors [160], but we also envision that this rule will determine the progress in fabrication and validation, with the Rent factor crucially determining how many devices can be tested simultaneously.

One pursuit toward scalable testing is to adapt room temperature wafer-scale probing at cryogenic temperatures. Indeed, a cryogenic wafer prober has recently been developed to establish a high-volume 300 mm test-line for quantum devices [161]. The measurement temperature in probe-based systems, however, is limited to a few kelvin. Furthermore, integration of magnets required for material characterization is challenging to achieve on large-size probe systems. Alternatively, cryogenic on-chip multiplexers have been developed in GaAs/AlGaAs [162, 163, 164, 165] and Si/SiGe [166] heterostructures, operating at a temperature of 1.6 K and 0.2 K, respectively. With this approach the number of quantum devices measured in one cooldown on a single chip is increased without the need to alter existing cryostat setups. However, the design and implementation of on-chip multiplexers is specific to the materials and device under test (DUT). Furthermore, an architecture that works at base temperature of a dilution refrigerator, high magnetic fields, and is independent of the number and type of DUT has yet to be developed.

In this Article we deploy digital CMOS logic at T = 50 mK to increase the number of wires available at cryogenic temperature by an order of magnitude while keeping the overhead number of I/O wires at room temperature fixed (Fig. 4.1). Our cryogenic platform is based on general-purpose commercial off-the-shelf multiplexers driven by a nearby shift-register, is operated under the extreme temperature and magnetic fields achieved in dilution refrigerators, and can be readily integrated in any kind of cryostat. We have specifically designed the cryo-CMOS circuit to act as a switch and allow for high-throughput quantum transport measurements. Multiple devices can be screened for relevant metrics in the same cooldown either individually or at once by time-division multiplexing (TDM) without introduction of any artifacts.

To prove the value of this architecture for accelerating the fabrication-measurement cycle of quantum devices, we focus on an archetypal measurement in condensed matter physics: magnetotransport of 2DEGs in the classical and quantum Hall regime. These measurements are used to evaluate statistically key metrics of high-mobility Si/SiGe heterostructures field effect transistors, relevant for spin-qubits in Si [167, 168], currently leading the field of quantum computation with quantum dots [41]. We exploit the cryomultiplexing platform to accelerate the development of 300 mm epitaxial wafers manufactured in an industrial CMOS fab and report record values of electron mobility and percolation density at sub-kelvin temperatures, relevant for large silicon spin-qubit arrays.

4.2. CRYOGENIC MULTIPLEXER PLATFORM

Figure 4.2 shows schematics of our experimental setup. At the heart of the architecture is a printed circuit board (cryo-MUX PCB; Fig. 4.2c) operating at 50 mK. The cryo-MUX PCB comprises cascaded serial-input parallel-output (SIPO) shift registers which provide N outputs lines, each of them controlling M outputs lines of multiplexer components. Few input/output (I/O) wires connect the cryo-MUX PCB to room temperature



Figure 4.1: **Setup for accelerated cryo-testing of quantum materials and devices.** Left panel: a number N of dies, each containing a device under test (DUT) are selected from a wafer and wire bonded onto a printed circuit board (DUT-PCB; blue circle). Middle panel: the DUT-PCB is mounted to the cold finger of a dilution refrigerator (MCK 50-400 by Leiden Cryogenics) connected by flat ribbon cables to a printed circuit board containing CMOS components (cryo-MUX PCB; blue star). The DUT-PCB and cryo-MUX PCB are operated at T = 50 mK. Right panel: schematics of the cold finger showing how the use of cryo-CMOS allows cold-wires multiplication on the DUT-PCB with a fixed overhead of wires to room temperature. Devices may be selected for single measurements or time division multiplexing

electronics (Fig. 4.2**a**) with the following purpose: i) provide supply voltages and digital logic levels to the board components; ii) connect the multiplexers to current/voltage supplies and equipment for performing measurements of the devices. Each of the DUT has M (S) multiplexed (shared) terminals and are bonded to a printed circuit board (DUT-PCB; Fig. 4.2**d**). The DUT-PCB, also operating at 50 mK, is connected to the multiplexers on the cryo-MUX PCB by flat ribbon I/O cables supporting more than NM + S wires.

Table 4.1 presents an overview of the scaling properties of the number of lines between the different parts of the cryogenic architecture in our experimental setup. The system can be scaled by either adding more devices or by adding more lines per device, i.e increasing *N* or *M*, respectively. When devices are added, additional shift registers are required to select these devices. When the number of lines per device is increased, ad-



Figure 4.2: **Cryo-multiplexing platform setup. a** Electronics operated at room temperature is controlled by a computer **b** using the QCoDeS framework and supplies voltages to the components located on the cryo-MUX PCB **c**. The serial-input parallel-output shift registers receive a string of bits from the room temperature electronics to control the multiplexers. Each bit corresponds to all multiplexers associated with one device under test, located on the DUT-PCB **d**. The multiplexed lines of select devices can be switched either to the supply and measurement equipment or to ground.

	RT	Shift	Mutliplexers	DUT
	electronics	registers		
RT electronics		C1	M+C ₂	S
Shift registers	C_1		Ν	
Mutliplexers	M+C ₂	Ν		NM
DUT	S		NM	

Table 4.1: **Number of lines between parts of the cryo-multiplexer platform.** A constant number is indicated with C, whereas N is the number of DUT and M(S) is the number of multiplexed (shared) lines per DUT. The first row indicates that the lines between room temperature and cryogenic temperatures are not dependent on N. On the other hand, scaling the system will increase the lines between the multiplexers and DUT.

ditional multiplexers and room temperature measurement equipment are needed. Crucially, this protocol requires a constant number of lines between room temperature and cryogenic components, regardless how large N is. This approach yields an optimal Rent exponent at room temperature p_{RT} =0, however the time necessary to perform a measurement cycle through all DUT scales linearly with N.

The whole system is controlled by sending commands to the electronics through a software environment built on QCoDeS [154] (Fig. 4.2**b**), while timing is done using an internal hardware clock for increased precision. Three signals generated from custom digital to analog converters are sent to the SIPO shift registers to perform switching between DUT. All signals are produced by low-noise equipment to avoid any coupling of noise and interference to the multiplexers, since additional line filters were not present due to space constraints in our dilution refrigerator. Firstly, a sequence of data bits is sent that defines which DUT will be selected. Secondly, a clocking signal is sent while loading each bit. Thirdly, a strobe signal is supplied, indicating when the shift register is fully loaded and the outputs can be sent to the multiplexers.

To achieve switching between lines, each line in the DUT is connected to a multiplexer consisting of a CMOS analog integrated circuit configured as a single-pole/doublethrow switch. The input terminal of the switch is connected to the DUT, while the output terminals are connected to room temperature equipment and ground. All switches associated with a DUT are controlled through logic inputs connected to the same shift register output. All possible 2^N combinations of DUT can be selected since the multiplexers are driven by the parallel output of the shift register.

In all the experiments presented here, the cryo-MUX PCB comprises two cascaded shift registers with eight parallel output each (Texas Instruments 74HC4094; specifications in Ref. [169]), allowing, in principle to measure up to N=16 DUT. Each of the N parallel outputs of the shift registers control M=6 multiplexed lines, separated over two components, each containing three single-pole/double-throw switches (Maxim MAX4619; specifications in Ref. [170]). These components show an on-resistance of 28 Ω and an off-leakage current ≤ 1 fA at $T \leq 80$ mK (see section 4.6.6). The shift registers and multiplexer components are powered with positive and negative supply voltages of 1.1 V and -3.9 V, respectively. The same values define the digital logic levels. In total, the 16 available channels and 6 multiplexed lines result in 96 wires available at the base temperature of the dilution refrigerator. Up to 13 devices are bonded on the DUT-PCB, less than N=16

due to the specific die-size chosen for the DUT and the limited sample space. A complete circuit diagram of the cryo-MUX PCB and DUT-PCB is provided in section 4.6.3.

We are able to discriminate whether correct switching has occurred, and consequently whether an intended DUT has been selected, by monitoring the resistance of N control resistors, each connected to one of the M = 6 multiplexed lines. We send commands to switch more than 10^3 times between randomly selected control resistors at a strobe frequency f_{strobe} . We then verify that the measured resistance is matching the expected value of the control resistors. We obtain a switching success rate of 100% at $T \le 80$ mK, while loading the shift register at a clock signal frequency of 4.4 MHz and while switching between resistors at a frequency $f_{strobe} = 1$ KHz, much larger than $f_{strobe} = 8$ Hz used in the experiments reported below. By increasing f_{strobe} to 8 KHz, we observe that the steady temperature of the dilution refrigerator stage has increased to 130 mK, signalling that the power dissipation in the MUX-PCB has exceeded the cooling power of our dilution refrigerator at base temperature (see section 4.6.5).

4.3. TIME-DIVISION MULTIPLEXING OF CONTROL RESISTORS

Thirteen metal thin film resistors (N=13) are bonded to the DUT-PCB in a four-probe configuration (Fig. 4.3**a**) to validate multiplexed electrical transport under different control sequences and conditions of external parameters, such as source-drain voltage applied to the resistors (V_{SD}), magnetic field (B), and temperature (T). The four-probe setup eliminates the series resistance originating from fridge wiring and electrical contacts and is a test-bed for quantum devices characterization. At room temperature the resistance of the chosen components ranges from 100 Ω to 8.2 k Ω and is expected to be temperature independent, minimizing device unpredictability.

We investigate two measurements protocols. Firstly, the cryo-MUX PCB may act as a simple DUT-selector by keeping a single device connected to the measurement equipment whilst sweeping the relevant parameter. This allows for a traditional single device measurement, with N devices measured one after the other. Alternatively, TDM is achieved by sequentially selecting for measurement all resistors at each point in the parameter sweep, allowing all N measurements to be completed within a single parameter sweep. In addition to benefiting from measurement speedup, this protocol allows for an better comparison between devices since differences in time-dependent factors are minimized.

In Fig. 4.3**b** we compare the dc voltage-current characteristics of the resistors obtained by sweeping the source-drain voltage V_{SD} following the two methodologies (sequential sweeps vs TDM). For all resistors the curves obtained with the two methodologies are matching, with fitted resistance values differing by 0.7% at most, limited by measurement resolution. Having established the validity of the TDM methodology, we further test its applicability to V_{SD} , B, or T sweeps, to emulate typical quantum transport measurements. For these measurements we use four-terminal low-frequency lockin techniques by applying constant AC source-drain voltages of 100 μ V. As seen in Fig. 4.3**c-e**, the resistance values remain constant for all N devices while sweeping V_{SD} , B, or T. Overall, this characterisation indicates that TDM does not introduce non-linearity in the four terminal measurements and that the whole architecture works properly under high magnetic fields and different temperature conditions.

4.4. Multiplexed quantum transport of industrial Si/SiGe

FIELD EFFECT TRANSISTORS

We now harness the power of the multiplexing platform to measure quantum transport of buried-channel semiconductor heterostructures, an archetype material platform for the fabrication of gated semiconductor quantum devices. In Si/SiGe heterostructures a type II band alignment promotes electron confinement at the interface between a strained Si quantum well and a SiGe barrier [8]. Si/SiGe heterostructures fabricated in academic environments have proven a successful material platform for obtaining longlived high-fidelity electron spin-qubits in silicon [113], and demonstrating strong spinphoton coupling [171, 172]. Furthermore, the advanced level of quantum control in these qubits allows to run quantum algorithms on two qubit processors [173, 168].

By investigating quantum transport in Hall-bar shaped heterostructures field effect transistors (H-FETs) [122, 123, 174], key material metrics such as maximum mobility and percolation density are extracted. Electron mobility is a straightforward figure of merit to asses the overall quality of the 2DEG in the high density regime, where screening of



Figure 4.3: **Multiplexed measurements of known resistors. a** Four-probe setup for multiplexed measurements of known resistors. **b** Dc voltage-current characteristics of thirteen resistors measured individually (dots) or all at once (lines) by time division multiplexing. Different colors correspond to different resistors. **c**-**e** Multiplexed resistance measurements while sweeping source-drain voltage (V_{SD}), magnetic field (B), and temperature (T). On the vertical axis, the AC resistance $R = dV_{xx}/dI_{SD}$ is normalized to the resistance value R_0 measured at zero dc source-drain voltage, zero magnetic field, and T = 50 mK. For clarity, curves are offset by an amount 0.25 *j*, with *j* being an integer from 0 (bottom curve) to 12 (top curve).

impurity scattering is relevant [175, 125]. On the other hand, the percolation density indicates the minimum density necessary to establish a metallic conduction channel and is a gauge for disorder at low density, where quantum devices operate.

In this work we take advantage of the cryo-multiplexer platform to reduce the total time required to characterize in detail multiple devices at sub-kelvin temperatures, thereby accelerating the process development for Si/SiGe heterostructures on 300 mm Si substrates in an industrial manufacturing CMOS fab. Si/SiGe H-FETs are fabricated in an academic clean room on 100 mm wafers laser-cut from the original 300 mm Si/SiGe industrial wafer (see details in section 4.6.2).

Ten dies (N=10) are randomly selected from different locations of the 100 mm wafer (Fig. 4.4**a**), bonded onto the DUT-PCB, and cooled down to 50 mK for measurements. Fig. 4.4**b** and c show a cross-section of the H-FETs and a schematic of the multiple connecting lines, respectively. Each device has 8 terminals. Five ohmic contacts (O1-O3, O5, O6) are multiplexed, whereas the source contact (O4) and the gate contacts (G1, G2) are shared by all N devices (M=5, S=3). Using these connections we perform magneto-transport measurements on all DUT by standard low frequency lock-in techniques (see "Methods" section).

Figure 4.4**d** shows the conductivity (σ_{xx}) and the electron density (n) of the devices measured by time division multiplexing as a function of gate voltage (upper and lower panel, respectively) Above a threshold voltage V_0 , electrons accumulate in the quantum well, current flows in the transistor channel and σ_{xx} increases monotonically with V_0 . Correspondingly, in all devices, the electron density increases linearly as V_G sweeps more positive, consistent with a parallel-plate capacitor model where dielectric between the 2DEG and metallic top-gate comprises the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier and the Al₂O₃ layer.

Figure 4.4**e** shows the density-dependent mobility (μ) and conductivity (upper and lower panel respectively). Excluding the purple and red curves, all the other devices follow a similar trend. The mobility increases steeply at small densities ($n \le 1.4 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$), before slowing down and eventually saturating at higher densities ($n \ge 2 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$). This behaviour is indicative of a high quality Si/SiGe 2DEG. The mobility is limited at low density by scattering from remote charged impurities, likely at the oxide interface, whereas at higher density saturation is given by short-range scattering from impurities within or nearby the quantum well. Remarkably, four devices (black, green, yellow, brown) stand out for exhibiting overlapping mobility density curves over the entire density range, indicating a uniform disorder landscape across the wafer [176]. This is beneficial for future development of large Si qubit arrays with shared control lines [177].

By analyzing the data sets in Fig. 4.4**d**,**e** we perform statistical analysis of key metrics of the 2DEG. Threshold voltage, capacitance (*C*), maximum mobility (μ_{max}), and percolation density (n_p) are reported as box plots in Fig. 4.4**f**-**i**. The threshold voltage V_0 (Fig. 4.4**f**) is extrapolated from the linear density-gate voltage dependence to zero density, whereas the capacitance (Fig. 4.4**g**) is given by the relationship $C = \frac{dn}{dV_g}e$. We observe small variations in both V_0 (2.75%) and C (1.34%) indicating that the dielectric stack comprising a 30-nm-thick Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier and the Al₂O₃ layer are uniform across the wafer. A record high μ_{max} (Fig. 4.4**h**) of $4.2 \times 10^5 \text{ cm}^2/\text{VS}$ is achieved for these industrially manufactured Si 2DEGs, with an average value of $(3.9 \pm 0.6) \times 10^5 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$, corresponding to a standard deviation below 20%. Our maximum mobility is less than

the value of 6.5×10^5 cm²/Vs obtained previously in Si/SiGe [178] possibly because the dielectric interface in our samples is much closer to the channel (30 nm compared to 50 - 60 nm in Ref. [178]).

As expected from the density-dependent mobility curves, the box plot of μ_{max} re-



Figure 4.4: **Multiplexed quantum transport in the classical Hall regime at** T = 50 mK. **a** Dicing scheme of the wafer. Each die and associated measurements throughout the figure have assigned a unique color. **b** Crosssection schematic of the DUT, a Si/SiGe heterostructure field effect transistor and **c** contact schematics. **d** Conductivity σ_{xx} (upper panel) and density *n* (lower panel) as a function of gate voltage V_g . **e** Mobility μ (upper panel) and conductivity σ_{xx} (lower panel) as a function of density *n*. Statistical analysis of data-sets in **d** and **e** yield box plots of **f** threshold voltage V_0 , **g** capacitance *C*, **h** maximum mobility μ_{max} , and **i** percolation density n_p with mean and standard deviation (black crosses). To draw a meaningful comparison between variations in **f**-**i** the range of each vertical axis is chosen to equal the mean value of the plotted variable. All measurements are taken in a single cooldown.

veals the outliers (purple and red), with values outside of the standard deviation. The percolation density n_p (Fig. 4.4i) is obtained by fitting the density-dependent conductivity to a 2D percolation transition model $\sigma_{xx} \sim (n - n_p)^{1.31}$ [125]. We obtain an average n_p of $(6.9\pm0.4)\times10^{10}$ cm⁻², corresponding to a standard deviation below 6%. The percolation density has a minimum value of 6.4×10^{10} cm⁻², on par with the best values reported in the literature [178, 123]. Overall these results support the use of 300 mm epitaxial Si/SiGe as a promising material platform to manufacture industrial spin qubits.

We now examine magnetotransport at high magnetic field, where quantum effects are dominant. Figure 4.5**a** shows ρ_{xx} and ρ_{xy} of the black device measured either in mul-



Figure 4.5: **Multiplexed quantum transport in the quantum Hall regime at** T = 50 mK. **a** Resistivity ρ_{xx} and Hall resistivity ρ_{xy} of a Si/SiGe heterostructure field effect transistor at T 50 mK measured individually (red curves) or by multiplexing (black curves) through all other devices. **b** Multiplexed resistivity ρ_{xx} and **c** Hall conductivity σ_{xy} as a function of filling factor v for eight devices. Color coding as described in Fig. 4.4**a**. **d** Box plot of the percentage difference between Hall density n and density n_{SdH} , with average and standard deviation (cross), extracted by analysis of the Shubnikov de-Haas oscillation periodicity.

tiplexed or non-multiplexed conditions. The overlap between the two curves is excellent, confirming the robustness of the setup against magnetic field sweeps. Clear Shubnikov–de Haas oscillations with zero-resistivity minima are observed in the longitudinal resistance ρ_{xx} as a function of the magnetic field *B*. Correspondingly, flat quantum Hall effect plateaus are visible in ρ_{xy} . The oscillations structure is typical of a Si/SiGe structure. The first oscillations at low fields correspond to integer filling factors v = 4k due to the spin and valley degeneracy. At higher fields, opening of the Zeeman gap and increased valley splitting leads to lifting of spin and valley degeneracy and observation of the associated even (v = 4k-2) and odd (v = 2k-1) filling factors. The QHE plateaus values are quantized as expected at values of h/e^2v , where *h* is Planck's constant and *e* the elementary charge.

Figure 4.5**b** shows the multiplexed ρ_{xx} measurements for all devices. We exclude the purple and red device because analysis of the Shubnikov -de Haas oscillations reveals for these devices the presence of a spurious conduction channel in parallel to the quantum well, possibly due to leakage from the gate. This spurious channel is likely cause of the reduced mobility compared to the other devices at similar density. The measurement are taken at a fixed V_G , corresponding to $n \sim 4.3 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻². For clarity, the curves are plotted against filling factor v. All devices show clearly the spin and valley split levels, however differences in the values of ρ_{xx} are seen, possibly due to the different Landau level broadening and/or different energy splittings across devices. Similar considerations apply to the minor difference observed in quantum Hall measurements reported in Fig. 4.5**c**. As a final statistical analysis, we show in Fig. 4.5**d** a box plot of the percentage difference between Hall density and Shubnikov-de Haas density n_{SdH} , obtained by the periodicity of the oscillations as a function of 1/*B*. The discrepancy is less than 3%, indicating that population of only one high-mobility subband is achieved uniformly across the wafer.

4.5. DISCUSSION

In conclusion, we investigate a cryo-CMOS architecture that uses general-purpose discrete components at 50 mK to increase the number of wires available at cryogenic temperature by an order of magnitude. This is obtained while keeping the overhead number of I/O wires at room temperature fixed. As a proof of principle, we develop and operate a cryo-MUX PCB with 16 selectable channels and 6 multiplexed lines, resulting in 96 wires available at the base temperature of the dilution refrigerator. This solution, implemented in a dilution refrigerator insert with a small sample space, can be further expanded and readily applied to virtually any cryostat.

We show control experiments where we perform time-division multiplexed measurements of known resistors to demonstrate robustness of the setup with respect to applied voltages, magnetic field, and temperature sweeps. We harness the power of the multiplexing architecture to measure quantum transport of numerous Si/SiGe H-FETs in one cooldown, accelerating the development of 300 mm Si/SiGe wafers fabricated in an industrial CMOS fab. We report record values of maximum mobility and percolation density and further improvements of these two metrics are expected by processing the entire gate stack in the high volume manufacturing environment, due to the better semiconductor/oxide interface attainable with an advanced process control. Mul-
tiplexed measurements of Shubnikov de-Haas oscillations and quantum Hall effect are performed successfully. These capabilities provide scope for future high-volume measurements of valley splitting in Si 2DEGs based on thermal activation measurements in the QHE regime [179].

We show a path forward for high-throughput quantum transport at cryogenic temperatures which will help to accelerate the fabrication-measurement cycle of quantum devices in industrial settings. The cryogenic multiplexing demonstrated here may be used already to set the potential landscape of large quantum dot arrays [177, 180, 181]. Moreover, the recent demonstration of universal quantum logic above one kelvin with silicon qubits [182] provides avenue for switching rates exceeding MHz frequencies, thus enabling full control over quantum circuits with only a few room temperature control lines. We envisage that investigations of different components with smaller footprints, circuits, and architectures at cryogenic temperatures [183], including custom fully integrated CMOS solutions, will help to satisfy the ever growing need for scalable wiring solutions to control large quantum systems.

4.6. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

4.6.1. GROWTH AND FABRICATION

The Si/SiGe heterostructure comprises a Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strained relaxed buffer obtained by step grading of the germanium content, a 10-nm-thick strained Si quantum well, a 30-nm-thick Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier and a 1-nm-thick Si cap. The fabrication process for H-FETs involves: mesa-trench for device isolation; P ion implantation and anneal at T = 750 °C for contacting the 2DEG; atomic layer deposition of a 30-nm-thick Al₂O₃ dielectric layer to isolate the 2DEG from the Hall-bar shaped metallic top-gate; metallization for gate, ohmic contacts, and bonding pads.

4.6.2. QUANTUM TRANSPORT MEASUREMENTS

We apply a source-drain bias of 0.1 mV and measure I_{SD} , the longitudinal voltage V_{xx} , and the transverse Hall voltage V_{xy} as a function of gate voltage V_G and B. These measurements are carried out by sequential selection or time division multiplexing. As for the control resistance measurements discussed previously, the data-sets obtained with the two methodology agree within less than 1%, indicating that time division multiplexing does not perturb the measurements. The longitudinal resistivity ρ_{xx} and transverse Hall resistivity ρ_{xy} are then calculated. The longitudinal (σ_{xx}) and transverse (σ_{xy}) conductivity are obtained via tensor inversion. The Hall electron density n is obtained from the linear dependence $\rho_{xy} = B/en$ at low magnetic fields. The carrier mobility μ is extracted from the relationship $\sigma_{xx} = ne\mu$, where e is the electron charge.

4.6.3. ELECTRICAL CIRCUITS

Figures 4.6 and 4.7 show the schematic circuits of all electrical components used for the cryo-MUX PCB (corresponding to Fig. 4.2c). Small labels e.g. "47n" next to a capacitor are representations of 47 nF (e.g. as seen in Fig. 4.6b. Red labels with the same name are connected together (e.g. O1_x in Fig. 4.6a is connected to O1_x in Fig. 4.7a. Free standing numbers represent the pin connection of an in-/outgoing wire. The ground connection is the same for all components and is connected to a ground at room temperature.

Figure 4.6a shows the connectors that connect wires in the fridge to the cryo-MUX PCB. Connections 1 and 35 on both connectors are grounded to protect from electrostatical discharge (ESD). Connections 22 to 34 on connector 1 are not connected since they are not needed in this configuration. The second connector in Fig. 4.6a has the purpose to attach an additional cryo-MUX PCB for achieving higher yield of measurable samples per thermal cycle.

The cryo-MUX PCB is supplied with $V_{1,2}$ + = +1.1 V and $V_{1,2}$ - = -3.9 V. V_1 ± is used as power supply for the multiplexers and V_2 ± as power supply for the shift registers. In principle these power supplies could be connected together, since we found that both shift registers and multiplexers may share the same supply voltages at $T \le 80$ mK. Decoupling capacitors C85-C102¹ in Fig. 4.6b and C81-C83¹ in Fig. 4.6c stabilize the power supply, where C85-C102 and C81-C83 combine to a total value of \approx 37 pF and \approx 33 pF respectively. Diodes D3² (Fig. 4.6b and D1² (Fig. 4.6c are used for reverse bias protec-

¹Kemet C0805C473J3GACTU and Kemet C0603C153J3GACTU

²ON SS16



Figure 4.6: Schematics of implementation of **a** connectors from room temperature electronics to the cryo-MUX PCB with ground connections to protect from ESD. **b** a protective diode and a series of decoupling capacitors. **c** shift register with output wires to connect to follow up components.



Figure 4.7: Schematics of implementation of **a** the multiplexer components with one control wire i and 6 outgoing wires O1_i, O2_i, O3_i, O5_i, O6_i and R_i. R_i is used to verify correct switching. **b** Connectors hosting outgoing wires from the cryo-MUX PCB with ground connections to protect from ESD.



Figure 4.8: Schematics of the connectors on the DUT-PCB with ground connections to protect from ESD and showing all connected wires. Samples 1, 4, 5, 9, 10 and 13 are protected against ESD with NTC resistors.

tion. On the left part of Fig. 4.6c the clock (CLK), data (DATA in) and strobe (STR) wires are connected to the shift register to load data into the registers. Clock and strobe are universal for all shift registers and the output QS2 of shift register 1 is connected to the data input of shift register 2. Additional registers can be cascaded via DATA out on shift register 2.

Each control line (control *i* 1-16; Fig. 4.6**c** is attached to two sets of three single pole double throw multiplexers (see Fig. 4.7**a**. If a logic low voltage is applied, the multiplexers (i.e. *X*, *Y* and *Z*) are routed to ground; if a logic high voltage is applied the multiplexers establish a connection between the measurement wires (i.e. O1_i, O2_i, O3_i, O5_i, O6_i and R_i to O1_x, O2_x, O3_x, O5_x, O6_x and R_x). The control lines *X*, *Y* and *Z* are connected to the same input signal, enabling all switches (*X*, *Y*, *Z*) at the same time if the control signal is set to logic high. The lines O1_i, O2_i, O3_i, O5_i and O6_i are used to connect to sample *i*. Capacitors of 100 pF³ reduce the effect of charge injection

³Kemet C0402C101J5GACTU



Figure 4.9: Electrical schematic of a cell within the DUT-PCB where an individual DUT is bonded.

from the switches to the samples. R_i is a unique resistor for each MUX pair (ranging in value from 100 Ω to 8.2 $k\Omega$). Measurements of R_i confirm if the switching protocol is executed correctly.

Finally, 86 wires in total are routed from the cryo-MUX PCB to the DUT-PCB via connectors (Fig. 4.7**b** with grounding connections present for protection against ESD. In addition, three common lines are connected to pins 2,3 and 4 (connector 1) and pins 47, 48 and 49 (connector 2). These lines do not go through any of the described components. All other lines are attached to the multiplexed outputs described in Fig. 4.7a. Flexible cables connect all outgoing wires of the cryo-MUX PCB to the connectors on the DUT-PCB (see Fig. 4.1).

Figures 4.8 and 4.9 show the components used for the DUT-PCB (corresponding to Fig. 4.2d). The DUT-PCB connectors are shown in Fig. 4.8 and are equipped with two ground connections. Wires going to samples 1, 4, 5, 9, 10 and 13 protect the samples against ESD via negative temperature coefficient (NTC) resistors in parallel. NTC resistors have a low resistance at room temperature enabling a path to ground for a current. NTCs have, instead, a high resistance at cryogenic temperature blocking the electrical path to ground and forcing current to go through the DUT.

Finally, Fig. 4.9 shows electrical schematic of a cell within the DUT-PCB where an individual DUT is bonded. Each cell has two complete sets of bond pads to facilitate wire-bonding to the DUT.



Figure 4.10: Measured resistance compared to expected resistance for determining successful switching. Each measurement is preceded by 3900 random switches, using a clock frequency of 4.4 MHz and strobe frequency of 1 kHz. The line $R_{measured} = R_{expected}$ is added for clarity.

4.6.4. SWITCHING SUCCESS RATE

To determine the switching success rate at T < 80 mK we adopt the following procedure: load the shift register at a clock rate of 4.4 MHz; switch 3900 times at a strobe frequency $f_{strobe} = 1$ kHz to a randomly selected control resistor; measure the selected resistor ($R_{measured}$) and compare to the expected result ($R_{expected}$) based on the final switch in the sequence. This procedure is repeated 1000 times. Figure 4.10 shows $R_{measured}$ as a function of $R_{expected}$. The observed linear dependence with unity gradient indicates that 100% switching success rate is achieved.

4.6.5. POWER DISSIPATION OF THE CRYO-MUX PCB AND OF A SINGLE MUL-TIPLEXER

The same experiment is repeated at different strobe frequencies and we always achieve 100% switching success rate. Figure 4.11**a** reports the temperature of the mixing chamber T_{MC} as a function of time to assess power dissipation while switching at different strobe frequencies. At $f_{strobe} = 8$ kHz (red curve), T_{MC} increases to 130 mK, indicating that power dissipation in the cryo-MUX PCB has exceeded the cooling power of our dilution refrigerator ($\leq 400 \ \mu$ W at 100 mK).

In a separate experiment, we measure the power dissipation while switching a single multiplexer component (MAX4619) to gain further insights into the power dissipation of the circuit. For this purpose, a RIGOL DG4102 arbitrary waveform generator is used to toggle between the high and low logic state of MAX4619. The incoming current and voltage to the power supply are measured with a Keithley 2700 multimeter as a function of toggling frequency. Data points shown in Fig. 4.11**b** are taken at $T \leq 80$ mK and a



Figure 4.11: **a** Temperature of the mixing chamber T_{MC} over time while switching. Different colors correspond to different strobe frequencies. Switching at 8 kHz overcomes the cooling power of the dilution refrigerator at base temperature. For switching frequencies of 1 kHz and 500 Hz (green and blue curves) heating is limited and T_{MC} is less than 80 mK. **b** Measurements of power vs. frequency to determine the power dissipation for MAX4619.

double logarithmic scale is used for clarity. As expected the power dissipation increases linearly with the switching frequency resulting in a dissipation of 1.165 ± 0.2 nW/Hz. We observe heating of the system ($T_{MC} \ge 80$ mK) for switching frequencies above 1 MHz, with T_{MC} reaching 130 mK at a frequency of 4 MHz.

4.6.6. ON-RESISTANCE AND OFF-LEAKAGE CURRENT

Two key specifications of a non-ideal switch are the on-resistance and off-leakage current. We determine the on-resistance by applying a current and measuring both the current and voltage across the multiplexer using lock-in amplifiers. We then subtract the series resistance that arises from the fridge wiring and that was measured previously using a similar setup. We obtain a on-resistance of 28 Ω at $T \leq 80$ mK, above the 10 Ω room temperature maximum reported in the component data sheet.

The off-leakage current affects the current through unselected devices and is an additional undesired current through the disconnected terminal of the selected device. This current is estimated by charging a capacitor connected to the switch and measuring at known time intervals the voltage decrease that occurs while the switch is in the off-state. A schematic of the procedure is shown in Fig. 4.12. First (Fig. 4.12**a**) both capacitors in the circuit are charged. Next (Fig. 4.12**b**), the switch is flipped, disconnecting the cryogenic capacitor C_c from the rest of the circuit. The room temperature capacitor C_r is then discharged (Fig. 4.12**c**) to prevent leakage through the room temperature capacitor. After a known time interval during which charge leaks from capacitor C_c , a voltmeter is connected to the circuit (Fig. 4.12**d**), the switch is flipped, and the voltage is measured (Fig. 4.12**e**). The discharge of the room temperature capacitor induces a voltage drop of $V_0C_r/(C_r + C_c)$, in addition to the voltage drop caused by the leakage through the cryogenic multiplexer. Afterwards, the procedure can be repeated by switching (Fig. 4.12**d**) and grounding (Fig. 4.12**c**) or by recharging the capacitor (Fig. 4.12**a**). A measure-



Figure 4.12: The procedure for determining the leakage current. First, the capacitors are charged \mathbf{a} , then the switch is flipped \mathbf{b} and the room temperature capacitor is discharged \mathbf{c} . After waiting, the voltage is measured by connecting a voltage meter \mathbf{d} and flipping the switch \mathbf{e} .

ment with minimal waiting time is performed to determine the voltage drop due to the intentional discharge. The N7R capacitors used in the experiment have a room temperature capacitance of C_r =1.5 nF and C_c =47 nF. After subtracting the charge drop due to the room temperature discharge, losses of 0.6 mV and 0.1 mV were measured after charging the capacitor to 1V and -1V respectively and waiting for 16 hours. These results correspond to average leakage currents below 1 fA, which is in line with the extrapolation of the off-leakage temperature dependence documented in the data sheet (see Ref. [170]).

5

THE EFFECT OF QUANTUM HALL EDGE STRIPS ON VALLEY SPLITTING IN SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

We determine the splitting of the conduction-band valleys in two-dimensional electrons confined to low-disorder Si quantum wells. We probe the valley splitting dependence on both perpendicular magnetic field B and Hall density by performing activation energy measurements in the quantum Hall regime over a large range of filling factors. The mobility gap of the valley split levels increases linearly with B and is strikingly independent on Hall density. Valley splitting rather depends on the universal incremental changes in density eB/h across quantum Hall edge strips, as our transport model matching the data suggests. With this hindsight, we estimate that valley splitting increases with density at a rate of $116 \,\mu eV/10^{11} \, cm^{-2}$, in agreement with previous theories for a near-perfect quantum well top interface.

This chapter has been published in B. Paquelet Wuetz, M. P. Losert, A. Tosato, M. Lodari, P. L. Bavdaz, L. Stehouwer, P. Amin, J. S. Clarke, S. N. Coppersmith, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, M. Friesen, and G. Scappucci, Effect of Quantum Hall Edge Strips on Valley Splitting in Silicon Quantum Wells, Phys. Rev. Lett. **125**, 186801 (2020). [119].

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Silicon has proven to be a successful material platform for obtaining high-fidelity electron spin-qubits in quantum dots[184, 113, 185]. The advanced level of quantum control in these qubits makes it possible to execute two-qubit logic gates and rudimentary quantum algorithms[186, 168, 173]. In particular Si/SiGe heterostructures are promising for scalable qubit tiles[181, 177] and the presence of low disorder has already made it possible to define a nine quantum dot array[167]. However, spin qubits in silicon suffer from a two-fold degeneracy of the conduction-band valleys[187, 42, 54], complicating quantum operation. While the valley splitting energy can be large in silicon metal-oxide-semiconductor devices[188], even allowing for qubit operation above one Kelvin[189, 182], atomic-scale disorder in Si/SiGe heterostructures at the Si quantum well top-interface yields a valley splitting energy that is typically modest and poorly controlled, with values ranging from 10 to 200 μ eV in quantum dots[168, 134, 190, 191, 192, 193, 194, 195, 196, 197]. While Si/SiGe heterostructures may provide a superior host for scalable qubit arrays due to the low disorder, a key challenge is thus to increase the valley splitting energy for scalable quantum information.

The dependence of valley splitting on quantum confinement yields information about the disorder realization at the critical quantum well top-interface and hence provides tools to improve the Si/SiGe platform. The two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) is confined laterally over the magnetic length scale $l_B = \sqrt{\hbar e/B}$, where B is the perpendicular magnetic field, which can be precisely controlled. The 2DEG is confined vertically by the quantum well heterostructure, with a confinement energy determined by the vertical electric field E_z (perpendicular to the plane of the 2DEG), which pulls the electrons against the top interface. According to the conventional theory, the valley degeneracy is lifted by the broken translational symmetry of the quantum well barriers, and is therefore proportional to the penetration of the wavefunction into the top barrier. This penetration is proportional to E_z and the two-dimensional electron density [67] $n = \epsilon E_z/e$, which is easily measured in a Hall bar geometry. However, valley splitting in Si/SiGe 2DEGs is usually probed by activation energy measurements in the quantum Hall regime [198, 199, 200, 179]. In this regime, drawing the correct relationship between valley splitting and electric field is challenging since the presence of quantum Hall edge states adds complexity to the electrostatics of the system compared to the simple electrostatics of an infinite 2DEG. Furthermore, the dependence of valley splitting upon both B and n requires activation energy measurements over many filling factors v because of the quantum Hall relationship v = hn/eB. This has challenged experiments so far, since measurements over many filling factors are possible in heterostructure field effect transistors (H-FETs) only if the mobility is high and the critical density for establishing metallic conduction in the channel (percolation density) is low.

In this Letter we overcome this hurdle and we study valley splitting of 2D electrons as a function of both magnetic field and density in Si/SiGe H-FETs. Benefiting from the high mobility and low percolation density achieved in industrially grown heterostructures[155], we resolve Shubnikov–de Haas (SdH) oscillations at small magnetic fields over a large range of densities and we measure activation energies in the quantum Hall regime over an unprecedented range of filling factors. We find that valley splitting increases linearly with magnetic field and is independent of Hall density. Such behavior is inconsistent with bulk transport models; we therefore present a model in which the valley splitting depends on the incremental changes in density $\Delta n = eB/h$ across quantum Hall edge strips. With this critical new insight, the experimental dependence of valley splitting upon Δn is in agreement with previous calculations for a near-ideal Si quantum well top-interface[67].

5.2. HIGH QUALITY SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURES

Figure 5.1 shows the basic structural and magnetotransport characterization of the Si/SiGe H-FETs. The heterostructures were grown by reduced-pressure chemical vapor deposition in an industrial manufacturing CMOS fab on top of a 300 mm Si wafer. The layer sequence (Fig. 5.1**a**) comprises a step-graded Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strain-relaxed buffer, an 8 nm strained Si quantum well, a 34 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a sacrificial 3 nm Si cap. Hallbar shaped H-FETs are fabricated with ion implanted ohmic contacts and an Al₂O₃/Ti/Pt gate stack. Magnetotransport characterization of the H-FETs is performed over a tem-



Figure 5.1: **a** Cross-section schematic of a Si/SiGe heterostructure field effect transistor. **b** High angle annular dark field scanning transmission electron (HAADF-STEM) image of the strained Si quantum well and nearby Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} with superimposed HAADF-STEM intensity profile (blue line). The heterostructure growth direction *z* is indicated by a black arrow. **c** Mobility μ and **d** conductivity σ_{xx} as a function of density *n* at a temperature of 110 mK, measured at the cold finger of the dilution refrigerator. The black line in **d** is a fit to percolation theory. **e** Resistivity ρ_{xx} as a function of filling factor *v* measured at $n = 4.0 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$. Different colors correspond to different temperatures from 110 mK (dark blue) to 450 mK (orange). The inset reports the Arrhenius plot and fit to extract Δ_v for v = 5. **f** Single particle Landau level energy diagram. Valley split levels correspond to odd integer filling factors *v*, Zeeman split levels to v = (4k-2) (k = 1,2,3...), whereas spin and valley degenerate Landau levels correspond to v = 4k. The shaded areas represent the single-particle level broadening Γ due to disorder.

perature range T = 50-500 mK in a dilution refrigerator using standard four-probe low-frequency lock-in techniques. Positive bias applied to the gate induces a 2DEG and controls n in the quantum well (see Ref. [155] for details of the heterostructure growth, device fabrication, and magnetotransport characterization).

Figure 5.1**b** shows a cross-section image of the heterostructure obtained by high angle annular dark field scanning transmission electron microscopy (HAADF-STEM) to highlight the different chemistry in the layers. By fitting the HAADF-STEM intensity profile in Fig. 5.1**b** with an error function[201], we infer that the transition between Si and SiGe at the top interface of the quantum well is characterized by a distance $\lambda \approx 1 \text{ nm}^1$. Figure 5.1**c** shows the density-dependent mobility. At high density, the mobility is limited by short-range scattering from impurities within or near the quantum well and reaches a maximum value of $4.2 \times 10^5 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ at $n = 4.0 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$. A low percolation density of $7.3 \times 10^{10} \text{ cm}^{-2}$ is extracted by fitting the density-dependent conductivity (see Fig. 5.1**d**) to percolation theory[125]. Overall, high mobilities are observed over a wide range of densities, making these H-FETs well suited for quantum Hall measurements over many filling factors.

5.3. VALLEY SPLITTING AS A FUNCTION OF MAGNETIC FIELD AND DENSITY

Figure 5.1**e** shows typical temperature-dependent measurements of the longitudinal resistivity (ρ_{xx}), plotted for clarity against filling factor v. These measurements are performed at fixed n, by keeping the gate voltage constant while sweeping the magnetic field. We observe clear SdH oscillations that are related to the valley splitting E_v , the Zeeman splitting $g\mu_B B$, and the cyclotron gap $\hbar\omega_c$ (Fig. 5.1**f**). The inset in Fig. 5.1**e** shows a typical temperature dependence of the SdH oscillation minimum for a valleysplit level (v = 5). We observe a thermally activated dependence $\rho_{xx} \propto \exp(-\Delta_v/2k_BT)$, from which the mobility gap Δ_v is determined at a specific pair of B and n values satisfying the quantum Hall relationship v = hn/eB when v is an integer. As indicated in Fig. 5.1**f**, the mobility gap Δ_v measures the valley splitting E_v reduced by Γ , the Landau level broadening induced by disorder.

Figure 5.2 shows Δ_v as a function of *B* and *n* on a three-dimensional (3D) plot. The data points in this graph are obtained by repeating temperature dependent ρ_{xx} measurements at different *n* and by extracting Δ_v for the odd-numbered filling factors resolved at each iteration. The 3D plot shows that Δ_v increases linearly with *B* and—at fixed *B*—is independent of *n*. These observations are quantified by fitting the data in Fig. 5.2 to the plane $\Delta_v = c_B B + c_n n - \Gamma$ with coefficient $c_B = 28.1 \pm 1.2 \,\mu\text{eV/T}$, $c_n = 0.1 \pm 2.5 \,\mu\text{eV}/10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, and $\Gamma = 37.5 \pm 10.2 \,\mu\text{eV}$. Our main experimental result, $E_v(B, n) = c_B B$, follows by considering c_n negligible and correcting for Γ^2 . Under similar experimental conditions we measure a *g*-factor ≈ 1.8 , close to the expected value of 2^3 . This observation suggests that the measured quantum Hall gaps are not enhanced by electron-

²See chapter 5.6.3 for theoretical justification of this fitting form

³See chapter 5.6.3 for g-factor analysis

¹See chapter 5.6.2 for the analysis of the HAADF-STEM intensity profile along the heterostructure growth direction



Figure 5.2: Activation energy Δ_v for odd-integer filling factors v measured as a function of magnetic field B and Hall density n (filled circles). The blue plane defined by the equation $\Delta_v = c_B B + c_n n - \Gamma$ with $c_B = 28.1 \,\mu\text{eV/T}$, $c_n = 0.1 \,\mu\text{eV}/10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, and $\Gamma = 37.5 \,\mu\text{eV}$ is a fit to the experimental data points with coefficient of determination $R^2 = 0.993$.

electron interactions[179] and that they represent the single particle valley splitting relevant for silicon qubits.

5.4. QUANTUM HALL EDGE STATES AND THEIR EFFECT ON TEM-PERATURE ACTIVATED MEASUREMENTS OF VALLEY SPLIT-TING

The conventional theory of valley splitting in a silicon quantum well predicts that E_v depends on the penetration of the electron wavefunction into the quantum well barrier, with $E_v \propto E_z$ [67]. If we assume that the 2DEG screens out electric fields from the top gate, then we should find $E_z = 0$ at the bottom of the 2DEG and $E_z = en/\epsilon$ at the top, so that $E_v \propto n$, where *n* is the locally varying electron density in the 2DEG. The proportionality constant is obtained, self-consistently, in Ref. [67]. It is therefore surprising that E_v does not appear to depend on *n* in the Hall data reported in Fig. 5.2.

Previous experiments on quantum Hall devices were unable to separately determine the dependence of valley splitting on n and B. In particular, there was no indication of behavior inconsistent with conventional "bulk" behavior. We must therefore modify previous theories of bulk behavior [202] to account for the fact that valley splitting varies systematically across the device. Specifically, we propose that the activation energy is determined near the edges of the 2DEG, giving rise to the observed independence of E_v on n, as we now explain.

In the quantum Hall regime, the 2DEG forms alternating strips of compressible (blue) and incompressible (pink) liquid [203], as sketched in Fig. 5.3**a**. The density increases by $n_B = eB/h$ in consecutive incompressible strips, where n_B is the quantized density of a



Figure 5.3: **a** Schematic representation of the charge density profile n(x) on the left-hand side of a Hall bar shaped H-FET for the case of v = 3, in units of the density $n_B = eB/h$ corresponding to one completely filled Landau level. The edge of the Hall bar is at x = 0. The 2DEG is divided into compressible (blue) and incompressible (pink) strips. **b** Energy-level diagram, including valley and Zeeman splittings. Landau-level splittings are not present for the case of $v_{\text{bulk}} = 3$ shown here, but would occur for larger v_{bulk} values. Valley splittings are assumed to be proportional to the local value of n. Filled, partially filled, and empty Landau levels are indicated by filled, half-filled, and empty circles, respectively. Our model of activated transport incorporates activation and tunneling processes across the alternating compressible and incompressible strips. The thick black arrow indicates the location where the valley splitting takes its characteristic value, E_{v0} . The valley splitting increases by an amount E_{v0} in each of the compressible strips. **c** Agreement between experimental (filled circles) and simulated (open circles) data points of valley splitting E_v as a function of density $n_B = eB/h$. The dashed line is the expected valley splitting dependence on density for a disorder-free quantum well top-interface as calculated in Ref. [67].

filled Landau level, until reaching the bulk value $n = v_{\text{bulk}} n_B$, measured by the Hall effect. In the compressible strips, the density varies monotonically between these quantized values, with a charge distribution that screens out electric fields parallel to the plane of the 2DEG. In this way, n varies from zero at the edge of the Hall bar to its bulk value in the center. Figure 5.3b is a sketch of the corresponding energy levels, assuming that E_{ν} is proportional to the local value of n. Note that in the compressible strips and in the bulk, the highest filled levels are pinned at the Fermi level E_F [204].

MEASUREMENTS OF VALLEY SPLITTING

To observe nonzero longitudinal resistance in our activation energy experiments, electrons must transit across the transverse width of the Hall bar. However, since all the states in the incompressible strip in the center of the Hall bar are filled for integer filling factors, this requires exciting electrons to a state above the Fermi level. Our proposed model incorporates alternating activation and tunneling processes across successive compressible strips.

Each of the activation steps involves climbing "uphill" by an energy ~ $E_{\nu 0}$, which is the change in valley splitting associated with the density change $\Delta n = n_B$. The tunneling process results in the occupation of two valley states, as indicated, since the valley quantum number is not preserved in the presence of atomic-scale roughness at the quantum-well interface[205]. This process leads to conduction across the bulk because the valley-state lifetimes are long, so electrons can travel long distances before decaying. In this model, the characteristic energy $E_{\nu 0}$ is the valley splitting obtained at the position indicated by a thick black arrow in Fig. 5.3b.

In Fig. 5.3c we demonstrate the consistency of this model with our experimental results and compare our results with previous effective mass theories for valley splitting in Si/SiGe[67]. Here, the experimental results from Fig. 5.2 are reported as solid circles as a function of density $n_B = eB/h$. The data points lie on a single line, irrespective of v, as expected from the discussion of Fig. 5.2. We also report theoretical results for the valley splitting obtained from Thomas-Fermi simulations of the Hall-bar H-FET (open circles⁴).

In each simulation, we adjust the top-gate voltage to obtain the desired filling factor in the bulk region. The values of n are chosen to match those used in the experiments (see Fig. 5.2). Although magnetic field does not enter the simulations explicitly, its value is determined from n and v through the quantization relation $B = hn_{\text{bulk}}/ev$. We then evaluate E_z at the location of the thick black arrow in Fig. 5.3c. Valley splitting is assumed to be proportional to E_z at the top interface of the quantum well, as described above, and we use a single fitting parameter $\beta = 134.77 \,\mu \text{eV} \cdot \text{m/MV}$ to match the simulations with the experimental results, through the relation $E_{\nu} = \beta E_{z}$, correcting for the offset of the experimental data at zero electric field due to Γ .

The agreement between the experimental and simulated data points indicates that the proposed activation energy model agrees very well with the experimental measurements of quantum Hall gaps. Additionally, we report in Fig. 5.3c as a dashed line the expected value of valley splitting in Si/SiGe according to Eq. 48 of Ref. [67], which is valid for a near-ideal Si quantum well top-interface. Again, the experimental data matches the theoretical expectations. This result suggests that the atomic-scale disorder associated with the diffused SiGe barrier in Fig. 5.1b does not significantly suppress valley splitting,

⁴see Supplemental Material of Ref[119] for theoretical methods, which includes Ref. [206]

at least over lateral length scales less than the largest magnetic confinement length for electrons ~ $4l_B$ = 70 nm in our experiments.

5.5. DISCUSSION

In summary, we have measured the valley splitting in low-disorder silicon quantum wells over a large range of odd-numbered filling factors in the quantum Hall regime. Supported by a transport model that incorporates the electrostatics of quantum Hall edge states, we demonstrate that valley splitting depends linearly upon the density eB/h rather than on the Hall density. We estimate the ratio $E_v/E_z \sim 135 \,\mu\text{eV}\cdot\text{m/MV}$, which can be compared directly to valley splitting measurements in quantum dots.

5.6. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

5.6.1. EXPERIMENTAL METHODS

We apply a source-drain bias of 100 μ V and measure I_{SD} , the longitudinal voltage V_{xx} , and the transverse Hall voltage V_{xy} as a function of gate voltage V_G and B. The longitudinal resistivity ρ_{xx} and transverse Hall resistivity ρ_{xy} are then calculated. The longitudinal (σ_{xx}) and transverse (σ_{xy}) conductivity are obtained via tensor inversion. The Hall electron density n is obtained from the linear dependence $\rho_{xy} = B/en$ at low magnetic fields. The carrier mobility μ is extracted from the relationship $\sigma_{xx} = ne\mu$, where e is the electron charge.

5.6.2. ANALYSIS OF HIGH-ANGLE ANNULAR DARK FIELD SCANNING TRANS-MISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY INTENSITY PROFILE

In Fig. 5.4**a** we show the intensity profile from high angle annular dark field scanning transmission electron microscopy (HAADF-STEM) along *z*, the heterostructure growth direction, and a theoretical fit to the function $erf(\frac{z-z_0}{\sqrt{2\lambda}})$. Erf is the error function, z_0 is the center of the quantum well top-interface, where the HAADF-STEM intensity signal is midway in between the value measured at the quantum well and at the SiGe barrier, and λ is the characteristic distance. The HAADF-STEM intensity signal is shown after a linear background subtraction and normalization to the value measured in the quantum well. We extract $\lambda = 1.04 \pm 0.03$ nm from the fit.

5.6.3. G-FACTOR ANALYSIS

We determine the *g*-factor from the thermally activated dependence of the Shubnikov de Haas (SdH) oscillation minimum for spin split levels[179]. Figure 5.4**b** shows the mobility gaps for Zeeman spin split levels (Δ_Z , blue circles) and valley split levels (Δ_v , red cirles) as a function of magnetic field. Similarly to the procedure described in the main text, these data points are obtained by fitting the temperature dependent magnetoresistance oscillation minimum in the density range of (0.9–4) × 10¹¹ cm⁻² to an Arrhenius law $\rho_{xx} \propto \exp(-\Delta_z/2k_BT)$ and $\rho_{xx} \propto \exp(-\Delta_v/2k_BT)$ for spin and valley states, respectively. Both Δ_Z and Δ_v increase linearly with magnetic field. Taking into account the reduction of the Zeeman energy gap $g\mu_B B$ due to valley splitting $E_v = c_B B$ and Landau level broadening Γ (see inset in Fig. 5.4**b**), the linear increase of Δ_Z and Δ_v with magnetic field is described by the following two equations:

$$\Delta_Z = g\mu_B B - c_B B - \Gamma \tag{5.1}$$

$$\Delta_v = c_B B - \Gamma \tag{5.2}$$

We fit the experimental points Δ_Z and Δ_v in Fig.5.4**b** to Eq 5.1. and 5.2. using g, c_B and Γ as fitting parameters. We extract: $g = 1.8 \pm 0.05$, $c_B = 27.5 \pm 0.9 \,\mu\text{eV/T}$ and $\Gamma = 35.3 \pm 3.3 \,\mu\text{eV}$. The obtained values of c_B and Γ are compatible with the analysis in the main text. The solid lines in Fig 5.4**b** correspond to the Zeeman energy $g^* \mu_B B$ and valley splitting energy $E_v = c_B B$, taking into account Γ . The *g*-factor ≈ 1.8 is close and not greater than the single particle value g = 2, suggesting that the measured quantum



Figure 5.4: **a** HAADF-STEM intensity profile (black line) along the *z*, the heterostructure growth direction. The red line is a theoretical fit of the data in the region corresponding to the top interface between the Si quantum well and the SiGe barrier (see text for details). For clarity, the horizontal axis is offset by z_0 , the coordinate of the center of the quantum well top interface. **b** Mobility gaps obtained from thermal activation of Shubnkiov de Haas oscillation minima for 2n - 1 fillings factors (Δ_v , red circles) and 4n - 2 filling factors (Δ_Z , blue circles), corresponding to valley and Zeeman split levels, respectively. The blue and red dashed lines are theoretical fits to the estimated Zeeman and valley energy gaps, respectively. The inset shows splitting of a Landau level due to Zeeman splitting and valley splitting. Shaded areas represent the single-particle level broadening Γ due to disorder.

Hall gaps in the main text are not enhanced by electron-electron interaction and thus represent single-particle energy gaps.

5.6.4. Residuals for the planar fit of Δ_v as a function of magnetic field and Hall density

In Fig. 5.5 we show the residuals to highlight the agreement between experimental data points and theoretical fit in Fig. 2 of the main text. For clarity, the residuals are plotted against magnetic field *B* (Fig. 5.5**a**), Hall density (Fig. 5.5**b**), and activation energy Δ_{ν} (Fig. 5.5**c**). Overall we observe small residuals with random distributions around zero, indicating a good fit.



Figure 5.5: Residual plot of the activation energy Δ_{ν} reported in Fig. 2 to the plane defined by the equation $\Delta_{\nu} = c_B B + c_n n - \Gamma$ with $c_B = 28.1 \,\mu\text{eV}/T$, $c_n = 0.1 \,\mu\text{eV}/10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, and $\Gamma = 37.5 \,\mu\text{eV}$. Residuals are plotted as a function of **a** magnetic field *B*, **b** Hall density *n*, **c** activation energy Δ_{ν} .

6

ATOMIC FLUCTUATIONS LIFTING THE ENERGY DEGENERACY IN SI/SIGE QUANTUM DOTS

Electron spins in Si/SiGe quantum wells suffer from nearly degenerate conduction band valleys, which compete with the spin degree of freedom in the formation of qubits. Despite attempts to enhance the valley energy splitting deterministically, by engineering a sharp interface, valley splitting fluctuations remain a serious problem for qubit uniformity, needed to scale up to large quantum processors. Here, we elucidate and predict the valley splitting by the holistic integration of 3D atomic-level properties, theory and transport. We find that the concentration fluctuations of Si and Ge atoms within the 3D land-scape of Si/SiGe interfaces can explain the observed large spread of valley splitting from measurements on many quantum dot devices. Against the prevailing belief, we propose to boost these random alloy composition fluctuations by incorporating Ge atoms in the Si quantum well to statistically enhance valley splitting.

This chapter has been published in Brian Paquelet Wuetz*, Merritt P. Losert*, Sebastian Koelling*, Lucas E. A. Stehouwer, Anne-Marije J. Zwerver, Stephan G.J. Philips, Mateusz T. Mądzik, Xiao Xue, Guoji Zheng, Mario Lodari, Sergey V. Amitonov, Nodar Samkharadze, Amir Sammak, Lieven M. K. Vandersypen, Rajib Rahman, Susan N. Coppersmith, Oussama Moutanabbir, Mark Friesen, Giordano Scappucci, Atomic fluctuations lifting the energy degeneracy in Si/SiGe quantum dots, arXiv:2112.09606 (2022) [73]

*These authors have contributed equally

6.1. INTRODUCTION

Advanced semiconductor manufacturing is capable of integrating billions of transistors onto a single silicon chip. The promise of leveraging the same technology for large-scale integration of qubits into a fault-tolerant quantum processing unit is a key driver for developing electron spin qubits in silicon quantum dots[207]. Although these devices bear many similarities to transistors[208], qubits operate in the single electron regime[41], making them more sensitive to electrostatic disorder and noise arising from the surrounding environment. In strained silicon quantum wells, the electronically active part of the device is separated by an epitaxial SiGe barrier from the electronically noisy interface at the gate-stack, offering a quiet system with high mobility and low leakage between the gate and the quantum dots[209]. These properties make strained Si/SiGe heterostructures promising for scalable qubit tiles[181, 177] and have made it possible to define nine quantum dot arrays[167], run quantum algorithms[168] and entangle three-spin states[210] in natural silicon structures, and achieve two-qubit gate fidelity above 99%[115, 114] in isotopically purified silicon structures.

However, spin-qubits in silicon suffer from a two-fold degeneracy of the conduction band minima (valleys) that creates several non-computational states that act as leakage channels for quantum information [42]. These leakage channels increase exponentially with the qubit count[211], complicating qubit operation and inducing errors during spin transfers. Despite attempts to enhance the valley energy splitting, the resulting valley splittings are modest in Si/SiGe heterostructures, with typical values in the range of 20 to 100 µeV [168, 191, 192, 193, 194, 178, 196, 172] and only in a few instances in the range of 100 to 300 µeV [134, 190, 212]. Such variability in realistic silicon quantum dots remains an open challenge for scaling to large qubit systems. In particular, the probability of thermally occupying the excited valley state presents a challenge for spin initialization, and, in some cases, intervalley scattering may limit the spin coherence[213]. Furthermore, small valley splitting may affect Pauli spin blockade readout[66], which is considered in large-scale quantum computing proposals[181, 177]. Therefore, scaling up to larger systems of single-electron spin qubits requires that the valley splitting of all qubits in the system should be much larger than the typical operation temperatures (20 - 100 mK).

It has been known for some time that valley splitting depends sensitively on the interface between the quantum well and the SiGe barrier[67]. Past theoretical studies have considered disorder arising from the quantum well miscut angle[77] and steps in the interface[75, 70, 205, 214, 215] demonstrating that disorder of this kind can greatly decrease valley splitting in quantum dots. However, a definitive connection to experiments has proven challenging for a number of reasons. At the device level, a systematic characterization of valley splitting in Si/SiGe quantum dots has been limited because of poor device yield associated with heterostructure quality and/or device processing. At the materials level, atomic-scale disorder in buried interfaces[216] may be revealed by atom-probe tomography (APT) in three-dimensions (3D) over the nanoscale dimensions comparable to electrically defined quantum dots. However, the current models employed to reconstruct in 3D the APT data can be fraught with large uncertainties due to the assumptions made to generate the three-dimensional representation of the tomographic data[217]. This results in limited accuracy when mapping heterointerfaces[218]

and quantum wells[219, 220, 74]. These limitations prevent linking the valley splitting in quantum dots to the relevant atomic-scale material properties and hinder the development of accurate and predictive theoretical models.

Herein we solve this outstanding challenge and establish comprehensive insights into the atomic-level origin of valley splitting in realistic silicon quantum dots. Firstly, we measure valley splitting systematically across many quantum dots, enabled by high-quality heterostructures with a low disorder potential landscape and by improved fabrication processes. Secondly, we establish a new method to analyse APT data leading to accurate 3D evaluation of the atomic-level properties of the Si/SiGe buried interfaces. Thirdly, incorporating the 3D atomic-level details obtained from APT, we simulate valley splitting distributions that consider the role of random fluctuations in the concentration of Si and Ge atoms at each layer of the Si/SiGe interfaces. By comparing theory with experiments, we find that the measured random distribution of Si and Ge atoms at the Si/SiGe interface is enough to account for the measured valley splitting spread in real quantum dots. Based on these atomistic insights, we conclude by proposing a practical strategy to statistically enhance valley splitting above a specified threshold as a route to making spin-qubit quantum processors more reliable — and consequently — more scalable.

6.2. STATISTICAL GROUND STATE SPLITTING MEASUREMENTS IN OUANTUM DOTS

Figure 6.1 overviews the material stack, quantum dot devices, and measurements of valley splitting. To increase statistics, we consider two isotopically purified ²⁸Si/Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} heterostructures (quantum wells A and B) designed with the same quantum well width and top-interface sharpness (see section 6.6.1), which are important parameters determining valley splitting[67, 212]. As shown in high angle annular dark field scanning transmission electron microscopy (HAADF-STEM), quantum well A (Fig. 6.1**a**) has a sharp ²⁸Si \rightarrow Si-Ge heterointerface at the top and a diffused Si-Ge \rightarrow ²⁸Si heterointerface at the bottom, whereas in quantum well B (Fig. 6.1**b**) the growth process was optimized to achieve sharp interfaces at both ends of the quantum well. These heterostructures support a two-dimensional electron gas with high mobility and low percolation density (Figs. 6.5 and 6.6), indicating a low dissorder potential landscape, and high-performance qubits[51, 115] with single- and two-qubit gates fidelity above 99%[115].

We define double-quantum dots electrostatically using gate layers insulated by dielectrics (see section 6.6.4). A positive gate voltage applied to plunger gates P1 and P2 (Fig. 6.1c) accumulates electrons in the buried quantum well, while a negative bias applied to other gates tunes the confinement and the tunnel coupling between the quantum dots Q1 and Q2. All quantum dots in this work have plunger gate diameters in the range of 40-50 nm (Fig. 6.1d and Supplementary Table 6.1), setting the relevant lateral length scale for atomic-scale disorder probed by the electron wave function.

We perform magnetospectroscopy measurements of valley splitting E_v in dilution refrigerators with electron temperatures of about 100 mK (see section see section 6.6.4). Figure 6.1e shows a typical charge stability diagram of a double quantum dot with DC gate voltages tuned to achieve the few electron regime, highlighted in Fig. 6.1f. We deter-



Figure 6.1: **Material stack, devices, and valley splitting measurements a,b** High-angle annular dark field scanning transmission electron microscopy (HAADF-STEM) of ²⁸Si/SiGe quantum wells A and B, respectively. **c,d** Schematic cross-section of a heterostructure with gate layout and false-coloured scanning electron microscope image of a double quantum dot, respectively. Q1 and Q2 are the quantum dots defined through confinement potentials (schematic, grey line) formed below plunger gates P1 and P2. CS is a nearby quantum dot used as a charge sensor. **e** Typical stability diagram of a double quantum dot formed by plunger gates P1 and P2 and measured by a nearby charge sensor (CS in **d**). **f** Close-up of the stability diagram in the few-electron regime. **g** Typical magnetospectroscopy of the (1,0) \rightarrow (2,0) transition, used to measure singlet-triplet splittings. An offset of 1082 mV is subtracted for clarity from the gate voltage applied to P2. Black lines show the location of the maximum of the differentiated charge-sensor signal ($dI_{SD}/dP2$) of the electron charging transition. Red lines show a fit to the data, from which we extract the kink position B_{ST} . The valley splitting E_v is given by $g\mu_B B_{ST}$, where g = 2 is the gyromagnetic ratio and μ_B is the Bohr magneton. **h** Experimental scatter plots of the valley splittings for quantum wells A (magenta) and B (green), with thick and thin horizontal black lines denoting the mean and two-sigma error bars.

82

mine the 2-electron singlet-triplet energy splitting (E_{ST}) by measuring the gate-voltage dependence as a function of parallel magnetic field *B* along the (0,1) \rightarrow (0,2) transition (Fig. 6.1g) and along the (1,1) \rightarrow (0,2) transition (Supplementary Fig. 6.8). In Fig. 6.1g, the transition line (black line) slopes upward, because a spin \uparrow electron is added to form a singlet ground state S_0 . Alternatively, a spin down electron can be added to form a T_- -state, with a downward slope. A kink occurs when the S_0 -state is energetically degenerate with the T_- -state, becoming the new ground state of the two-electron-system. From the position of the kink ($B_{ST} = 1.57$ T) along the theoretical fit (red line) and the relation $E_{ST} = g\mu_B B_{ST}$, where g = 2 is the electron gyromagnetic ratio and μ_B is the Bohr magneton, we determine $E_{ST} = 182.3 \,\mu\text{eV}$ for this quantum dot. E_{ST} sets a lower bound on the valley splitting, $E_v \ge E_{ST}[134, 135]$. Due to small size, our dots are strongly confined with orbital energy much larger than E_{ST} (Supplementary Fig. 6.7), similar to other Si/SiGe quantum dots[191, 178, 190]. Therefore, we expect exchange corrections to have negligible effects[135] and here take $E_v \approx E_{ST}$.

Here we report measurements of E_v in 10 quantum dots in quantum well A and 12 quantum dots in quantum well B (Figures. 6.9-6.12) and compare the measured values in Fig. 6.1**h**. We observe a rather large spread in valley splittings, however we obtain remarkably similar mean values and two-standard-deviation error bars $\overline{E_v} \pm 2\sigma$ of $108 \pm 55 \,\mu\text{eV}$ and $106 \pm 58 \,\mu\text{eV}$ for quantum wells A and B, respectively¹. We argue that quantum wells A and B have similar $\overline{E_v} \pm 2\sigma$ because the electronic ground state is confined against the top interface, which is very similar in the two quantum wells.

6.3. ATOM PROBE TOMOGRAPHY

We now characterize the atomic-scale concentration fluctuations at the quantum well interfaces to explain the wide range of measured valley splittings with informed theoretical and statistical models. To probe the concentrations over the dimensions relevant for quantum dots across the wafer, we perform APT on five samples each from quantum wells A and B, with a field of view of approximately 50 nm at the location of the quantum well (see section 6.6.2). First, we show how to reliably reconstruct the buried quantum well interfaces, then we use this methodology to characterise their broadening and roughness.

Figure 6.2**a** shows a typical point-cloud reconstruction of an APT specimen from quantum well B. Each point represents the estimated position of an ionized atom detected during the experiment[217]. Qualitatively, we observe an isotopically enriched ²⁸Si quantum well, essentially free of ²⁹Si, cladded in a SiGe alloy. To probe the interface properties with the highest possible resolution allowed by APT and differently from previous APT studies on Si/SiGe[74], we represent the atom positions in the acquired data sets in form of a Voronoi tessellation[221, 222] and generate profiles on an x - y grid of the tessellated data, as described in Supplementary Discussion Section 6.7.2**C**. A sigmoid function $[1 + \exp(z - z_0)/\tau]^{-1}[74]$ is used to fit the profiles of each tile in the x - y grid. Here, z_0 is the inflection point of the interface and 4τ is the interface width. As the Voronoi tessellation of the data set does not sacrifice any spatial information, the

¹The quantum dots all have a similar design and hence are expected to have similar electric fields across the devices with a small influence on valley splitting under our experimental conditions



Figure 6.2: Atom probe tomography of ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures. a Point-cloud APT reconstruction of quantum well B, showing the ²⁸Si quantum well and surrounding SiGe barriers. Isotopic purification is confirmed by secondary ion mass spectroscopy (Supplementary Fig. 6.20). b, c Voronoi tessellation of the APT reconstructions for quantum wells A and B, respectively, and extracted isosurfaces corresponding to 8% Ge concentration, \bar{z} is the average position of the 8% Ge concentration across these particular samples. We limit the lateral size of the analysis to ≈ 30 nm $\times 30$ nm, reflecting the typical lateral size of a quantum dot (Fig. 6.1d). d Average germanium concentration depth profiles across quantum wells A (magenta) and B (green). Shaded areas mark the 95% confidence interval over each of the sets of five APT samples. e Statistical analysis of the top interface width 4τ determined by fitting the data for quantum wells A (magenta) and B (green) to sigmoid functions. Thick and thin horizontal black lines denote the mean and two-standard-deviation error bars for the different APT samples. Dotted black lines show 4τ results from the HAADF-STEM measurements (Supplementary Fig 6.19). f,g Root mean square (RMS) roughness of the concentration isosurfaces as a function of germanium concentration at the top and bottom interfaces of quantum well B (green line). Shaded areas indicate the 95% confidence interval, averaged over each set of five APT samples. The experimental data are compared to the RMS roughness of a simulated quantum well with the interface properties of d (dashed black line) vs. an atomically sharp quantum well (solid black line).

84

tiling in the x - y plane represents the smallest lateral length scale over which we characterise the measured disorder at the interface. Note that we do not average at all over the *z* axis and hence maintain the inherent depth resolution of APT. We find that for tiles as small as 3 nm × 3 nm the numerical fitting of sigmoid functions to the profiles converges reliably. Although each tile contains many atoms, their size is still much smaller than the quantum dot diameter, and may therefore be considered to be microscopic. We use the sigmoid fits for each tile stack to visualise and further characterise the interfaces (Supplementary Figs. 6.14–6.16). Importantly, Ge concentration isosurfaces as shown in Fig. 6.2**b**,**c** are constructed by determining the vertical position for which each of the sigmoids reaches a specific concentration. Note, that we oversample the interface to improve the lateral resolution by making the 3 nm × 3 nm tiles partially overlap (Supplementary Discussion Section 6.7.2**C**).

In Fig. 6.2d, we show the average Ge concentration profile and measurement to measurement variations from the tessellated volumes (Supplementary Discussion Section 6.7.2 **B**,**C**) of all samples for both quantum wells A and B. APT confirms HAADF-STEM results in Fig. 6.1a,b: quantum wells A and B have an identical sharp top interface and quantum well A has a broader bottom interface. Furthermore, the shaded colored areas in Fig. 6.2d reveal narrow 95% confidence levels, pointing to highly uniform concentration profiles when averaged across the wafer. Strong disorder fluctuations emerge at the much smaller tile length scale. In Fig. 6.2e we show for all samples of a given quantum well the interface width mean value with two standard deviations $4\tau \pm 2\sigma$, obtained by averaging over all the tiles in a given sample. The results indicate uniformity of 4τ , and further averaging across all samples of a given heterostructure ($\mu_{4\tau}$, black crosses) yields similar values of $\mu_{4\tau} = 0.85 \pm 0.32$ nm and 0.79 ± 0.31 nm for quantum wells A and B, consistent with our 4τ analysis from HAADF-STEM measurements (black dotted lines). However, the two-standard-deviation errors (2σ) of each data point can be up to 30% of the mean value 4τ .

To pinpoint the root cause of atomic-scale fluctuations at the interface, in Fig. 6.2f,g we utilize the 3D nature of the APT data sets, calculate, and compare the root mean square (RMS) roughness of the interfaces (solid green lines) as measured by APT on quantum well B to two 3D models (Fig. 6.2f,g) mimicking the dimensions of an APT data set. Both models are generated with random distributions of Si and Ge in each atomic plane (see section 6.7.2**D**). The first model (solid black lines) corresponds to an atomically abrupt interface where the Ge concentration drops from ~33.5% to 0% in a single atomic layer. It hence represents the minimum roughness achievable at each isoconcentration surface given the in-plane randomness of SiGe and the method to construct the interface. The second model (dashed black lines) is generated with the experimentally determined Ge concentration profile along the depth axis (Supplementary Fig. 6.17). As shown in Fig. 6.2**f**,**g**, the roughness extracted from the second model fits well to the measured data, suggesting that the RMS roughness measured by APT is fully explained by the interface width and shape along the depth axis. Furthermore, as the deviation of each isosurface tile position from the isosurface's average position also matches that of the measured interfaces from the second model (Supplementary Movie 1 in Ref. [73]) the APT data are consistent with a random in-plane distribution of Ge perpendicular to the interface in all data sets of quantum well B. For 2 out of 5 samples on quantum well

A that we analyzed, we observe features that are compatible with correlated disorder from atomic steps (Fig. 6.19). In the following, the alloy disorder observed in the APT concentration interfaces is incorporated into a theoretical model. As shown below, the calculations of valley splitting distributions associated with the 3D landscape of Si/SiGe interfaces can be further simplified into a 1D model that incorporates the in-plane random distribution of Si and Ge atoms.

6.4. VALLEY SPLITTING SIMULATIONS



Figure 6.3: Valley-splitting simulations. a Average concentration profile obtained from APT data (quantum well A). b, Typical, randomized Ge concentration profile, derived from a. c Envelope function $\psi_{env}(z)$, obtained for the randomized profile in b (grey curve), and the corresponding concentration fluctuations weighted by the envelope function squared: $\delta_{x_l} |\psi_{env}(z_l)|^2$ (blue). Here, the wavefunction is concentrated near the top interface where the concentration fluctuations are also large; the weighted fluctuations are therefore largest in this regime. d Distribution of the intervalley matrix element Δ in the complex plane, as computed using an effective-mass approach, for 2,000 randomized concentration profiles. The black marker indicates the deterministic value of the matrix element Δ_0 , obtained for the experimental profile in a. e, Histogram of the valley splittings from tight-binding simulations with 10,000 randomized profiles. The same profiles may be used to compute valley splittings using effective-mass calculations (see section 6.6.5).

We begin by considering an ideal laterally infinite heterostructure with no concentration fluctuations, and we denote the average Si concentration at layer l by \bar{x}_l . Due to the finite size of a quantum dot and the randomness in atomic deposition, there will be

dot-to-dot concentration fluctuations. We therefore model the actual Si concentration at layer *l* by averaging the random alloy distribution weighted by the lateral charge density in the quantum dot, giving $x_l^d = \bar{x}_l + \delta_{x_l}$, as described in Supplementary Discussion Section 3c in Ref. [73]. Here, the random variation δ_{x_l} is computed assuming a binomial distribution of Si and Ge atoms. We find that these fluctuations can have a significant impact on the valley splitting.

We explore these effects numerically using 1D tight-binding simulations. We begin with the averaged fitted concentration profiles obtained from the APT analysis in Fig??d, which enable us to directly measure the average Ge concentration in a given layer \bar{x}_{l} (Fig. 6.3a). The variance of the concentration fluctuations is determined by the size of the quantum dot, which we assume has an orbital excitation energy of $\hbar\omega = 2 \,\mathrm{meV}$ and corresponding radius $\sqrt{\hbar/m^*\omega}$, as well as the average Si concentration \bar{x}_l . Here, m^* is the effective mass of Si. Together, \bar{x}_l and the variance determine the probability distribution of weighted Si and Ge concentrations. Concentration profiles are sampled repeatedly from this distribution, with a typical example shown in Fig. 6.3b. The valley splitting is then determined from a 1D tight-binding model [69]. The envelope of the effective mass wavefunction $\psi_{env}(z)$ is shown in Fig. 6.3c (grey curve) for an electron confined in the quantum well of Fig. 6.3b. The procedure is repeated for 10,000 profile samples, obtaining the histogram of valley splittings shown in Fig. 6.3e. These results agree very well with calculations obtained using a more sophisticated three-dimensional 20-band sp³d⁵s* NEMO tight-binding model[71] (Supplementary Discussion Section 3b in Ref. [73]) and confirm that concentration fluctuations can produce a wide range of valley splittings. For comparison, at the top of Fig. 6.3e, we also plot the same experimental valley splittings shown in Fig. 6.1h, demonstrating good agreement in both the average value and the statistical spread. These observations support our claim that the valley splitting is strongly affected by composition fluctuations due to random distributions of Si and Ge atoms near the quantum well interfaces, even though the experiments cannot exclude the presence of correlated disorder from atomic steps in quantum dots.

Analytical methods using effective mass theory may also be used to characterise the distribution of valley splittings. First, we model the intervalley coupling matrix element [67] as $\Delta = \int e^{-2ik_0z_l} U(z) |\psi_{env}(z)|^2 dz$, where $k_0 = 0.82 \cdot 2\pi/a_0$ is the position of the valley minimum in the Si Brillouin zone, $a_0 = 0.543$ nm is length of the Si cubic unit cell, $\psi_{env}(z)$ is a 1D envelope function, and U(z) is the quantum well confinement potential. The intervalley coupling Δ describes how sharp features in the confinement potential couple the two valley states, which would otherwise be degenerate. In general, Δ is a complex number that can be viewed as the sum of two distinct components: a deterministic piece Δ_0 , arising from the average interface concentration profile, and a random piece $\delta \Delta$, arising from concentration fluctuations. The latter can be expressed as a sum of contributions from individual atomic layers: $\delta \Delta = \sum_I \delta \Delta_I$, where $\delta \Delta_I$ is proportional to $\delta_{x_l} |\psi_{\text{env}}(z_l)|^2$ (see section 6.6.5). To visualize the effects of concentration fluctuations in Fig. 6.3**c**, we compute $\delta \Delta_l$ using the randomized density profile of Fig. 6.3**b** (blue curve). We see that most significant fluctuations occur near the top interface, where $|\psi_{env}(z_l)|$ and the Ge content of the quantum well are both large. In Fig. 6.3**d** we plot Δ values obtained for 2,000 quantum-well realizations using this effective mass approach. The deterministic contribution to the valley splitting Δ_0 (black dot) is seen to be located

near the center of the distribution in the complex plane, as expected. However, the vast majority of Δ values are much larger than Δ_0 , demonstrating that concentration fluctuations typically provide the dominant contribution to intervalley coupling.

The total valley splitting is closely related to the intervalley coupling via $E_{\nu} = 2|\Delta|$, and therefore exhibits the same statistical behavior. In Fig. 6.3**e**, the orange curve shows the Rice distribution whose parameters are derived from effective-mass calculations of the valley splitting (see section 6.6.5), using the same concentration profiles as the histogram data. The excellent agreement between these different approaches confirms the accuracy of our theoretical techniques (Supplementary Discussion Section 3d in Ref. [73]).



Figure 6.4: **Valley-splitting simulations. a**, Schematic Si/SiGe quantum well with Ge concentrations ρ_W (in the well) and $\rho_b = \rho_W + \Delta\rho$ (in the barriers), with a fixed concentration difference of $\Delta\rho = 25\%$. **b**, Distribution of valley splittings obtained from simulations with variable Ge concentrations, corresponding to ρ_W ranging from 0 to 20%, and interface widths $4\tau = 5$ ML (red circles), 10 ML (blue triangles), or 20 ML (orange squares), where ML refers to atomic monolayers. Here, the marker describes the mean valley splitting, while the darker bars represent the 25-75 percentile range and the lighter bars represent the 5-95 percentile range. Each bar reflects 2,000 randomized tight-binding simulations of a quantum well of width W = 120 ML. The magenta diamond at zero Ge concentration shows the average measured valley splitting of quantum well A. In all simulations reported here, we assume an electric field of E = 0.0125 V/nm and a parabolic single-electron quantum-dot confinement potential with orbital excitation energy $\hbar\omega = 2$ meV and corresponding dot radius $\sqrt{\hbar/m^*\omega}$.

6.5. DISCUSSION

Based on the results obtained above, we now propose two related methods for achieving large valley splittings (on average), with high yields. Both methods are derived from the key insight of Fig. 6.3**c**: due to random-alloy fluctuations, the valley splitting is almost always enhanced when the electronic wavefunction overlaps with more Ge atoms. In the first method, we therefore propose to increase the width of the interface (4τ) as shown in Fig. 6.3**f**, since this enhances the wavefunction overlap with Ge atoms at the top of the quantum well. This approach is nonintuitive because it conflicts with the conventional deterministic approach of engineering sharp interfaces. The second method, also shown in Fig. 6.4**a**, involves intentionally introducing a low concentration of Ge inside the quantum well. The latter method is likely more robust because it can incorporate both deterministic enhancement of the valley splitting from a sharp interface, and fluctuation-enhanced valley splitting.

We test these predictions using simulations, as reported in Fig. 6.4g, where different colors represent different interface widths and the horizontal axis describes the addition of Ge to the quantum well. For no Ge in the quantum well, as consistent with our experiments, we observe significant increases in the valley splitting with increasing interface width. Here, the narrowest interface appears most consistent with our experimental results (green marker), attesting to the sharp interfaces achieved in our devices. As the Ge concentration increases in the quantum well, this advantage is largely overwhelmed by concentration fluctuations throughout the well. A very substantial increase in valley splitting is observed for all concentration enhancements, even at the low, 5% level. Here, the light error bars represent 5-95 percentiles while dark bars represent 25-75 percentiles. At the 5% concentration level, our simulations indicate that >95% of devices should achieve valley splittings $>100 \,\mu$ eV. This value is more than an order of magnitude larger than the typical operation temperature of spin-qubits and is predicted to yield a 99% readout fidelity[66]. This would represent a significant improvement in qubit yield for Si quantum dots. A recent report of SiGe quantum wells with oscillating Ge concentrations provides the first experimental evidence that intentionally placing Ge in the quantum well leads to significant variability and some of the highest recorded values of valley splitting[223].

In conclusion, we argue for the atomic-level origin of valley splitting distributions in realistic Si/SiGe quantum dots, providing key insights on the inherent variability of Si/SiGe qubits and thereby solving a longstanding problem facing their scaling. We relate 3D atom-by-atom measurements of the heterointerfaces to the statistical electrical characterization of devices, and ultimately to underlying theoretical models. We observe qualitative and quantitative agreement between simulated valley splitting distributions and measurements from several quantum dots, supporting our theoretical framework. Crucially, we learn that atomic concentration fluctuations of the 28 Si \rightarrow Si-Ge heterointerface are enough to account for the valley splitting spread and that these fluctuations are largest when the envelope of the wavefunction overlaps with more Ge atoms. Moreover, while we have only incorporated random alloy disorder into our theoretical framework so far, we foresee that APT datasets including correlated disorder, such as steps, will be used to further refine our theoretical understanding of valley splitting statistics. Since atomic concentration fluctuations are always present in Si/SiGe devices due to the intrinsic random nature of the SiGe alloy, we propose to boost these fluctuations to achieve on average large valley splittings in realistic silicon quantum dots, as required for scaling the size of quantum processors. Our proposed approaches are counter-intuitive yet very pragmatic. The interface broadening approach seems viable for hybrid qubits, which require valley splitting to be large enough to be usable but not so large as to be inaccessible. For single-electron spin qubits, which don't use the valley degree of freedom, the direct introduction of Ge in the quantum well appears better suited for targeting the largest possible valley splitting. By adding Ge to the Si quantum well in small concentrations we expect to achieve on average valley splitting in excess of 100 µeV. Based on results from scattering theories[121], we speculate that the added scattering from random allow disorder will not be the limiting factor for mobility in current ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures and therefore should not compromise the low-disorder potential environment, which is

important for scaling to large qubit systems. We believe that our results will inspire a new generation of Si/SiGe material stacks that rely on atomic-scale randomness of the SiGe as a new dimension for the heterostructure design.

6.6. METHODS

6.6.1. SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURE GROWTH

The ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures are grown on a 100-mm n-type Si(001) substrate using an Epsilon 2000 (ASMI) reduced pressure chemical vapor deposition reactor equipped with a 28 SiH₄ gas cylinder (1% dilution in H₂) for the growth of isotopically enriched ²⁸Si. The ²⁸SiH₄ gas was obtained by reducing ²⁸SiF₄ with a residual ²⁹Si concentration of 0.08%[141]. Starting from the Si substrate, the layer sequence for quantum well A comprises a 900 nm layer of Si_{1-x}Ge_x graded linearly from x = 0 to 0.3, followed by a 300 nm $Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3}$ strain-relaxed buffer, an 8 nm tensily strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a sacrificial Si cap. The layer sequence for quantum well B comprises a 1.4 μ m step-graded Si_(1-x)Ge_x layer with a final Ge concentration of x = 0.3 achieved in four grading steps (x = 0.07, 0.14, 0.21, and 0.3), followed by a 0.45 µm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strain-relaxed buffer, an 8 nm tensily strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a sacrificial Si cap. In quantum well A, the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strainrelaxed buffer and the Si quantum well are grown at 750 °C without growth interruption. In quantum well B the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strain-relaxed buffer below the quantum well is grown at a temperature of 625 °C, followed by growth interruption and quantum well growth at 750 °C. This modified temperature profile yields a sharper bottom interface for quantum well B as compared to quantum well A.

6.6.2. Atom probe tomography

Samples for APT were prepared in a FEI Helios Nanolab 660 dual-beam scanning electron microscope using a gallium focused ion beam at 30, 16 and 5 kV and using a procedure described in detail in ref. [224]. Before preparation, a 150-200 nm thick chromium capping layer was deposited on the sample via thermal evaporation to minimize the implantation of gallium ions into the sample. All APT analyses were started inside this chromium cap with the stack fully intact underneath. APT was carried out using a LEAP 5000XS tool from Cameca. The system is equipped with a laser to generate picosecond pulses at a wavelength of 355 nm. For the analysis, all samples were cooled to a temperature of 25 K. The experimental data are collected at a laser pulse rate of 200-500 kHz at a laser power of 8-10 pJ. APT data are reconstructed using IVAS 3.8.5a34 software and visualized using the AtomBlend addon to Blender 2.79b and Blender 2.92 software. For the Voronoi tessellation the reconstructed data sets were exported to Python 3.9.2 and then tessellated using the scipy.spatial.Voronoi class of SciPy 1.6.2. Note that in these analyses the interfaces are represented as an array of sigmoid functions generated perpendicular to the respective interface on $3 \text{ nm} \times 3 \text{ nm}$ tiles that are 1 nm apart. This sacrifices lateral resolution to allow for statistical sampling of the elemental concentrations but preserves the atomic resolution along the depth axis that APT is known to provide upon constructing the interface as shown in Fig. 6.2a.

6.6.3. DEVICE FABRICATION

The fabrication process for Hall-bar shaped heterostructure field effect transistors (H-FETs) involves: reactive ion etching of mesa-trench to isolate the two-dimensional electron gas (2DEG); P-ion implantation and activation by rapid thermal annealing at 700 °C; atomic layer deposition of a 10-nm-thick Al_2O_3 gate oxide; deposition of thick dielectric pads to protect gate oxide during subsequent wire bonding step; sputtering of Al gate; electron beam evaporation of Ti:Pt to create ohmic contacts to the 2DEG via doped areas. All patterning is done by optical lithography. Quantum dot devices are fabricated on wafer coupons from the same H-FET fabrication run and share the process steps listed above. Double-quantum dot devices feature a single layer gate metallization and further require electron beam lithography, evaporation of Al (27 nm) or Ti:Pd (3:27 nm) thin film metal gate, and lift-off. For linear quantum dot arrays the gate stack consists of 3 layers of Ti:Pd metallic gates (3:17, 3:27, 3:27 nm) isolated from each other by 5 nm Al₂O₃ dielectric interlayers. The fabrication processes for quantum dot devices are further detailed in ref. [225].

6.6.4. ELECTRICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF DEVICES

Hall-bar measurement are performed in a Leiden cryogenic dilution refrigerator with a mixing chamber base temperature $T_{MC} = 50 \text{mK}[155]$. We apply a source-drain bias of 100 µV and measure the source-drain current I_{SD} , the longitudinal voltage V_{xx} , and the transverse Hall voltage V_{xy} as function of the top gate voltage V_g and the external perpendicular magnetic field *B*. From here we calculate the longitudinal resistivity ρ_{xx} and transverse Hall resistivity ρ_{xy} . The Hall electron density *n* is obtained from the linear relationship $\rho_{xy} = B/en$ at low magnetic fields. The carrier mobility μ is extracted from the relationship $\sigma_{xx} = ne\mu$, where *e* is the electron charge. The percolation density n_p is extracted by fitting the longitudinal conductivity σ_{xx} to the relation $\sigma_{xx} \propto (n - n_p)^{1.31}$. Here σ_{xx} is obtained via tensor inversion of ρ_{xx} at B = 0. Quantum dot measurements are performed in Oxford and Leiden cryogenic refrigerators with base temperatures ranging from 10–50 mK. Quantum dot devices are operated in the few-electron regime. Further details of the 2DEG and quantum dot measurements are provided in section 6.7.1.

6.6.5. Theory and simulations

The quantum-well potential at vertical position z_l is simply defined here as a linear interpolation of the conduction-band offset at the quantum-well interface: $U(z_l) = \frac{x_l^d - x_s}{x_w - x_s} \Delta E_c$, where x_l^d is the average Si concentration in layer l, x_s is the average Si concentration in the strain-relaxed SiGe barriers, x_w is the average Si concentration in the strained quantum well, and ΔE_c is the conduction band offset in the absence of fluctuations. In the effective-mass theory, the intervalley coupling matrix element can then be approximated by the sum

$$\Delta = \frac{a_0}{4} \sum_{l} e^{-2ik_0 z_l} \frac{x_l^d - x_s}{x_w - x_s} \Delta E_c |\psi_{\rm env}(z_l)|^2.$$
(6.1)

Defining the local concentration fluctuations as $x_l^d = \bar{x}_l + \delta_l$, the matrix element can then be split into its deterministic and fluctuating contributions $\Delta = \Delta_0 + \delta \Delta$, where the

fluctuating term $\delta \Delta$ contains all dependence on δ_l :

$$\delta\Delta = \frac{a_0}{4} \frac{\Delta E_c}{x_w - x_s} \sum_l e^{-2ik_0 z_l} \delta_l |\psi_{\text{env}}(z_l)|^2.$$
(6.2)

The deterministic term Δ_0 represents the matrix element of the ideal, smooth concentration profile, while $\delta\Delta$ describes the fluctuations about this value. For concentration fluctuations δ_l defined by binomial distributions of Ge and Si atoms, the resulting valley splitting $E_v = 2|\Delta_0 + \delta\Delta|$ corresponds to a Rice distribution with parameters $v = 2|\Delta_0|$ and $\sigma = \sqrt{2}\sqrt{\text{Var}[\delta\Delta]}$ [226]. For additional details, see the Supplementary Discussion Section 3 in Ref [73]. All simulations and numerical calculations reported in this work were performed using Python 3.7.10 with the open-source libraries NumPy, SciPy, and Matplotlib. The 3D atomistic simulations were done using the large-scale Slater-Koster tight-binding solver NEMO3D. A spin resolved 20 band sp3d5s* nearest neighbour model was used. Strain optimization was done using a valence force field Keating model.

6.7. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

6.7.1. ELECTRICAL CHARACTERIZATION

A. MAGNETOTRANSPORT CHARACTERIZATION OF HALL-BAR SHAPED HETEROSTRUCTURE FIELD EFFECT TRANSISTORS



Figure 6.5: **a,b.** Mobility μ and conductivity σ_{xx} as a function of Hall density n measured for quantum well A. **c, d** Mobility μ and conductivity σ_{xx} as a function of Hall density n measured for quantum well B. **e** Maximum mobility μ_{max} for quantum well A (magenta) and quantum well B (green) extracted from **a** and **c**. Black crosses are the mean and standard deviation. For quantum well A we find $\overline{\mu_{max}} = 129.000 \pm 53.000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ and for quantum well B we find $\overline{\mu_{max}} = 208.000 \pm 74.000 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$. **f** Percolation density n_p for quantum well A (magenta) and quantum well B (green) extracted by fitting the conductivity-density curves in **b** and **d** to the relationship $\sigma_{xx} \propto (n - n_p)^{1.31}$ [125]. Since this percolation theory is valid only at low densities, for each sample we chose a fitting range that goes from the lowest measured density n_{min} to a density $n_{max,fit}$ that yields the best fitting results. For the devices from quantum well A in **b** we have $n_{max,fit} = 3.2 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, $2.2 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, $1.6 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$, $1.8 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$.


Figure 6.6: **a-c** Activation energy measurements of the valley gap Δ_{ν} (red circles) and Zeeman gap Δ_{Z} (blue circles) as a function of the magnetic field B for three different devices from quantum well A. Δ_{ν} is measured at the 2n-1 quantum Hall filling factors and Δ_Z is measured at the 4n-2 filling factors. We follow the same methodology as in Ref. [119]. The blue and red dashed lines are theoretical fits to the experimental data using the equations $\Delta_Z = g^* \mu_B B - c_B B - \Gamma$ and $\Delta_v = c_B B - \Gamma$, where g^* is the effective Landé-g-factor, μ_B is the Bohr magneton, c_B is the proportionality factor of the valley splitting with B, and Γ is the Landau level broadening induced by disorder. We obtain $c_B = 30.64 \pm 3.14 \mu \text{eV/T}$, $30.43 \pm 5.12 \mu \text{eV/T}$, $32.46 \pm 2.14 \mu \text{eV/T}$, and $g^* = 1.74 \pm 3.14 \mu \text{eV/T}$. 0.16, 2 ± 0.21 , 2.36 ± 0.12 respectively. The blue and red solid lines correspond to the estimated Zeeman and valley energy gaps, respectively. d, e Activation energy measurements and fits of the valley gap and Zeeman gap as in **a-c** for two devices from quantum well B. We obtain $c_B = 26.28 \pm 1.65 \,\mu$ eV/T, $43.15 \pm 3.19 \,\mu$ eV/T, and $g^* = 26.28 \pm 1.65 \,\mu$ eV/T, $43.15 \pm 3.19 \,\mu$ eV/T, and $g^* = 26.28 \pm 1.65 \,\mu$ eV/T, $43.15 \pm 3.19 \,\mu$ eV/T, $43.15 \,$ 1.77 ± 0.13, 2.54 ± 0.17 respectively. **f** Rate of increase of valley splitting with magnetic field E_V^{QHE} for quantum well A (magenta) and quantum well B (green) extracted from the fitting analysis of **a-e**. We calculate E_V^{QHE} by setting $E_V^{QHE} = c_B g/g^*$, thereby scaling c_B with a coefficient g/g^* that normalizes the fitted g^* to the value g = 2 in silicon. This normalization is a way to take into account the modest electron-electron interaction present in different devices, allowing for a comparison across different quantum wells. Black crosses are the mean and standard deviation of E_{V}^{QHE} . For quantum well A we find $\overline{E_{V}^{QHE}} = 31.1 \pm 3.9 \,\mu\text{eV/T}$ and for quantum well B we find $\overline{E_V^{QHE}}$ = 31.8 ± 3 µeV/T. g, Schematic drawing of a Landau level split into Zeeman and valley energy levels, showing all relevant energy separations. Shaded areas represent the single-particle Landau level broadening Γ due to disorder [119].

94



Figure 6.7: **a** Coulomb blockade measurements of QD1, device 5 (see Table S1). The current through the QD is monitored while scanning the gate voltage and the bias voltage applied between the source and the drain, resulting in Coulomb diamonds. From the leftmost Coulomb diamond (indicated by the red lines) we extract a leverarm $\alpha = 0.11 \text{ eV/V}$ using the method described in the supplementary information of Ref. [48]. **b** Pulsed gate spectroscopy for the same quantum dot. The time-averaged RF reflectometry signal/sensing dot response is plotted as a function of the dc gate voltage V_P and the square pulse amplitude V_{pulse} with a pulse frequency of 25 kHz, both applied to the same gate. The arrow indicates the orbital splitting, which we extract as $E_{orb} = \alpha V_{orb} = 4.18 \text{ meV}$, consistent with other values reported in literature [190, 191, 195]

B. SINGLET-TRIPLET ENERGY SPLITTING IN QUANTUM DOTS



Figure 6.8: **a**, Energy evolution of the ground state and first excited state in a single quantum dot as a function of the magnetic field. The red line shows the expected spin filling for the charge transition $N = 1 \rightarrow 2$. At $B = B_{ST}$ the typical kink can be observed, where the Zeeman energy E_Z is equal to the singlet-triplet splitting energy E_{ST} . **b**, Energy evolution of the four lowest lying energy states in a double quantum dot as a function of the magnetic field with fixed electron number N = 2. The red line represents the T_- energy state measured along the $(1,1) \rightarrow (2,0)$ transition. At $B = B_{ST}$ the singlet state S_0 and the triplet state T_- are equal in energy, resulting in an anticrossing.

The singlet-triplet energy splitting is computed according to the configurations in Fig. 6.8. In the configuration in Fig. 6.8**a** the red line can be fitted to compute E_{ST} with the formula[215]:

$$V_P = \frac{1}{\alpha \beta_e} \ln \frac{e^{\frac{1}{2}\kappa B + \beta_e E_{ST}} (e^{\kappa B} + 1)}{e^{\kappa B} + e^{2\kappa B} + e^{\kappa B + \beta_e E_{ST}} + 1},$$
(6.3)

where α is the lever arm converting gate voltage to energy, V_P is the gate voltage, $\kappa = g\mu_B\beta_e$ where $\beta_e = 1/k_BT_e$, g is the Lande-g-factor in silicon, μ_B is the Bohr magneton, B is the magnetic field, k_B is Boltzmann's constant, and T_e is the electron temperature[215].

In the configuration in Fig. 6.8b the Hamiltonian of the T– state is given by:

$$\hat{H} = \begin{pmatrix} E_{S0} & t_c \\ t_c & E_{T-} \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.4)

where E_{S0} is the energy evolution of the singlet state, E_{T-} is the energy evolution of the triplet minus-state, and the off-diagonal element t_c is the tunnel coupling between the (1,1)-state and the the (2,0)-state in the double quantum dot. Diagonalization of the Hamiltonian yields:

$$\mu_n(T-) = \frac{1}{2} (E_{S0} + E_{T-} + \sqrt{(E_{S0} - E_{T-})^2 + 4t_c^2})$$
(6.5)

To fit the red line from Fig. 6.8**b** we use $E_{S0} = 0$ and $E_{T_{-}} = \alpha(g\mu_B B + E_{ST})$, where α is the lever arm, g is the single particle g-factor, B is the magnetic field, and E_{ST} is the singlet-triplet splitting.



Figure 6.9: Magnetospectroscopy of quantum dots fabricated on quantum well A. V_P is the gate voltage applied to the plunger gate forming the quantum dot. **a** - **e** Magnetospectroscopy data measured along the $N = 1 \rightarrow 2$ transition of five different quantum dots on three different samples in quantum well A. The signal is measured by monitoring the derivative of the current through a nearby charge sensor. a), A charge fluctuation occurred during the measurement and to optimize the fitting routine, we shifted the data in the range 0.3-0.6 T upwards by 1 mV. **a** - **e**, Due to low tunnel rates, for each gate Voltage sweep at the different magnetic fields, we determine the points with the highest derivative of the current $\frac{\partial I}{\partial V}$ through the charge sensor as the $N = 1 \rightarrow 2$ charge transition. We then use these points as the input of eq. 6.3. With this equation we can fit the charge transition as a function of the magnetic field (black curve).



Figure 6.10: Magnetospectroscopy of quantum dots fabricated on quantum well A. V_P is the gate voltage applied to the plunger gate forming the quantum dot. **a** - **d** Magnetospectroscopy data measured along the $N = 1 \rightarrow 2$ transition of four different quantum dots on two different samples in quantum well A. The quantum dot is probed via gate-based sensing using an on-chip superconducting resonator in these measurements [171]. The magnitude of the transmitted microwave signal S₂₁ through a feed line that is capacitively coupled to the resonator is plotted here. For each gate Voltage sweep at the different magnetic fields, we use a Lorentzian function to find the resonance peak of the signal. The resonance peaks then are used as input of eq. 6.3. With this equation we can fit the charge transition as a function of the magnetic field (black curve).

98



Figure 6.11: Magnetospectroscopy of quantum dots fabricated on quantum well B. V_P is the gate voltage applied to the plunger gate forming the quantum dot. For clarity, we subtract from V_P in panels **a**, **b c**, **e**, and f an offset that depends is on the quantum dot being measured. a - d Magnetospectroscopy data measured along the $N = 1 \rightarrow 2$ transition of four different quantum dots on two different samples in quantum well B. The signal is measured by monitoring **a**, the current *I* through a nearby charge sensor, or **b** - **d** by monitoring the derivative of the current $\frac{\partial I}{\partial V}$ through a nearby charge sensor. **a** - **d**, To extract the inflection point of the electron charge transition, we fit the signal of the detuning for every magnetic field to eq. (2) from Ref. [227]. The inflection points then are used as input of eq. 6.3. With this equation we can fit the charge transition as a function of the magnetic field (black curve). **e** - **f** Magnetospectroscopy data measured along the $N = (1, 1) \rightarrow (2, 0)$ transition of eight different quantum dots on two different samples in quantum well B. The signal is measured by monitoring the reflected amplitude of the rf readout signal through a nearby charge sensor. To extract the inflection point of the electron charge transition, we fit the signal of the detuning for every magnetic field to eq. (2) from Ref. [227]. Here we superimpose the inflection points as green curves, to help the reader to follow the charge transitions. To extract B_{ST} we use the crossing point of two linear fits (black solid lines) along the T_{-} and S_{0} -state. On top of these samples there is a micromagnet lowering the magnetic field strength at the center of the sample by up to 0.2 T corresponding to 23 µeV which is taken as a lower bound for measurable E_{ST} .



Figure 6.12: Magnetospectroscopy of quantum dots fabricated on quantum well B. V_P is the gate voltage applied to the plunger gate forming the quantum dot. For clarity, we subtract from V_P in panels **a** - **f** an offset that depends is on the quantum dot being measured. **a** - **f** Magnetospectroscopy data measured along the $N = (1, 1) \rightarrow (2, 0)$ transition of six different quantum dots on one sample in quantum well B. The signal is measured by monitoring the reflected amplitude of the rf readout signal through a nearby charge sensor. To extract the inflection point of the electron charge transition, we fit the signal of the detuning for every magnetic field to eq. (2) from Ref. [227]. Here we superimpose the inflection points as green curves, to help the reader to follow the charge transitions. To extract B_{ST} we use the crossing point of two linear fits (black solid lines) along the T_- and S_0 -state. On top of these samples there is a micromagnet lowering the magnetic field strength at the center of the sample by up to 0.2 T corresponding to 23 µeV which is taken as a lower bound for measurable E_{ST} .

100

Stack	Wafer ID	database processing ID	Figure	device ID	transition	$B_S T$ (T)	$E_S T \mu eV$	dp (nm)
QW A	QT428	DEMO 13	6.9 a	D1 2-dot, P2	$(0,1) \to (0,2)$	1.11	129±1.1	50
QW A	QT428	DEMO 13	6.9 b	D1 2-dot, P1	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.42	49.4±2.2	50
QW A	QT428	DEMO 21	6.9 c	D2 2-dot, P1	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.83	96.6±6.3	50
QW A	QT428	DEMO 21	6.9 d	D2 2-dot, P2	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.47	170.4±9.0	50
QW A	QT428	DEMO 15	6.9 e	D3 2-dot, P1	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.52	176.3±13.4	50
QW A	QT428	DEMO 15	6.1 f ,	D3 2-dot, P2	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.57	182.3±5.8	50
QW A	QT539	SQ19-193-1-3-03	6.10 a	D4 2-dot, P1	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.31	35.7±5.9	50
QW A	QT539	SQ19-193-1-3-03	6.10 b	D4 2-dot, P2	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.45	52.6±0.8	50
QW A	QT539	SQ19-193-1-3-04	6.10 c	D5 2-dot, P1	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.9	104±1.6	50
QW A	QT539	SQ19-193-1-3-04	6.10 d	D5 2-dot, P2	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.69	79.6±2.0	50
QW B	QT592	SQ20-20-5-25-2	6.11 a	D1 5-dot, P4	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.74	85.7±2.0	40
QW B	QT592	SQ20-20-5-25-2	6.11 b	D1 5-dot, P1	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.71	82.1±3.7	40
QW B	QT592	SQ20-20-5-25-2	6.11 c	D1 5-dot, P2	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.7	81.7±10.1	40
QW B	QT553	SQ19-228-2-44-2	6.11 d	D6 2-dot, P2	$(0,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.41	47.2±3.68	50
QW B	QT592	SQ20-20-5-18-4	6.11 e	D1 6-dot, P3	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0	0±0	50
QW B	QT592	SQ20-20-5-18-4	6.11 f	D1 6-dot, P4	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.73	191.5±13.2	50
QW B	QT637	SQ20-205-2-12	6.12 a	D2 6-dot, P1	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.06	123.1±8.9	40
QW B	QT637	SQ20-205-2-12	6.12 b	D2 6-dot, P2	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.56	180.5±9.7	40
QW B	QT637	SQ20-205-2-12	6.12 c	D2 6-dot, P3	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.1	126.8±33.6	40
QW B	QT637	SQ20-205-2-12	6.12 d	D2 6-dot, P4	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.27	147.3 ± 15.7	40
QW B	QT637	SQ20-205-2-12	6.12 e	D2 6-dot, P5	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	0.5	57.9±13.5	40
QW B	QT637	SQ20-205-2-12	6.12 f	D2 6-dot, P6	$(1,1) \rightarrow (0,2)$	1.25	144.6 ± 19.1	40

Table 6.1: Summary of quantum dot valley splitting measurements. Among all devices measured, in one case (data point $E_{\rm ST}$ = 0 µeV) we did not observe in magnetospectroscopy the signature kink associated with valley splitting. This indicates a very small valley splitting, below the lower bound of about 23 µeV set by our experimental measurement conditions. While very small valley splitting values are within the predicted theoretical distributions in the main text, previous theories[67] suggest that they could also originate from the presence of an atomic step within the quantum dot.

6.7.2. MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION

A. ATOM PROBE TOMOGRAPHY ANALYSIS OF INTERFACES

Atom Probe analysis (APT) of the interfaces is done in 5 steps. All of them explained in detail below. First, the entire measurement is reconstructed using the standard reconstruction algorithms [217]. Second, a cube approximately representing the size of an electrical defined quantum in the x,y-plane and comfortably comprising the entire quantum well in the z-direction/depth-direction is extracted from the reconstructed data. This is done to have comparable sizes for each measurement, to limit the known reconstruction artefacts of APT [218] and to enable a direct comparison to simulations in step 5. Third, the three-dimensional point cloud created in the usual APT reconstruction [217] is tessellated using a Voronoi tessellation [221, 222]. The Voronoi tessellation is used for all subsequent steps. It can be viewed as a smoothing operation that "spreads out" the detected ions/atoms to a finite volume rather than representing them as zerodimensional points. Forth, a x,y-grid is defined on the cube and for each cell of the grid a profile based on the Voronoi tessellation along the z-axis is created that is than fitted



Figure 6.13: Visualization of the extraction of the cube **b** from the full data set **a** and Voronoi tessellation of the cube c.

with a sigmoid function. The collection of sigmoid functions is then used to represent the interface and calculate the interface positions as well as the isoconcentration surfaces. Fifth, the profile extracted from the Voronoi grid of the entire cube is used to create a model structure with the known crystal structure of SiGe and a pseudo-random distribution of Si and Ge atoms in the x-y plane, enforcing the same profile along the depths direction as given by the Voronoi grid and the same percentage of atoms in the volume as expected from the detection efficiency of the Atom Probe (here: 80 % detection efficiency of the LEAP 5000XS). These model structures interface are then compared to the measurement results. All data treatment is done in Python 3.9 using numpy 1.20.3 and scipy 1.6.3.

B. EXTRACTION OF THE CUBES AND VORONOI TESSELLATION

The cubes are manually extracted from the reconstructed volume as exemplary shown in Fig. 6.13 **a-b**). After a cube containing the quantum well with the approximate size of an electrically defined quantum dot (~ 30x30x20 nm) is extracted a Voronoi tessellation is performed on the point cloud representing APT data inside the cube. A result of such a tessellation in exemplary shown in Fig. 6.13 **c**).

C. CONSTRUCTION OF THE INTERFACE

Interfaces are constructed based on the Voronoi tessellated data sets. The process is depicted in Fig. 6.14. A grid is created in the x,y-plane of the tessellated data set (Fig. 6.14 **a-b**). For each cell of the grid a one-dimensional profile along the z-axis is generated using the tessellation. As opposed to "regular" APT data [217] where profiles are created utilizing small bins along the z-axis and concentrations are then calculated from the ions/atoms within the bin (Ref. [228] Chapter 7), the profiles on the tessellated data are created by a set of cutting planes. The process works by cutting the tessellation at each depth and use every ion/atom whose volume is cut as part of the plane and hence have it contribute to the concentration measured within that plane and at that depth.This can be viewed as a smoothing operation that spreads out the detected ions/atoms to a finite volume.

Each x,y-cell (typically 3x3 nm wide spaced 1 nm apart and hence partially overlapping) generates a profile and is then fitted using sigmoid function [74] as shown in Fig. 6.14 **c**). The sigmoid functions are then used to represent the interface in the following way:

- The inflection point of the sigmoid represents the position of the interface in each cell (Fig. 6.14 d)
- Isoconcentration surfaces (Ref. [228] Chapter 6.3.2) are created by plotting the position where the sigmoid of each cell reaches the respective concentration

Fig. 6.15 and 6.16 show examples of the interface positions maps and isoconcentration surface maps generated in this way for the top and bottom interfaces of a QW A and a QW B sample. Note, that the data can now readily be used to calculate the average roughness and root mean square roughness in the usual way [229].



Figure 6.14: Creation of a map from the Voronoi tessellated cube (**a**) by applying an x,y-grid (**b**) and fitting of profiles along z-axis with a sigmoid function in each cell (**c**). The profiles can then be used to calculate the position of e.g. the 25 % Germanium isoconcentration surface (**d**).

D. GENERATING MODEL DATA

Model data are generated based on the known crystal properties of Si_{66.5}Ge_{33.5}. A crystal of the same size as the cubes extracted from the data (~ 30x30x20 nm) is generated digitally and then 20 % of the atoms in the crystal are pseudo-randomly removed to account for the detection efficiency of the LEAP5000XS system used in the APT analysis.

Along the depth axis of the cube the average measured APT profile of the Si and Ge concentration of QW A and QW B as shown in Fig. 6.2**c** is enforced. The result of the generation of such a cube for QW A and the comparison of the depth profile extracted from a cube of QWA and QW B to the average profile of QW A and QW B respectively



Figure 6.15: Examples of position maps of top (\mathbf{a} , \mathbf{b}) and bottom (\mathbf{c} , \mathbf{d}) Germanium interfaces for both Quantum wells A and B. For each cell the depth plotted on the map is extracted from inflection point the sigmoid fit to the profile extracted from the cell (Fig. 6.14 **b**-**c**).



Figure 6.16: Example of Germanium isoconcentration surfaces or the top (**a**, **b**) and bottom (**c**, **d**) interfaces of both Quantum Wells a and B. The plots reported here show one particular isosurface, 1% in **a**, **b** and 30% in c,d. Animated short clips provided as Supplementary Movies in Ref [73] show the evolution across the interfaces of each isoconcentration surfaces, from 1-30 % Ge. As before the depth for each map can be extracted from the sigmoid fits to the profile in each cell.



Figure 6.17: Example of a crystalline cube of QW (**a**) and a comparison of the average profiles of the measured quantum wells (see Fig. 6.2**c**) and profiles from a generated cube of Quantum Well A (**b**) and Quantum Well B (**c**).

are shown in Fig. 6.17. In Fig. 6.18 interface position maps of these model structures are shown. They should be compared to Fig. 6.15 where the same maps are extracted from measured data sets. The root mean square roughness as measured from the model is compared to the data measured from the APT data in Fig. 6.2.

Note: there is an animation in the file Supplementary_ Movie_1.m4v in Ref. [73] which shows for the top interface of quantum well B (for increasing Ge concentration) the deviation of each isosurface tile position from the isosurface's average position. There we benchmark the experimental data from our APT analysis (at each frame of the animation) against average and min-max range covered by 100 random models.



Figure 6.18: Examples of position maps of top (a, b) and bottom (c, d) Germanium interfaces for model data sets of both Quantum wells A and B. As in Fig. 6.15 the depth plotted on the map is extracted from the inflection point of the sigmoid fit for the profile along the depth axis generated in each cell (Fig. 6.14 b-c).



E. ATOMIC STEPS, QUANTUM WELL WIDTH, AND BOTTOM INTERFACES

Figure 6.19: a 10% isoconcentration surface from a Stack A sample without step. Blue areas are below and red areas above the average height (defined as z = 0) of the isoconcentration surface. The black lines are the positions of the line cuts in **b** and **c**. **b** line cut along the x direction of the isoconcentration surface. in **a**. **c** line cut along the y-direction of the isoconcentration surface. The z-position randomly oscillates around the mean value. d 10% isoconcentration surface from a Stack A sample with clear spatial division of the blue and red areas. The black lines are the positions of the line cuts in e and f. e line cut along the x-direction of d. A step with height $\Delta = 0.255$ nm occurs at x = 7 nm, corresponding to approximately 2 monoatomic layers. The black line represents the Heavyside step function with the highest C and the step height is determined by taking average z-position of the line cut before and after the step. f line cut along the y-direction of c. A step with $\Delta = 0.18$ nm occurs at x = 3 nm, corresponding to approximately 1.5 monoatomic layers. The black line represents the average z-position before and after the step. g, Average width of quantum well A (magenta line) and B (green line) as a function of the Ge concentration of the isoconcentration surfaces. Shaded areas represent the standard deviation of the quantum wells. **h**, Statistical analysis of the bottom 4τ interface widths derived from the fitting the data for quantum well A (magenta) and quantum well B (green). Black crosses are the mean and standard deviation for data from the different APT samples, highlighting the uniformity of the interfaces. i, j, HAADF-STEM intensity profile for stack A and B (magenta and green line, respectively) along the heterostructure growth direction (see TEMs in the main section). The black lines are fits of the data in the interface regions, using a sigmoid function.

To evaluate the presence of atomic steps from isoconcentration surfaces, we consider one-dimensional line cuts along the x- and y-axis of an isosurface. If a line cut crosses an atomic step along the isosurface, the line cut should resemble a Heavyside step function *H*:

$$H(x - x_s) = h_0 + \begin{cases} -a/2, & \text{for } x < x_s. \\ a/2, & \text{for } x \ge x_s. \end{cases}$$
(6.6)

where *a* is the step height, x_s is the step position and the offset h_0 . To quantify the resem-

blance between a line cut and the step function, we determine the correlation coefficient *C* between the two with:

$$C = \frac{\sum_{k} (z_k - \bar{z})(h_k - h)}{\sqrt{\sum_{k} (z_k - \bar{z})^2} \sqrt{\sum_{k} (h_k - \bar{h})^2}}$$
(6.7)

_

where z_k are the z-values of the line cut, \bar{z} is the mean value of the line cut, k is the index of the, h_k are the values of the step function, and \bar{h} the mean value of the step function. If $C \ge 0.75$ we consider the linecut to represent a step. We subsequently can determine aby taking the difference between the two plateaux $\Delta = \bar{z}_{k+} - \bar{z}_{k-}$, where \bar{z}_{k+} and \bar{z}_{k-} are the average z-position before and after x_s , respectively.





Figure 6.20: **a**, **b**, Depth concentration SIMS profile of quantum well A and quantum well B respectively. Analyzed elements are ²⁸Si (red), ²⁹Si (blue), ³⁰Si (purple), Ge (black), oxygen (green) and carbon (blue). In quantum well A both carbon and oxygen concentrations are below their respective detection limits of 3×10^{16} cm⁻³ and 1×10^{17} cm⁻³. In quantum well A only carbon is below the detection limits, while there is a residual oxygen content of 4×10^{17} cm⁻³ in the quantum well. **c** typical cross-hatch pattern from the surface of the wafers.

WAFER-SCALE LOW-DISORDER 2DEG IN ²⁸SI/SIGE WITHOUT AN EPITAXIAL SI CAP

We grow ²⁸ Si/SiGe heterostructures by reduced-pressure chemical vapor deposition and terminate the stack without an epitaxial Si cap but with an amorphous Si-rich layer obtained by exposing the SiGe barrier to dichlorosilane at 500 °C. As a result, ²⁸ Si/SiGe heterostructure field-effect transistors feature a sharp semiconductor/dielectric interface and support a two-dimensional electron gas with enhanced and more uniform transport properties across a 100 mm wafer. At T = 1.7 K we measure a high mean mobility of $(1.8 \pm 0.5) \times$ 10^5 cm²/Vs and a low mean percolation density of $(9 \pm 1) \times 10^{10}$ cm⁻². From the analysis of Shubnikov-de Haas oscillations at T = 190 mK we obtain a long mean single particle relaxation time of (8.1 ± 0.5) ps, corresponding to a mean quantum mobility and quantum level broadening of $(7.5\pm0.6) \times 10^4$ cm²/Vs and $(40\pm3) \mu eV$, respectively, and a small mean Dingle ratio of (2.3 ± 0.2) , indicating reduced scattering from long range impurities and a low-disorder environment for hosting high-performance spin-qubits.

This chapter has been published in Davide Degli Esposti, Brian Paquelet Wuetz, Viviana Fezzi, Mario Lodari, Amir Sammak, and Giordano Scappucci, Wafer-scale low-disorder 2DEG in ²⁸Si/SiGe without an epitaxial Si cap, Appl. Phys. Lett. **120**, 184003 (2022) [230]

7.1. INTRODUCTION

Strained ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures are a compelling platform for scalable qubit tiles based on gate-defined quantum dots. [181, 177] In these ²⁸Si buried quantum wells, electron spins experience a quiet electrical and magnetic environment. The electronically noisy semiconductor/dielectric interface is far away, separated from the quantum well by a SiGe epitaxial barrier, and the nuclear spins have been removed by isotopic enrichment. Continuous advances in the material science of ²⁸Si/SiGe and improved device fabrication have enabled quantum logic with spin qubits crossing the surface code threshold, [115, 114, 231] coherent coupling of two electron spins at a distance via virtual microwave photons, [232] and CMOS-based cryogenic control of quantum circuits [51]. In the mainstream approach to quantum dot fabrication, the last step in the heterostructure growth cycle comprises the heteroepitaxial deposition of a thin epitaxial Si cap on the SiGe barrier [225]. This is to avoid the formation of low-quality Ge-based oxides upon exposure of SiGe to air. After the Si cap deposition, a high- κ dielectric is deposited ex*situ* and at low-temperature (≈ 300 °C) to insulate the gate from the buried and undoped quantum well. This low-temperature process preserves the strain in the quantum well but induces large concentrations of impurities at the critical semiconductor/dielectric interface. These impurities can influence the electrostatic confining potential landscape induced by the gates, leading to the formation of unintentional quantum dots, [233] and are a source of charge noise limiting qubit performance.[48, 111] While efforts have focused on achieving uniform and high-purity²⁸Si quantum wells with sharp interfaces, [73, 212, 190] now more attention is needed to optimize the step which terminates the heterostructure deposition cycle and has a critical role in defining the semiconductor/dielectric interface.

In this letter, we explore ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures terminated by exposure to dichlorosilane (DCS) gas at a temperature well below the threshold for epitaxial growth of Si. By avoiding the growth of an epitaxial Si cap altogether, we obtain ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure field effect transistors (H-FETs) with a sharp semiconductor/dielectric interface. We show that the ²⁸Si quantum well supports a two-dimensional electron gas with less disorder and improved quantum transport properties compared to heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap.

7.2. HETEROSTRUCTURE

Figure 7.1**a** illustrates the workflow to fabricate ²⁸Si/SiGe H-FETs. We grow ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures on 100 mm Si(001) wafers using an Epsilon 2000 (ASMI) reduced-pressure chemical vapor deposition reactor. We use isotopically-enriched ²⁸SiH₄ for growing the ²⁸Si quantum well (residual ²⁹Si concentration of 0.08%[141, 51, 115]) and DCS (H₂SiCl₂) and GeH₄ for all other layers. The heterostructure comprises a 3 µm step-graded Si_{1-x}Ge_x layer (final $x \approx 0.3$), a 2.5 µm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strain-relaxed buffer, a 8 nm tensile-strained ²⁸Si quantum well and a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier¹ and in the SiGe barrier is $\approx 4 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³. To achieve sharp interfaces and minimize Si/Ge interdiffusion at the quantum well-barrier interface[73], the temperature is decreased from 750 °C for growing the quantum well to

¹A typical secondary ions mass spectrometry of our heterostructures is reported in Fig. S13 of Ref. [73]. The oxygen concentration in the ²⁸Si quantum well is $\approx 4 \times 10^{17}$ cm⁻³



Figure 7.1: **a** Schematics of the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure and formation of the dielectric interface in a Hall-bar heterostructure field effect transistor. *z* indicates the heterostructure growth direction. The heterostructure is terminated by exposure to dichlorosilane (DCS) gas at a temperature below the threshold for growing an epitaxial Si cap and the dielectric stack comprises a SiO_x layer formed by exposure of the heterostructure to air at room temperature and an AlO_x layer formed by atomic layer deposition (ALD). **b** BF-STEM image of the active layers of the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure field effect transistor showing, from left to right, the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strain-relaxed buffer layer, the tensile-strained ²⁸Si quantum well, the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, followed by the SiO_x/AlO_x dielectric stack. **c** Electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS) semi-quantitative concentration depth profiles across the semiconductor/dielectric interface for Si (blue), Ge (red), O (green), and Al (black). **d** 15 nm×45 nm wide 2D maps by EELS using low-energy edges to recognize differences between the different bonding states: Si (blue), SiO_x (magenta), and AlO_x (green). We do not detect any Cl or H signal above the background noise in our EELS data.

625 °C for the barrier. We now introduce a major difference compared to our previous experiments. In Refs. [171, 51, 115, 73]) we deposited a thin epitaxial Si cap at 675 °C using DCS. Here we reduce the substrate temperature to 500 °C, below the desorption temperature of chlorine from the surface (600–650 °C),[234, 235] under the same conditions of DCS flow and pressure. According to literature[236, 237, 238, 239, 240, 241, 242], we expect that exposure to DCS at 500 °C essentially suppresses crystalline growth but creates an amorphous Si-rich layer on Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3}. After terminating the deposition cycle

with this step, the heterostructure is removed from the growth reactor and a native oxide is formed upon exposure to air at room temperature. We identify the native oxide as SiO_x based on the chemical analysis in Fig. 7.1**c**,**d**. Then, we fabricate Hall-bar shaped H-FETs using the process described in Ref. [73]. In short, the process comprises the implantation of ohmic contacts and rapid thermal annealing at 700 °C, the atomic layer deposition at 300 °C of a 10 nm Al₂O₃ dielectric layer on the SiO_x , and the final deposition of a Hall-bar shaped metallic gate, electrically insulated from the heterostructure by the SiO_x/Al_2O_3 dielectric stack.

Figure 7.1b shows a bright-field scanning transmission electron microscopy (BF-STEM) image of the heterostructure and of the dielectric stack under the gate stack at the end of the H-FET fabrication process. The Si quantum well is uniform, without extended defects, and is characterized by sharp top and bottom interfaces to the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} layers, in agreement with our previous reports [51, 115, 73]. The semiconductor/dielectric interface is similarly sharp, highlighted by the perfect atomically sharp semiconductor surface as imaged by BF-STEM. Two distinct amorphous layers, which we identify as the SiO_x and AlO_x layers, appear on the dielectric side of the interface. We gain insights over the nature of the semiconductor/dielectric interface and of the dielectric stack by performing electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS). In Fig. 7.1c we show the semiquantitative concentration profiles using the Si-K (1839-2084 eV), Al-K (1560-1700 eV), O-L (532-660 eV), and Ge-L (1220-1400 eV) high energy edge. The Si (blue) and Ge (red) concentration profiles decrease together whilst the oxygen (green) signal is increasing. We deduce that oxidation of the $Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3}$ barrier with on top an amorphous Si-rich layer results in a sharp SiGe/SiO_x semiconductor/dielectric interface. This is confirmed by the minor Ge pile-up on the semiconductor side of the interface, [243, 244] which appears as a dark line in BF-STEM [Fig. 7.1b] and suggests that the top of the single crystalline Si₀.7Ge_{0.3} barrier has been oxidized and that Ge oxides at the interface are absent[245, 246]. Furthermore, the Al signal (black line) rises after the Si signal from SiO_x has trailed, indicating that the dielectric stack retains the two distinct SiO_x and AlO_x layers.

In Fig. 7.1**d** we show the chemical mapping by EELS of Si (blue), SiO_x (magenta), and AlO_x (green) along and across the semiconductor/dielectric interface, together with the intensity profiles. To recognize differences between the different bonding states, we use the low-energy Si-L edge (96.3-100.8 eV) for the semiconductor phase and a shifted Si-L edge (101.4-107.1 eV) for the oxide phase, and Al-L (73.8-79.5 eV) for the oxided Al phase. The SiGe/SiO_x interface is sharp throughout the image, whereas the SiO_x/AlO_x interface shows some interdiffusion. By fitting the intensity profiles with exponential functions[247] we characterize the size of the interfaces with the leading (towards the surface) and trailing (from the surface) exponential slopes λ_L and λ_T . We find λ_L^{Si} = (1.0 ± 0.1) nm and $\lambda_T^{SiO_x}$ = (0.8 ± 0.1) nm. Conversely, we find $\lambda_L^{SiO_x}$ = (1.9 ± 0.1) nm and $\lambda_T^{AlO_x}$ = (3.1 ± 0.2) nm. Overall, the transition from epitaxial SiGe to amorphous SiO_x interface is sharper than the transition between SiO_x and AlO_x, pointing to a degree of intermixing at the latter interface.

7.3. HALL CHARACTERIZATION AT 1.7 K

We characterize the H-FETs by magnetotransport measurements at a temperature of 1.7 K and 190 mK² in refrigerators equipped with cryo-multiplexers.[155] With this approach, we measure multiple devices from a wafer in the same cool-down. The devices are operated in accumulation mode, in which electrons populate the undoped ²⁸Si quantum well by applying a positive DC gate voltage (*V*_G). We measure the longitudinal and transverse components of the resistivity tensor, ρ_{xx} and ρ_{xy} , by using standard fourprobe lock-in techniques at fixed AC source-drain bias of 100 µV. We calculate the longitudinal σ_{xx} and transverse σ_{xy} conductivity via tensor inversion. We measure electron density (*n*) and mobility (μ) with the classical Hall effect at low perpendicular magnetic field *B*.

Figure 7.2**a** shows for a typical device the turn-on and pinch-off source-drain current I_{SD} as a function of increasing and decreasing V_G , respectively. Above a threshold voltage ($V_G = 350 \text{ mV}$), the current starts flowing in the channel and increases monotonically. If the gate voltage is operated within the operational gate voltage range ΔV_G (red curve), I_{SD} is stable and the threshold and pinch-off voltages overlap. At higher V_G , I_{SD} saturates due to charge build-up at the semiconductor/dielectric interface, triggering hysteresis and, consequently, a shift in pinch-off voltage. As shown in Fig. 7.2**b**, if V_G is swept within the operational gate voltage range, n increases linearly with V_G up to $6 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$. From the slope $\frac{dn}{dV_G}$ we derive an effective capacitance per unit area $C \simeq 205 \text{ nF/cm}^2$ using the relationship $C = e \frac{dn}{dV_G}$.[155]. This capacitance characterizes the parallel-plate capacitor where the 2DEG in the ²⁸Si quantum well and the metallic top gate are insulated by a SiGe/SiO_x/AlO_x dielectric stack. Figure 7.2**c** shows the density-dependent mobility measured in the same density range as in Fig. 7.2**b**.

In the low density regime ($n \le 3 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$), the mobility rises steeply due to the increasing screening of Coulomb scattering from remote charged impurities located at semiconductor/dielectric interface.[121] At higher density ($n \ge 5 \times 10^{11} \text{ cm}^{-2}$), the mobility approaches saturation at a value above $2.5 \times 10^5 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$. This weaker density dependence is typical of a high-quality 2DEG, where the maximum mobility is limited by short-range scattering from impurities within or near the quantum well.[123, 122, 155]

In Fig. 7.2**d–f** we plot the distributions of the maximum electric field (E_z^{max}) , the percolation density (n_p) , and the mobility at high density for heterostructures terminated with an amorphous Si-rich layer (blue) and, as a benchmark, for heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap (red). These three metrics are obtained from the analysis of measurements in Fig. 7.2**a–c**, repeated on multiple H-FETs on dies that are randomly selected from different locations across the 100 mm wafer. E_z^{max} , calculated as $C\Delta V_G/\epsilon_0\epsilon_r$, where $\epsilon_r = 11.68$ is the dielectric constant of Si, indicates the maximum electric field that we can apply to the quantum well in the H-FETs before hysteresis. Large E_z^{max} are desirable for device stability, increased tunability, and large valley splitting.[67, 119, 190, 73] n_p characterizes disorder in low density regime, relevant for quantum dot operation, and

 $^{^{2}}$ T = 190 mK is the electron temperature obtained by fitting Coulomb blockade peaks (see figure 7.5) measured on quantum dot devices[51] fabricated on a similar heterostructure. The electron temperature is higher than the temperature of 70 mK measured by a thermometer located on the mixing chamber of the dilution refrigerator



Figure 7.2: **a** Source-drain current I_{SD} measured at T = 1.7 K as a function of gate voltage V_G for a typical Hall bar heterostructure field effect transistor (H-FET). The operational gate voltage range ΔV_G indicates the range over which an I_{SD} - V_G curve (red line) can be measured repeatedly without hysteresis and drift. **b** Density *n* as a function of gate voltage V_G and **c** electron mobility μ as a function of *n* measured within the operational gate voltage range. **d**, **e**, **f** Distributions of maximum electric field applicable before hysteresis E_z^{max} , percolation density n_p , and μ measured at $n = 6 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻² for heterostructures terminated by a Si-rich amorphous layer obtained exposure to DCS at 500 °C (blue, 14 H-FETs measured) and for heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap grown by exposure to DCS at 675 °C (red, 16 H-FETs measured). Quartile box plots, mode (horizontal line), means (diamonds), outliers (circles), and 99% confidence intervals of the mean (dashed whiskers) are shown.

is obtained by fitting the density-dependent σ_{xx} to percolation theory.[125] Finally, the mobility at high density is a probe for disorder arising from within or nearby the quantum well.[121, 122, 123] Overall, H-FETs perform better when the SiGe barrier is terminated with an amorphous Si-rich layer. We measure a 9% increase in mean E_z^{max} , 7% decrease in mean percolation density, and a 40% increase in mean mobility. Most importantly, we observe a reduction in the spread of E_z^{max} , n_p , and μ of \approx 300%, \approx 200%, and \approx 30% respectively, pointing to an increased uniformity on a 100 mm wafer scale.

We further characterize disorder in the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure at 190 mK by measuring the single-particle relaxation time τ_q [248] in the quantum Hall regime. From τ_q we derive the quantum mobility $\mu_q = e\tau_q/m^*$, where *e* is the elementary charge and m^* is the effective mass, and the quantum level broadening of the momentum eigenstates $\Gamma = \hbar/2\tau_q$, here \hbar is the reduced Planck constant. μ_q , associated with τ_q , is influenced by all scattering events and is different from the mobility $\mu = e\tau_t/m^*$, where the scattering time τ_t is unaffected by forward scattering. Therefore τ_q and μ_q qualify the disorder in the heterostructure more comprehensively than τ_t and μ . Figure 7.3**a** shows for the H-FET with the highest mobility a measurement of ρ_{xx} plotted for clarity against the Landau level filling factor v = hn/eB, where *h* is the Plank constant. This measurement was performed at fixed density $n = 4.75 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻² by keeping V_G constant and sweeping *B*. Onset of Shubnikov–de Haas oscillation, Zeeman splitting, and valley splitting occurs at 0.125, 0.43, and 1.15 T, respectively, corresponding to v = 152, 42 and 17. The observation of Shubnikov–de Haas oscillations, Zeeman and valley splitting at these high filling factors indicates a very low level of disorder.[249] Figure 7.3**b** shows the normalized oscillation amplitude $\Delta \rho_{xx}/\rho_0 = (\rho_{xx} - \rho_0)/\rho_0$ in the low magnetic field regime after polynomial background subtraction. $\rho_0 \approx 63 \Omega$ /square is the longitudinal resistivity at zero magnetic field from which we extract a mobility of 2.7×10^5 cm²/Vs. We estimate $\tau_q = (7.4 \pm 0.1)$ ps from a fit of the Shubnikov-de Haas oscillation envelope to the function $\Delta \rho_{xx} = 4\rho_0 \chi(T) \exp(-\pi/\omega_c \tau_q)$, where $\chi(T) = (2\pi^2 k_B T/\hbar \omega_c)/\sinh(2\pi^2 k_B T/\hbar \omega_c)$. Here T = 190 mK, k_B is the Boltzmann constant, and ω_c is the cyclotron frequency calculated using a fixed $m^* = 0.19 m_e$ [250, 249]. From τ_q we derive $\mu_q = (6.8 \pm 0.1) \times 10^4$ cm²/Vs, $\Gamma = (44 \pm 1) \mu eV$, and find a Dingle ratio



Figure 7.3: **a** Longitudinal resistivity ρ_{xx} measured at T = 190 mK as a function of Landau level filling factor v. These measurements are performed at fixed $n = 4.75 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻² while sweeping the perpendicular magnetic field *B*. Spin and valley degenerate Landau levels correspond to v = 4k (k = 1,2,3...), Zeeman split levels to v = (4k-2), whereas valley split levels correspond to odd integer filling factors v. Arrows indicate the filling factors at which Zeeman spin splitting and valley splitting are resolved. **b** Normalized resistivity oscillation amplitude (black curve) as a function of *B* after polynomial background subtraction. The arrow indicates the magnetic field at which Shubnikov–de Haas oscillations are resolved. The red dashed line is the theoretical fit of the oscillations envelope from which we extract τ_q . **c** Dingle plot (open circles) from the first twenty most resolved resistivity oscillation maxima and minima and theoretical curve (solid red line) computed using τ_q from the analysis in **b**. **d**, **e**, **f** Distributions of τ_q , μ_q , Γ , and Dingle ratio measured at $n = (5-6) \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻² for heterostructures terminated by a Si-rich amorphous layer obtained exposure to DCS at 500 °C (blue, 5 H-FETs measured) and for heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap grown by exposure to DCS at 675 °C (red, 7 H-FETs measured). Quartile box plots, mode (horizontal line), means (diamonds), outliers (circles), and 99% confidence intervals of the mean (dashed whiskers) are shown.

 $\tau_t / \tau_q \simeq 3.8$. The Dingle plot of Fig. 7.3**c** highlights the high number of oscillation maxima and minima used in the fitting procedure.

In Fig. 7.3**d–f** we plot the distributions for τ_a (and μ_a), Γ , and the Dingle ratio τ_t/τ_a , measured in the high density regime $(n = (5 - 6) \times 10^{11})$ cm⁻²). As in Fig. 7.2**d**-f, we consider heterostructures terminated with an amorphous Si-rich layer (blue, 5 H-FETs measured) and heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap (red, 7 H-FETs measured). Heterostructures with an amorphous Si-rich layer have a mean τ_a of (8.1 ± 0.5) ps, and consequently a mean μ_q of $(7.5 \pm 0.6) \times 10^4$ cm²/Vs and Γ of (40 ± 3) μ eV, representing a $\simeq 2 \times$ improvement compared to heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap. Consistent with the trend in Fig. 7.2**d–f**, we find a significant reduction in spread for τ_q (30%), and consequently for μ_a , Γ . Furthermore, in heterostructures with an amorphous Si-rich layer we find a mean Dingle ratio of (2.3 ± 0.2) . This mean value is $\approx 300\%$ smaller and has an 80% reduction in spread compared to heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap. This low value of the Dingle ratio indicates that short-range scattering from impurities within or near the quantum well is the dominant scattering mechanism[121], in agreement with the analysis of the mobility-density curve. Scattering from remote impurities is reduced thanks to a better semiconductor/dielectric interface. Our mean value for τ_a in ²⁸Si/SiGe is also on par with the best value reported in Ref. [123] from H-FETs in Si/SiGe heterostructures featuring an epitaxial Si cap. However, in our samples, the semiconductor/dielectric interface is much closer to the channel (30 nm compared to 50 nm in Ref. [123]). Therefore, this comparison confirms that scattering from remote impurities is limited in our devices as a consequence of a high-quality and uniform semiconductor/dielectric interface associated with the termination process at 500 °C.

7.4. DISCUSSION

In summary, we challenged the mainstream approach to deposit an epitaxial Si cap on ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures and, instead, we terminated the SiGe barrier with an amorphous Si-rich layer, obtained by exposure to DCS at 500 °C. Compared to previous heterostructures that feature an epitaxial Si cap and that have already produced high performance spin qubits [51, 115], we demonstrate an improvement in performance of H-FETs in terms of mean value and spread of mobility, percolation density, maximum electric field before hysteresis, and single particle relaxation time (and hence quantum mobility). We speculate that performance improves because the amorphous Si-rich layer gets completely oxidized compared to the epitaxial Si cap (see figure. 7.4), thereby creating a more uniform SiO_x layer with less scattering centers. By having a better semiconductor/dielectric interface and wafer-scale uniformity, we expect that this material stack may lead to Si spin qubits with improved yield and performance. In this direction, charge noise measured in quantum dots on these heterostructures will be very informative as these measurements probe the dynamics of charge fluctuations that transport experiments are not very sensitive to. These results motivate new studies, for example by varying the temperature and/or time of exposure to DCS to understand in detail the nature of the amorphous Si-rich layer on the SiGe barrier, the role of Cl and H upon oxidation in air, and to use this knowledge as a tool for further optimizing the semiconductor/dielectric interface.





Figure 7.4: Data comparing the structural and chemical properties of the semiconductor/dielectric interface for heterostructures terminated by a Si-rich amorphous layer obtained by exposure to DCS at 500 °C (first row) and for heterostructures with an epitaxial Si cap grown at 675 °C (second row). **a**, **e** Bright Field-STEM zoomin images of the dielectric and gate metal stack **b**, **f** Electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS) semiquantitative concentration depth profiles across the semiconductor/dielectric interface for Si (blue), Ge (red), O (green), and Al (black). **c**, **g** 15 nm×45 nm wide 2D maps by EELS using low-energy edges to recognize the different bonding states: Si (blue), SiO_x (magenta) and AlO_x (green). **d**, **h** Z Contrast-STEM zoom images of the ²⁸Si QW with superimposed intensity profiles. QW thickness and interface sharpness remain similar in the two heterostructures.

7.5.2. Electron Temperature



Figure 7.5: **a** Differential conductance (dI/dV) showing representative Coulomb blockade diamonds as a function of the source-drain voltage (V_{SD}) and plunger gate voltage (V_P) . The measurements are performed using the sensing dot on single-layer quantum dot devices in transport regime [115]. From the shape of the Coulomb diamond, we derive an effective lever arm via the equation $\alpha = \frac{m_S m_D}{m_S - m_D} = 0.06$ (eV/V), where m_S and m_D are the slopes of the Coulomb diamond from source and drain. **b** Coulomb peak with superimposed fit to the function $I(V_P) = A + B \cosh^{-2}(\frac{\alpha(V_0 - V)}{2k_B T})$ where A, B, V_0 , and T_e are fitting parameter [251]. From the fit we derive an electron temperature of $T_e = 190(10)$ mK. The Coulomb peak is measured using a source-drain voltage of $V_{SD} = 100 \ \mu$ V.

8

REDUCING CHARGE NOISE IN QUANTUM DOTS BY USING THIN SILICON QUANTUM WELLS

Charge noise in the host semiconductor degrades the performance of spin-qubits and poses an obstacle to control large quantum processors. However, it is challenging to engineer the heterogeneous material stack of gate-defined quantum dots to improve charge noise systematically. Here, we address the semiconductor-dielectric interface and the buried quantum well of a ²⁸ Si/SiGe heterostructure and show the connection between charge noise, measured locally in quantum dots, and global disorder in the host semiconductor, measured with macroscopic Hall bars. In 5 nm thick ²⁸ Si quantum wells, we find that improvements in the scattering properties and uniformity of the two-dimensional electron gas over a 100 mm wafer correspond to a significant reduction in charge noise, with a minimum value of $0.29 \pm 0.02 \ \mu eV/\sqrt{Hz}$ at 1 Hz averaged over several quantum dots. We extrapolate the measured charge noise to simulated dephasing times to CZ-gate fidelities that improve nearly one order of magnitude. These results point to a clean and quiet crystalline environment for integrating long-lived and high-fidelity spin qubits into a larger system.

This chapter has been published in Brian Paquelet Wuetz, Davide Degli Esposti, Anne-Marije J. Zwerver, Sergey V. Amitonov, Marc Botifoll, Jordi Arbiol, Amir Sammak, Lieven M. K. Vandersypen, Maximilian Russ, Giordano Scappucci, Reducing charge noise in quantum dots by using thin silicon quantum wells, arXiv:2209.07242 (2022) [252]

8.1. INTRODUCTION

Spin-qubits in silicon quantum dots are a promising platform for building a scalable quantum processor because they have a small footprint[207], long coherence times[186, 133], and are compatible with advanced semiconductor manufacturing[208]. Furthermore, rudimentary quantum algorithms have been executed[168] and quantum logic at high-fidelity performed[115, 114, 253, 231]. As the qubit count is increasing, with a six-qubit processor demonstrated[50], significant steps have been taken to couple silicon spin qubits at a distance, via microwave photons or spin shuttling[171, 173, 254, 232, 255, 256], towards networked spin-qubit tiles[181]. However, electrical fluctuations associated with charge noise in the host semiconductor can decrease qubit readout and control fidelity[113]. Reducing charge noise independently of the device location on a wafer is pivotal to achieving the ubiquitous high-fidelity of quantum algorithms.

Charge noise is commonly associated with two-level fluctuators (TLF)[65] in the semiconductor host. In gated heterostructures with buried quantum wells, TLF may arise from impurities in several locations: within the quantum well, the semiconductor barrier, the semiconductor/dielectric interface, and the dielectrics layers above[48, 257, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106]. Furthermore, previous work on strained-Si MOSFETs[107, 108, 109], with strained-Si channels deposited on SiGe strain relaxed buffers, has associated charge noise with dislocations arising from strain relaxation, either deep in the SiGe buffer or at the quantum well/buffer interface. Since these impurities and dislocations are randomly distributed over the wafer and are also a main scattering source for electron transport in buried quantum wells[121], a holistic approach to materials engineering should be taken to address disorder in two-dimensional electron gases and charge noise in quantum dots.

In this work, we demonstrate thin quantum wells in ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures with low and uniform charge noise, measured over several gate-defined quantum dot devices. By linking charge noise measurements to the scattering properties of the twodimensional electron gas, we show that a quiet environment for quantum dots is obtained by improving the semiconductor/dielectric interface and the crystalline quality of the quantum well. We feed the measured charge noise into a theoretical model, benchmark the model against recent experimental results [115, 50], and predict that these optimized heterostructures may support long-lived and high-fidelity spin qubits.

8.2. Description of SI/SIGE heterostructures

Figure 8.1**a** illustrates the undoped ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures, grown by reduced-pressure chemical vapour deposition, and the gate-stack above. From bottom to top, the material stack comprises a 100 mm Si substrate, a strain-relaxed SiGe buffer layer, a strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm thick SiGe barrier, a Si cap oxidized in air to form a SiO_x layer, an AlO_x layer formed by atomic layer deposition, and metallic gates. The SiGe layers above and below the quantum well have a Ge concentration of \approx 0.3 (Methods).

We consider three ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures (A, B, C) to improve, in sequence, the semiconductor/dielectric interface (from A to B) and the crystalline quality of the quantum well (from B to C). Heterostructure A has an \approx 9 nm thick quantum well and is termi-



Figure 8.1: **a** Schematics of the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure and dielectric stack above. *z* indicates the heterostructure growth direction. Circles represent remote impurities at the semiconductor/dielectric interface and perpendicular symbols represent misfit dislocations that might arise at the quantum well/buffer interface due to strain relaxation. **b**, **c** BF-STEM images from heterostructure C highlighting the semiconductor/dielectric interface and the 5 nm thick ²⁸Si quantum well, respectively. **d** Mobility μ and **e** conductivity σ_{xx} measured as a function of density *n* at a temperature of 1.6 K in a Hall bar H-FET from heterostructure C. The red curve in **e** is a fit to percolation theory.

nated with an epitaxial Si cap grown by dichlorosilane at 675 °C. This kind of heterostructure has already produced high performance spin-qubits[51, 115, 50]. Heterostructure B misses a final epitaxial Si cap but features an amorphous Si-rich layer obtained by exposing the SiGe barrier to dichlorosilane at 500 °C. Compared to A, heterostructure B supports a two-dimensional electron gas with enhanced and more uniform transport properties across a 100 mm wafer, owing to a more uniform SiO_x layer with less scattering centers[230]. Finally, we introduce here heterostructure C, having the same amorphous Si-rich termination as in heterostructure B, but a thinner quantum well of \approx 5 nm (Supplementary Fig. 1). This is much thinner than the Matthews-Blakeslee critical thickness [59, 258], which is \approx 10 nm[142] for the relaxation of tensile Si on Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} via the formation of misfit dislocation at the bottom interface of the quantum well.

Figures 8.1**b**, c show bright-field scanning transmission electron microscopy (BF-STEM) images from heterostructure C after fabrication of a Hall bar shaped heterostructure field effect transistors (H-FET). We observe a sharp SiGe/SiO_x semiconductor/dielectric interface (Fig. 8.1**b**), characterised by a minor Ge pile up (dark line) in line with Ref. [230]. The ≈ 5 nm thick quantum well (Fig. 8.1**c**) is uniform and has sharp interfaces to the nearby SiGe. No structural defects such as misfit dislocations are visible, suggesting they

8

are, at most, scarce. By analysing Raman spectra (Supplementary Fig. 2), we estimate a tensile strain for the ²⁸Si quantum wells in heterostrucure B and C of (0.93 ± 0.02) % and (1.22 ± 0.02) %, respectively, compared the expected strain of 1.2% for the given stoichiometry of the heterostructures. These measurements point to significant strain relaxation in heterostructure B compared to C. In heterostructure B, the quantum wells approach the Matthews-Blakeslee critical thickness and therefore misfit dislocation segments are expected, in light of recent morphological characterization of Si/SiGe heterostructures with similar quantum well thickness and SiGe chemical composition[**liu_role_2022**]. Due to the $\sim 2 \times$ thinner quantum well, instead, heterostructure C adapts the epitaxial planes to the SiGe buffer much better than heterostructure B, meaning that misfit dislocations arising from strain-relaxation are, in principle, suppressed.

8.2.1. ELECTRICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF H-FETS

We evaluate the scattering properties of the two-dimensional electron gases by waferscale electrical transport measured on Hall-bar shaped H-FETs operated in accumulation mode (Methods). For each heterostructure, multiple H-FETs over a wafer are measured in the same cool-down at a temperature of 1.7 K in refrigerators equipped with cryo-multiplexers[155]. Figures 8.1**d**, e show typical mobility-density and conductivitydensity curves for heterostructure C, from which we extract the mobility measured at high density ($n = 6 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻²) and the percolation density (n_p)[125]. The mobility rises steeply at low density due to progressive screening of scattering from remote impurities and flattens at higher density ($n > 5 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻²), limited by scattering from impurities within or nearby the quantum well, for example uniform background charges, surface roughness, or crystalline defects such as threading or misfit dislocations[121, 61].

8.3. CHARGE NOISE MEASUREMENTS IN QUANTUM DOTS

For charge noise measurements, we use devices comprising a double quantum dot and a charge sensor quantum dot nearby, illustrated in Fig. 8.2**a**. Using the same device design, two-qubit gates with fidelity above 99% were demonstrated[115], silicon quantum circuits were controlled by CMOS-based cryogenic electronics[51], and energy splittings in ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures were studied with statistical significance[73].

Here, we electrostatically define a multi-electron quantum dot in the charge sensor by applying gate voltages to the accumulation gates SDRAcc and SDLAcc, the barriers SDLB and SDRB, and the plunger gate P. All other gates (red in Fig. 8.2**a**) are set to 0 V for measurements of heterostructure B and C, whereas they are positively biased in heterostructure A to facilitate charge accumulation in the sensor (Methods). Figure 8.2**b** shows typical Coulomb blockade oscillations of the source-drain current I_{SD} for a charge sensor from heterostructure C measured at a dilution refrigerator base temperature of 50 mK. We follow the same tune-up procedure (Methods) consistently for all devices and we measure charge noise at the flank of each Coulomb peak within the V_P range defined by the first peak observable in transport and the last one before onset of a background channel (Supplementary Figs. 3,4). For example, in Figure 8.2**b** we consider Coulomb peaks within the V_P range from 260 mV to 370 mV. The data collected in this systematic way is taken as a basis for comparison between the three different heterostructures in



Figure 8.2: **a** False colored SEM-image of a double quantum dot system with a nearby charge sensor. Charge noise is measured in the multi-electron quantum dot defined by accumulation gates SDLAcc and SDRAcc (blue), plunger P (blue), with the current going along the black arrow. In these experiments, the gates defining the double quantum dot (red) are used as screening gates. There is an additional global top gate (not shown) to facilitate charge accumulation when needed. **b** Source-drain current I_{SD} through a charge sensor device fabricated on heterostructure C against the plunger gate voltage V_P . Colored dots mark the position of the flank of the Coulomb peak where charge noise measurements are performed. The inset shows Coulomb diamonds from the same device, plotted as the differential of the current dI/dV as a function of V_P and the source drain bias V_{SD} . **c** Charge noise spectrum S_e measured at the Coulomb peak at $V_P \simeq 345$ mV in **b** and extracted using lever arms from Coulomb diamonds. **d** Charge noise spectrum S_e for the same device in **b**, plotted in 3D as a function of V_P and f. The dark gray plane is a fit through the datasets. **e** Charge noise at f = 1 Hz obtained from data in **d**. The grey line is a line cut through the plane in **i** at f = 1 Hz.

this study.

For each charge noise measurement at a given V_P we acquire 60 s (heterostructure A) or 600 s (heterostructures B, C) long traces of I_{SD} and split them into 10 (heterostructure A) or 15 windows (heterostructures B, C). We obtain the current noise spectrum S_I by averaging over the 10 (15) windows the discrete Fourier transform of the segments (Methods). We convert S_I to a charge noise spectrum S_c using lever arms from Coulomb diamond measurements and the slope of the Coulomb peaks(inset Fig. 8.2b, Methods, and Supplementary Fig.5). A representative charge noise spectrum S_c measured at V_P = 360.3 mV is shown in Fig. 8.2c. We observe an approximate 1/f trend at low frequency, pointing towards an ensemble of TLF with a broad range of activation energies affecting charge noise around the charge sensor [99, 64]. Figure 8.2e shows the charge noise $S_{e}^{1/2}$ at 1 Hz as a function of V_P . The charge noise decreases, with a linear trend, with increasing V_P , suggesting that, similar to scattering in 2D, screening by an increased electron density shields the electronically active region from noise arising from the heterostructure and the gate stack[138]. From this measurement we extract, for a given device, the minimum measured charge noise at 1 Hz $(S_{\epsilon,min}^{1/2})$ upon variation of V_P in our experimental range. We use $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$, as an informative metric to compare charge noise levels from device to device in a given heterostructure. For a given device, all charge noise spectra S_{ϵ} are plotted in 3D as a function of f and V_P (Fig. 8.2d). To quantify our observations, we fit the data to the plane $\log S_{\epsilon} = -\alpha \log f + \beta V_P + \gamma$ with coefficient $\alpha = 0.84 \pm 0.01$ indicating the spectrum power law exponent and coefficient $\beta = -15.6 \pm 0.1 \,\mu eV^2/VHz$ quantifying the change in noise spectrum with increasing plunger gate and, consequently, the susceptibility of charge noise to the increasing electron number in the sensor.

8.4. DISTRIBUTION OF TRANSPORT PROPERTIES AND CHARGE

NOISE

We have introduced key metrics for 2D electrical transport (μ, n_p) and charge noise (α, β) and $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ from Hall bar and quantum dot measurements, respectively. In Figs. 8.3**a-e** we compare the distributions of all these metrics for the three heterostructures A, B, C. Each box-plot is obtained from the analysis of measurements in Figs. 8.1d, e, and Fig. 8.2d repeated on multiple H-FETs or quantum dots, on dies randomly selected from different locations across the 100 mm wafers (Methods). As reported earlier in Ref. [230], the improvement in both mean values and spread for μ and n_p was associated with a reduction of remote impurities when replacing the epitaxial Si cap in heterostructure A with a Sirich passivation layer in heterostructure B. Moving to heterostructure C, we measure a high mean mobility of $(2.10 \pm 0.08) \times 10^5$ cm²/Vs and a low mean percolation density of $(7.68 \pm 0.37) \times 10^{10}$ cm⁻², representing an improvement by a factor ≈ 1.4 and ≈ 1.3 , respectively (compared to heterostructure A). Most strikingly, the 99% confidence intervals of the mean for μ and n_p are drastically reduced by a factor $\simeq 9.8$ and $\simeq 4.8$, respectively. We speculate that these improvements in heterostructure C are associated with the suppression of misfit dislocations at the quantum well/buffer interface, thereby reducing short range scattering and increasing uniformity on a wafer-scale. This interpretation is supported by the strain characterization discussed above and by previous studies of mobility limiting mechanisms as a function of the quantum well thickness in strained



Figure 8.3: **a**, **b** Distributions of mobility μ measured at $n = 6 \times 10^{11}$ cm⁻² and percolation density n_p for heterostructure A (red, 20 H-FETs measured, of which 16 reported in Ref. [230]), B (blue, 16 H-FETs measured of which 14 reported in Ref. [230]), and C (green, 22 H-FETs measured). **c**- **e** Distributions of noise spectrum power law exponent α , coefficient β indicating the change in noise spectrum with increasing V_P , and minimum charge noise $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ within the range of V_P investigated for heterostructure A (red, 4 devices measured), B (blue, 7 devices measured), and C (green, 5 devices measured). Quartile box plots, mode (horizontal line), means (diamonds), 99% confidence intervals of the mean (dashed whiskers), and outliers (circles) are shown.

Si/SiGe heterostructures[61].

We now shift our attention to the results of charge noise measurements. First, the power law exponent α (Fig. 8.3c) shows a mean value ≈ 1 , however the 99% confidence interval and interquartile range increase when moving from heterostructure A to B and C. Next, we observe a decreasing trend for the absolute mean value of coefficient β (Fig. 8.3d), meaning that the noise spectrum is less susceptible to changes in V_P . Finally, we plot in Fig. 8.3e the distributions for $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$, the minimum charge noise at 1 Hz upon varying V_P . We find in heterostructure C an almost order of magnitude reduction in mean $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ to $0.29 \pm 0.02 \,\mu \text{eV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$. Furthermore, within the distribution of $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ for heterostructure C, the minimum value of the measured charge noise as a function of V_P and across quantum dots is $0.15 \,\mu \text{eV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$. These charge noise values are on par or compare favourably to the best values reported previously at 1 Hz in gate defined quantum dots. In multi-electron quantum dots, charge noise of $0.47 \,\mu \text{eV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ was reported for Si/SiGe[111], $0.6 \,\mu \text{eV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ for Si/SiO₂[136], and $1 \,\mu \text{eV}/\sqrt{\text{Hz}}$ for InSb[92]. In single-
electron quantum dots, charge noise of 0.33 $\mu eV/\sqrt{Hz}$ was reported for Si/SiGe[197] and 7.5 $\mu eV/\sqrt{Hz}$ for GaAs[259].

We understand the charge noise trends in Figs. 8.3**c**–**e** by relating them to the evolution of the disorder landscape moving from heterostructures A to B and C, as inferred by the electrical transport measurements in Figs. 8.3**a**,**b**. The narrow distribution of α in heterostructure A points to charge noise from many TLFs possibly located at the low quality semiconductor/dielectric interface and above. Instead, the larger spread in α in heterostructure B and C implies that deviations from 1/f behaviour become more frequent, possibly originating from a non-uniform distribution of TLF or from one low frequency TLF in the surrounding environment of the quantum dot that dominates the power spectrum in the measured interval. The electrical transport measurements support this interpretation: scattering from many remote impurities is dominant in heterostructure A, whereas with a better semiconductor/dielectric interface remote scattering has less impact in the transport metrics of heterostructures B and C.

The decreasing trend in $|\beta|$ is in line with the observation from electrical transport. As the impurity density decreases from heterostructure A to B and C, charge noise is less affected by an increasing V_P , since screening of electrical noise through adding electrons to the charge sensor becomes less effective, possibly due to a smaller TLF-per-volume ratio. While we are not able to measure directly the electron number in the charge sensor, we deem unlikely the hypothesis that charge sensors in heterostructure A are operated with considerably fewer electrons than in heterostructure C. This is because all operation gate voltages in heterostructure A are consistently larger than in heterostructure C (Supplementary Fig. 4), due to the higher disorder.

Finally, the drastic reduction in mean value and spread of $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ mirrors the evolution of mean value and spread of n_p and μ . From heterostructure A to B, a reduction in scattering from remote impurities is likely to result in less charge noise from long-range TLFs. From heterostructure B to C, the larger strain, and consequently the reduction in the possible number of dislocations at the quantum well/buffer interface, further reduces the charge noise picked up by quantum dots. This explanation is based on earlier studies of charge noise in strained Si-MOSFETs[107, 108, 109], which showed a correlation between low-frequency noise spectral density and static device parameters. Dislocations at the bottom of the strained channel may act as scattering centers that degrade mobility and as traps for the capture and release of carriers, which causes noise similarly to traps at the dielectric interface.

8.5. CALCULATED DEPHASING TIME AND INFIDELITY

To emphasize the improvement of the electrical environment in the semiconductor host, we calculate the dephasing time T_2^{\star} of charge and spin qubits assuming these qubits experience the same fluctuations as our ²⁸Si/SiGe quantum dots. The dephasing time of a qubit (in the quasistatic limit and far-off from a sweet spot) is given by [137]

$$T_2^{\star} = \frac{h}{\sqrt{2}\pi\sigma} \tag{8.1}$$

with the Planck constant h and the standard deviation

$$\sigma^{2} = \left| \frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu} \right|^{2} \times 2 \int_{f_{\text{low}}}^{f_{\text{high}}} \frac{S_{\epsilon}^{2}}{f^{\alpha}} df.$$
(8.2)

Importantly, both the charge noise amplitude $S_{\varepsilon}^2(f)$ and the noise exponent α have a strong impact on the dephasing time while the low and high frequency cut-off, f_{low} and f_{high} , given by the duration of the experiment have a weaker impact. The prefactor $\left|\frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu}\right|$ translates shifts in chemical potential of the charge sensor into energy shifts of the qubit and depends on many parameters such as the type of qubit and the device itself. We find $\left|\frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu}\right| = 1$ for a charge qubit [260] and $\left|\frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu}\right| \approx 10^{-5}$ for an uncoupled spin- qubit [111] (see Supplementary Information for a derivation of these numbers and the used frequency bandwidths).

Figure 8.4a shows the computed dephasing times of charge qubits (circle) and spin qubits (star) for all three heterostructures. The improvements in our material can be best seen by investigating T_2^{\star} of the charge qubit since it is directly affected by charge noise. Our theoretical extrapolation shows two orders of magnitude improvement in T_2^{\star} by switching from heterostructures A to heterostructures B and C¹. Note, that the integration regimes differ for spin and charge qubits due to the different experimental setups and operation speeds [260, 111]. For potential spin qubits in heterostructure A the calculated T_2^{\star} shows an average $\overline{T}_2^{\star} = 8.4 \pm 5.6 \,\mu s$. This distribution compares well with the distribution $\overline{T}_2^{\star} = 6.7 \pm 5.6 \,\mu s$ of experimental T_2^{\star} data from state-of-the-art semiconductor spin qubits in materials with similar stacks as in heterostructure A[115, 50]. Note that while such comparisons oversimplify actual semiconductor spin-qubit devices by reducing them to a single number, they fulfill two aims. They allow us to benchmark the computed performance of heterostructure A to past experiments and provide a prognosis on the qubit quality in novel material stacks. Heterostructures B and C, in this case, may support average dephasing times of \overline{T}_2^{\star} = 24.3 ± 12.5 µs and \overline{T}_2^{\star} = 36.7 ± 18 µs, respectively. The highest values T_2^{\star} = 70.1 µs hints towards a long spin qubit dephasing times previously only reported in Ref. [186].

Figure 8.4**b** shows the simulated infidelity, a metric to measure the closeness to the ideal operation, of a universal CZ-gate between two spin qubits following Ref. [115] and Section 5 in the Supplementary Information. Note, that the device used in Ref. [115] has the same architecture as our test devices. In the CZ-gate simulation noise dominantly couples in via barrier voltage fluctuations which affects the interaction between the electron spins. Again, we assume the charge noise amplitude and exponents measured in our quantum dot experiments as input for the simulations. The simulations show an averaged average gate infidelity $1 - \overline{F}_{CZ} = 0.02 \pm 0.01$ % which means on average a single error every 5000 runs. We also observe a saturation value close to $1 - F = 10^{-4}$ which arises from single-qubit dephasing $T_2^* = 20 \,\mu\text{s}$ used in the simulations estimated from nuclear spin noise due to a 800 ppm concentration of the ²⁹Si silicon isotope which has a non-zero nuclear spin [111].

¹One order is gained from the reduced charge noise amplitude and another order is gained through a more beneficial noise exponent $\alpha > 1$.



Figure 8.4: **a** Computed dephasing times T_2^* of a charge qubit (circle) and a spin-qubit (star) using $S_{\epsilon,min}$ from heterostructure A (red), B (blue), C (green). Eq. (8.1) was used to compute T_2^* as a function of S_{ϵ} and α from Fig. 8.3. Literature values (squares) are taken from Refs. [115, 50]. **b** Simulated infidelity of a CZ-gate between two spin qubits following the Ref. [115] using S_{ϵ} and α from heterostructure A (red), B (blue), C (green) in Fig. 8.3 as input for barrier fluctuations.

8.6. DISCUSSION

In summary, we have measured electron transport and charge noise in ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures where we improve the semiconductor/dielectric interface, by adopting an amorphous Si-rich passivation, and the structural quality of the quantum well, by reducing the quantum well thickness significantly below the Matthew-Blakeslee critical thickness for strain relaxation. We relate disorder in 2D to charge noise in quantum dots by following a statistical approach to measurements. A reduction of remote impurities and dislocations nearby the quantum well is connected with the key improvements in the scattering properties of the 2D electron gas, such as mobility and percolation density, and their uniformity across a 100 mm wafer. The trend observed from electron transport in 2D is compatible with the observations from measurements of charge noise in quantum dots. As remote impurities are reduced, charge noise becomes more sensitive to local fluctuators nearby the quantum well and less subject to screening by an increased number of electrons in the dot. Furthermore, with this materials optimization, we achieve a statistical improvement of nearly one order of magnitude in the charge noise supported by quantum dots. Using the charge noise distribution as input parameter and benchmarking against published spin-qubit data, we predict that our optimized semiconductor host could support long-lived and high-fidelity spin qubits. We envisage that further materials improvements in the structural quality of the quantum well, in addition to the commonly considered semiconductor/dielectric interface, may lead

systematically to quantum dots with less noise and to better qubit performance.

8.7. METHODS

8.7.1. SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURE GROWTH

The ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures are grown on a 100-mm n-type Si(001) substrate using an Epsilon 2000 (ASMI) reduced pressure chemical vapor deposition reactor. The reactor is equipped with a ${}^{28}SiH_4$ gas cylinder (1% dilution in H_2) for the growth of isotopically enriched ²⁸Si. The ²⁸SiH₄ gas was obtained by reducing ²⁸SiF₄ with a residual ²⁹Si concentration of 0.08%[141]. Starting from the Si substrate, the layer sequence of all heterostructures comprises a 3 μ m step-graded Si_(1-x)Ge_x layer with a final Ge concentration of x = 0.3 achieved in four grading steps (x = 0.07, 0.14, 0.21, and 0.3), followed by a 2.4 μ m Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} strain-relaxed buffer. The heterostructures differ for the active layers on top of the strain-relaxed buffer. Heterostructure A has a 9 nm tensile strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a sacrificial 1 nm epitaxial Si cap. Heterostructure B has an 9 nm tensile strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a sacrificial passivated Si cap grown at 500 °C. Heterostructure C has a 5 nm tensile strained 28 Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a sacrificial passivated Si cap grown at 500 °C. A typical secondary ions mass spectrometry of our heterostructures is reported in Fig. S13 of [73] and the Ge concentration in the SiGe layers is confirmed by quantitative electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS).

8.7.2. DEVICE FABRICATION

The fabrication process for Hall-bar shaped heterostructure field effect transistors (H-FETs) involves: reactive ion etching of mesa-trench to isolate the two-dimensional electron gas; P-ion implantation and activation by rapid thermal annealing at 700 °C; atomic layer deposition of a 10-nm-thick Al_2O_3 gate oxide; deposition of thick dielectric pads to protect gate oxide during subsequent wire bonding step; sputtering of Al gate; electron beam evaporation of Ti:Pt to create ohmic contacts to the two-dimensional electron gas via doped areas. All patterning is done by optical lithography. Double quantum dot devices are fabricated on wafer coupons from the same H-FET fabrication run and share the process steps listed above. Double-quantum dot devices feature a single layer gate metallization and further require electron beam lithography, evaporation of Al (27 nm) or Ti:Pd (3:27 nm) thin film metal gate, lift-off, and the global top-gate layer.

8.7.3. ELECTRICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF H-FETS

Hall-bar H-FETs measurements are performed in an attoDRY2100 variable temperature insert refrigerator at a base temperature of 1.7 K[230]. We apply a source-drain bias of 100 µV and measure the source-drain current I_{SD} , the longitudinal voltage V_{xx} , and the transverse Hall voltage V_{xy} as function of the top gate voltage V_g and the external perpendicular magnetic field *B*. From here we calculate the longitudinal resistivity ρ_{xx} and transverse Hall resistivity ρ_{xy} . The Hall electron density *n* is obtained from the linear relationship $\rho_{xy} = B/en$ at low magnetic fields. The carrier mobility μ is extracted from the relationship $\sigma_{xx} = ne\mu$, where *e* is the electron charge. The percolation density n_p is extracted by fitting the longitudinal conductivity σ_{xx} to the relation $\sigma_{xx} \propto (n - n_p)^{1.31}$. Here σ_{xx} is obtained via tensor inversion of ρ_{xx} at B = 0. The box plots in Figs. 8.3**a**,**b** for heterostructure A (red) and B (blue) expand previously published data in Figs. 2f,e of

8.7.4. ELECTRICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF QUANTUM DOTS

Measurements of the multi-electron quantum dots defined in the charge sensor are performed in a Leiden cryogenic dilution refrigerator with a mixing chamber base temperature $T_{\rm MC}$ = 50 mK[73]. The devices are tuned systematically with the following procedure. We sweep all gate voltages (V_{SDRAcc}, V_{SDRB}, V_P, V_{SDLB}, and V_{SDLAcc}) from 0 V towards more positive bias, until a source-drain current I_{SD} of ≈ 1 nA is measured, indicating that a conductive channel has formed in the device. We then reduce the barrier voltages to find the pinch-off voltages for each barrier. Subsequently, we measure I_{SD} as a function of V_{SDLB} and V_{SDRB} and from this 2D map we find a set of gate voltage parameters so that Coulomb blockade peaks are visible. We then fix the barrier voltages and sweep V_P to count how many clearly defined Coulomb peaks are observed before onset of a background current. The quantum dot is tuned to show at least 9 Coulomb peaks, so that noise spectra may be fitted as in Fig. 8.2d with meaningful error bars. If we see less than 9 Coulomb peaks we readjust the accumulation gate voltages V_{SDRACC} , and V_{SDLAcc}, and repeat the 2D scan of V_{SDLB} against V_{SDRB}. In one case (device 2 of heterostructure A), we tuned device to show past 5 Coulomb peaks and still performed the fit of the charge noise spectra similar to the one shown in Fig. 8.2d. Further details on the extraction of the lever arms and operation gate voltages of the devices are provided in Supplementary Figs 4,5. We estimate an electron temperature of 190 mK by fitting Coulomb blockade peaks (see Supplementary Fig. 2 in Ref. [230]) measured on quantum dot devices.

For heterostructure A we apply a source drain bias of $100 \mu V$ (1 device) or $150 \mu V$ (3 devices) across the quantum dot, finite gate voltages across the operation gates of the dot, and finite gate voltages across the screening gates. We measure the current I_{SD} and the current noise spectrum S_I on the left side of the Coulomb peak where $|dI/dV_P|$ is largest. We use a sampling rate of 1 kHz for 1 minute using a Keithley DMM6500 multimeter. The spectra are then divided into 10 segments of equal length and we use a Fourier transform to convert from time-domain to frequency-domain for a frequency range of 167 mHz-500 Hz. We set the upper limit of the frequency spectra at 10 Hz, to avoid influences from a broad peak at around 150 Hz coming from the setup (Supplementary Fig. 3). A peak in the power spectral density at 9 Hz is removed from the analysis since it is an artifact of the pre-amplifier. To convert the current noise spectrum to a charge noise spectrum we use the formula

$$S_{\epsilon} = \frac{aS_I}{|d_V/d_P|^2} \tag{8.3}$$

where *a* is the lever arm and $|dI/dV_P|$ is the slope of Coulomb peak around the center of the Coulomb peak.

For heterostructures B and C we apply a source drain bias of 150 μ V across the quantum dot, finite gate voltages across the operation gates of the quantum dot, and we apply 0 V to all other gates. We measure the current I_{SD} and the current noise spectrum S_I on

the left side of the Coulomb peak where $|dI/dV_P|$ is largest. We use a sampling rate of 1 kHz for 10 minutes using a Keithley DMM6500 multimeter. The spectra are then divided into 15 segments of equal length and we use a Fourier transform to convert from time-domain to frequency-domain for a frequency range of 25 mHz-500 Hz. We set the upper limit of the frequency spectra at 10 Hz, to avoid influences from a broad peak at around 150 Hz coming from the setup. We use Eq. 8.3 to convert the current noise spectrum to a charge noise spectrum.

8.7.5. (SCANNING) TRANSMISSION ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

For structural characterization with (S)TEM, we prepared cross-sections of the quantum well heterostructures by using a Focused Ion Beam (Helios 600 dual beam microscope). HR-TEM micrographs were acquired in a TECNAI F20 microscope operated at 200 kV. Atomically resolved HAADF STEM data was acquired in a probe corrected TITAN microscope operated at 300 kV. EELS mapping was carried out in a TECNAI F20 microscope operated at 200 kV with approximately 2 eV energy resolution and 1 eV energy dispersion. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) was applied to the spectrum images to enhance S/N ratio.



Figure 8.5: Method for computing the thickness of the quantum well based on the counting of the (002) horizontal planes, which reduces the uncertainty and bias associated to properly detecting the margins of the quantum well, for both heterostructures B and C. Scale bars of the images in the left column stand for 10 nm, while the zoom-ins in the middle column are 2 nm

To avoid possible errors associated with calibration, we measure the thickness of the Si layer in the quantum wells (t_{qw}) for heterostructures B and C by considering the interplanar spacing of the horizontal planes (002) of the quantum well (d_{qw}) and of the underlying the strain-relaxed SiGe buffer layer (d_{buffer}) . For the Si_{1-x}Ge_x buffer layer, we consider the stoichiometry *x* as measured by means of quantitative EELS and calculate the theoretical expected cell parameter a_{cell} using the following approximation of Vegard's law:

$$a_{cell} = a_{Si} + 0.2x + 0.027x^2, \tag{8.4}$$

where $a_{Si} = 5.431$ Å is the cell parameter of the diamond cubic Si crystal phase. To calculate d_{buff} we use the formula for the interplanar distance of the desired plane (002) of a diamond cubic system:

$$d_{hkl} = \frac{a_{cell}}{\sqrt{h^2 + k^2 + l^2}} = \frac{a_{cell}}{\sqrt{0^2 + 0^2 + 2^2}} = \frac{a_{cell}}{2}.$$
(8.5)

Since the quantum well is strained, d_{qw} is found by considering the average dilatation δ of the quantum well (002) planes with respect the (002) planes of the buffer. The dilatation δ is obtained experimentally by Geometrical Phase Analysis (GPA). The standard deviation of GPA is high for dilatation close to 0, as happens with the (220) epitaxial planes,

for which the method is not the preferred choice. Nevertheless, for the larger dilatation of the (002) planes, the relatively smaller standard deviation makes the measurement significative. As a result, d_{aw} is computed by:

$$d_{qw} = d_{buff} \left(1 + \delta\right). \tag{8.6}$$

Finally, the thickness of the quantum well is given by:

$$t_{qw} = n_{qw} d_{qw}, \tag{8.7}$$

where we count the number of planes forming the quantum well (n_{qw}) and multiply by d_{qw} . Therefore, the expected uncertainty of the thickness measurement lies in whether the initial and last plane of the well are being considered or not, *i.e.* the standard deviation is given by $\sigma = 2d_{qw}$.

With this in mind, for heterostructure B, where x = 0.31, four different measurements counting the (002) planes were performed in different regions of the quantum well, $n_{qw} = 33$ (3 times) and 34. With an average experimental δ of -1.6±0.2 %, we obtain $d_{qw} = 2.704 \pm 0.007$ Å, resulting in an average thickness $t_{qw} = 9.0 \pm 0.5$ nm.

For heterostructure C, x = 0.31 and two measurements counting the (002) planes were performed, $n_{qw} = 19$ and 20. With an average experimental δ of -1.7±0.5 %, we obtain $d_{qw} = 2.701 \pm 0.014$ Å, resulting in an average thickness $t_{qw} = 5.3 \pm 0.5$ nm.

8.8.2. STRAIN ANALYSIS WITH RAMAN SPECTROSCOPY



Figure 8.6: Baseline corrected Raman spectra taken with a laser wavelength $\lambda = 532$ nm for heterostructure B and C, respectively. Spectra are band-fitted with Lorentzian-Gaussian bands, to accurately represent the values of each vibration and the shifts due to the strained structures. The inset shows the peaks due to the buried strained Si quantum well for heterostructure B and C. The blue shift of the peak for heterostructure B indicates strain relaxation compared to heterostructure C.

We calculate the strain of the Si quantum wells in heterostructures B and C by converting phonon frequency shifts into biaxial strain values [261, 262]:

$$\epsilon = \frac{\omega(\epsilon) - \omega_0}{b^{Si}},\tag{8.8}$$

where $\omega_0 = 520 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ is the Raman shift associated with the Si-Si vibration from the unstrained Si substrate from Ref. [263], $b^{Si} = 723 \pm 15 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ is the strain-shift coefficient for Si reported in Ref. [264], and $\omega(\epsilon)$ is the Raman shift associated with the Si-Si vibration from the strained quantum well. For heterostructure B we measure $\omega(\epsilon) = 513.25 \text{ cm}^{-1}$, corresponding to a tensile strain $\epsilon = (0.93 \pm 0.02)\%$. For heterostructure C we measure $\omega(\epsilon) = 511.12 \text{ cm}^{-1}$, corresponding to a tensile strain $\epsilon = (1.22 \pm 0.02)\%$. The errors on the strain estimate arise from the 2% error reported for b^{Si}.



8.8.3. CHARGE NOISE MEASUREMENTS

Figure 8.7: a Comparison of the charge noise spectrum under different measurement conditions. Lemon shows a current noise spectrum measured in Coulomb blockade on a test device from heterostructure B, indicative of the noise floor of our measurement setup. Cyan shows a current noise spectrum, measured on a device from heterostructure B on the flank of a highly-resistive Coulomb peak at a source-drain current of \simeq 3 pA. Purple shows a current noise spectrum, measured on a device from heterostructure C on the flank of a less resistive Coulomb peak at a measured source-drain current of $\simeq 100$ pA. Lemon and cyan curves show a broad interference peak at 150 Hz, as well as a flattening out of the curve at \approx 40 Hz. **b** Coulomb peak from which the noise spectrum from heterostructure B (cyan curve in \mathbf{a}) is measured. The flank of the Coulomb peak is indicated with a black dot. The Coulomb peak is highly resistive, with a source drain current at peak of \approx 5 pA, but the charge noise spectrum in **a** (cyan curve) is still distinguishable from the typical noise floor. c Coulomb peak from which the noise spectrum from heterostructure C (purple curve in a) is measured. The flank of the Coulomb peak is indicated with a black dot. d Charge noise measurement of Heterostructure A with an interference peak at 9 Hz arising from the measurement module. In e we remove the interference peak from the analysis. f Charge noise measurement of Heterostructure B with a different measurement module, where the interference peak is not present. g Charge noise measurement of Heterostructure C with the same measurement module as in f. The interference peak is not visible.



8.8.4. OPERATION GATE VOLTAGES FOR CHARGE SENSOR QUANTUM DOTS

Figure 8.8: **a** Charge noise $S_{e}^{1/2}$ at 1 Hz as a function of the plunger gate voltage V_P for all measured devices of heterostructure A (red), B (blue), C (green). The circled dots highlight the minimum $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ at 1 Hz for each device upon varying V_P within the range considered. For a given heterostructure, these $S_{e,min}^{1/2}$ values make up the distributions plotted in Fig. 2e of the main text. We recall that heterostructure A features a \approx 9 nm thick quantum well and is terminated with an epitaxial Si cap grown by dichlorosilane at 675 °C. Heterostructure B has also a \approx 9 nm thick quantum well but features an amorphous Si-rich layer obtained by exposing the SiGe barrier to dichlorosilane at 500 °C. Heterostructure C, having the same amorphous Si-rich termination as in heterostructure B, but a thinner quantum well of \approx 5 nm. **b-g** Distributions of the operation gate voltages of the plunger, SDLAcc, SDLB, SDRAcc, and screening gates, respectively (see Fig. 1f in the main text) for heterostructure A (red, 4 devices measured), B (blue, 8 devices measured), and C (green, 5 devices measured). With the exception of gate SDLB, all operation voltages of the charge sensor are highest in heterostructure C with a difference of up to 600 mV. Note that a global screening gate is only used for the operation of heterostructure A. Quartile box plots, mode (horizontal line), means (diamonds), 99% confidence intervals of the mean (dashed whiskers), and outliers (circles) are shown.



8.8.5. LEVER ARM EXTRACTION

Figure 8.9: Differential conductance (dI/dV) showing representative Coulomb blockade diamonds as a function of the source-drain voltage (V_{SD}) and plunger gate voltage (V_P) for heterostructure C. We derive the two slopes m_S and m_D on both sides of each Coulomb diamond. Using the equation $a = |\frac{m_S m_D}{m_S - m_D}|$, we extract a lever arm of a = 0.12 eV/V for the Coulomb peak at $V_P \approx 308$ mV, where we indicate m_S and m_D with magenta lines. The dashed line indicates the source-drain voltage used for the charge noise measurements.

8.8.6. SIMULATIONS OF DEPHASING TIMES AND GATE FIDELITIES

Charge noise as measured in this paper leads to a loss of coherence for all kinds of quantum states. For qubit systems such decoherence can be described by 2 reference numbers. The qubit's relaxation time T_1 and it's dephasing time T_2 . Low frequency charge noise as measured dominantly affects the dephasing time T_2^* of a qubit. Here, T_2^* references the free induction decay of a Ramsey experiment and describes the decay of a superposition state due to fluctuations in the qubit's resonance frequency. The dephasing time T_2^* depends on the characteristics of the noise as well as the susceptibility of the qubit to the fluctuations. In short, charge qubits are more susceptible to charge noise than spin qubits. For a general qubit with energies \mathscr{E} the dephasing time can be expressed as

$$T_2^{\star} = \frac{h}{\sqrt{2\pi} \left|\frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu}\right| \sqrt{2\int_{f_{\rm lf}}^{f_{\rm hf}} S_{\varepsilon}(f) df}},\tag{8.9}$$

where S_{ϵ} is the measured noise spectral density of the chemical potential μ and $f_{hf,(lf)}$ are the high (low-) frequency cut-off frequency. Note, that this simple expression for the dephasing time only holds away from a sweet spot [265, 266], $\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial \mu} = 0$.

DEPHASING OF CHARGE QUBIT

A charge qubit in general consist of two charge states with a difference in chemical potential $\epsilon = \mu_2 - \mu_1$ that are coupled via a tunnel matrix element t_c . Such a system can be described by the simple Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{\epsilon}{2}\sigma_z + t_c\sigma_x,\tag{8.10}$$

where σ_x , σ_y , and σ_z are the three Pauli matrices. Charge noise couples to the charge qubit directly via their chemical potentials. As a consequence a charge qubit is maximally susceptible to charge noise and we find $\frac{\partial \mathcal{E}}{\partial \mu} = 1$ in the regime $\epsilon \gg t_c$. We take the values for the frequency cut-offs $f_{\rm hf} = 33GHz$ and $f_{\rm lf} = 20Hz$ from Ref. [260] for our simulation to ease comparison.

DEPHASING OF SPIN QUBIT

A spin qubit is ideally not affected by changes in the electrostatic environment from charge noise. However, due to intrinsic spin-orbit interaction (SOI) and artificial SOI through a micromagnet charge noise can couple to the spin degree of freedom. For a spin qubit made in SiGe using a micromagnet we find

$$\frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu} = \alpha_{\text{sensor}} \frac{\partial x}{\partial V} \frac{\partial B_z}{\partial x} \mu_B g = 1.6 \times 10^{-5} \frac{\partial \mathscr{E}}{\partial \mu} = \alpha_{\text{sensor}} \frac{\partial x}{\partial V} \frac{\partial B_z}{\partial x} \mu_B g = 1.6 \times 10^{-5}$$
(8.11)

with the voltage displacement $\frac{\partial x}{\partial V} = 0.024 nm/mV$, field gradient $\frac{\partial B_z}{\partial x} = 0.08mT/nm$, Bohr's Magneton $\mu_B = 0.0579 \mu eV/mT$, g-factor g = 2, lever arm $\alpha_{\text{sensor}} = 0.07eV/V$, and frequency cut-offs $f_{\text{hf}} = 10kHz$ and $f_{\text{if}} = 1.6mHz$ all taken from Ref. [111].

GATE FIDELITY SIMULATIONS

In order to extrapolate the performance of a two-qubit CZ gate from the measured charge noise we perform numerical simulations. The details of the simulations are described in Ref. [115] using the measured charge noise as an input. We simulate the unitary evolution operator of a CZ two-qubit gate using adiabatic barrier control at the detuning charge noise sweet spot. Colored charge noise is numerically generated using the Fourier filter method [267, 268] and added to the control pulses. For the simulation we use an additional heuristic lever arm $\alpha_{\text{barrier}} = 1mV/\mu eV$ into consideration to translate the measured fluctuations in chemical potential to fluctuations in barrier voltage in the simulation. With this specification the charge noise measured in Ref. [115] would translate to $S_{\epsilon}^{1/2} = 0.4\mu eV/Hz^{1/2}$, a reasonable assumption. To benchmark the performance we compute the average gate infidelity a commonly used metric for the quality of gates for all measured spectral densities $S_{\epsilon}(f) = S_{\epsilon}/f^{\alpha}$.

9

²⁸SI/SIGE HETEROSTRUCTURE PERFORMANCE IN QUBIT EXPERIMENTS

There is plenty of room at the bottom. Richard Feynman

Parts of this chapter have been published in Xiao Xue*, Bishnu Patra*, Jeroen P. G. van Dijk*, Nodar Samkharadze, Sushil Subramanian, Andrea Corna, Brian Paquelet Wuetz, Charles Jeon, Farhana Sheikh, Esdras Juarez-Hernandez, Brando Perez Esparza, Huzaifa Rampurawala, Brent Carlton, Surej Ravikumar, Carlos Nieva, Sungwon Kim, Hyung-Jin Lee, Amir Sammak, Giordano Scappucci, Menno Veldhorst, Fabio Sebastiano, Masoud Babaie, Stefano Pellerano, Edoardo Charbon Lieven M. K. Vandersypen, CMOS-based cryogenic control of silicon quantum circuits, Nature **593**, 205–210 (2021) [51]

Parts of this chapter have been published in published in Stephan G.J. Philips*, Mateusz T. Mądzik*, Sergey V. Amitonov, Sander L. de Snoo, Maximilian Russ, Nima Kalhor, Christian Volk, William I.L. Lawrie, Delphine Brousse, Larysa Tryputen, Brian Paquelet Wuetz, Amir Sammak, Menno Veldhorst, Giordano Scappucci, Lieven M.K. Vandersypen, Universal control of a six-qubit quantum processor in silicon, arXiv:2202.09252 (2021) [50]

^{*}These authors have contributed equally

Future quantum computers capable of solving relevant problems will comprise two main building blocks — classical instrumentation to generate control signals (input) and to process readout signals (output)[269, 270, 181] and a quantum processing unit (QPU) with millions of qubits [269, 20, 271].

In current solid-state qubit implementations, such as spin-, superconducting-, or photonic-qubits an important interconnect bottleneck arises between the room temperature electronics and the quantum chip in a dilution refrigerator. Advanced lithography supports the fabrication of both control electronics and qubits in silicon using technology compatible with complementary metal oxide semiconductors (CMOS)[270]. When the electronics are designed to operate at cryogenic temperatures, they can ultimately be integrated with the qubits on the same die or package, providing a path to overcome the wiring bottleneck.

Moreover, the QPU requires a large qubit count combining high fidelity gate operation and high fidelity qubit initialization and readout. Spins in semiconductor quantum dots show long-term promise for scalable QPUs but demonstrations so far typically have used one to four qubits to optimize for either the fidelity of single- and two-qubit operations, or qubit initialization and readout.

This chapter mainly shows the results of Refs. [51] and [50], highlighting the key material improvements in Si/SiGe heterostructures that have enabled the implementation of CMOS-based cryogenic control of a silicon quantum circuit [51] and for the realization of a six-qubit quantum processor with high fidelity gate operations, initialization, and readout [50]. Both experiments together demonstrate the potential of using Si/SiGe heterostructures for a scalable quantum computing architecture.

9.1. CMOS-based cryogenic control of quantum circuits in SI/SIGE heterostructures

A standard setup for semiconducting or superconducting qubits has the qubits operating in a dilution refrigerator at about 20 mK, whereas bulky microwave vector sources and arbitrary waveform generators are at room temperature (RT) and connected to the qubits via long cables and attenuators (Fig. 9.1, left). This approach has recently enabled an experimental demonstration of the advantage of quantum computing over classical computing in a random circuit sampling experiment that utilizes a superconducting quantum processor consisting of 53 qubits [18]. This system requires more than 200 coaxial control lines from RT to the quantum chip, which is operated below 20mK. This brute-force approach to reach higher qubit numbers will soon reach its limits. A promising path forward is to bring the control electronics close to the quantum chip, at cryogenic temperatures. Although important steps in this direction have been taken [273, 183, 274, 275, 276, 277, 278, 279, 280, 281], high-fidelity multi-qubit control and a universal gate set remain to be demonstrated using cryogenic controllers. A central challenge is that the power dissipation of the control electronics easily surpasses the typical cooling power of 10 µW available at 20 mK [282, 283]. Because silicon spin qubits can be operated and measured above 1 K [182, 189, 284], they are well positioned for overcoming the wiring bottleneck by on-die or on-package co-integration with classical electronics (Fig. 9.1, right) at a temperature of 1–3 K, where the cooling power is orders of magnitude

higher than at millikelvin temperatures.

A cryogenic quantum controller for practical quantum information processing must meet multiple criteria: a form factor compatible with integration in a cryogenic refrigerator; frequency multiplexing to facilitate scalability; low power consumption within the limit of refrigerator cooling power; sufficiently high output power to enable fast operations compared to the qubit coherence times; high signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) and spurious-free-dynamic-range (SFDR) for high-fidelity control; the ability to generate tailored pulse shapes and perform a universal set of quantum operations; an integrated instruction set memory for the efficient execution of complex algorithms. All these requirements can be met by commercial CMOS circuits designed to operate at a few K.

In Ref. [51], a quantum control chip is utilized operating at 3 K (cryo-controller, named Horse Ridge) and fabricated using Intel 22 nm-FinFET low-power CMOS technology [275] to coherently control two electron spin qubits in a silicon double quantum dot. In order to benchmark the limits of the controller, the qubits are kept at ~20 mK, where they are most coherent and the non-idealities of the control chip can be assessed best (Figure 9.1, middle). Extensive electrical characterization and benchmarking using the quantum processor show that the cryo-controller meets all the above criteria.

For this study the key material contribution is to provide a substrate, that may host a reliable two-qubit quantum processor such that the coherent control achieved with the cryo-controller can be benchmarked with respect to coherent control performance



Figure 9.1: Three stages of development of the control system towards full integration. Left, RT instruments connected to qubits via coaxial lines and attenuators. Middle, cryo-controller at 1-5 K (see Extended Data Fig. 2 of Ref. [51]) directly connected to the qubits and triggered from RT using an SPI, which leaves the wiring from 1-5 K to the qubit sample unaltered, but brings a considerable reduction in the wire count from RT to 1-5 K when targeting many qubits. Right, a future perspective of fully integrated control electronics and qubits on the same package/die, eliminating dense wiring all the way down to the package/die (note that the vision is not one transmitter above every qubit, so the qubit and transmitter form factor can be different [181, 272]). Two single electron spins used as qubits are located underneath gates LP (blue) and RP (red), as shown in the SEM image. Multiplexed microwave signals are sent to gate MW (yellow) to control both qubits. Gate T (green) is used to tune the coupling between the qubits



Figure 9.2: **a**, Wafer stack schematic with corresponding layer thicknesses. **b**, Depth concentration SIMS profile of ²⁸Si (red), ²⁹Si (blue), ³⁰Si (purple), Ge (black), oxygen (green) and carbon (blue). The residual ²⁹Si concentration in the quantum well is 0.08 %, considerably reducing qubit decoherence due to hyperfine interaction. Both carbon and oxygen concentrations are below their respective detection limits of 3×10^{16} cm⁻³ and 1×10^{17} cm⁻³. **c**, Schematic showing the first and second Al gate layers in green and purple, respectively. A cobalt micro-magnet is located on top of the metallic gates (pink-shaded area).

against state-of-the-art room temperature electronics. Qubits that can be resonantly controlled with drive frequencies in the 2-20 GHz band are targeted, covering the typical resonance frequencies of both superconducting and spin qubits [168, 173, 285, 182, 274]. To realize these specifications we provide, for the first time within the qubit experiments in Delft, ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures to suppress the decoherence through hyperfine interaction [42]. In figure 9.2**a** we see a schematic of wafer stack which comprises a Si substrate, a 900 nm linearly graded Si_(1-x)Ge_x layer (Ge concentration x varied from 0 to 0.3), followed by a 300 nm strain-relaxed Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} buffer layer, an 8 nm tensile strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a 1 nm sacrificial Si cap. These undoped ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures support via gating the accumulation of a two-dimensional electron gas with a transport mobility of up to $1x10^5 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ at 55 mK [225].

Figure 9.2**b** shows concentration profiles obtained by secondary ion mass spectroscopy (SIMS) of a control ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure. This control ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure

has an increased quantum well thickness of 20 nm, which facilitates the investigation of the chemical composition therein by reducing the impact of the knock-on SIMS artifact [286]. The concentration profiles of isotopes of Ge, ²⁸Si, ²⁹Si, and ³⁰Si show a highpurity and homogeneous ²⁸Si quantum well. The residual concentration of non-zero spin nuclei ²⁹Si is reduced from 3.29% in the Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} buffer and barrier to 0.08% in the quantum well, demonstrating that the ²⁸SiH₄ precursor purity is maintained during the heterostructure deposition process. As a result, we achieve a suitable solid-state environment for the qubits where decoherence due to hyperfine interaction is minimized. Furthermore, the concentration of common background contaminants C and O is below the detection limit of around 3×10^{16} cm⁻³ and 1×10^{17} cm⁻³, respectively, reducing scattering sources in the qubit surrounding environment which can be sources of charge noise.

The quantum processor is made of a double quantum dot (DQD) electrostatically confined in the quantum well of the ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure. By tuning the voltage on plunger gates LP and RP, two single electrons are locally accumulated underneath each gate, shown in blue and red in the scanning electron microscope (SEM) image in figure 9.1. By applying an external magnetic field of 380 mT, combined with the longitudinal magnetic field induced by a micro-magnet on top of the DQD (see figure 9.2c), the qubit states are encoded into the Zeeman split states of the two electrons, where spin-up is used as $|1\rangle$ and spin-down is used as $|0\rangle$. The resonance frequencies of Qubit 1 (Q_1 , underneath gate LP) and Qubit 2 (Q_2 , underneath gate RP) are 13.62 GHz and 13.51 Ghz with dephasing times T_2^{\star} of 20.5 µs and 9.4 µs, respectively [115]. Rotations around the \hat{x} and \hat{y} axes are implemented by sending microwave bursts with the microwave phase controlling the rotation axis, e.g. an in-phase (quadrature) microwave burst implements a rotation about \hat{x} (\hat{y}). The microwave bursts are applied to gate MW, which drives electric-dipole spin resonance (EDSR) enabled by the transverse magnetic field gradient from the micro-magnet [287], while the rotation around the \hat{z} axis (phase control) is achieved by changing the reference phase in the cryo-controller, which adds a phase shift to all the subsequent bursts [29]. The two-qubit interaction is mediated by the exchange coupling (J) between the two spins [288], controlled by gate T. Its effect here is to shift the anti-parallel spin states down in energy [289]. As a result, the resonance frequency of each qubit now depends on the state of the other qubit, allowing conditional operations on each qubit via narrow-band microwave bursts [173, 285]. The corresponding four different frequencies can be individually addressed using frequency multiplexing. Both qubits are read out in single-shot mode [290].

Here we only summarize the results of Ref. [51] because the extensive electrical characterization therein is beyond the scope of this thesis. In Ref. [51] we see versatile programmability of a cryogenic quantum circuit, combined with a signal quality allowing up to 99.99 % gate fidelities, a footprint of just 4 mm², a power consumption of 384 mW, the ability to integrate multiple transmitters on one die, and operation at 3 K. All together this demonstrates the potential of the cryo-controller to address key challenges in building a large-scale quantum computer. Optimized design of cryogenic CMOS circuits - for example, the use of a narrower frequency band — can substantially reduce the power consumption (see Methods of Ref. [51]) and make it possible to work at 1K or even lower temperatures. Furthermore, FinFET quantum dots that are fully compatible with CMOS processing [270] and increased operating temperatures (about 1K) of spin qubits show only a modest reduction in coherence times [189, 182]. These advances imply that it may be possible to fully integrate the quantum processor with the classical controller on chip or by flip-chip technology, lifting a major roadblock in scaling.

9.2. A SIX QUBIT QUANTUM PROCESSOR USING SI/SIGE HET-EROSTRUCTURES

On the path to practical large-scale quantum computation, electron spin qubits in semiconductor quantum dots [207] show promise due to their inherent potential for scaling through their small size [291, 191], long-lived coherence [184] and compatibility with advanced semiconductor manufacturing techniques [208]. Nevertheless, spin qubits currently lag behind in scale when compared to superconducting, trapped ions and photonic platforms, which have demonstrated control of several dozen qubits [18, 292, 19]. By comparison, using semiconductor spin qubits, control of up to four qubits was achieved [293] and entanglement of up to three qubits was demonstrated [210, 253, 294].

Furthermore, the experience with other qubit platforms shows that in scaling up, maintaining the quality of the control requires significant efforts, for instance to deal with the denser motional spectrum in trapped ions [295], to avert cross-talk in superconducting circuits [296] or to avoid increased losses in photonic circuits [297]. For small semiconductor spin qubit systems, state-of-the-art single-qubit gate fidelities exceed 99.9% [113, 185, 298] and two-qubit gates well above 99% fidelity have been demonstrated recently [115, 114, 231, 253]. Most quantum dot based demonstrations suffer from rather low initialization or readout fidelities, with typical visibilities of no more than 60-75%, with one recent exception [231]. Conversely, high-fidelity spin readout has been claimed based on an analysis of the readout error mechanisms, but these claims have not been validated in combination with high-fidelity qubit control [299, 300]. While highfidelity initialization, readout, single-qubit gates and two-qubit gates have thus been demonstrated individually in small systems, almost invariably one or more of these parameters are significantly compromised while optimizing others. A major challenge and important direction for the field is therefore to achieve high fidelities for all components while at the same time enlarging the qubit count.

In Ref. [50] our isotopically enriched Si/SiGe enables the study of a system of six spin qubits in a linear quantum dot array and it is tested what performance the array can acheive using known methods such as multi-layer gate patterns for independent control of the two-qubit exchange interaction [301, 167, 225] and micromagnet gradients for electric-dipole spin resonance and selective qubit addressing [302]. Furthermore, several novel techniques for semiconductor qubits are introduced that, collectively, are critical to improve on the results and facilitate scalability, such as initialization by measurement using real-time feedback [303], qubit initialization and measurement without reservoir access, and efficient calibration routines. Initialization and readout circuits span over the full six-qubit array.

For this study the key material contribution is to provide a substrate with high valley splitting for facilitated qubit readout, as well as a uniform and low-noise environment for homogeneous qubit properties and exchange coupling. To realize these specifica-



Figure 9.3: **a** Wafer stack schematic with corresponding layer thicknesses. **b** A false-colored scanning electron microscope image of a device similar to the one used in the experiments. Each color represents a different metallization layer. Plunger (blue) and barrier (green) gates are used to define quantum dots in the channel between the screening gates (red). Two cobalt micromagnets (yellow) are placed on top of the gate stack. **c** Rabi oscillations for every qubit, taken sequentially. The spin fraction refers to the spin-up fraction for qubits 2-5 and to the spin-down fraction for qubits 1 and 6. The drive amplitudes were adjusted in order to obtain uniform Rabi frequencies of 5 MHz. **d** Table showing the valley splitting E_{ST} , dephasing time T_2^* , Hahn echo decay time, visibilites and error for each qubit.

tions we provide ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure to suppress the decoherence through hyperfine interaction [42], with sharp quantum well interfaces [73] for high valley splitting [67], and a thick virtual substrate to reduce misfit and threading dislocations since these crystalline defects compromise the uniformity of the disorder landscape through the creation of recombination-generation sites for charge carriers [60, 61]. In figure 9.3**a** we see a schematic of wafer stack which comprises a Si substrate, a 3 µm step-graded Si_{1-x}Ge_x layer with a final Ge concentration of x = 0.3 achieved in four grading steps (x = 0.07, 0.14, 0.21, and 0.3), followed by a 2.4 µm strain-relaxed Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} buffer layer, an 8 nm tensile strained ²⁸Si quantum well, a 30 nm Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} barrier, and a 1 nm sacrificial Si cap. These undoped ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures support via gating the accumulation of a two-dimensional electron gas with a transport mobility of up to 2.9x10⁵ cm²/Vs at 1.6 K [230].

The six-qubit array is defined electrostatically in the ²⁸Si quantum well of a ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure, between two sensing quantum dots, as seen in Figure 9.3**b**. The multilayer gate pattern allows for excellent control of the charge occupation of each quantum dot, and of the tunnel couplings between neighbouring quantum dots. These parameters are controlled independently through linear combinations of gate voltages, known as virtual gates [304]. The inter-dot pitch is chosen to be 90 nm, which for this 30 nm deep quantum well yields easy access to the regime with one electron in each dot, for short indicated as the (1,1,1,1,1,1) charge occupation.

9.3. Performance of the quantum processor

The qubits are manipulated via electric-dipole spin resonance (EDSR) [305]. A micromagnet located above the gate-stack is designed to provide both qubit addressability and a driving field gradient (see Fig. 9.3**b** and Supplementary Data of Ref. [50]).Coherent Rabi oscillations are driven as depicted in figure 9.3**c**, where no visible damping in the first five periods is observed, indicating a clean and uniform qubit host matrix. Singlequbit gate fidelities are assessed via randomized benchmarking experiments. All average single-qubit gate fidelities are between 99.77% \pm 0.04 and 99.96% \pm 0.01, which demonstrates that even within this extended qubit array, high-fidelity single-qubit control is retained. The single qubit fidelity as well as the coherence times of each qubit are tabulated in figure 9.3**f**. Spin coherence is expected to be limited by charge noise coupling in by the micromagnet [306].

We measure valley splitting using magnetospectroscopy along the $N = (1, 1) \rightarrow (2, 0)$ transition. The signal is measured by monitoring the reflected amplitude of the rf readout signal through a nearby charge sensor as a function of plunger gate voltage V_P and absolute magnetic field |B|. To extract the inflection point of the electron charge transition, we fit the signal of the detuning for every magnetic field to eq. (2) from Ref. [227]. To extract B_{ST} we use the fitting routine discussed in chapter 6. On top of these samples there is a micromagnet lowering the magnetic field strength at the center of the sample, making the measured value a lower bound for E_{ST} . Low valley splittings on Si/SiGe devices have hindered progress in the past [213], but in this device all valley splittings are in the range of 100-300 µeV (see figure 9.3**d** and figure 9.4**a-f**).

Again, we summarize additional results of Ref. [50] because the initialization and readout schemes, as well as the 2-qubit and 3-qubit characterizations therein are be-



Figure 9.4: Magnetospectroscopy of each quantum dot of the six-qubit register. Along the $(1,1) \rightarrow (2,0)$ transition. We superimpose the inflection points of the charge transitions as green curves, to help the reader to follow the charge transitions. V_P is the gate voltage applied to the plunger gate forming the quantum dot. For clarity, we subtract from V_P in panels **a** - **f** an offset that depends on the quantum dot being measured.

yond the scope of this thesis. In Ref. [50] we see scaling to a record number of qubits for a quantum dot system, and Rabi oscillations for each qubit with visibilities of 93.5-98% are achieved (see figure 9.3**f**, implying high readout and initialization fidelities. Initialization uses a novel scheme relying on qubit measurement and real-time feedback. Readout relies on Pauli spin blockade and quantum-non-demolition measurements. This combination of initialization and readout allows the device to be operated while retaining the six electrons in the linear quantum dot array, alleviating the need for access to electron reservoirs. All single-qubit gate fidelities are around 99.9% and the high quality of the two-qubit gates can be inferred from the 89-95% fidelity Bell states prepared across the array. The development of a modular software stack, efficient calibration routines and reliable device fabrication have been essential for this experiment. Future work must

focus on understanding and mitigating heating effects leading to frequency shifts and reduced dephasing times, as this is found to be the limiting factor in executing complicated quantum circuits on many qubits. The use of simultaneous single-qubit rotations and simultaneous two-qubit CZ gates will keep pulse sequences more compact. This will require accounting for cross-talk effects, which is anticipated to be easiest for the two-qubit gates. The authors estimate that the concepts used for control, initialization and readout can be used without substantial modification in arrays that are twice as long, as well as in small two-dimensional arrays. Scaling further will require additional elements such as cross-bar addressing or on-chip quantum links [181].

9.4. Supplementary Information

9.4.1. DEVICE FABRICATION

Single-layer double-quantum dot: On top of the heterostructure, a 7 nm thick AlO_x layer is deposited using atomic-layer deposition, followed by a 20 nm Al metal film, which is patterned using electron beam lithography in order to define the first gate layer, which shapes the potential landscape. Next, another 7 nm AlOx layer is deposited, followed by a 70 nm Al layer that uniformly covers the quantum dot area. Finally, a 200 nm Co film is deposited and patterned into a micro-magnet.

Multi-layer six-qubit register: Devices are fabricated on an undoped ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructure featuring an 8 nm strained ²⁸Si quantum well, with a residual ²⁹Si concentration of 0.08%, grown on a strain-relaxed Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} buffer layer. The quantum well is separated from the surface by a 30 nm thick Si_{0.7}Ge_{0.3} spacer and a sacrificial 1 nm Si capping layer. The gate stack consists of 3 layers of Ti:Pd metallic gates (3:17, 3:27, 3:27 nm) isolated from each other by 5 nm Al₂O₃ dielectrics, deposited using atomic layer deposition. A ferromagnetic Ti:Co (5:200 nm) layer on top of the gate stack creates a local magnetic field gradient for qubit addressing and manipulation. Further details of device fabrication methods can be found at [225].

10

DISCUSSION AND OUTLOOK

What I love about science is that as you learn, you don't really get answers. You just get better questions.

John Green

Buried quantum wells in ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures are an established material platform for spin qubit research. Over the past four years we have seen high fidelity single-[112, 113] and two-qubit gates[115, 114, 231], integration into a cryogenic CMOS architecture [51], spin-photon [171, 172] and spin-spin coupling [232], and universal control of a six qubit register [50]. Many of these achievements have been achieved with Delft grown ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures, also used by the Tarucha group at RIKEN [114] emphasizing the reproducible quality of the material stacks. A major contribution to these achievements have been material improvements such as reduced hyperfine interaction (chapter 9) or charge noise (chapter 8) and increased valley splitting (chapter 6 and 9), which in turn have been enabled through fast but rigorous material-devicemeasurement feedback cycles (chapter 4). Particularly under the aspect of fast assessment of material quality, Hall-bar-shaped H-FETs have proven to be extremely useful since we can estimate the valley splitting from quantum Hall edge states (chapter 5) and assess the impurity densities present in the system (chapter 7 and 8). Accompanied with metrology techniques such as TEM for structural characterization, SIMS, APT, and EELS for chemical analysis and Raman spectroscopy for local strain measurements, we now have an overview of different disorder types that possibly limit QPU performance.

Considering that most of the results mentioned above from Delft-grown ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures are obtained using materials with a 1 nm epitaxial Si cap and an 9 nm thick quantum well we speculate, that the new generation of material stacks studied in chapter 8 with a passivated cap and 5 nm thick quantum wells, could enable devices with a higher qubit count and lower error rates (see chapter 8). QPUs that realize these requirements would put the spin qubit platform within reach of near-intermediate-scale-quantum (NISQ) devices, that are able to perform tasks which surpass the performance of today's largest supercomputers [18, 19, 307]. NISQ devices will be useful to explore many-body quantum physics [308, 16], run rudimentary quantum algorithms [18, 19, 307, 29], and could already have an impact on the business community [156].

However, to perform practical quantum algorithms we require much lower error rates (in the order of 10^{-6} errors [309]) and many more qubits (in the order of 10^{5} - 10^{6} qubits [309]). To aim for these numbers, continued material developments are inevitable, because both qubit quality and quantity, depend on the underlying disorder in the solid-state matrix and the uniformity of the potential landscape on the relevant length scales. Hence, we need to innovate ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures to keep improving on the limiting parameters.

THE ²⁸SI QUANTUM WELLS OF THE FUTURE

To increase the quality of ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures for spin qubits, we have proposed several ways forward in chapter 6 and 8. In ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures we reduce charge noise by reducing remote impurities and misfit dislocations and extrapolate average two-qubit error rates in the order of 2×10^{-3} therefore, to reach the desired error rates in the 10^{-6} regime we need further improvements in the details of ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures. There are several strategies we can follow which are illustrated in figure 10.1**a** and 10.1**b**.

First, thicker barriers would increase the distance between the remote impurities and the Si quantum well, however the electrical control of the qubits is more challenging if



Figure 10.1: **a** Side view schematic of a Si/SiGe heterostructure with gate oxide and performance limiting noise sources: crystalline defects (pink and yellow dashed lines), diffused interfaces (green dashed line), magnetic impurities (purple arrows), background impurities (dark brown circles), ill-defined ground states (short blue parallel lines), and charged impurities (light brown circles). On the sides we see suggestions for changes in the heterostructure quality and the color coding indicates what noise source we intend to address by the respective change. Black indicates that we address both misfit and threading dislocations. **b** Side view schematic of a SiGe/SiGe heterostructure with gate oxide and performance limiting noise sources, which are adressed with this type of heterostructure: crystalline defects (pink and yellow dashed lines), diffused interfaces (green dashed line), magnetic impurities (purple arrows), and ill-defined ground states (short blue parallel lines). On the side we see comments noise source we intend to address by this type of heterostructure stack. Black indicates that we address both misfit and threading dislocations.

the quantum well is buried deeper within the heterostructure. Given the excellent baseline we are starting from, finding the optimal barrier thickness such that impurities are further away, while maintaining good control over the qubits is going to be a rewarding trade off to address in the coming years.

Second, even though our approach of passivating the cap layer to reduce remote impurities has demonstrated a significant increase in wafer-scale performance of mobility, percolation density, and charge noise, it is still important to reduce remote impurities further. Two routes are available: First, we can experiment with different gate oxides that show lower impurities densities, where for example oxides used in the microelectronic industry could provide improvements. Second, we could further experiment with the cap, however the passivation step is a self-terminating thermal process, therefore if we want to reduce impurities in the cap we would need to run an extended study on the cap growth parameters. Studies along these directions have already started in the Scappucci group at the time of writing of this thesis.

Third, although we have seen a promising reduction of misfit dislocations with 4 nm thick quantum wells, the optimal quantum well thickness should be further investigated. The reason is, that in thin quantum wells the electron wavefunction tends to penetrate deeper into the SiGe barrier and in consequence probes the magnetic momentum of the non-zero nuclear spin Si and Ge isotopes, which leads to decoherence. Hence, slightly thicker quantum wells that remain below the critical thickness (e.g. 6-7 nm) could lead to similar misfit dislocation densities while reducing the effect of hyperfine interaction. In addition, thin quantum wells have shown higher valley splitting [212].

Next, reducing the Ge content in the SiGe barriers could reduce misfit and threading dislocations densities through a smaller lattice mismatch, which could lead to further enhancement of the uniformity of the wafer. This approach has led to mobilities over $10^6 \text{ cm}^2/\text{Vs}$ in Ge/SiGe quantum wells [310]. Similar mobilities are within reach for Si/SiGe quantum wells. One problem of this approach is however that again the electron wavefunction penetrates further into the SiGe barrier, exhibiting the same challenges described in the paragraph above.

Finally, the growth temperature of the SiGe barriers is another key parameter that will need addressing in the near future. In our best performing devices the SiGe barriers around the quantum well are grown at 625 °C mainly to provide sharp quantum well interfaces. However, at this temperature, residual carbon and oxygen atoms in the growth chamber incorporate into the quantum well, which is a source of charge noise [103, 104, 105, 106]. To reduce charge noise from these background impurities we can increase the growth temperature of the barriers at the cost of more diffused quantum well interfaces. Since we also propose diffused quantum well interfaces for enhanced valley splitting in chapter 6, increasing the growth temperature is a viable route to enhance overall spin qubit performance.

Increasing the valley splitting on a wafer-scale will also need special attention. The 6-qubit quantum register from chapter 9 has extraordinarily high valley splitting in the range of 100-300 µeV, and it seems that well defined quantum well interfaces improve valley splitting. However, in chapter 6 we challenge this common picture and propose to increase the overlap of the electron wavefunction with Ge atoms by either using less defined interfaces or, more radically, to increase a small percentage of Ge into the quantum well. In either case, the valley splitting should increase. Especially the case of SiGe quantum wells is interesting because simulations show that we should be able provide heterostructures where 95 % of the qubits experience a valley splitting of \geq 100 µeV. A beneficial side effect of SiGe quantum wells is the reduced amount of strain necessary to achieve high valley splitting, which also reduces misfit and threading dislocation densities. There are also several considerations to SiGe quantum wells. First, Ge precursors for CVD so far are not isotopically purified and hence the electron wavefunction will probe the magnetic momentum of the non-zero nuclear spin Ge isotopes, a problem that we also experience when growing thin quantum wells or reducing the Ge concentration in the barriers. Second, growing low concentrations of Ge is non-trivial and requires dedicated fine-tuning of growth parameters. Last, Ge atoms could introduce spin-orbit-coupling (SOC) of the electron which leads to spin decoherence [311]. SOC is a double-edged property, because SOC also enables all-electrical control of spin qubits, for example in Ge quantum wells [46, 312, 313] and allows for fast gate-operation times [313]. The promise of high valley splitting, lower strain, and the complicated nature of SOC make SiGe quantum wells a potential material platform for high quality QPUs, that should be further investigated.

Since decoherence through hyperfine interaction with non-zero nuclear spin Si and Ge isotopes seems to be a recurring problem with material changes in ²⁸Si/SiGe heterostructures, it is crucial to consider growing the SiGe barriers and possible SiGe quantum wells with isotopically purified Si and Ge, which should be exclusively advantageous for spin qubit performance. Nevertheless, one has to keep in mind, that using isotopically purified Si and Ge will require usage of different gas precursors. This would lead to a change in the growth dynamics and consequently, the growth of the heterostructure stack would need to be readjusted, which would be a long-term research investment.

PROBING PERFORMANCE AT DIFFERENT LENGTH SCALES

In terms of uniformity, we have demonstrated wafers with isotopically purified Si quantum wells, have shown statistical improvement in the spread of charge noise, and provided devices with large valley splitting, facilitating qubit readout. However, all devices shown cover areas on the nanometer length scale, which is not representative of the length scales of larger spin qubit arrays. For example, if we consider larger devices such as NISO devices with 100-1000 spin gubits without interconnects and an average spacing of 100 nm, we would cover an area between $1 \,\mu m^2 - 10 \,\mu m^2$. Similarly, a rudimentary spin qubit array of 10^6 qubits without interconnects and an average spacing of 100 nm would cover an area between $100 \,\mu\text{m} \times 100 \,\mu\text{m}$. Furthermore, if we want to scale to even larger qubit counts (e.g 10⁹) and use interconnects as proposed in Ref. [181], we would cover areas of 1 mm^2 and beyond. Therefore, assessing the locally varying performance differences on the nanometer, intermediate (for devices that cover the length scale between 100 nm and 100 μ m), and micron-scale will become more relevant when scaling to larger devices. To illustrate the relevant length scales, figure 10.2 shows a compilation of the imaginary large devices described above and a list of devices from state-of-the-art experiments in the spin qubit field, color-coded by the approximate length scales they probe. From Figure 10.2 it becomes clear that, even though the results in chapter 8 show promising uniformity and the devices in Refs [114, 231, 50, 115] indicate high material quality, the statistics gathered in this thesis run short to represent the locally varying material performance relevant for NISQ devices and larger spin qubit arrays.



Figure 10.2: Color-coded illustration of devices probing performance at different length scales. Purple represents performance determined over several length scales (from hyperfine interaction at the nm level to micronand millimeter-sized material variations), magenta over the micron-scale (usually probed by Hall-bar shaped HFET devices), cyan over the nm-scale (e.g. from qubit or quantum dot experiments), and green represents an intermediate length scale covering parts of the nanometer and parts of the micron length scale.

To assess performance on the micron scale we routinely use Hall-bar-shaped H-FETs throughout this thesis. However, these devices have limitations because, they average over large areas, in our case over $100 \,\mu\text{m} \times 500\text{-}1000 \,\mu\text{m}$ and consequently lack the ability to reveal performance fluctuations on the intermediate and nanometer-scale. Even though we could reduce the size of the HFETs by two orders of magnitude to gather statistics on the intermediate scale, we would still lack the ability to assess variations on the nano-scale. Therefore, we need to find other ways to extend our probing capabilities. One option to extend statistics on the nano-scale is to expand the cryomultiplexing test bed we use for statistics on quantum dots to host an order of magnitude more quantum dots per cooldown and develop automatic test routines that facilitate and accelerate data acquisition. If we then take several quantum dots from different wafer location we could get insights on the nano-, intermediate-, and micron-scale. In addition, new cryomultiplexers may be explored to allow for faster measurements or to enable statistical RF-measurements. Another way forward is to use sparse 2-dimensional quantum dot arrays as shown in Ref. [314]. In this publication statistics are gathered on the operation voltages of 648 single-electron transistors with varying gate sizes which are uniformly distributed over an area of 200 um x 100 um, which is representative of the intermediate length scale we are interested in probing for NISQ devices and the rudimentary 10⁶ qubit arrays described above. Exploiting such arrays to gather statistics on valley splitting, charge noise, and t_{λ}^{\star} should help to understand material limitations and consequently lead those key innovations that will drive progress in spin qubit research.

REFERENCES

- C. M. Vidal, C. S. Lane, A. Asrat, D. N. Barfod, D. F. Mark, E. L. Tomlinson, A. Z. Tadesse, G. Yirgu, A. Deino, W. Hutchison, A. Mounier, and C. Oppenheimer. "Age of the oldest known Homo sapiens from eastern Africa". In: *Nature* 601.7894 (2022).
- [2] H. M. McHenry and K. Coffing. "Australopithecus to Homo: Transformations in Body and Mind". In: *Annual Review of Anthropology* 29.1 (2000).
- [3] "Nobel Prize in Physics for 1956: Dr. W. Shockley, Prof. J. Bardeen and Dr. W. H. Brattain". In: *Nature* 178.4543 (1956).
- [4] F. Faggin, M.E. Hoff, S. Mazor, and M. Shima. "The history of the 4004". In: *IEEE Micro* 16.6 (1996).
- [5] F. H. Hsu. *Behind Deep Blue: Building the Computer that Defeated the World Chess Champion*. Princeton University Press, 2002.
- [6] D. Qualman. Unimaginable output: Global production of transistors. 2017. URL: https://www.darrinqualman.com/global-production-transistors/ (visited on 10/23/2022).
- [7] J. Czochralski. "Ein neues Verfahren zur Messung der Kristallisationsgeschwindigkeit der Metalle". In: *Zeitschrift für Physikalische Chemie* 92U.1 (1918).
- [8] Friedrich Schäffler. "High-mobility Si and Ge structures". In: *Semiconductor Science and Technology* 12.12 (1997).
- [9] P.W. Shor. "Algorithms for quantum computation: discrete logarithms and factoring". In: *Proceedings 35th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science*. IEEE Comput. Soc. Press. ISBN: 0-8186-6580-7.
- [10] L. K. Grover. "A fast quantum mechanical algorithm for database search". In: Proceedings of the twenty-eighth annual ACM symposium on Theory of computing -STOC '96. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 1996. ISBN: 0897917855.
- [11] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang. Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2010. ISBN: 9780511976667.
- [12] I.M. Georgescu, S. Ashhab, and Franco Nori. "Quantum simulation". In: *Reviews* of *Modern Physics* 86.1 (2014).
- [13] S. Wehner, D. Elkouss, and R. Hanson. "Quantum internet: A vision for the road ahead". In: *Science* 362.6412 (2018).
- [14] E. Polino, M. Valeri, N. Spagnolo, and F. Sciarrino. "Photonic quantum metrology". In: *AVS Quantum Science* 2.2 (2020).

- [15] F. Casola, T. van der Sar, and A. Yacoby. "Probing condensed matter physics with magnetometry based on nitrogen-vacancy centres in diamond". In: *Nature Reviews Materials* 3.1 (2018).
- [16] R. P. Feynman. "Simulating physics with computers". In: *International Journal of Theoretical Physics* 21.6-7 (1982).
- [17] R. Horodecki, P. Horodecki, M. Horodecki, and K. Horodecki. "Quantum entanglement". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 81.2 (2009).
- [18] F. Arute, K. Arya, R. Babbush, D. Bacon, J. C. Bardin, R. Barends, R. Biswas, S. Boixo, F. G. S. L. Brandao, D. A. Buell, B. Burkett, Y. Chen, Z. Chen, B. Chiaro, R. Collins, W. Courtney, A. Dunsworth, E. Farhi, B. Foxen, A. Fowler, C. Gidney, M. Giustina, R. Graff, K. Guerin, S. Habegger, M. P. Harrigan, M. J. Hartmann, A. Ho, M. Hoffmann, T. Huang, T. S. Humble, S. V. Isakov, E. Jeffrey, Z. Jiang, D. Kafri, K. Kechedzhi, J. Kelly, P. V. Klimov, S. Knysh, A. Korotkov, F. Kostritsa, D. Landhuis, M. Lindmark, E. Lucero, D. Lyakh, S. Mandrà, J. R. McClean, M. McEwen, A. Megrant, X. Mi, K. Michielsen, M. Mohseni, J. Mutus, O. Naaman, M. Neeley, C. Neill, Murphy Y. Niu, E. Ostby, A. Petukhov, J. C. Platt, C. Quintana, E. G. Rieffel, P. Roushan, N. C. Rubin, D. Sank, K. J. Satzinger, V. Smelyanskiy, K.J. Sung, M. D. Trevithick, A. Vainsencher, B. Villalonga, T. White, Z. J. Yao, P. Yeh, A. Zalcman, H. Neven, and J. M. Martinis. "Quantum supremacy using a programmable superconducting processor". In: *Nature* 574.7779 (2019).
- [19] H. S. Zhong, H. Wang, Y. H. Deng, M. C. Chen, L. C. Peng, Y. H. Luo, J. Qin, D. Wu, X. Ding, Y. Hu, P. Hu, X. Y. Yang, W. J. Zhang, H. Li, Y. Li, X. Jiang, L. Gan, G. Yang, L. You, Z. Wang, L. Li, N. L. Liu, C. Y. Lu, and J. W. Pan. "Quantum computational advantage using photons". In: *Science* 370.6523 (2020).
- [20] J. Preskill. "FAULT-TOLERANT QUANTUM COMPUTATION". In: *Introduction to Quantum Computation and Information*. WORLD SCIENTIFIC, 1998.
- [21] David P. DiVincenzo. "The Physical Implementation of Quantum Computation". In: *Fortschritte der Physik* 48.9-11 (2000).
- [22] I. Siddiqi. "Engineering high-coherence superconducting qubits". In: *Nature Reviews Materials* 6.10 (2021).
- [23] P. Krantz, M. Kjaergaard, F. Yan, T. P. Orlando, S. Gustavsson, and W. D. Oliver. "A quantum engineer's guide to superconducting qubits". In: *Applied Physics Reviews* 6.2 (2019).
- [24] R. Blatt and C. F. Roos. "Quantum simulations with trapped ions". In: *Nature Physics* 8.4 (2012).
- [25] D. Leibfried, R. Blatt, C. Monroe, and D. Wineland. "Quantum dynamics of single trapped ions". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 75.1 (2003).
- [26] K. R. Brown, J. Chiaverini, J. M. Sage, and H. Häffner. "Materials challenges for trapped-ion quantum computers". In: *Nature Reviews Materials* 6.10 (2021).
- [27] I. L. Chuang, L. M. K. Vandersypen, X. Zhou, D. W. Leung, and S. Lloyd. "Experimental realization of a quantum algorithm". In: *Nature* 393.6681 (1998).

- [28] L. M. K. Vandersypen, M. Steffen, G. Breyta, Co. S. Yannoni, M. H. Sherwood, and I. L. Chuang. "Experimental realization of Shor's quantum factoring algorithm using nuclear magnetic resonance". In: *Nature* 414.6866 (2001).
- [29] L. M. K. Vandersypen and I. L. Chuang. "NMR techniques for quantum control and computation". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 76.4 (2005).
- [30] K. Flensberg, F. von Oppen, and A. Stern. "Engineered platforms for topological superconductivity and Majorana zero modes". In: *Nature Reviews Materials* 6.10 (2021).
- [31] A.Yu. Kitaev. "Fault-tolerant quantum computation by anyons". In: *Annals of Physics* 303.1 (2003).
- [32] C. Nayak, S. H. Simon, A. Stern, M. Freedman, and S. Das Sarma. "Non-Abelian anyons and topological quantum computation". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 80.3 (2008).
- [33] C. Bradac, W. Gao, J. Forneris, M. E. Trusheim, and I. Aharonovich. "Quantum nanophotonics with group IV defects in diamond". In: *Nature Communications* 10.1 (2019).
- [34] M. W. Doherty, N. B. Manson, P. Delaney, F. Jelezko, J. Wrachtrup, and L. C. L. Hollenberg. "The nitrogen-vacancy colour centre in diamond". In: *Physics Reports* 528.1 (2013).
- [35] T. van der Sar, Z. H. Wang, M. S. Blok, H. Bernien, T. H. Taminiau, D. M. Toyli, D. A. Lidar, D. D. Awschalom, R. Hanson, and V. V. Dobrovitski. "Decoherenceprotected quantum gates for a hybrid solid-state spin register". In: *Nature* 484.7392 (2012).
- [36] D. Jaksch, J. I. Cirac, P. Zoller, S. L. Rolston, R. Côté, and M. D. Lukin. "Fast Quantum Gates for Neutral Atoms". In: *Physical Review Letters* 85.10 (2000).
- [37] L. Henriet, L. Beguin, A. Signoles, T. Lahaye, A. Browaeys, G. O. Reymond, and C. Jurczak. "Quantum computing with neutral atoms". In: *Quantum* 4 (2020).
- [38] J. L. O'Brien, A. Furusawa, and J. Vučković. "Photonic quantum technologies". In: *Nature Photonics* 3.12 (2009).
- [39] P. Kok, W. J. Munro, K. Nemoto, T. C. Ralph, J. P. Dowling, and G. J. Milburn. "Linear optical quantum computing with photonic qubits". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 79.1 (2007).
- [40] B. E. Kane. "A silicon-based nuclear spin quantum computer". In: *Nature* 393.6681 (1998).
- [41] D. Loss and D. P. DiVincenzo. "Quantum computation with quantum dots". In: *Physical Review A* 57.1 (1998).
- [42] F. A. Zwanenburg, A. S. Dzurak, A. Morello, M. Y. Simmons, L. C. L. Hollenberg, G. Klimeck, S. Rogge, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. A. Eriksson. "Silicon quantum electronics". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 85.3 (2013).
- [43] G. Scappucci, C. Kloeffel, F. A. Zwanenburg, D. Loss, M. Myronov, J. J. Zhang, S. De Franceschi, G. Katsaros, and M. Veldhorst. "The germanium quantum information route". In: *Nature Reviews Materials* 6.10 (2021).
- [44] A. Morello, J. J. Pla, F. A. Zwanenburg, K. W. Chan, K. Y. Tan, H. Huebl, M. Möttönen, C. D. Nugroho, C. Yang, J. A. van Donkelaar, A. D. C. Alves, D. N. Jamieson, C. C. Escott, L. C. L. Hollenberg, R. G. Clark, and A. S. Dzurak. "Single-shot readout of an electron spin in silicon". In: *Nature* 467.7316 (2010).
- [45] G. Burkard, T. D. Ladd, J. M. Nichol, A. Pan, and J. R. Petta. "Semiconductor Spin Qubits". In: *arXiv:2112.08863* (2021).
- [46] N. W. Hendrickx, W. I. L. Lawrie, L. Petit, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and M. Veldhorst. "A single-hole spin qubit". In: *Nature Communications* 11.1 (2020).
- [47] T. Wu and J. Guo. "Variability and Fidelity Limits of Silicon Quantum Gates Due to Random Interface Charge Traps". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 41.7 (2020).
- [48] E. J. Connors, J. J. Nelson, H. Qiao, L. F. Edge, and J. M. Nichol. "Low-frequency charge noise in Si/SiGe quantum dots". In: *Physical Review B* 100.16 (2019).
- [49] K. M. Itoh and H. Watanabe. "Isotope engineering of silicon and diamond for quantum computing and sensing applications". In: *MRS Communications* 4.4 (2014).
- [50] S. G. J. Philips, M. T. Mądzik, S. V. Amitonov, S. L. de Snoo, M. Russ, N. Kalhor, C. Volk, W. I. L. Lawrie, D. Brousse, L. Tryputen, B. Paquelet Wuetz, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Universal control of a six-qubit quantum processor in silicon". In: *Nature* 609.7929 (2022).
- [51] X. Xue, B. Patra, J. P. G. van Dijk, N. Samkharadze, S. Subramanian, A. Corna, B. Paquelet Wuetz, C. Jeon, F. Sheikh, E. Juarez-Hernandez, B. P. Esparza, H. Rampurawala, B. Carlton, S. Ravikumar, C. Nieva, S. Kim, H. J. Lee, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, M. Veldhorst, F. Sebastiano, M. Babaie, S. Pellerano, E. Charbon, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "CMOS-based cryogenic control of silicon quantum circuits". In: *Nature* 593.7858 (2021).
- [52] R. Fitzgerald. "Physics Nobel Prize Honors Roots of Information Age". In: *Physics Today* 53.12 (2000).
- [53] N. W. Ashcroft, N. D. Mermin, and S. Rodriguez. "Solid-State Physics". In: American Journal of Physics 46.1 (1978).
- [54] B. Koiller, X. Hu, and S. Das Sarma. "Exchange in Silicon-Based Quantum Computer Architecture". In: *Physical Review Letters* 88.2 (2002).
- [55] G. Pizzi. "Band Structure Engineering of Ge-rich SiGe Nanostructures for Photonics Applications". PhD thesis. Pisa: Scuola Normale Superiore of Pisa, 2012.
- [56] M. M. Rieger and P. Vogl. "Electronic-band parameters in strained $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ alloys on $Si_{1-y}Ge_y$ substrates". In: *Physical Review B* 48.19 (1993).
- [57] J. P. Dismukes, L. Ekstrom, and R. J. Paff. "Lattice Parameter and Density in Germanium-Silicon Alloys". In: *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* 68.10 (1964).

- [58] L. Vegard. "Die Konstitution der Mischkristalle und die Raumfllung der Atome". In: *Zeitschrift fr Physik* 5.1 (1921).
- [59] J. W. Matthews and A. E. Blakeslee. "Defects in epitaxial multilayers: I. Misfit dislocations". In: *Journal of Crystal growth* 27 (1974).
- [60] J. G. Fiorenza, G. Braithwaite, C. W. Leitz, M. T. Currie, J. Yap, F. Singaporewala, V. K. Yang, T. A. Langdo, J. Carlin, M. Somerville, A. Lochtefeld, H. Badawi, and M. T. Bulsara. "Film thickness constraints for manufacturable strained silicon CMOS". In: Semiconductor Science and Technology 19.1 (2004).
- [61] K. Ismail, F. K. LeGoues, K. L. Saenger, M. Arafa, J. O. Chu, P. M. Mooney, and B. S. Meyerson. "Identification of a Mobility-Limiting Scattering Mechanism in Modulation-Doped Si/SiGe Heterostructures". In: *Physical Review Letters* 73.25 (1994).
- [62] P. Scarlino. "Spin and Valley Physics in a Si/SiGe Quantum Dot". PhD thesis. Delft: TU Delft, 2016.
- [63] R. Hanson, L. P. Kouwenhoven, J. R. Petta, S. Tarucha, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Spins in few-electron quantum dots". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 79.4 (2007).
- [64] S. Ahn, S. Das Sarma, and J. P. Kestner. "Microscopic bath effects on noise spectra in semiconductor quantum dot qubits". In: *Physical Review B* 103.4 (2021).
- [65] E. Paladino, Y. M. Galperin, G. Falci, and B. L. Altshuler. "1/f noise: Implications for solid-state quantum information". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 86.2 (2014).
- [66] M. L. V. Tagliaferri, P. L. Bavdaz, W. Huang, A. S. Dzurak, D. Culcer, and M. Veldhorst. "Impact of valley phase and splitting on readout of silicon spin qubits". In: *Physical Review B* 97.24 (2018).
- [67] M. Friesen, S. Chutia, C. Tahan, and S. N. Coppersmith. "Valley splitting theory of SiGe/Si/SiGe quantum wells". In: *Physical Review B Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 75.11 (2007).
- [68] A. Hosseinkhani and G. Burkard. "Electromagnetic control of valley splitting in ideal and disordered Si quantum dots". In: *Physical Review Research* 2.4 (2020).
- [69] T. B. Boykin, G. Klimeck, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, P. Von Allmen, F. Oyafuso, and S. Lee. "Valley splitting in low-density quantum-confined heterostructures studied using tight-binding models". In: *Physical Review B Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 70.16 (2004).
- [70] N. Kharche, M. Prada, T. B. Boykin, and G. Klimeck. "Valley splitting in strained silicon quantum wells modeled with 2° miscuts, step disorder, and alloy disorder". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 90.9 (2007).
- [71] G. Klimeck, S. S. Ahmed, N. Kharche, M. Korkusinski, M. Usman, M. Prada, and T. B. Boykin. "Atomistic Simulation of Realistically Sized Nanodevices Using NEMO 3-D—Part II: Applications". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 54.9 (2007).
- [72] T. B. Boykin, G. Klimeck, M. A. Eriksson, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, P. Von Allmen, F. Oyafuso, and S. Lee. "Valley splitting in strained silicon quantum wells". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 84.1 (2004).

- [73] B. Paquelet Wuetz, M. P. Losert, S. Koelling, L. E. A. Stehouwer, A. M. J. Zwerver, S. G. J. Philips, M. T. Mądzik, X. Xue, G. Zheng, M. Lodari, S. V. Amitonov, N. Samkharadze, A. Sammak, L. M. K. Vandersypen, R. Rahman, S. N. Coppersmith, O. Moutanabbir, M. Friesen, and G. Scappucci. "Atomic fluctuations lifting the energy degeneracy in Si/SiGe quantum dots". In: *arXiv:2112.09606* (2021).
- [74] O. Dyck, D. N. Leonard, L. F. Edge, C. A. Jackson, E. J. Pritchett, P. W. Deelman, and J. D. Poplawsky. "Atom Probe Tomography: Accurate Quantification of Si/SiGe Interface Profiles via Atom Probe Tomography". In: *Advanced Materials Interfaces* 4.21 (2017).
- [75] M. Friesen, M. A. Eriksson, and S. N. Coppersmith. "Magnetic field dependence of valley splitting in realistic Si/SiGe quantum wells". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 89.20 (2006).
- [76] T. Ando. "Valley splitting in the silicon inversion layer: Misorientation effects". In: *Physical Review B* 19.6 (1979).
- [77] M. Friesen and S. N. Coppersmith. "Theory of valley-orbit coupling in a Si/SiGe quantum dot". In: *Physical Review B* 81.11 (2010).
- [78] W. A. Phillips. "Tunneling states in amorphous solids". In: *Journal of Low Temperature Physics* 7.3-4 (1972).
- [79] J. Jäckle. "On the ultrasonic attenuation in glasses at low temperatures". In: *Zeitschrift für Physik A Hadrons and nuclei* 257.3 (1972).
- [80] P. W. Anderson, B. I. Halperin, and C. M. Varma. "Anomalous low-temperature thermal properties of glasses and spin glasses". In: *Philosophical Magazine* 25.1 (1972).
- [81] J. L. Black and B. L. Gyorffy. "Interaction of the Conduction Electrons with Tunneling States in Metallic Glasses". In: *Physical Review Letters* 41.23 (1978).
- [82] J. L. Black. "Relationship between the time-dependent specific heat and the ultrasonic properties of glasses at low temperatures". In: *Physical Review B* 17.6 (1978).
- [83] B. I. Halperin. "CAN TUNNELING LEVELS EXPLAIN THE ANOMALOUS PROP-ERTIES OF GLASSES AT VERY LOW TEMPERATURE?" In: *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 279.1 The Glass Tra (1976).
- [84] S. W. Jung, T. Fujisawa, Y. Hirayama, and Y. H. Jeong. "Background charge fluctuation in a GaAs quantum dot device". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 85.5 (2004).
- [85] F. Beaudoin and W. A. Coish. "Microscopic models for charge-noise-induced dephasing of solid-state qubits". In: *Physical Review B* 91.16 (2015).
- [86] M. Pioro-Ladrière, John H. Davies, A. R. Long, A. S. Sachrajda, Louis Gaudreau, P. Zawadzki, J. Lapointe, J. Gupta, Z. Wasilewski, and S. Studenikin. "Origin of switching noise in GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x}As lateral gated devices". In: *Physical Review B* 72.11 (2005).
- [87] K. Agarwal, Iv. Martin, M. D. Lukin, and E. Demler. "Polaronic model of two-level systems in amorphous solids". In: *Physical Review B* 87.14 (2013).

- [88] C. Buizert, F. H. L. Koppens, M. Pioro-Ladrière, H. P. Tranitz, I/ T. Vink, S. Tarucha, W. Wegscheider, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "In-Situ Reduction of Charge Noise in GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x}As Schottky-Gated Devices". In: *Physical Review Letters* 101.22 (2008).
- [89] M. Lodari, N. W. Hendrickx, W. I. L. Lawrie, T. K. Hsiao, L. M. K. Vandersypen, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, and G. Scappucci. "Low percolation density and charge noise with holes in germanium". In: *Materials for Quantum Technology* 1.1 (2021).
- [90] Ç. Kurdak, C.-J. Chen, D. C. Tsui, S. Parihar, S. Lyon, and G. W. Weimann. "Resistance fluctuations in $GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x}$ as quantum point contact and Hall bar structures". In: *Physical Review B* 56.15 (1997).
- [91] R. Simmonds, K. Lang, D. Hite, S. Nam, D. Pappas, and John Martinis. "Decoherence in Josephson Phase Qubits from Junction Resonators". In: *Physical Review Letters* 93.7 (2004).
- [92] F. Jekat, B. Pestka, D. Car, S. Gazibegović, K. Flöhr, S. Heedt, J. Schubert, M. Liebmann, E. P. A. M. Bakkers, T. Schäpers, and M. Morgenstern. "Exfoliated hexagonal BN as gate dielectric for InSb nanowire quantum dots with improved gate hysteresis and charge noise". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 116.25 (2020).
- [93] J. Lisenfeld, C. Müller, J. H. Cole, P. Bushev, A. Lukashenko, A. Shnirman, and A. V. Ustinov. "Measuring the Temperature Dependence of Individual Two-Level Systems by Direct Coherent Control". In: *Physical Review Letters* 105.23 (2010).
- [94] Grigorij J. Grabovskij, Torben Peichl, Jürgen Lisenfeld, Georg Weiss, and Alexey V. Ustinov. "Strain Tuning of Individual Atomic Tunneling Systems Detected by a Superconducting Qubit". In: *Science* 338.6104 (2012).
- [95] M. Hauck, F. Seilmeier, S. E. Beavan, A. Badolato, P. M. Petroff, and A. Högele. "Locating environmental charge impurities with confluent laser spectroscopy of multiple quantum dots". In: *Physical Review B* 90.23 (2014).
- [96] T. C. DuBois, M. C. Per, S. P. Russo, and J. H. Cole. "Delocalized Oxygen as the Origin of Two-Level Defects in Josephson Junctions". In: *Physical Review Letters* 110.7 (2013).
- [97] P. Dutta and P. M. Horn. "Low-frequency fluctuations in solids: 1/f-noise". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 53.3 (1981).
- [98] M. B. Weissman. "1/f-noise and other slow, nonexponential kinetics in condensed matter". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 60.2 (1988).
- [99] S. Kogan. *Electronic noise and fluctuations in solids*. Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [100] L.K.J. Vandamme and R.G.M. Penning de Vries. "Correlation between most 1/f noise and CCD transfer inefficiency". In: *Solid-State Electronics* 28.10 (1985).
- [101] J. Brown, J. F. Zhang, B. Zhou, M. Mehedi, P. Freitas, J. Marsland, and Z. Ji. "Randomtelegraph-noise-enabled true random number generator for hardware security". In: *Scientific Reports* 10.1 (2020).

- [102] D. Culcer, X. Hu, and S. Das Sarma. "Dephasing of Si spin qubits due to charge noise". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 95.7 (2009).
- [103] C. Dekker, A. J. Scholten, F. Liefrink, R. Eppenga, H. van Houten, and C. T. Foxon. "Spontaneous resistance switching and low-frequency noise in quantum point contacts". In: *Physical Review Letters* 66.16 (1991).
- [104] T. Sakamoto, Y. Nakamura, and K. Nakamura. "Distributions of single-carrier traps in GaAs/Al_xGa_{1-x}As heterostructures". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 67.15 (1995).
- [105] F. Liefrink, J. I. Dijkhuis, and H. van Houten. "Low-frequency noise in quantum point contacts". In: *Semiconductor Science and Technology* 9.12 (1994).
- [106] G. Ramon and X. Hu. "Decoherence of spin qubits due to a nearby charge fluctuator in gate-defined double dots". In: *Physical Review B* 81.4 (2010).
- [107] W.-C. Hua, M.H. Lee, P.S. Chen, M.-J. Tsai, and C.W. Liu. "Threading dislocation induced low frequency noise in strained-Si nMOSFETs". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* 26.9 (2005).
- [108] M.H. Lee, P.S. Chen, W.-C. Hua, C.-Y. Yu, Y.T. Tseng, S. Maikap, Y.M. Hsua, C.W. Liu, S.C. Lu, W.-Y. Hsieh, and M.-J. Tsai. "Comprehensive low-frequency and RF noise characteristics in strained-Si NMOSFETs". In: *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting 2003*. IEEE. ISBN: 0-7803-7872-5.
- [109] E. Simoen, G. Eneman, P. Verheyen, R. Loo, Kristin De Meyer, and C. Claeys. "Processing aspects in the low-frequency noise of nMOSFETs on strained-silicon substrates". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 53.5 (2006).
- [110] G. Burkard, D. Loss, and D. P. DiVincenzo. "Coupled quantum dots as quantum gates". In: *Physical Review B* 59.3 (1999).
- [111] T. Struck, A. Hollmann, F. Schauer, O. Fedorets, A. Schmidbauer, K. Sawano, H. Riemann, N. V. Abrosimov, Ł. Cywiński, D. Bougeard, and L. R. Schreiber. "Low-frequency spin qubit energy splitting noise in highly purified ²⁸Si/SiGe". In: *npj Quantum Information* 6.1 (2020).
- [112] X. Xue, T. F. Watson, J. Helsen, D. R. Ward, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, S. N. Coppersmith, M. A. Eriksson, S. Wehner, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Benchmarking Gate Fidelities in a Si/SiGe Two-Qubit Device". In: *Physical Review X* 9.2 (2019).
- [113] J. Yoneda, K. Takeda, T. Otsuka, T. Nakajima, M. R. Delbecq, G. Allison, T. Honda, T. Kodera, S. Oda, Y. Hoshi, N. Usami, K. M. Itoh, and S. Tarucha. "A quantumdot spin qubit with coherence limited by charge noise and fidelity higher than 99.9%". In: *Nature Nanotechnology* 13.2 (2018).
- [114] A. Noiri, K. Takeda, T. Nakajima, T. Kobayashi, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and S. Tarucha. "Fast universal quantum gate above the fault-tolerance threshold in silicon". In: *Nature* 601.7893 (2022).
- [115] X. Xue, M. Russ, N. Samkharadze, B. Undseth, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Quantum logic with spin qubits crossing the surface code threshold". In: *Nature* 601.7893 (2022).

- [116] L. E. A. Stehouwer. *Master thesis: Atomic insights into valley splitting in Si/SiGe quantum dots.* Delft, 2021.
- [117] T. Kramer and C. Bracher. "Propagation in Crossed Electric and Magnetic Fields: The Quantum Source Approach". In: *Symmetries in Science XI*. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2004.
- [118] P. Drude. "Zur Elektronentheorie der Metalle". In: Annalen der Physik 306.3 (1900).
- [119] B. Paquelet Wuetz, M. P. Losert, A. Tosato, M. Lodari, P. L. Bavdaz, L. Stehouwer, P. Amin, J. S. Clarke, S. N. Coppersmith, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, M. Friesen, and G. Scappucci. "Effect of Quantum Hall Edge Strips on Valley Splitting in Silicon Quantum Wells". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 125.18 (2020).
- [120] A. Matthiessen and A. C. C. Vogt. "IV. On the influence of temperature on the electric conducting-power of alloys". In: *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London* 154 (1864).
- [121] D. Monroe. "Comparison of mobility-limiting mechanisms in high-mobility $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructures". In: *Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures* 11.4 (1993).
- [122] D. Laroche, S. H. Huang, E. Nielsen, Y. Chuang, J. Y. Li, C. W. Liu, and T. M. Lu. "Scattering mechanisms in shallow undoped Si/SiGe quantum wells". In: *AIP Advances* 5.10 (2015).
- [123] X. Mi, T. M. Hazard, C. Payette, K. Wang, D. M. Zajac, J. V. Cady, and J. R. Petta. "Magnetotransport studies of mobility limiting mechanisms in undoped Si/SiGe heterostructures". In: *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 92.3 (2015).
- [124] S. H. Huang, T. M. Lu, S. C. Lu, C. H. Lee, C. W. Liu, and D. C. Tsui. "Mobility enhancement of strained Si by optimized SiGe/Si/SiGe structures". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 101.4 (2012).
- [125] L. A. Tracy, E. H. Hwang, K. Eng, G. A. Ten Eyck, E. P. Nordberg, K. Childs, M. S. Carroll, M. P. Lilly, and S Das Sarma. "Observation of percolation-induced twodimensional metal-insulator transition in a Si MOSFET". In: *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 79.23 (2009).
- [126] H. L. Stormer. "Nobel Lecture: The fractional quantum Hall effect". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 71.4 (1999).
- [127] S. Meng. Integer Quantum Hall Effect. Tech. rep. Zurich: ETH Zurich, 2018.
- [128] W. Poirier, S. Djordjevic, F. Schopfer, and O. Thévenot. "The ampere and the electrical units in the quantum era". In: *Comptes Rendus Physique* 20.1-2 (2019).
- [129] K. von Klitzing. "The quantized Hall effect". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 58.3 (1986).
- [130] S. M. Girvin. "The Quantum Hall Effect: Novel Excitations And Broken Symmetries". In: *Aspects topologiques de la physique en basse dimension. Topological aspects of low dimensional systems.* Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

- [131] R. Landauer. "Spatial Variation of Currents and Fields Due to Localized Scatterers in Metallic Conduction". In: *IBM Journal of Research and Development* 1.3 (1957).
- [132] R. Landauer. "Electrical resistance of disordered one-dimensional lattices". In: *Philosophical Magazine* 21.172 (1970).
- [133] P. Stano and D. Loss. "Review of performance metrics of spin qubits in gated semiconducting nanostructures". In: *Nature Reviews Physics* 4.10 (2022).
- [134] M G Borselli, R S Ross, A A Kiselev, E T Croke, K S Holabird, P W Deelman, L D Warren, I Alvarado-Rodriguez, I Milosavljevic, F C Ku, W S Wong, A E Schmitz, M Sokolich, M F Gyure, and A T Hunter. "Measurement of valley splitting in highsymmetry Si/SiGe quantum dots". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 98.12 (2011).
- [135] H. E. Ercan, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. Friesen. "Strong electron-electron interactions in Si/SiGe quantum dots". In: *Physical Review B* 104.23 (2021).
- [136] B. M. Freeman, J. S. Schoenfield, and H. W. Jiang. "Comparison of low frequency charge noise in identically patterned Si/SiO₂ and Si/SiGe quantum dots". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 108.25 (2016).
- [137] G. Ithier, E. Collin, P. Joyez, P. J. Meeson, D. Vion, D. Esteve, F. Chiarello, A. Shnirman, Y. Makhlin, J. Schriefl, and G. Schön. "Decoherence in a superconducting quantum bit circuit". In: *Physical Review B* 72.13 (2005).
- [138] B. Thorgrimsson, D. Kim, Y. C. Yang, L. W. Smith, C. B. Simmons, Daniel R. Ward, Ryan H. Foote, J. Corrigan, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. A. Eriksson. "Extending the coherence of a quantum dot hybrid qubit". In: *npj Quantum Information* 3.1 (2017).
- [139] A. Sammak. "Silicon-Based Integration of Groups III, IV, V Chemical Vapor Depositions in High-Quality Photodiodes". PhD thesis. Delft: TU Delft, 2012.
- [140] K. H. Chung, N. Yao, J. Benziger, J. C. Sturm, K. K. Singh, D. Carlson, and S. Kuppurao. "Ultrahigh growth rate of epitaxial silicon by chemical vapor deposition at low temperature with neopentasilane". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 92.11 (2008).
- [141] D. Sabbagh, N. Thomas, J. Torres, R. Pillarisetty, P. Amin, H.C. George, K. Singh, A. Budrevich, M. Robinson, D. Merrill, L. Ross, J. Roberts, L. Lampert, L. Massa, S.V. Amitonov, J.M. Boter, G. Droulers, H.G.J. Eenink, M. van Hezel, D. Donelson, M. Veldhorst, L.M.K. Vandersypen, J.S. Clarke, and G. Scappucci. "Quantum Transport Properties of Industrial ²⁸Si/²⁸SiO₂". In: *Physical Review Applied* 12.1 (2019).
- [142] K. Ismail. "Effect of dislocations in strained Si/SiGe on electron mobility". In: Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures 14.4 (1996).
- [143] NanoFase.eu. TEM Transmission Electron Microscopy. URL: http://nanofase. eu/show/tem---transmission-electron-microscopy_1454/ (visited on 06/16/2022).
- [144] cameca. Introduction to SIMS. URL: https://www.cameca.com/products/ sims/technique (visited on 11/06/2022).

- [145] David B. Williams and C. Barry Carter. "The Transmission Electron Microscope". In: *Transmission Electron Microscopy*. Boston, MA: Springer US, 1996.
- [146] A. Benninghoven, F. G. Rudenauer, and H. W. Werner. Secondary ion mass spectrometry: basic concepts, instrumental aspects, applications and trends. OSTI.GOV, 1987.
- [147] B. Gault, M. P. Moody, J. M. Cairney, and S. P. Ringer. *Atom Probe Microscopy*. Vol. 160. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2012. ISBN: 978-1-4614-3435-1.
- [148] R.F. Egerton. Electron Energy-Loss Spectroscopy in the Electron Microscope. Boston, MA: Springer US, 2011. ISBN: 978-1-4419-9582-7.
- [149] M.J. Hÿtch, E. Snoeck, and R. Kilaas. "Quantitative measurement of displacement and strain fields from HREM micrographs". In: *Ultramicroscopy* 74.3 (1998).
- [150] AttoCube. Manual attoDRY2100_V1.1.
- [151] N. Craig and T. Lester. *Hitchhiker's Guide to the Dilution Refrigerator*. Tech. rep. Cambridge: Harvard University, 2004.
- [152] R. Schouten. QT designed instrumentation. URL: https://qtwork.tudelft. nl/~schouten/ivvi/index-ivvi.htm (visited on 11/06/2022).
- [153] M. Tiggelman. SPI Rack. URL: https://qtwork.tudelft.nl/~mtiggelman/ (visited on 11/06/2022).
- [154] Copenhagen / Delft / Sydney / Microsoft quantum computing consortium. QCoDeS. 2015. URL: https://qcodes.github.io/Qcodes/ (visited on 11/06/2022).
- [155] B. Paquelet Wuetz, P. L. Bavdaz, L. A. Yeoh, R. Schouten, H. van der Does, M. Tiggelman, D. Sabbagh, A. Sammak, C. G. Almudever, F. Sebastiano, J. S. Clarke, M. Veldhorst, and G. Scappucci. "Multiplexed quantum transport using commercial off-the-shelf CMOS at sub-kelvin temperatures". In: *npj Quantum Information* 6.1 (2020).
- [156] J. Preskill. "Quantum Computing in the NISQ era and beyond". In: *Quantum* 2 (2018).
- [157] B. M. Terhal. "Quantum supremacy, here we come". In: Nature Physics 14.6 (2018).
- [158] B.S. Landman and R.L. Russo. "On a Pin Versus Block Relationship For Partitions of Logic Graphs". In: *IEEE Transactions on Computers* C-20.12 (1971).
- [159] M. Y. Lanzerotti, G. Fiorenza, and R. A. Rand. "Microminiature packaging and integrated circuitry: The work of E. F. Rent, with an application to on-chip interconnection requirements". In: *IBM Journal of Research and Development* 49.4.5 (2005).
- [160] D.P. Franke, J.S. Clarke, L.M.K. Vandersypen, and M. Veldhorst. "Rent's rule and extensibility in quantum computing". In: *Microprocessors and Microsystems* 67 (2019).
- [161] Bluefors. The Cryogenic Wafer Prober. 2019. URL: https://bluefors.com/ products/the-cryogenic-wafer-prober/ (visited on 10/23/2022).

- [162] R. K. Puddy, L. W Smith, H. Al-Taie, C. H. Chong, I. Farrer, J. P. Griffiths, D. A. Ritchie, M. J. Kelly, M. Pepper, and C. G. Smith. "Multiplexed charge-locking device for large arrays of quantum devices". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 107.14 (2015).
- [163] H. Al-Taie, L. W. Smith, B. Xu, P. See, J. P. Griffiths, H. E. Beere, G. A. C. Jones, D. A. Ritchie, M. J. Kelly, and C. G. Smith. "Cryogenic on-chip multiplexer for the study of quantum transport in 256 split-gate devices". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 102.24 (2013).
- [164] H. Al-Taie, L. W. Smith, A. A. J. Lesage, P. See, J. P. Griffiths, H. E. Beere, G. A. C. Jones, D. A. Ritchie, M. J. Kelly, and C. G. Smith. "Spatial mapping and statistical reproducibility of an array of 256 one-dimensional quantum wires". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 118.7 (2015).
- [165] A. A. J. Lesage, L. W. Smith, H. Al-Taie, P. See, J. P. Griffiths, I. Farrer, G. A. C. Jones, D. A. Ritchie, M. J. Kelly, and C. G. Smith. "Assisted extraction of the energy level spacings and lever arms in direct current bias measurements of one-dimensional quantum wires, using an image recognition routine". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 117.1 (2015).
- [166] D. R. Ward, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. A. Eriksson. "Integration of on-chip field-effect transistor switches with dopantless Si/SiGe quantum dots for high-throughput testing". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 102.21 (2013).
- [167] D.M. Zajac, T.M. Hazard, X. Mi, E. Nielsen, and J.R. Petta. "Scalable Gate Architecture for a One-Dimensional Array of Semiconductor Spin Qubits". In: *Physical Review Applied* 6.5 (2016).
- [168] T. F. Watson, S. G. J. Philips, E. Kawakami, D. R. Ward, P. Scarlino, M. Veldhorst, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, M. A. Eriksson, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "A programmable two-qubit quantum processor in silicon". In: *Nature* 555.7698 (2018).
- [169] Texas Instruments. CD54HC4094, CD74HC4094, CD74HCT4094 High-Speed CMOS Logic 8-Stage Shift and Store Bus Register, Three-State. 1997. URL: https://www. ti.com/lit/ds/symlink/cd74hc4094.pdf (visited on 10/23/2022).
- [170] Maxim Integrated. MAX4617/MAX4618/MAX4619 High-Speed, Low-Voltage, CMOS Analog Multiplexers/Switches. 1999. URL: https://datasheets.maximintegrated. com/en/ds/MAX4617-MAX4619.pdf (visited on 10/23/2022).
- [171] N. Samkharadze, G. Zheng, N. Kalhor, D. Brousse, A. Sammak, U. C. Mendes, A. Blais, G. Scappucci, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Strong spin-photon coupling in silicon". In: *Science* 359.6380 (2018).
- [172] X. Mi, M. Benito, S. Putz, D. M. Zajac, J. M. Taylor, G. Burkard, and J. R. Petta. "A coherent spin-photon interface in silicon". In: *Nature* 555.7698 (2018).
- [173] D. M. Zajac, A. J. Sigillito, M. Russ, F. Borjans, J. M. Taylor, G. Burkard, and J. R. Petta. "Resonantly driven CNOT gate for electron spins". In: *Science* 359.6374 (2018).

- [174] T. M. Lu, J. Liu, J. Kim, K. Lai, D. C. Tsui, and Y. H. Xie. "Capacitively induced high mobility two-dimensional electron gas in undoped $SiSi_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructures with atomic-layer-deposited dielectric". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 90.18 (2007).
- [175] J. S. Kim, A. M. Tyryshkin, and S. A. Lyon. "Annealing shallow Si/SiO₂ interface traps in electron-beam irradiated high-mobility metal-oxide-silicon transistors". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 110.12 (2017).
- [176] S. Das Sarma and E. H. Hwang. "Mobility versus quality in two-dimensional semiconductor structures". In: *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 90.3 (2014).
- [177] R. Li, L. Petit, D. P. Franke, J. P. Dehollain, J. Helsen, M. Steudtner, N. K. Thomas, Z. R. Yoscovits, K. J. Singh, S. Wehner, L. M. K. Vandersypen, J. S. Clarke, and M. Veldhorst. "A crossbar network for silicon quantum dot qubits". In: *Science Advances* 4.7 (2018).
- [178] X. Mi, J. V. Cady, D. M. Zajac, J. Stehlik, L. F. Edge, and J. R. Petta. "Circuit quantum electrodynamics architecture for gate-defined quantum dots in silicon". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 110.4 (2017).
- [179] S. F. Neyens, R. H. Foote, B. Thorgrimsson, T. J. Knapp, Th. McJunkin, L. M. K. Vandersypen, P. Amin, N. K. Thomas, J. S. Clarke, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. A. Eriksson. "The critical role of substrate disorder in valley splitting in Si quantum wells". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 112.24 (2018).
- [180] M. Veldhorst, H. G. J. Eenink, C. H. Yang, and A. S. Dzurak. "Silicon CMOS architecture for a spin-based quantum computer". In: *Nature Communications* 8.1 (2017).
- [181] L. M. K. Vandersypen, H. Bluhm, J. S. Clarke, A. S. Dzurak, R. Ishihara, A. Morello, D. J. Reilly, L. R. Schreiber, and M. Veldhorst. "Interfacing spin qubits in quantum dots and donors—hot, dense, and coherent". In: *npj Quantum Information* 3.1 (2017).
- [182] L. Petit, H. G. J. Eenink, M. Russ, W. I. L. Lawrie, N. W. Hendrickx, S. G. J. Philips, J. S. Clarke, L. M. K. Vandersypen, and M. Veldhorst. "Universal quantum logic in hot silicon qubits". In: *Nature* 580.7803 (2020).
- [183] S.J. Pauka, K. Das, J.M. Hornibrook, G.C. Gardner, M.J. Manfra, M.C. Cassidy, and D.J. Reilly. "Characterizing Quantum Devices at Scale with Custom Cryo-CMOS". In: *Physical Review Applied* 13.5 (2020).
- [184] M. Veldhorst, J. C. C. Hwang, C. H. Yang, A. W. Leenstra, B. de Ronde, J. P. Dehollain, J. T. Muhonen, F. E. Hudson, K. M. Itoh, A. Morello, and A. S. Dzurak. "An addressable quantum dot qubit with fault-tolerant control-fidelity". In: *Nature Nanotechnology* 9.12 (2014).
- [185] C. H. Yang, K. W. Chan, R. Harper, W. Huang, T. Evans, J. C. C. Hwang, B. Hensen, A. Laucht, T. Tanttu, F. E. Hudson, S. T. Flammia, K. M. Itoh, A. Morello, S. D. Bartlett, and A. S. Dzurak. "Silicon qubit fidelities approaching incoherent noise limits via pulse engineering". In: *Nature Electronics* 2.4 (2019).

- [186] M. Veldhorst, C. H. Yang, J. C. C. Hwang, W. Huang, J. P. Dehollain, J. T. Muhonen, S. Simmons, A. Laucht, F. E. Hudson, K. M. Itoh, A. Morello, and A. S. Dzurak. "A two-qubit logic gate in silicon". In: *Nature* 526.7573 (2015).
- [187] T. Ando, A. B. Fowler, and F. Stern. "Electronic properties of two-dimensional systems". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 54.2 (1982).
- [188] C. H. Yang, A. Rossi, R. Ruskov, N. S. Lai, F. A. Mohiyaddin, S. Lee, C. Tahan, G. Klimeck, A. Morello, and A. S. Dzurak. "Spin-valley lifetimes in a silicon quantum dot with tunable valley splitting". In: *Nature Communications* 4.May (2013).
- [189] C. H. Yang, R. C. C. Leon, J. C. C. Hwang, A. Saraiva, T. Tanttu, W. Huang, J. Camirand Lemyre, K. W. Chan, K. Y. Tan, F. E. Hudson, K. M. Itoh, A. Morello, M. Pioro-Ladrière, A. Laucht, and A. S. Dzurak. "Operation of a silicon quantum processor unit cell above one kelvin". In: *Nature* 580.7803 (2020).
- [190] A. Hollmann, T. Struck, V. Langrock, A. Schmidbauer, F. Schauer, T. Leonhardt, K. Sawano, H. Riemann, N. V. Abrosimov, D. Bougeard, and L. R. Schreiber. "Large, tunable valley splitting and single-spin relaxation mechanisms in a Si/Si_xGe_{1-x} quantum dot". In: *Physical Review Applied* 13.3 (2020).
- [191] D. M. Zajac, T. M. Hazard, X. Mi, K. Wang, and J. R. Petta. "A reconfigurable gate architecture for Si/SiGe quantum dots". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 106.22 (2015).
- [192] Z. Shi, C. B. Simmons, J. R. Prance, J. K. Gamble, M. Friesen, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. A. Eriksson. "Tunable singlet-triplet splitting in a few-electron Si/SiGe quantum dot". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 99.23 (2011).
- [193] P. Scarlino, E. Kawakami, T. Jullien, D. R. Ward, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, M. A. Eriksson, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Dressed photon-orbital states in a quantum dot: Intervalley spin resonance". In: *Physical Review B* 95.16 (2017).
- [194] R. Ferdous, E. Kawakami, P. Scarlino, M. P. Nowak, D. R. Ward, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, S. N. Coppersmith, M. Friesen, M. A. Eriksson, L. M. K. Vandersypen, and R. Rahman. "Valley dependent anisotropic spin splitting in silicon quantum dots". In: *npj Quantum Information* 4.1 (2018).
- [195] X. Mi, C. G. Péterfalvi, G. Burkard, and J. R. Petta. "High-resolution valley spectroscopy of Si quantum dots". In: *Physical review letters* 119.17 (2017).
- [196] F. Borjans, D. M. Zajac, T. M. Hazard, and J. R. Petta. "Single-spin relaxation in a synthetic spin-orbit field". In: *Physical Review Applied* 11.4 (2019).
- [197] X. Mi, S. Kohler, and J. R. Petta. "Landau-Zener interferometry of valley-orbit states in Si/SiGe double quantum dots". In: *Physical Review B* 98.16 (2018).
- [198] P. Weitz, R. J. Haug, K. Von Klitzing, and F. Schäffler. "Tilted magnetic field studies of spin-and valley-splittings in $Si/Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ heterostructures". In: *Surface science* 361 (1996).
- [199] K. Lai, W. Pan, D. C. Tsui, S. Lyon, M. Mühlberger, and F. Schäffler. "Two-flux composite fermion series of the fractional quantum Hall states in strained Si". In: *Physical review letters* 93.15 (2004).

- [200] K. Sasaki, R. Masutomi, K. Toyama, K. Sawano, Y. Shiraki, and T. Okamoto. "Wellwidth dependence of valley splitting in Si/SiGe quantum wells". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 95.22 (2009).
- [201] A. Sammak, D. Sabbagh, N. W. Hendrickx, M. Lodari, B. Paquelet Wuetz, A. Tosato, L. R. Yeoh, M. Bollani, M. Virgilio, M. A. Schubert, P. Zaumseil, G. Capellini, M. Veldhorst, and G. Scappucci. "Shallow and Undoped Germanium Quantum Wells: A Playground for Spin and Hybrid Quantum Technology". In: *Advanced Functional Materials* 29.14 (2019).
- [202] S. Goswami, K. A. Slinker, M. Friesen, L. M. McGuire, J. L. Truitt, Ch. Tahan, L. J. Klein, J. O. Chu, P. M. Mooney, D. W. Van Der Weide, R. Joynt, S. N. Coppersmith, and Mark A. Eriksson. "Controllable valley splitting in silicon quantum devices". In: *Nature Physics* 3.1 (2007).
- [203] D. B. Chklovskii, B. I. Shklovskii, and L. I. Glazman. "Electrostatics of edge channels". In: *Physical Review B* 46.7 (1992).
- [204] J. H. Davies. *The physics of low-dimensional semiconductors: an introduction*. Cambridge university press, 1998.
- [205] J. K. Gamble, M. A. Eriksson, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. Friesen. "Disorder-induced valley-orbit hybrid states in Si quantum dots". In: *Physical Review B - Condensed Matter and Materials Physics* 88.3 (2013).
- [206] A. Frees, J. K. Gamble, D. R. Ward, R. Blume-Kohout, M. A. Eriksson, M. Friesen, and S. N. Coppersmith. "Compressed optimization of device architectures for semiconductor quantum devices". In: *Physical Review Applied* 11.2 (2019).
- [207] L. M. K. Vandersypen and M. A. Eriksson. "Quantum computing with semiconductor spins". In: *Physics Today* 72.8 (2019).
- [208] A. M. J. Zwerver, T. Krähenmann, T. F. Watson, L. Lampert, H. C. George, R. Pillarisetty, S. A. Bojarski, P. Amin, S. V. Amitonov, J. M. Boter, R. Caudillo, D. Correas-Serrano, J. P. Dehollain, G. Droulers, E. M. Henry, R. Kotlyar, M. Lodari, F. Lüthi, D. J. Michalak, B. K. Mueller, S. Neyens, J. Roberts, N. Samkharadze, G. Zheng, O. K. Zietz, G. Scappucci, M. Veldhorst, L. M. K. Vandersypen, and J. S. Clarke. "Qubits made by advanced semiconductor manufacturing". In: *Nature Electronics* 5.3 (2022).
- [209] B. M. Maune, M. G. Borselli, B. Huang, T. D. Ladd, P. W. Deelman, K. S. Holabird, A. A. Kiselev, I. Alvarado-Rodriguez, R. S. Ross, A. E. Schmitz, M. Sokolich, C. A. Watson, M. F. Gyure, and A. T. Hunter. "Coherent singlet-triplet oscillations in a silicon-based double quantum dot". In: *Nature* 481.7381 (2012).
- [210] K. Takeda, A. Noiri, T. Nakajima, J. Yoneda, T. Kobayashi, and S. Tarucha. "Quantum tomography of an entangled three-qubit state in silicon". In: *Nature Nanotechnology* 16.9 (2021).
- [211] M. Russ, C. G. Péterfalvi, and G. Burkard. "Theory of valley-resolved spectroscopy of a Si triple quantum dot coupled to a microwave resonator". In: *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 32.16 (2020).

- [212] E. H. Chen, K. Raach, A. Pan, A. A. Kiselev, E. Acuna, J. Z. Blumoff, T. Brecht, M. D. Choi, W. Ha, D. R. Hulbert, M. P. Jura, T. E. Keating, R. Noah, B. Sun, B. J. Thomas, M. G. Borselli, C.A.C. Jackson, M. T. Rakher, and R. S. Ross. "Detuning Axis Pulsed Spectroscopy of Valley-Orbital States in Si/SiGe Quantum Dots". In: *Physical Review Applied* 15.4 (2021).
- [213] E. Kawakami, P. Scarlino, D. R. Ward, F. R. Braakman, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, Mark Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, M. A. Eriksson, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Electrical control of a long-lived spin qubit in a Si/SiGe quantum dot". In: *Nature Nanotechnology* 9.9 (2014).
- [214] B. Tariq and X. Hu. "Effects of interface steps on the valley-orbit coupling in a Si/SiGe quantum dot". In: *Physical Review B* 100.12 (2019).
- [215] J.P. Dodson, H. E. Ercan, J. Corrigan, M. P. Losert, N. Holman, T. McJunkin, L.F. Edge, M. Friesen, S.N. Coppersmith, and M.A. Eriksson. "How Valley-Orbit States in Silicon Quantum Dots Probe Quantum Well Interfaces". In: *Physical Review Letters* 128.14 (2022).
- [216] S. E. Bennett, T. M. Smeeton, D. W. Saxey, G. D. W. Smith, S. E. Hooper, J. Heffernan, C. J. Humphreys, and R. A. Oliver. "Atom probe tomography characterisation of a laser diode structure grown by molecular beam epitaxy". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 111.5 (2012).
- [217] P. Bas, A. Bostel, B. Deconihout, and D. Blavette. "A general protocol for the reconstruction of 3D atom probe data". In: *Applied Surface Science* 87-88 (1995).
- [218] N. Rolland, F. Vurpillot, Sé. Duguay, B. Mazumder, J. S. Speck, and D. Blavette. "New Atom Probe Tomography Reconstruction Algorithm for Multilayered Samples: Beyond the Hemispherical Constraint". In: *Microscopy and Microanalysis* 23.2 (2017).
- [219] S. Koelling, M. Gilbert, J. Goossens, A. Hikavyy, O. Richard, and W. Vandervorst. "High depth resolution analysis of Si/SiGe multilayers with the atom probe". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 95.14 (2009).
- [220] D. Melkonyan, C. Fleischmann, L. Arnoldi, J. Demeulemeester, A. Kumar, J. Bogdanowicz, F. Vurpillot, and W. Vandervorst. "Atom probe tomography analysis of SiGe fins embedded in SiO₂ : Facts and artefacts". In: *Ultramicroscopy* 179 (2017).
- [221] G. Voronoi. "Nouvelles applications des paramètres continus à la théorie des formes quadratiques. Premier mémoire. Sur quelques propriétés des formes quadratiques positives parfaites." In: *Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelles Journal)* 1908.133 (1908).
- [222] G. Voronoi. "Nouvelles applications des paramètres continus à la théorie des formes quadratiques. Deuxième mémoire. Recherches sur les parallélloèdres primitifs."
 In: Journal für die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelles Journal) 1908.134 (1908).

- [223] T. McJunkin, B. Harpt, Y. Feng, M. Losert, R. Rahman, J. P. Dodson, M. A. Wolfe, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, S. N. Coppersmith, M. Friesen, R. Joynt, and M. A. Eriksson. "SiGe quantum wells with oscillating Ge concentrations for quantum dot qubits". In: (2021).
- [224] S. Koelling, S. Assali, M. Atalla, A. Kumar, A. Attiaoui, M. Lodari, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and O. Moutanabbir. "(Invited) Probing Semiconductor Heterostructures from the Atomic to the Micrometer Scale". In: *ECS Transactions* 98.5 (2020).
- [225] W. I. L. Lawrie, H. G. J. Eenink, N. W. Hendrickx, J. M. Boter, L. Petit, S. V. Amitonov, M. Lodari, B. Paquelet Wuetz, C. Volk, S. G. J. Philips, G. Droulers, N. Kalhor, F. van Riggelen, D. Brousse, A. Sammak, L. M. K. Vandersypen, G. Scappucci, and M. Veldhorst. "Quantum dot arrays in silicon and germanium". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 116.8 (2020).
- [226] S. Aja-Fernández and G. Vegas-Sánchez-Ferrero. Statistical Analysis of Noise in MRI: Modeling, Filtering and Estimation. Springer International Publishing, 2016. ISBN: 978-3-319-39933-1.
- [227] L. DiCarlo, H. J. Lynch, A. C. Johnson, L. I. Childress, K. Crockett, C. M. Marcus, M. P. Hanson, and A. C. Gossard. "Differential Charge Sensing and Charge Delocalization in a Tunable Double Quantum Dot". In: *Physical Review Letters* 92.22 (2004).
- [228] D. J. Larson, T. J. Prosa, R. M. Ulfig, B. P. Geiser, and T. F. Kelly. *Local Electrode Atom Probe Tomography*. New York, NY: Springer New York, 2013. ISBN: 978-1-4614-8720-3.
- [229] Gwyddion documentation, chapter 4: One-dimensional roughness parameters. URL: http://gwyddion.net/documentation/280user-guide-en/roughnessiso.html (visited on 06/29/2021).
- [230] D. Degli Esposti, B. Paquelet Wuetz, V. Fezzi, M. Lodari, A. Sammak, and G. Scappucci. "Wafer-scale low-disorder 2DEG in ²⁸Si/SiGe without an epitaxial Si cap". In: Applied Physics Letters 120.18 (2022).
- [231] A. R. Mills, C. R. Guinn, M. J. Gullans, A. J. Sigillito, M. M. Feldman, E. Nielsen, and J. R. Petta. "Two-qubit silicon quantum processor with operation fidelity exceeding 99%". In: *Science Advances* 8.14 (2022).
- [232] P. Harvey-Collard, J. Dijkema, G. Zheng, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and L. M.K. Vandersypen. "Coherent Spin-Spin Coupling Mediated by Virtual Microwave Photons". In: *Physical Review X* 12.2 (2022).
- [233] T. Thorbeck and N. M. Zimmerman. "Formation of strain-induced quantum dots in gated semiconductor nanostructures". In: *AIP Advances* 5.8 (2015).
- [234] Q. Gao, C. C. Cheng, P. J. Chen, W. J. Choyke, and J. T. Yates. "Chlorine bonding sites and bonding configurations on Si(100)–(2×1)". In: *The Journal of Chemical Physics* 98.10 (1993).
- [235] L. Bolotov, P. Fons, H. Mimura, T. Sasaki, and N. Uchida. "Electronic modification of wet-prepared Si surfaces by a dichlorosilane reaction at elevated temperature". In: *Applied Surface Science* 570 (2021).

[236]	J.M. Hartmann, F. Andrieu, D. Lafond, T. Ernst, Y. Bogumilowicz, V. Delaye, O. We-
	ber, D. Rouchon, A.M. Papon, and N. Cherkashin. "Reduced Pressure-Chemical
	Vapour Deposition of Si/SiGe heterostructures for nanoelectronics". In: Materi-
	als Science and Engineering: B 154-155 (2008).

- [237] J. M. Hartmann, A. Abbadie, N. Cherkashin, H. Grampeix, and L. Clavelier. "Epitaxial growth of Ge thick layers on nominal and 6° off Si(001); Ge surface passivation by Si". In: *Semiconductor Science and Technology* 24.5 (2009).
- [238] M. Bauer and S.G. Thomas. "Novel chemical precursors and novel CVD strategies enabling low temperature epitaxy of Si and Si:C alloys". In: *Thin Solid Films* 518.6 (2010).
- [239] B. Vincent, R. Loo, W. Vandervorst, G. Brammertz, and M. Caymax. "Low temperature Si homo-epitaxy by reduced pressure chemical vapor deposition using dichlorosilane, silane and trisilane". In: *Journal of Crystal Growth* 312.19 (2010).
- [240] B. Vincent, R. Loo, W. Vandervorst, J. Delmotte, B. Douhard, V.K. Valev, M. Vanbel, T. Verbiest, J. Rip, B. Brijs, T. Conard, C. Claypool, S. Takeuchi, S. Zaima, J. Mitard, B. De Jaeger, J. Dekoster, and M. Caymax. "Si passivation for Ge pMOSFETs: Impact of Si cap growth conditions". In: *Solid-State Electronics* 60.1 (2011).
- [241] J.M. Hartmann, V. Benevent, J.F. Damlencourt, and T. Billon. "A benchmarking of silane, disilane and dichlorosilane for the low temperature growth of group IV layers". In: *Thin Solid Films* 520.8 (2012).
- [242] J. Aubin, J.M. Hartmann, and V. Benevent. "Epitaxial growth of Si and SiGe at temperatures lower than 500°C with disilane and germane". In: *Thin Solid Films* 602 (2016).
- [243] W. S. Liu, M. A. Nicolet, H. H. Park, B. H. Koak, and J. W. Lee. "The hydridation and nitridation of GeSi oxide annealed in ammonia". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 78.4 (1995).
- [244] Ethan Long, Alexander Azarov, Frode Kløw, Augustinas Galeckas, Andrej Yu Kuznetsov, and Spyridon Diplas. "Ge redistribution in SiO₂/SiGe structures under thermal oxidation: Dynamics and predictions". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 111.2 (2012).
- [245] H. K. Liou, P. Mei, U. Gennser, and E. S. Yang. "Effects of Ge concentration on SiGe oxidation behavior". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 59.10 (1991).
- [246] F. K. LeGoues, R. Rosenberg, T. Nguyen, F. Himpsel, and B. S. Meyerson. "Oxidation studies of SiGe". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 65.4 (1989).
- [247] E.F. Schubert. Semiconductors and Semimetals. Vol. 40. Elsevier, 1994.
- [248] S. Das Sarma and F. Stern. "Single-particle relaxation time versus scattering time in an impure electron gas". In: *Physical Review B* 32.12 (1985).
- [249] Q. Qian, J. Nakamura, S. Fallahi, G. C. Gardner, J. D. Watson, S. Lüscher, J. A. Folk, G. A. Csáthy, and M. J. Manfra. "Quantum lifetime in ultrahigh quality GaAs quantum wells: Relationship to $\Delta(5/2)$ and impact of density fluctuations". In: *Physical Review B* 96.3 (2017).

- [250] P. T. Coleridge. "Small-angle scattering in two-dimensional electron gases". In: *Physical Review B* 44.8 (1991).
- [251] C. W. J. Beenakker. "Theory of Coulomb-blockade oscillations in the conductance of a quantum dot". In: *Physical Review B* 44.4 (1991).
- [252] B. Paquelet Wuetz, D. Degli Esposti, A. M. J. Zwerver, S. V. Amitonov, M. Botifoll, J. Arbiol, A. Sammak, L. M. K. Vandersypen, M. Russ, and G. Scappucci. "Reducing charge noise in quantum dots by using thin silicon quantum wells". In: *arXiv:2209.07242* (2022).
- [253] M. T. Mądzik, S. Asaad, A. Youssry, B. Joecker, K. M. Rudinger, E. Nielsen, K. C. Young, T. J. Proctor, A. D. Baczewski, A. Laucht, V. Schmitt, F. E. Hudson, K. M. Itoh, A. M. Jakob, B. C. Johnson, D.N. Jamieson, A. S. Dzurak, C. Ferrie, R. Blume-Kohout, and A. Morello. "Precision tomography of a three-qubit donor quantum processor in silicon". In: *Nature* 601.7893 (2022).
- [254] F. Borjans, X. G. Croot, X. Mi, M. J. Gullans, and J. R. Petta. "Resonant microwavemediated interactions between distant electron spins". In: *Nature* 577.7789 (2020).
- [255] J. Yoneda, W. Huang, M. Feng, C. H. Yang, K. W. Chan, T. Tanttu, W. Gilbert, R. C. C. Leon, F. E. Hudson, K. M. Itoh, A. Morello, S. D. Bartlett, A. Laucht, A. Saraiva, and A. S. Dzurak. "Coherent spin qubit transport in silicon". In: *Nature Communications* 12.1 (2021).
- [256] A. Noiri, K. Takeda, T. Nakajima, T. Kobayashi, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and S. Tarucha. "A shuttling-based two-qubit logic gate for linking distant silicon quantum processors". In: *Nature Communications* 13.1 (2022).
- [257] E. J. Connors, J. Nelson, L. F. Edge, and J. M. Nichol. "Charge-noise spectroscopy of Si/SiGe quantum dots via dynamically-decoupled exchange oscillations". In: *Nature Communications* 13.1 (2022).
- [258] R. People and J. C. Bean. "Calculation of critical layer thickness versus lattice mismatch for $\text{Ge}_x \text{Si}_{1-x}/\text{Si}$ strained-layer heterostructures". In: *Applied Physics Let ters* 47.3 (1985).
- [259] J. Basset, A. Stockklauser, D.-D. Jarausch, T. Frey, C. Reichl, W. Wegscheider, A. Wallraff, K. Ensslin, and T. Ihn. "Evaluating charge noise acting on semiconductor quantum dots in the circuit quantum electrodynamics architecture". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 105.6 (2014).
- [260] E. R. MacQuarrie, S. F. Neyens, J. P. Dodson, J. Corrigan, B. Thorgrimsson, N. Holman, M. Palma, L. F. Edge, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. A. Eriksson. "Progress toward a capacitively mediated CNOT between two charge qubits in Si/SiGe". In: *npj Quantum Information* 6.1 (2020).
- [261] F. Pezzoli, E. Bonera, E. Grilli, M. Guzzi, S. Sanguinetti, D. Chrastina, G. Isella, H. von Känel, E. Wintersberger, J. Stangl, and G. Bauer. "Phonon strain shift coefficients in $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ alloys". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 103.9 (2008).
- [262] F. Cerdeira, C. J. Buchenauer, Fred H. Pollak, and Manuel Cardona. "Stress-Induced Shifts of First-Order Raman Frequencies of Diamond- and Zinc-Blende-Type Semiconductors". In: *Physical Review B* 5.2 (1972).

- [263] D. J. Lockwood and J.-M. Baribeau. "Strain-shift coefficients for phonons in $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ epilayers on silicon". In: *Physical Review B* 45.15 (1992).
- [264] S. Nakashima, T. Mitani, M. Ninomiya, and K. Matsumoto. "Raman investigation of strain in Si/SiGe heterostructures: Precise determination of the strain-shift coefficient of Si bands". In: *Journal of Applied Physics* 99.5 (2006).
- [265] Y. Makhlin and A. Shnirman. "Dephasing of Solid-State Qubits at Optimal Points". In: *Physical Review Letters* 92.17 (2004).
- [266] M. Russ and G. Burkard. "Asymmetric resonant exchange qubit under the influence of electrical noise". In: *Physical Review B* 91.23 (2015).
- [267] Y. C. Yang, S. N. Coppersmith, and M. Friesen. "Achieving high-fidelity singlequbit gates in a strongly driven charge qubit with 1/f charge noise". In: *npj Quantum Information* 5.1 (2019).
- [268] J. V. Koski, A. J. Landig, M. Russ, J. C. Abadillo-Uriel, P. Scarlino, B. Kratochwil, C. Reichl, W. Wegscheider, G. Burkard, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, A. Wallraff, K. Ensslin, and T. Ihn. "Strong photon coupling to the quadrupole moment of an electron in a solid-state qubit". In: *Nature Physics* 16.6 (2020).
- [269] R. Van Meter and D. Horsman. "A blueprint for building a quantum computer". In: *Communications of the ACM* 56.10 (2013).
- [270] R. Pillarisetty, N. Thomas, H.C. George, K. Singh, J. Roberts, L. Lampert, P. Amin, T.F. Watson, G. Zheng, J. Torres, M. Metz, R. Kotlyar, P. Keys, J.M. Boter, J.P. Dehollain, G. Droulers, G. Eenink, R. Li, L. Massa, D. Sabbagh, N. Samkharadze, C. Volk, B. P. Wuetz, A.-M. Zwerver, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, L.M.K. Vandersypen, and J.S. Clarke. "Qubit Device Integration Using Advanced Semiconductor Manufacturing Process Technology". In: 2018 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM). IEEE, 2018. ISBN: 978-1-7281-1987-8.
- [271] J. Preskill. "Reliable quantum computers". In: *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences* 454.1969 (1998).
- [272] J. M. Boter, J. P. Dehollain, J. P. G. van Dijk, T. Hensgens, R. Versluis, J. S. Clarke, M. Veldhorst, F. Sebastiano, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "A sparse spin qubit array with integrated control electronics". In: 2019 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM). IEEE, 2019. ISBN: 978-1-7281-4032-2.
- [273] B. Patra, R. M. Incandela, J. P. G. van Dijk, H. A. R. Homulle, L. Song, M. Shahmohammadi, R. B. Staszewski, A. Vladimirescu, M. Babaie, F. Sebastiano, and E. Charbon. "Cryo-CMOS Circuits and Systems for Quantum Computing Applications". In: *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 53.1 (2018).
- [274] J. C. Bardin, T. White, M. Giustina, K. J. Satzinger, K. Arya, P. Roushan, B. Chiaro, J. Kelly, Z. Chen, B. Burkett, Y. Chen, E. Jeffrey, A. Dunsworth, A. Fowler, B. Foxen, C. Gidney, R. Graff, P. Klimov, J. Mutus, M. J. McEwen, M. Neeley, C. J. Neill, E. Lucero, C. Quintana, A. Vainsencher, H. Neven, J. Martinis, T. Huang, S. Das, D. T. Sank, O. Naaman, A. E. Megrant, and R. Barends. "Design and Characterization

of a 28-nm Bulk-CMOS Cryogenic Quantum Controller Dissipating Less Than 2 mW at 3 K". In: *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits* 54.11 (2019).

- [275] B. Patra, J. P. G. van Dijk, S. Subramanian, A. Corna, X. Xue, C. Jeon, F. Sheikh, E. Juarez-Hernandez, B. P. Esparza, H. Rampurawala, B. Carlton, N. Samkharadze, S. Ravikumar, C. Nieva, S. Kim, H. J. Lee, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, M. Veldhorst, L. M. K. Vandersypen, M. Babaie, F. Sebastiano, E. Charbon, and S. Pellerano. "19.1 A Scalable Cryo-CMOS 2-to-20GHz Digitally Intensive Controller for 4×32 Frequency Multiplexed Spin Qubits/Transmons in 22nm FinFET Technology for Quantum Computers". In: 2020 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC). IEEE, 2020. ISBN: 978-1-7281-3205-1.
- [276] L. L. Guevel, G. Billiot, X. Jehl, S. De Franceschi, M. Zurita, Y. Thonnart, M. Vinet, M. Sanquer, R. Maurand, A. G. M. Jansen, and G. Pillonnet. "19.2 A 110mK 295μW 28nm FDSOI CMOS Quantum Integrated Circuit with a 2.8GHz Excitation and nA Current Sensing of an On-Chip Double Quantum Dot". In: 2020 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference - (ISSCC). IEEE, 2020. ISBN: 978-1-7281-3205-1.
- [277] S. Bonen, U. Alakusu, Y. Duan, M. J. Gong, M. S. Dadash, L. Lucci, D. R. Daughton, G. C. Adam, S. Iordanescu, M. Pasteanu, I. Giangu, H. Jia, L. E. Gutierrez, W. T. Chen, N. Messaoudi, D. Harame, A. Muller, R. R. Mansour, P. Asbeck, and S. P. Voinigescu. "Cryogenic Characterization of 22nm FDSOI CMOS Technology for Quantum Computing ICs". In: *IEEE Electron Device Letters* (2018).
- [278] A. Esmailiyan, H. Wang, M. Asker, E. Koskin, D. Leipold, I. Bashir, K. Xu, A. Koziol, E. Blokhina, and R. B. Staszewski. "A Fully Integrated DAC for CMOS Position-Based Charge Qubits with Single-Electron Detector Loopback Testing". In: *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Letters* 3 (2020).
- [279] S. R. Ekanayake, T. Lehmann, A. S. Dzurak, R. G. Clark, and A. Brawley. "Characterization of SOS-CMOS FETs at Low Temperatures for the Design of Integrated Circuits for Quantum Bit Control and Readout". In: *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices* 57.2 (2010).
- [280] O. Mukhanov, B. L. T. Plourde, A. Opremcak, C.-H. Liu, R. McDermott, A. Kirichenko, C. Howington, J. Walter, M. Hutchings, I. Vernik, D. Yohannes, K. Dodge, and A. Ballard. "Scalable Quantum Computing Infrastructure Based on Superconducting Electronics". In: 2019 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM). IEEE, 2019. ISBN: 978-1-7281-4032-2.
- Y. Xu, F. K. Unseld, A. Corna, A. M. J. Zwerver, A. Sammak, D. Brousse, N. Samkharadze, S. V. Amitonov, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, R. Ishihara, and L. M. K. Vandersypen.
 "On-chip integration of Si/SiGe-based quantum dots and switched-capacitor circuits". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 117.14 (2020).
- [282] G. Batey, A. J. Matthews, and M. Patton. "A new ultra-low-temperature cryogenfree experimental platform". In: *Journal of Physics: Conference Series* 568.3 (2014).
- [283] M. A. Green. "The cost of coolers for cooling superconducting devices at temperatures at 4.2 K, 20 K, 40 K and 77 K". In: *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* 101 (2015).

- [284] M. Urdampilleta, D. J. Niegemann, E. Chanrion, B. Jadot, C. Spence, P. A. Mortemousque, C. Bäuerle, L. Hutin, B. Bertrand, S. Barraud, R. Maurand, M. Sanquer, X. Jehl, S. De Franceschi, M. Vinet, and T. Meunier. "Gate-based high fidelity spin readout in a CMOS device". In: *Nature Nanotechnology* 14.8 (2019).
- [285] C. H. Huang, C. H. Yang, C. C. Chen, A. S. Dzurak, and H. S. Goan. "High-fidelity and robust two-qubit gates for quantum-dot spin qubits in silicon". In: *Physical Review A* 99.4 (2019).
- [286] E. Zinner. "Depth profiling by secondary ion mass spectrometry". In: *Scanning* 3.2 (1980).
- [287] M. Pioro-Ladrière, T. Obata, Y. Tokura, Y.-S. Shin, T. Kubo, K. Yoshida, T. Taniyama, and S. Tarucha. "Electrically driven single-electron spin resonance in a slanting Zeeman field". In: *Nature Physics* 4.10 (2008).
- [288] J. R. Petta, A. C. Johnson, J. M. Taylor, E. A. Laird, A. Yacoby, M. D. Lukin, C. M. Marcus, M. P. Hanson, and A. C. Gossard. "Coherent Manipulation of Coupled Electron Spins in Semiconductor Quantum Dots". In: *Science* 309.5744 (2005).
- [289] T. Meunier, V. E. Calado, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Efficient controlled-phase gate for single-spin qubits in quantum dots". In: *Physical Review B* 83.12 (2011).
- [290] X. Xue, B. D'Anjou, T. F. Watson, D. R. Ward, D. E. Savage, M. G. Lagally, M. Friesen, S. N. Coppersmith, M. A. Eriksson, W. A. Coish, and L. M.K. Vandersypen. "Repetitive Quantum Nondemolition Measurement and Soft Decoding of a Silicon Spin Qubit". In: *Physical Review X* 10.2 (2020).
- [291] M. G. Borselli, K. Eng, E. T. Croke, B. M. Maune, B. Huang, R. S. Ross, A. A. Kiselev, P. W. Deelman, I. Alvarado-Rodriguez, A. E. Schmitz, M. Sokolich, K. S. Holabird, T. M. Hazard, M. F. Gyure, and A. T. Hunter. "Pauli spin blockade in undoped Si/SiGe two-electron double quantum dots". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 99.6 (2011).
- [292] L. Egan, D. M. Debroy, C. Noel, A. Risinger, D. Zhu, D. Biswas, M. Newman, M. Li, K. R. Brown, M. Cetina, and C. Monroe. "Fault-tolerant control of an error-corrected qubit". In: *Nature* 598.7880 (2021).
- [293] N. W. Hendrickx, W. I. L. Lawrie, M. Russ, F. van Riggelen, S. L. de Snoo, R. N. Schouten, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and M. Veldhorst. "A four-qubit germanium quantum processor". In: *Nature* 591.7851 (2021).
- [294] K. Takeda, A. Noiri, T. Nakajima, T. Kobayashi, and S. Tarucha. "Quantum error correction with silicon spin qubits". In: *Nature* 608.7924 (2022).
- [295] C. D. Bruzewicz, J. Chiaverini, R. McConnell, and J. M. Sage. "Trapped-ion quantum computing: Progress and challenges". In: *Applied Physics Reviews* 6.2 (2019).
- [296] E. J. Zhang, S. Srinivasan, N. Sundaresan, D. F. Bogorin, Y. Martin, J. B. Hertzberg, J. Timmerwilke, E. J. Pritchett, J. B. Yau, C. Wang, W. Landers, E. P. Lewandowski, A. Narasgond, S. Rosenblatt, G. A. Keefe, I. Lauer, M. B. Rothwell, D. T. McClure, O. E. Dial, J. S. Orcutt, M. Brink, and J. M. Chow. "High-performance superconducting quantum processors via laser annealing of transmon qubits". In: *Science Advances* 8.19 (2022).

- [297] J. M. Arrazola, V. Bergholm, K. Brádler, T. R. Bromley, M. J. Collins, I. Dhand, A. Fumagalli, T. Gerrits, A. Goussev, L. G. Helt, J. Hundal, T. Isacsson, R. B. Israel, J. Izaac, S. Jahangiri, R. Janik, N. Killoran, S. P. Kumar, J. Lavoie, A. E. Lita, D. H. Mahler, M. Menotti, B. Morrison, S. W. Nam, L. Neuhaus, H. Y. Qi, N. Quesada, A. Repingon, K. K. Sabapathy, M. Schuld, D. Su, J. Swinarton, A. Száva, K. Tan, P. Tan, V. D. Vaidya, Z. Vernon, Z. Zabaneh, and Y. Zhang. "Quantum circuits with many photons on a programmable nanophotonic chip". In: *Nature* 591.7848 (2021).
- [298] W. I. L. Lawrie, M. Russ, F. van Riggelen, N. W. Hendrickx, S. L. de Snoo, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and M. Veldhorst. "Simultaneous driving of semiconductor spin qubits at the fault-tolerant threshold". In: arXiv:2109.07837 (2021).
- [299] E. J. Connors, J. J. Nelson, and J. M. Nichol. "Rapid High-Fidelity Spin-State Readout in Si/SiGe Quantum Dots via rf Reflectometry". In: *Physical Review Applied* 13.2 (2020).
- [300] P. Harvey-Collard, B. D'Anjou, M. Rudolph, N. T. Jacobson, J. Dominguez, G. A. Ten Eyck, J. R. Wendt, T. Pluym, M. P. Lilly, W. A. Coish, M. Pioro-Ladrière, and M. S. Carroll. "High-Fidelity Single-Shot Readout for a Spin Qubit via an Enhanced Latching Mechanism". In: *Physical Review X* 8.2 (2018).
- [301] S. J. Angus, A. J. Ferguson, A. S. Dzurak, and R. G. Clark. "Gate-Defined Quantum Dots in Intrinsic Silicon". In: *Nano Letters* 7.7 (2007).
- [302] M. Pioro-Ladrière, Y. Tokura, T. Obata, T. Kubo, and S. Tarucha. "Micromagnets for coherent control of spin-charge qubit in lateral quantum dots". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 90.2 (2007).
- [303] D. Ristè, J. G. van Leeuwen, H.-S. Ku, K. W. Lehnert, and L. DiCarlo. "Initialization by Measurement of a Superconducting Quantum Bit Circuit". In: *Physical Review Letters* 109.5 (2012).
- [304] C. Volk, A. Chatterjee, F. Ansaloni, C. M. Marcus, and F. Kuemmeth. "Fast Charge Sensing of Si/SiGe Quantum Dots via a High-Frequency Accumulation Gate". In: *Nano Letters* 19.8 (2019).
- [305] T. Obata, M. Pioro-Ladrière, Y. Tokura, Y.S. Shin, T. Kubo, K. Yoshida, T. Taniyama, and S. Tarucha. "Coherent manipulation of individual electron spin in a double quantum dot integrated with a micromagnet". In: *Physical Review B* 81.8 (2010).
- [306] A. Kha, R. Joynt, and D. Culcer. "Do micromagnets expose spin qubits to charge and Johnson noise?" In: *Applied Physics Letters* 107.17 (2015).
- [307] L. S. Madsen, F. Laudenbach, M. F. Askarani, F. Rortais, T. Vincent, J. F. F. Bulmer, F. M. Miatto, L. Neuhaus, L.s G. Helt, M. J. Collins, A. E. Lita, T. Gerrits, S. W. Nam, V. D. Vaidya, M. Menotti, I. Dhand, Z. Vernon, N. Quesada, and J. Lavoie. "Quantum computational advantage with a programmable photonic processor". In: *Nature* 606.7912 (2022).
- [308] J. P. Dehollain, U. Mukhopadhyay, V. P. Michal, Y. Wang, B. Wunsch, C. Reichl, W. Wegscheider, M. S. Rudner, E. Demler, and L. M. K. Vandersypen. "Nagaoka ferromagnetism observed in a quantum dot plaquette". In: *Nature* 579.7800 (2020).

[309]	M. Reiher, N. Wiebe, K. M. Svore, D. Wecker, and M. Troyer. "Elucidating reaction
	mechanisms on quantum computers". In: Proceedings of the National Academy
	of Sciences 114.29 (2017).

- [310] M. Lodari, O. Kong, M. Rendell, A. Tosato, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, A. R. Hamilton, and G. Scappucci. "Lightly strained germanium quantum wells with hole mobility exceeding one million". In: *Applied Physics Letters* 120.12 (2022).
- [311] V. N. Golovach, A. Khaetskii, and D. Loss. "Phonon-Induced Decay of the Electron Spin in Quantum Dots". In: *Physical Review Letters* 93.1 (2004).
- [312] H. Watzinger, J. Kukučka, L. Vukušić, F. Gao, T. Wang, F. Schäffler, J.J. Zhang, and G. Katsaros. "A germanium hole spin qubit". In: *Nature Communications* 9.1 (2018).
- [313] N. W. Hendrickx, D. P. Franke, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, and M. Veldhorst. "Fast two-qubit logic with holes in germanium". In: *Nature* 577.7791 (2020).
- [314] P. L. Bavdaz, H. G. J. Eenink, J. van Staveren, M. Lodari, C. G. Almudever, J. S. Clarke, F. Sebasatiano, M. Veldhorst, and G. Scappucci. "A quantum dot crossbar with sublinear scaling of interconnects at cryogenic temperature". In: *npj Quantum Information* 8.1 (2022).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As I look back at my time at QuTech I must get nostalgic: many memories were created, lots of travels happened, liters of coffee were consumed, many problems were solved, others remained unsolved, and overall the time was a life changing experience. The following paragraphs are addressed to the people who have impacted my life during the time of my PhD in one way or another.

First of all I'd like to thank **Giordano**. I clearly remember our interview which started off by a solid five minute discussion on surfing. These initial five minutes gave me the clear feeling that I am going to be at the right place for the coming four years. And looking back now, I think that feeling was not only conserved but also led to an exceptional synergy which ultimately resulted in the heterostructure that is producing promising results around the globe. However, for me the path to this point was far from easy and it was you who found this perfect balance of being empathic when I was struggling, yet demanding when I needed to improve on my writing, presenting, and measurement skills. This superb balance of supervision allowed me to grow more than I could have imagined and if one day I also have to supervise people I would be lucky if I could mimic just a fraction of your supervising skills. I learned a lot from you academically as well as personally and I will stay grateful for the things you taught me.

Lieven thank you for being my promotor. The way your strategic decisions maneuver the spin qubits efforts as well as QuTech continue to inspire and always seem to be spot on. I am also fortunate that you were able to give critical yet constructive feedback on my work and challenged me to improve on data analysis and interpretation.

Menno it was great to be exposed to your pioneering work in germanium and even though our research efforts never fully crossed I think that we had several really good discussions on the silicon platform. I am looking forward to see more of the germanium and silicon work coming from your group.

Alberto you have been my longest-lasting companion. Surfing, dancing, sailing, biking to Amsterdam, late night adventures in the lab, are just a tiny fraction of the activities we did together. Additionally, our discussions on physics, economics, trading strategies, and real estate widened my horizon. And on top of that you are a truly creative researcher with the great ability of making complex subjects look simple. I learned more from you then you can imagine and I am sure you will have a bright future.

Luka, after a strong start of working together our paths deviated a bit, however, I still think that we learned a lot from each other. Especially your eternal optimism was an inspiration and a source of motivation for me. Additionally, reading "One Piece" with you while refilling the fridge was always a lot of fun and definitely one of the non-academic highlights of the week. On the academic side I admire your work on the grids and I am sure you will be able to use your creativity and knowledge on quantum computing architectures after you graduate.

Mario I loved working with and learning from you a lot even though we never wrote that τ_q -paper (see proposition number 5). We also had many fun times outside the lab and I am grateful that we had the chance to spend movie nights, Whisky nights, or restaurant nights over the course of three years together. I wish you and **Gaia** all the best.

Lucas I am blessed that I was allowed to be your supervisor for your Bachelor thesis, and even more so because you chose to come back TWICE, first for your Master thesis and now for your PhD. You always had an outstanding work ethic and challenged me with your critical questions. And even though it might not seem like it at first glance, you were one of my greatest teachers during my time at QuTech.

Davide, The fresh wind you brought with you to the lab during one of the most difficult times (the second pandemic winter) was a blessing and you were able to quickly make an impression with everyone in the lab. The silicon efforts are in great hands with you and I am sure that with your growth mindset the results will keep flowing your way.

Amir the way we synergized during the last 4 years was truly extraordinary for me and I am happy that we complemented each other in our skill sets. Keep the outstanding growth going and take good care of the new generation of students.

Diego you will always be a hero to me for introducing me to the LEIDEN fridge and accompanying me on the way to make it the "SPASS" fridge.

Viviana you complete the trio of students I was allowed to supervise. You always brought great energy inside the lab as well as in numerous group activities outside QuTech, and one could see on a daily basis how you were growing in the new environment which was a unique experience for me.

James it was always a pleasure to have you around in the lab and I very much enjoyed getting to know you during long walks on campus and several activities outside of the lab.

Casper, **Lars**, **Leonardo**, **Beatrice**, thank you for being a vibrant part of the group at different points in time.

Delphine, I can't emphasize enough how thankful I am of yours and Luc's support during the darkest time of my PhD, your entire family has a special place in my heart. I am really happy that over the past 5 years we were able to share quality time together either sailing, having lunch (usually accompanied with heartwarming kids laughter), or great dinner and wine (always accompanied with fruitful conversations). Xiao working with you was really fun even though we never managed to really take off. However, I still think our numerous late night discussions were beneficial for both of us and subsequently, we genuinely learned to appreciate each other's work and ideas. And on top of that I am in awe of your encyclopedic knowledge of the spin qubit literature (is there a paper that you can't cite together with its year?). By the way I am looking forward to our dinner in 10 years. Stephan you were never shy to rigorously explain your experiments to me while also pointing towards problems that you were seeing, which in turn helped the materials team in the heterostructure development. In general, you taught me many things throughout many different topics and I admire the amount of ideas that you produce with ease. Anne-Marije whenever there was a bridge to build between materials and quantum dots you were there to patiently teach me the relevant physics and the necessary experimental techniques. Other than that we shared an office together, went for a fun trip to Portland, and also had the pleasure of organizing the spin qubit strategy day together, so I am really thankful for the amount of memories we created. Max your unique ability of listening to and understanding what the experimentalists need is equally impressive as it is important. You really enrich the spin qubit efforts in Delft and I am looking forward to read more of your proposals in the future. **Guoji** thank you for the nice dinners together with **Liwen**. **Sjaak** it was always fun sharing the struggles of a wet fridge system with you. **Sergey** thank you for your outstanding fab that was vital for all my quantum dot experiments. **Tom** it was really fun going out with you in Konstanz, as well as Portland and Washington DC. **Tsu-kan**, thank you for the many enjoyable talks in the hallways, I wish you well back in Taiwan. **Oriol** thank you for giving me tips and tricks to find my way around in Barcelona. **Jelmer**, **Udit**, **JP**, **Mateusz**, **Alice**, **Toivo**, , **Christian**, **Florian**, **Tobi**, **Andrea**, **Liza**, **Jurgen**, **Kostas**, **Pablo**, **Andrea**, **Kanwal**, **Lara**, **Xin**, **Sander**, **Maxim**, **Carlijn** it was a pleasure working and discussing with you!

Luca I really enjoyed our trip to Portland, where we put our combined navigating skills to shine. We also had great bike ride to Amsterdam (despite a scary accident) where Will also joined us. Will the parties at your house were always amazing and I wish you well in Denmark. Niko planning the spin qubit strategy meeting was one of the non-scientific highlights and I always enjoyed our discussion over a cup of coffee. Francesco our unexpected encounter at the Schiphol lounge (together with Grazia) will remain a fond memory. Marcel, Chien, Floor, Hanifa, Maia, Valentin, David, Marco, Mark, Patrick, Alex, Roy, Sayr thank you for being part of the journey.

I would like to thank all committee members for the time to read my thesis and being part of the defense ceremony: Anna Fontcuberta I Morral, Ronald Hanson, Mark Eriksson, and Guido Burkard. Thank you Leo Kouwenhouwen for acting as the reserve member. I also had the chance to learn from numerous collaborators Michele Virgilio, Oussama Moutanabbir, Jordi Arbiol, thank you for your contributions to this thesis. A special thank you goes to Mark Friesen and Susan Coppersmith, your contributions to the work on valley splitting were crucial to my PhD. Merritt and Sebastian, it was really fun to figure out the complexity of the APT project and subsequently putting the puzzle pieces together. I would also like to thank the team from Intel for sending the wafer that ultimately lead to two publications.

Leo, Charlotte, Kees, and all other PI's (including the QuTech committee members) thank you for making QuTech an inclusive, inspiring, and cutting edge working environment, that helps students thrive every day.

Olaf and **Matt** thank you for always being able to help with the numerous fridge issues and **Olaf** keep improving on that golf handicap! **Jason** our lunch discussions were always a lot of fun. **Marja** Thank you for being available from day one to the very end for any organizational questions, and also that you always tried to talk Dutch with me. **Pieter** thank you for managing the Helium supply and brightening my time at the helium station with funny and interesting conversations. **Jelle**, **Siebe**, **Chantal**, **Jenny**, **Mark** thank you for keeping QuTech running! **Raymond** and **Marijn**, thank you for doing the pioneering work on the MUX project and also that you were always incredibly patient whenever I came to ask questions about the electronic racks. **Raymond** and **Roy** thank you for the additional support in electronics and also for enriching my visits to B101. **Hans**, **Jack**, **Yannick** working with you was always a great pleasure and DEMO always delivered the MUX devices that were pivotal to my research, thank you! **Mohammad** even though we never worked together I always enjoyed your input and your point of view. Pascal, Glaucia, Christian, Kian, Sophie, Job, Adriaan, Matthew, Thijs, Nandini, Max, Matteo, Arian, Hans, Niels, Ramiro, Gerd thank you for creating memories at different stages of the PhD journey.

I would also like to thank the new friends in Barcelona that have been supporting me for the last year of my PhD. **Dani** realizing in how many different places I have seen you made me realize how much of a great companion you have been over the past five years and I also thank you for bringing **Thomas** to Barcelona, who never shies away from having a two hour lunch discussion with me. **Maca** and **Cris** thank you for always making it a really fun time when meeting you two, doesn't matter if it's for playing Beachvolleyball or just to hang out, especially when meeting for lunch with **Cris** or dinner all together. **Gaston** and **Matt** thank you for the several dinners, mate, and padel. **Vicente** thank you for exploring the surroundings of Barcelona with me and making these journeys memorable, can't wait to hit the Pyrenees next. **Niall** you were the first person I met in Barcelona and you have this admirable ability to quickly make new connections, which made me feel really welcomed when I arrived. Ever since, we spent a bunch of quality time together either with long conversations on the balcony, cheeky beers, hikes, or nights out and we should definitely seek to improve our Playtomic score soon!

I would also like to express my deepest thanks to the Nanos, **Arne**, **Christian**, **Christopher**, **Dieter**, **Dominik**, **Dustin**, **Freddy**, **Güney**, **Janis**, **Katharina**, **Katrin**, **Kittel**, **Lisa**, **Maddie**, **Maggi**, **Philipp**, **Simon**, **Tabea**, **Tobi**, and **Yessica**, who made the hard times during the studies seem easy: Special thanks go to **Aaron** and **Sebastian**. Until now I still benefit from the memories we made together as roommates during the Master and in so many journeys, festivals, and conversations during our study times. And **Aaron** I wish you all the best with **Mona**. **Sven** thank you for being my lab partner in the Bachelor and Master studies, without you I would have failed undergrad and would not be finishing this thesis. Thank you for always believing in me and being a unique role model for our entire study group. **Santi** I am truly thankful that together we went through our metamorphosis from "Feier/Party" via "Power/Muster" to "Start-up/Business". The "gegenseitig hochwerfen" really worked (despite its rather problematic physical feasibility) and I am sure without these pushs I wouldn't be where I am today. But what strikes me the most, is that if we still want to go back to metamorphosis stage 1, we effortlessly do so.

Irving we lived together for a grand part of my time in the Netherlands, where we shared nights out, A LOT of fried chicken and also great discussions about the universe, philosophy, and starting sentences without knowing where they will go. **Fabian** You have been my companion since kindergarten and even though we have lived distant for ages now I still think that we always have an amazing time together. **Mitsche** the whole PhD journey started when you helped me move to the Netherlands, which was a great trip in itself. What I admire about us is that when we meet we just take off from where we left the time before. Thank you for your decades long friendship that has repeatedly brought so much joy in my life. I wish you, **Kaddi**, and **Paul** all the best.

JD and **Jeff** the guidance that you provide to me personally and professionally is key to most of aspects in my life, and I am really thankful that both of you were close by in Europe for (almost) the entire duration of my PhD. Our gatherings in London, San Diego, Croatia, and the Netherlands over the past 4 years came always at great times (besides the scary journey to the hospital) and I always keep looking forward to our next meeting.

También gustaria de agradecer **Alberto**, **Analia**, **Ceci**, **Elena**, **Exequiel**, **Guillermo**, **Lucy**, **Luis**, **Omar**, **Santino**, **Sebastian**, **Sofia**, **Tani** que hicieron mis viajes a Argentina inolvidable con asados deliciosos, la introducción a pádel (que también se puede usar como excusa para hacer otro asado), viajes a Barreal con cataratas impactante, una batalla de empanadas entre abuelas (las dos versiones son deliciosas) y grandes fiestas en la pileta. Y también me deja muy feliz que supportan mi relación con Ailin con todo amor del mundo mundial.

Oma, Eugen, Jürgen, Gudrun, Elisabeth, Julia, Alice, Lea, Helen und **Simon** egal ob auf Hochzeiten, auf Tour in Nordrhein-Westfalen, beim Quiche essen, bei internationalen Besuchen, beim Grillen im Garten, oder beim Rummikub bei der **Oma**, es wird immer viel gelacht, erzählt und diskutiert und daher bin ich sehr dankbar, dass man es trotz voller Terminkalender immer schafft sich Zeit füreinander zu nehmen.

Eu também gostaria de agradecer o meu tio **Alex** que me ajudou imensamente durante os estudos e que a gente se encontrou em vários lugares do mundo junto com a tia **Andrea**. **Felipe** eu adorei as nossas conversas nos ultimos anos mais você ainda está me devendo essa visita na Holanda. **Eliane** obrigado de tomar todo o tempo do mundo para me acalmar quando o Yannick estava tão duente. **Riccardo** obrigado pelos tempos divertidos no Porto, as discussões sobre a economia e pela ajudada para a minha mãe na mudança e nos passos iniciais em Portugal. **Rosinha** e **Santos** obrigado por todos os tempos juntos, muitas risadas e o apoio para a minha mãe des que ela mudou pro Porto.

Papa danke für die anhaltende Unterstützung während des gesamten akademischen Werdegangs und den Antrieb mich ins Ausland zu schicken, von diesen Erfahrungen werde ich mein ganzes Leben zehren. Sowohl unsere Telefonate als auch unsere gemeinsame Zeit in Person sind immer sehr ergiebig und ich freue mich immer sehr wenn ich auch heute noch etwas von dir lernen kann. Es war für mich auch immer ein Highlight in Berlin zu sein und Zeit mit **Barbara** und **Luca** verbringen zu können. Jetzt ist es dann nur noch an der Zeit für einen Trip nach Gran Canaria.

Mãe a tua capacidade de sempre dar o teu melhor para tudo é impressionante, e eu aprendi muitas coisas contigo a minha vida inteira, idependente se foi em Horb, Tübingen, ou nas minhas viagens rodando o mundo. Especialmente hoje eu tenho um melhor entendimento de algumas coisas que voce enicnou para a gente quando éramos pequenos e tambem quando já éramos adultos. Obrigado pelo teu apoio durante a minha vida toda e também que você apoia a minha relação com Ailin.

Yannick wir sind unser ganzes Leben lang durch dick und dünn gegangen und du bist der beste Wegkumpane den ich mir je dafür hätte wünschen können. Während der Doktorandenzeit haben wir sehr viel Zeit miteinander verbracht und unser jährlicher Super Bowl Treff ist immer ein Highlight. Auch unsere wöchentilichen Telefonate sind immer fest im Terminkalender eingeplant und machen immer richtig Spaß. Danke für deine Unterstützung in jeder Lebenslage. And to finish this thesis I would like to thank my partner, **Ailin**. We met just before we were about to have immense changes in our lives and our journey involved dating on three continents. I am really glad that you chose to follow me to the Netherlands so we could accompany each other on our life paths and write our story together. I think your everlasting happiness that enriches my life so much paired with the fact that we have so many things in common, share values, and seek similar goals in life make us an extraordinary team. I love you and I am looking forward to the adventures that lie ahead of us.

CURRICULUM VITÆ

Brian PAQUELET WÜTZ

15-06-1992	Born in Fort Lauderdale, United States.
EDUCATION	
1998–2002	Primary School
2002–2011	Berthold-Auerbach-Grundschule, Nordstetten Secondary School Martin-Gerbert Gymnasium, Horb am Neckar
2011–2014	Bachelor of Science in Nano-Science Eberhard-Karls Univsersät, Tübingen
	Undergraduate research project in the group of Prof. Dr. M. Fleischer "Micro- and nanostructuring for photocurrent measurements"
2014–2017	Master of Science in Nano-Science Eberhard-Karls Univsersät, Tübingen
	Research internship in the group of Prof. Dr. Z. Liu, UC San Diego
	Graduate research project in the group of Prof. Dr. M. Fleischer "Effects of graphene over gold nanocones"
2018–2022	PhD.in Applied Physics Delft University of Technology, Delft Doctoral research in the group of Dr. G. Scappucci. "Silicon/silicon-germanium heterostructures for spin-qubit quantum processors"

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

JOURNAL PAPERS AND PREPRINTS

- B. Paquelet Wuetz, D. Degli Esposti, A. M. J. Zwerver, S. V. Amitonov, M. Botifoll, J. Arbiol, A. Sammak, L. M. K. Vandersypen, M. Russ, G. Scappucci, *Reducing charge noise in quantum dots by using thin silicon quantum wells*, preprint at https://arxiv.org/abs/2209.07242.
- D. Degli Esposti, B. Paquelet Wuetz, V. Fezzi, M. Lodari, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, Waferscale low-disorder 2DEG in ²⁸Si/SiGe without an epitaxial Si cap, Appl. Phys. Lett. 120, 184003 (2022).
- S. G. J. Philips, M. T. Mądzik, S. V. Amitonov, S. L. de Snoo, M. Russ, N. Kalhor, C. Volk, W. I. L. Lawrie, D. Brousse, L. Tryputen, **B. Paquelet Wuetz**, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, L. M. K. Vandersypen, *Universal control of a six-qubit quantum processor in silicon*, Nature 609, 919–924 (2022).
- 6. B. Paquelet Wuetz*, M. P. Losert*, S. Koelling*, L. E. A. Stehouwer, A. M. J. Zwerver, S. G.J. Philips, M. T. Mądzik, X. Xue, G. Zheng, M. Lodari, S. V. Amitonov, N. Samkharadze, A. Sammak, L. M. K. Vandersypen, R. Rahman, S. N. Coppersmith, O. Moutanabbir, M. Friesen, G. Scappucci, *Atomic fluctuations lifting the energy degeneracy in Si/SiGe quantum dots*, preprint at https://arxiv.org/abs/2112.09606.
- X. Xue, B. Patra, J. P. G. van Dijk, N. Samkharadze, S. Subramanian, A. Corna, B. Paquelet Wuetz, C. Jeon, Farhana Sheikh, E. Juarez-Hernandez, B. Perez Esparza, H. Rampurawala, B. Carlton, S. Ravikumar, C. Nieva, S. Kim, H. J. Lee, A. Sammak, G. Scappucci, M. Veldhorst, F. Sebastiano, M. Babaie, S. Pellerano, E. Charbon, L.M. K. Vandersypen, *CMOS-based cryogenic control of silicon quantum circuits*, Nature **593**, 205–210 (2021).
- B. Paquelet Wuetz, M. P Losert, A. Tosato, M. Lodari, P. L. Bavdaz, L. Stehouwer, P. Amin, J. S Clarke, S. N. Coppersmith, A. Sammak, M. Veldhorst, M. Friesen, G. Scappucci, *Effect of quantum Hall edge strips on valley splitting in silicon quantum wells*, Physical review letters 125 (18), 186801 (2020).
- B. Paquelet Wuetz*, P. L. Bavdaz*, L. A. Yeoh, R. Schouten, H. van der Does, M. Tiggelman, D. Sabbagh, A. Sammak, C. G. Almudever, F. Sebastiano, J. S. Clarke, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, *Multiplexed quantum transport using commercial off-the-shelf CMOS at sub-kelvin temperatures*, npj Quantum Information 6 (1) (2019).
- W. I. L. Lawrie, H. G. J. Eenink, N. W. Hendrickx, J. M. Boter, L. Petit, S. V. Amitonov, M. Lodari, B. Paquelet Wuetz, C. Volk, S. G. J. Philips, G. Droulers, N. Kalhor, F. van Riggelen, D. Brousse, A. Sammak, L. M. K. Vandersypen, G. Scappucci, M. Veldhorst, *Quantum dot arrays in silicon and germanium*, Applied Physics Letters 116 (8), 080501 (2020).

^{*}These authors contributed equally

 A. Sammak, D. Sabbagh, N. W. Hendrickx, M. Lodari, B. Paquelet Wuetz, A. Tosato, L. A. Yeoh, M. Bollani, M. Virgilio, M. A. Schubert, P. Zaumseil, G. Capellini, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, *Shallow and undoped germanium quantum wells: a playground for spin and hybrid quantum technology*, Advanced Functional Materials 29 (14), 1807613 (2019).

CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

R. Pillarisetty, N. Thomas, H. C. George, K. Singh, J. Roberts, L. Lampert, P. Amin, T. F. Watson, G. Zheng, J. Torres, M. Metz, R. Kotlyar, P. Keys, J. M. Boter, J. P. Dehollain, G. Droulers, G. Eenink, R. Li, L. Massa, D. Sabbagh, N. Samkharadze, C. Volk, **B. Paquelet Wuetz**, A. M. J. Zwerver, M. Veldhorst, G. Scappucci, L. M. K. Vandersypen, J. S. Clarke, *Qubit device integration using advanced semiconductor manufacturing process technology*, IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 6.3.1. (2018).